

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

IDENTIFICATION AND CHARACTERISATION OF HERPES SIMPLEX

VIRUS GENES REQUIRED FOR ENCAPSIDATION OF DNA

by

MUHANNAD FALEH AL-KOBAISI

A Thesis Presented for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Faculty of Science at the University of Glasgow

Institute of Virology, Church Street, GLASGOW, G11 5JR

November 1989

ProQuest Number: 10999253

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10999253

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

na para series de la companya de la La companya de la comp

an an an an Eistein an an Arrainneach An an Arrainneachta an Arrainneachta

To my:

PARENTS WIFE WARKA DAUGHTER HALLA

and a first of the second s The second second

> adouen in sea sea du du constante engaño ano a sea intereste an que ma constante engaño trêse entro o so sea adaquemo esta anida o ano ase adaquemos

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the following people: Professor John H. Subak-Sharpe for providing me with the opportunity to study in the Institute of Virology, and for his advice and overall supervision of my project.

My supervisor, Dr. Valerie G. Preston, for her advice, guidance, and encouragement through out the work and during the writing of this thesis.

Dr. Frazer J. Rixon for all different aspects of discussions we had through out my presence at the Institute.

Dr. Duncan J. McGeoch for the advice and help in making available sequencing data before its publication, and Mr.Aidan Dolan for teaching me sequencing techniques.

Dr. Howard Marsden for the useful advises regarding peptides technology. Mrs. Ma ry Murphy, Mr. Graham hope and Miss Ania Owsianka for their collaboration during the preparation oligopeptide antibodies.

Dr. Philip Taylor for all the help I needed on computers.

Miss Iris McDougall for her friendship and excellent technical experience during my work in Lab 309.

All my colleagues who gave the advice when ever I asked, especially Dr. Chris Preston, Dr. Richard Elliott and Dr. Roger Everett.

All the staff at the Institute of Virology.

i

Mahmoud Taha for his friendship and help during my residence here in Glasgow.

My mother and Father for their moral support which never ceased and to whom I am always grateful to.

Finally my wife and daughter, for their patience, tolerance, understanding and making my life brightful.

During the course of this study, the author was supported by a scholarship from the Iraqi Scientific Research Council, Bagdad-IRAQ and, unless otherwise stated, all results were obtained by the author's own efforts.

"她们就是一个是^我们是一个时间,我们就是你的人们,我们就是一个我没情望。" 17. 建筑繁新 · "影响我们,这次一个人,这个人们的人,不是一个人的情况和优 t**eres a** sector and the sector and the sector sector and าศสารรไม่สุด สาราวการก็การเฉลืองสุดครายสาราวิต the second states of the second second states and the

SUMMARY

The aim of the study presented in this thesis was to characterise two herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) DNA positive temperature sensitive (ts) mutants, ts1233 and ts1201, and the genes in which their mutations lie.

Electron microscopic examination of thin section preparations of ts1233-infected cells revealed that at the non-permissive temperature (NPT) the nuclei contained large numbers of partially-cored capsids. In contrast to wt virus-infected cells, no dense capsids or empty capsids were detected in the nuclei of *ts*1233-infected cells at the NPT. This result suggests that the mutant has a block in the assembly of full nucleocapsids. The effect of the *ts*1233 mutation could not be reversed when mutant virusinfected cells were shifted from the NPT to the permissive temperature (PT) in the presence of a protein synthesis inhibitor. Southern blot analysis of total and confirmed that *ts*1233 failed encapsidated DNA to encapsidate DNA at the NPT, and showed that the DNA synthesized by ts1233 at the NPT was in an endless state. This information suggested that most of the mutant DNA was in the form of high moleculer weight (mw) concatemers at Previous work had located the ts mutation of the NPT. ts1233 within EcoRI o. Complementation experiments between ts1233 and another HSV-1 mutant tsN20, which also had a lesion in HSV EcoRI o, showed that ts1233, belonged to a different cistron from tsN20.

The polypeptide profile of ts1233-infected cells was

iii

similar to that of *wt* virus-infected cells. In contrast to the mutant *ts*1201, *ts*1233 processed the structural protein UL26 gene product normally and therefore, the gene in which *ts*1233 maps is not required for the processing of UL26 gene product.

Marker rescue experiments localised the lesion in ts1233 within a 150bp fragment which contains the 5' ends UL32 UL33 oriented of two genes, and in opposite directions. UL32 encodes a 64,000 mw polypeptide and UL33 encodes a 14,000 mw polypeptide. The nucleotide sequence of a 392 base pair (bp) fragment from ts1233 and two tsrevertants for growth, isolated during this study, was Sequence analysis revealed that ts1233 had a determined. single bp change at residue 69210 of HSV-1 DNA nucleotide sequence within gene UL33. The alteration resulted in the substitution of an isoleucine by an asparagine codon. The nucleotide sequence of the revertants in this region was identical to that of wt virus DNA. The nature of the mutation in ts1233 is consistent with the use of UV-light as a mutagen.

Two oligopeptides, one representing a portion of the amino-terminus and the other representing a portion of the carboxy-terminus of UL33 amino acid sequence were synthesised and coupled either to bovine serum albumin (BSA) or to β -galactosidase and injected into rabbits. Antibodies against the peptides were detected by radioimmunoassays. No virus specific bands were detected when the antisera were reacted with virus infected cell extracts on western blots, however, immunoprecipitation experiments

iv

with virus-infected cell extracts and the antisera gave a very weak specific reaction with a polypeptide of the apparent mw predicted for UL33 gene product.

Attempts to express the UL33 gene product in bacterial vectors were unsuccessful. expression The UL33 gene product was also placed under immediate-early (IE) gene The promoter regulation. IE and upstream regulatory the sequence of Vmw175 were inserted in front of/UL33 gene and the UL33 gene containing IE promoter recombined into TK gene of *ts*K virus, which has a defect in Vmw175. Although novel bands were detected in cells infected with tsK recombinant virus at the NPT, further work is required to determine whether any of these bands are $\sqrt{UL33}$ gene product.

Ts1201, like ts1233 fails to encapsidate DNA at the NPT. Sequence analysis of the 673bp fragment in which the ts1201 lesion mapped revealed that the mutation lies 89bp "stream from the amino terminus of UL26. A single bp change was found at a position corresponding to residue 50897 of HSV-1 17syn^{*} nucleotide sequence. This resulted in the substitution of tyrosine with phenyl alanine codon. Both the ts^{*} revertants analys ed retained the ts1201 mutation and had second site reversions elsewhere within UL26 gene.

Three oligopeptides, one representing 9 amino acids at the amino terminus of UL26, one representing 12 amino acids from the second potential AUG, and one representing 14 amino acids of the carboxy terminus were synthesised, coupled to β -galactosidase and injected into rabbits. The

all contained oligopeptide antibodies antisera that recognised the peptides which they were raised western blot against. However, in experiments only antibodies against the carboxy terminus of **UL26** gene reacted with a specific virus band in product virus infected cell extracts. In immunoprecipitation reactions, only antisera raised against the oligopeptide specific for the carboxy terminus of UL26 gene product gave a strong reaction with a virus specific band with an apparant mw of 40,000. The ability of the oligopeptide to about competitively inhibit immunoprecipitation of this band strongly suggested that antibodies raised against the carboxy terminus were specific to UL26 gene product. The processing of UL26 gene product was further investigated in ts1201 and wt virus-infected cells at the PT and the NPT using the antibody raised against the carboxy terminus. The oligopeptide antisera reacted only with the high mw forms of UL26 gene products suggesting that the conversion of the UL26 gene product to its lower mw forms was due to processing, probably proteolytic cleavage at the carboxy terminal end of the protein.

A	adenine
APS	ammonium persulphate
АТР	adenosine-5'-triphosphate
BCIG	(X-Gal) 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoly1-β-D-
	galactoside
BCdR	5-bromo-2'-deoxycytidine
ВНК	baby hamster kidney
bp	base pair
BSA	bovine serum albumin
BPB	bromophenol blue
BUdR	5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
С	cytosine
Ci	Curies
cm	centimeters
CMV	cytomegalovirus
CO2	carbon dioxide
CPE	cytopathic effect
cpm	counts per minute
dATP	deoxyadenosine triphosphate
dCTP	deoxycytidine triphosphate
ddatp	dideoxyadenosine triphosphate
ddCTP	dideoxycytidine triphosphate
ddGTP	dideoxyguanosine triphosphate
ddntp	dideoxynucleoside triphosphate
ddTTP	dideoxythymidine triphosphate
dgtp	deoxyguanosine triphosphate
DMSO	dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase	deoxyribonuclease

ds	double strand
DDT	dithiothreitol
dTTP	deoxythymidine triphosphate
Е	early
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
E.coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	sodium ethylen-diamine tetra-acetic acid
EHV	equine herpesvirus
em	electron microscope
eop	efficiency of plating
EtBr	ethidium bromide
G	guanine
%GC	moles percent deoxyguanosine and deoxycytidine
h	hour
HCl	hydrochloric acid
HFL	human foetal lung
hpi	hours post infection
HSV	herpes simplex virus
HU	human serum
HVS	herpesvirus saimiri
ICP	infected cell polypeptides
IE	immediate early
IgG	immunoglobulin G
IP	immunoprecipitation
IPTG	isopropyl-beta-D-thio -galactopyran oside
Kb	kilobase
1	litre
L	late
М	molar

MI	mock-infected
min	minute
ml	millilitre
mm	millimetre
moi	multiplicity of infection
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
mu	map units
MW	molecular weight
NA	nitrous acid
ng	nanograms
mm	nanometer
NP40	nonidet p40
NPC	nucleoprotein complex
NPT	non permissive temperature
OD	optical density
ori	origin of replication
РАА	phosphonoacetic acid
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate buffer saline
pfu	particle forming unit
pi	post infection
PMSF	phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride.
PRV	pseudorabies virus
РТ	permissive temperature
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNase	ribonuclease
rev	revertant
rpm	revolutions per minute
RT	room temperature

SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
sec	second
syn	syncytial
syn*	non-syncytial
Т	thymidine
TEMED	N,N,N'-N'-tetramethylethylenediamine
ТК	thymidine kinase
TK+	thymidine kinase-positive
тк-	thymidine kinase-negative
ts	temperature sensitive
t <i>s</i> +	wild-type for temperature sensitivity
Tween 20	polyoxyethylene sorbitan monolaurate
UV	ultra violet
v	volts
v/v	volume per volume
V _{M W}	molecular weight of virus-induced protein
VP	virion protein
VZV	varicella zoster virus
wt	wild type
w/v	weight per volume
w/w	weight per weight
μCi	microcuries
μg	microgram
μl	microlitre
unit	unit
&	percentage

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		page
ACKNOWL	EDGEMENTS	(i)
SUMMARY		(111)
ABBREVI	ATIONS	(vii)
CHAPTER	1	
INTRODU	CTION	
1.1	DEFINITION AND CLASSIFICATION OF	
	HERPESVIRUSES	1
1.1.1	Sub-family alphaherpesvirinae	2
1.1.2	Sub-family betaherpesvirinae	3
1.1.3	Sub-family gammaherpesvirinae	3
1.2	THE STRUCTURE OF HERPESVIRUS GENOME	4
1.2.1	Gene organisation in HSV-1 genome	5
1.3	THE STRUCTURE OF HERPESVIRION	7
1.3.1	Morphology	7
1.4	EARLY STAGES OF HSV INFECTION	9
1.4.1	Adsorption	9
1.4.2	Penetration	12
1.4.3	Uncoating of the viral DNA	14
1.5	EFFECT OF HSV INFECTION ON CELLULAR	
	MACROMOLECULAR SYNTHESIS	14
1.6	HSV TRANSCRIPTION	16
1.6.1	The regulation of HSV transcription	18
1.6.2	IE genes, their expression and regulation	19
1.6.3	IE transactivation	20
1.6.4	Negative regulation of IE gene expression	22
1.6.5	Early gene expression and regulation	23
1.6.6	Early gene trans-activation	23
1.6.7	Cis-acting and Promoter regulatory sequence	
	of E genes	25

1.6.8	Late gene expression and regulation	27
1.7	HERPESVIRUS DNA REPLICATION	28
1.7.1	Viral DNA synthesis	28
1.7.2	Cis-acting elements involved in DNA	
	replication	30
1.7.3	Identification of proteins involved in DNA	
	metabolism	33
1.7.4	Viral DNA maturation and cis-acting signals	35
1.7.5	Viral DNA packaging models	38
1.8	HSV ENCODED PROTEINS	41
1.8.1	STRUCTURAL PROTEINS	41
1.8.1.a	Capsid proteins	41
1.8.1.b	HSV tegument proteins	45
1.8.1.c	Envelope glycoproteins	47
1.9	VIRION ASSEMBLY	47
1.9.1	Encapsidation of herpesvirus DNA	49
1.9.2	Genes involved in DNA encapsidation	52
1.10	ENVELOPMENT AND EGRESSION OF HSV	54
1.11	LATENCY	57
1.12	CELL TRANSFORMATION AND ONCOGENESIS BY HSV	60
1.13	GENETICS STUDIES OF HSV	61
1.13.1	Temperature sensitive mutants	62
1.13.2	Insertion and deletion mutants	63
1.13.3	Drug resistant HSV mutants	63
1.13.4	Immune cytolysis-resistant mutants (icr)	64
1.13.5	Host range mutants	65
1.13.6	Syncytial Mutants	65
1.13.7	Genetic interactions	65
1.13.7.a	Complementation	65
1.13.7.b	Recombination	66

CHAPTER	2	
Materia	18	69
	Viruses	69
	Tissue culture cells	69
	Tissue culture media	70
	Bacteria	70
	Bacterial culture media	71
	Plasmids	71
	Chemicals	71
	Enzymes	72
	Oligonucleotides	72
	Radiochemicals	72
	Antibodies	73
	Oligopeptides	73
	Immunological reagents	73
	Animals	73
	Miscellaneous	74
	Standard solutions	75
	Tissue culture reagents and buffers	75
	DNA gel electrophoresis buffers	75
	Southern blot buffers	76
	DNA sequencing reagents and buffers	76
	Protein gel electrophoresis buffers	77
	Western blot buffers	78
	Immunopreciptation buffers	78
	Bacterial growth medium and cloning	
	solutions	79
	Miscellaneous	79
MERUODO		80
		80
4.1	CELL CULTURE	00
2.2	VIRUS CULTURE	80
2.2.1	Production of virus stocks	80
2.2.2	Sterility checks	81
2.2.3	Titration of virus stock	81
2.2.4	Ts mutant infections	82

Isolation of spontaneous *ts*⁺ revertants of

82

2.2.5

*ts*1233

2.3	PREPARATION OF VIRION DNA	82
2.3.1	Large scale preparation of DNA	82
2.3.2	Small scale preparation of virus-infected	
	cell DNA	83
2.3.3.a	Total virus-infected cell DNA	84
2.3.4.b	Encapsidated DNA (DNase-resistant DNA)	84
2.4	ANALYSIS OF DNA	85
2.4.1	Restriction endonuclease digestion of DNA	85
2.4.2	Agarose gel electrophoresis	85
2.4.3	Purification of DNA fragments from agarose	
	gels	85
2.4.4	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE)	85
2.4.5	Purification of DNA fragments from	
	pol <u>y</u> acrylamide gels	86
2.5	MARKER RESCUE TECHNIQUE	86
2.6	COMPLEMENTATION YIELD TEST	87
2.7	SOUTHERN BLOT ANALYSIS	88
2.7.1	Transfer of DNA fragments to nitrocellulose	88
2.7.2	In vitro [32P]-labelling of DNA by nick	
	translation	89
2.7.3	DNA blot hybridisation	89
2.8	RECOMBINANT DNA TECHNIQUES	90
2.8.1	Construction of chimeric plasmids	90
2.8.2	Preparation of competent bacteria and	
	plasmid DNA transfection	91
2.8.3	Small scale preparation of plasmid DNA	
	(STET preps)	91
2.8.4	Large scale preparation of plasmid DNA	92
2.8.5	Bacterial stocks	93
2.8.6	Construction of recombinant bacteriophage DNA	93
2.8.7	Transfection of bacteriophage DNA into E.Coli JM101	94
_		
2.9	PREPARATION OF SINGLE STRANDED DNA FOR	
0 0 1	SEQUENCING	94
2.9.1	Sequencing single stranded DNA	95

2.9.2	Preparation of gradient sequencing gels	96
2.10	LABELLING OF VIRUS DNA WITH [32P]	
	ORTHOPHOSPHATE	96
2.11	ANALYSIS OF VIRUS INDUCED PROTEINS	97
2.11.1	Preparation of radiolabelled cell	
	extracts	97
2.11.2	Immunoprecipitation using monoclonal	
	antibodies	98
2.11.3	SDS PAGE (Protein Gels)	98
2.11.4	Autoradiography	99
2.12	ANTIPEPTIDE ANTIBODIES	100
2.12.1	Production of polyclonal antibodies to	
	synthetic oligopeptides	100
2.12.2	Removal of BSA antibodies from	
	oligopeptides antiserum using K50 column	101
2.12.3	Fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC)	101
2.12.4	Radioimmunoassay (RIA)	102
2.12.5	Western blotting technique	103
2.12.6	Detection of Antibodies bound to protein	
	on nitrocellulose strips using ¹²⁵ I protein A	104
2.12.7	Immunoprecipitation with polyclonal antibodies	105
2.13	ISOLATION AND PURIFICATION OF HSV	
	VIRIONS AND NUCLEOCAPSIDS	105
2.14	BACTERIAL EXPRESSION ASSAY	107
2.15	ELECTRON MICROSCOPY	107
2.15.1	Preparation of samples in Epon-resin	107
2.15.2	Thin sectioning	108
2.16	COMPUTING AND ANALYSIS OF SEQUENCE DATA	108
снартер	3	
3.1	CHARACTERISATION OF THE HSV-1 MUTANT. TS1233	
	WITH A DEFECT IN ENCAPSIDATION OF VIRAL DNA	

3.1.1 Introduction

AT THE NPT

109 109

3.1.2	Electron microscopic analysis of the	
	phenotype of <i>ts</i> 1233 reveals a defect in	
	DNA-encapsidation	1 10
3.1.3	Quantitation of different capsid types in	
	virus-infected cells	110
3.1.4	Analysis of viral DNA processing	112
3.1.5	Densitometric analysis of Southern blots of	
	total virus infected cell DNA and encapsidated	
	DNA	114
3.1.6	Ts1233 defines a new complementation group	115
3.1.7	Analysis of <i>ts</i> 1233 infected cell polypeptide	116
3.1.8	Processing of p40 in ts1233 infected cells	117
3.1.9	Isolation of the <i>ts</i> ^t revertants for growth of	
	<i>ts</i> 1233	118
3.1.10	Map location of the $ts1233$ legion	118
3.1.11	Cloning ECORT ϕ of $tg1233$, $tg1233$ rev1.	110
	and rev?	119
		117
3.2	GENE UL33 IS REQUIRED FOR DNA ENCAPSIDATION	120
3.2.1	Ts1233 lesion maps within UL33	120
3.2.2	Production of polyclonal antibodies against	
	UL33 gene product	121
3.2.3	Detection of antibodies using western blots	123
3.2.4	Immunoprecipitation of UL33 gene product	123
3.2.5	Nucleocapsids and virions polypeptide	
	profile of HSV-1 , HSV-2, and the	
	recombinant BX1(31-1)	124
3.3	UL33 GENE EXPRESSION	125
3.3.1	Cloning and expression of intact UL33 in	
	bacterial expression vector	126
3.3.2	Expression of gene UL33 under IE-	
	Vww175 control	1 27
3.3.2a	Cloning and insertion of UL33 into p23	127
3.3.2b	Selection and isolation of a TK- recombinant	
	virus containing gene UL33 under IE-3 control	129
3.3.2c	UL33 expression by the recombinant virus	131
3.4	DISCUSSION	132
3.5	FUTURE PROSPECTS	144

.

CHAPTER 4

4.1	FURTHER CHARACTERISATION OF HSV-1 MUTANT,	
	TS1201 WHICH FAILS TO PROCESS P40 CORRECTLY	
	AT THE NPT	147
4.1.1	Introduction	147
4.1.2	Marker rescue of the lesion in ts1201 with	
	a 673 bp fragment common to BamHI u and SalI d	147
4.1.3	The lesion in <i>ts</i> 1201 lies 89 bp downstream	
	from the amino-terminus of gene UL26	148
4.1.4	Cloning gene UL26 (kpnI t)of ts1201 rev2	
	and rev3	149
4.1.5	Marker rescue of the lesion of <i>ts</i> 1201 with	
	cloned KpnI t	150
4.2	PROCESSING OF UL26 GENE PRODUCT	
4.2.1	Isolation and detection of antibodies against	
	UL26 gene products	151
4.2.2	Detection of UL26 gene product by western	
	blotting	153
4.2.3	Evidence that the antibody is specific to UL26	
	gene product (P40)	154
4.2.4	UL26 gene product is processed at the carboxy	
	terminus	155
4.3	DISCUSSION	157
4.4	FUTURE PROSPECTS	163

REFERENCES

INTRODUCTION

The project presented in this thesis concerns the characterisation of two herpes simplex virus (HSV) temperature sensitive (*ts*) mutants, *ts*1233 and *ts*1201, and the genes in which the mutations lie. *Ts*1233 and *ts*1201 both have structural defects and fail to package virus DNA at the non permissive temperature (NPT). The aim of the following chapter is to provide a review on the biology of HSV, with particular emphasis on the assembly of the virion and encapsidation of HSV DNA.

1.1 DEFINITION AND CLASSIFICATION OF HERPESVIRUSES

Members of the family herpesviridae have been isolated from а wide variety of vertebrates and invertebrates (Roizman, 1982). The virion is 150-200nm in diameter and contains a double stranded (ds) linear DNA genome which is enclosed within an icosahedral capsid. A lipid envelope surrounds the capsid (Wildy et al., 1960; Furlong et al., 1972). Viruses of this family replicate in the nucleus, and acquire their envelopes by budding through the nuclear membrane (Morgan et al., 1954; Wildy etal, .1960; Darlington et al, . 1968).

The members of herpesviridae family have been classified into three sub-families, according to their biological and pathogenic properties which include host range, duration of the lytic cycle, cytopathology, and characteristics of the latent infection (Roizman *et al.*,

1981; 1982; Matthews, 1982).

1.1.1 Sub-family alphaherpesvirinae

Although members of this sub-family have a narrow host range in nature some, for example HSV, can infect a variety of experimental animals and tissue culture cells. In vitro, the reproductive cycle is short, usually less than 24h, and results in destruction of susceptible cells. Latency frequently occurs in the ganglia (Stevens and Cook, 1971; 1972). HSV type-1 (HSV-1) is the prototype virus of this group. Primary virus infection can be inapparent, but is sometimes manifested acute gingivo-stomatitis. as Occasionally the virus causes ocular keratitis and, in very acute necrotising encephalitis. rare cases, HSV-1is normally spread by direct contact or by droplets from an infected person. HSV type 2 (HSV-2), another member of this sub-family, which is closely related to HSV-1 causes and lesions is venerally transmitted. genital in man of neonates to this virus results in Exposure а disseminated, frequently fatal infection. Although HSV-1 normally causes oral lesions and HSV-2 genital lesions, the distinction is not absolute, since HSV-1 can cause genital lesions, and likewise HSV-2 can infect other parts of the Another human alphaherpesvirus is varicella zoster body. usually which causes varicella or chicken poxtin virus (VZV) shingles after latent virus childhood and zoster or reactivation in adults. Other members include pseudorabies virus (PRV) which causes Aujeszky's disease in pigs and B a monkey virus which causes a fatal illness in virus,

humans.

1.1.2 Sub-family betaherpesvirinae

Members of this sub-family are known as cytomegaloviruses and are characterised by restricted host range in *vivo* and in vitro. In tissue culture the infection slowly and infected cells progresses become enlarged. Cell types responsible for harbouring latent viruses are unknown. The prototype virus is the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV). Although most infections with HCMV asymptomatic, HCMV is a major cause of congenital are The virus can also cause severe problems disease. in immunocompromised individuals, principally those undergoing transplant surgery (Alford and Britt, 1985), and more recently those with AIDS.

1.1.3 Sub-family gammaherpesvirinae

Members of this group are lymphoproliferative viruses. They normally exhibit a narrow host range in vivo. In vitro, viruses can infect lymphoblastoid cells, which are usually non-permissive or semi-permissive for virus replication. Viruses are generally specific for either T or B lymphocytes but some, for example herpes virus sylvilagis can infect both types. Although viruses usually have restricted growth in lymphoblastoid cells, many viruses in this sub-family, will productively infect Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) is the prototype of fibroblasts. this group and has been associated with Burkitt's lymphoma. the causative agent of infectious This virus is

mononucleosis. Other members of this group include Gallid herpesvirus 1 (MDV) which causes Marek's disease in chickens, and herpesvirus saimiri (HVS) which infects primates.

Classification into various families is somewhat arbitrary and subjective, and as a consequence some herpesviruses have been incorrectly assigned, for example MDV. In general, however, the classification system has proved to be reasonably satisfactory.

1.2 THE STRUCTURE OF HERPESVIRUS GENOME

The HSV-1 genome is a linear ds DNA molecule (Becker, et al.,1968; Graham et al.,1972) with a molecular weight (mw) of about 95-100X10⁶ (Kieff, et al., 1971). It has a high overall guanine and cytosine (G+C) content of 68.3%. Different regions of the genome, however, vary in their G+C content, most notably the short repeat region which has a very high G+C value of 79.5% (Davison and Wilkie, 1981; Murchie and McGeoch, 1982; McGeoch et al., 1986).

The HSV genome can be divided into two covalently linked regions, designated L (long), and S (short), representing 77% and 23% of the virus DNA respectively. Each component consists of unique sequences (as shown in fig 1A), flanked by inverted repeat sequences (Sheldrick and Berthelot, 1974; Wadsworth *et al.*, 1975). A direct repeat known as the *a* sequence is present at the genomic termini and also in an inverted orientation at the L-S junction (Grafstrom *et al.*, 1974; 1975; Wadsworth *et al.*,

4



Figure 1

A) HSV-1 genome arrangement.

The genome is divided into two regions. The long region (L) consists of a long unique sequence (U_L) flanked by a terminal sequence (TRL) which is repeated internally in an inverted orientation (IR_L). The short (S) region consists of a short unique sequence (U_s) flanked by a terminal sequence (TRs) which is repeated internally (IR_s) in an inverted orientation. The direct repeat at the genomic termini is known as the a The remaining sequence within TR_L/IR_L and sequence. TRs/IRs are referred to as b/b' and c/c' respectively.

B) Genome isomerisation

Р	:	prototype orientation
Is	:	inversion of the short region
IL	:	inversion of the long region
Isl	:	inversion of the short and long regions

1976; Wagner and Summer, 1978; Davison and Wilkie, 1981; Mocarski and Roizman, 1981). As a consequence of the genome arrangement of HSV, the L and S components can relative to each other (Fig. invert 1B). Thus, DNA extracted from virions or from cells infected with wt virus consists of four equimolar populations differing with respect to the orientation of L and S unique regions (Sheldrick and Berthelot, 1974; Hayward et al., 1975; Clements et al., 1976; Delius and Clements, 1976).

1.2.1 Gene organisation in HSV-1 genome

The complete sequence of HSV-1 strain 17 genome contains 152,260 residues in each strand and specifies at least 72 genes encoding 70 distinct proteins (McGeoch et al., 1985; 1986; 1988a; 1988b). From the sequence analysis of UL it was concluded that 89% of the sequence, representing 56 genes, encoded for proteins (fig. 2). Thus, genes are compactly arranged within U_L . Overlaps of coding sequences in UL occur in two major clusters at genes to UL14, and UL30 to UL33. In UL5 many cases the transcriptional control elements overlap the polypeptide coding regions of the adjacent gene. The largest nonprotein coding region of 754bp lies between genes UL29 and UL 30 and contains ori_L . The overall G+C content of U_L is 67% (McGeoch et al., 1988).

The Us region, which is 12,979 bp in length, contains 12 genes compactly arranged (McGeoch *et al.*, 1985; Rixon and McGeoch, 1985). Although all the genes have separate promoters, most of the genes share 3' termination

5



Figure 2

Layout of genes in the genome of HSV-1.

The HSV-1 genome is shown in four successive lines, with unique regions represented by solid lines and major repeat elements as open boxes. The lower scale represents kilobases, numbered from the left terminus, and the upper scale represents fractional map units. The sizes and orientations of proposed functional ORFs are shown by arrows. Overlaps of adjacent, similarly oriented ORFs are not shown explicitly. Locations of proposed transcription polyadenylation sites are indicated as short vertical bars. Locations of origins of DNA replication are shown as X. In the U_L region, on the first three lines, genes UL1 to UL56 are labelled. In the Us region, on the bottom line, genes US1 to US12 are labelled. The locations of introns in the coding regions of gene UL15 and the two copies (TRL and IR_L) of the IE110 gene are indicated (taken from McGeoch et al., 1988).

sites. In fact all but 2 mRNAs belong to one of four 3' coterminal families. Only genes Us 10 and Us 11 have overlapping coding sequences but in different reading frames. The promoter of Us10, however, lies within Us11 coding G+C sequences. The overall is 64%, which is considerably lower than the G+C content of adjacent DNA (IRs/TRs) (Rixon and McGeoch, 1984; McGeoch et al., 1985; McGeoch et al., 1988).

The short repeat sequence (TR_s/IR_s) , which is 6,633 bp in length, contains only one gene, the immediate early (IE) gene 3 which encodes IE175. The *a* sequence is present at the 3' end of this gene, while at 5' end of IE175 map sequences representing an origin of replication (*oris*) and the promoter of IE68 (gene Us1) and IE12 (gene Us12). The coding sequences of the latter two genes lie within Us (Murchie and McGeoch, 1982; McGeoch *et al.*, 1985; 1986).

The long repeat region in HSV-1 $17syn^*$, which has a G+C content of 71.6% and spans some 9,215 bp, contains a spliced gene encoding IE110 (Perry *et al.*, 1986; Perry and McGeoch, 1988). In addition, the IRL/TRL sequence contains six families of tandemly reiterated sequences, ranging from 3 to 55bp, present in different regions of the repeat, and the *a* sequence. Two open reading frames (ORF) have also been described in the long repeat of other HSV-1 strains. The first ORF, which is proposed to encode ICP 34.5, is situated upstream of 5' end of IE110 in strain F (Chou and Roizman, 1986; Ackermann *et al.*, 1986). In HSV-1 strain 17 *syn** this region contains multiple stop codons. The other ORF lies at the 3' end of IE110 gene and overlaps IE110

6

coding sequences. Recently it has been shown that this region is transcribed in latently infected neurons. It has not been shown, however, that these latency-associated transcripts (LAT), encode proteins (Stevens et al., 1987; Rock et al., 1987; Spivack and Fraser, 1987; Wagner et al., 1988).

1.3 THE STRUCTURE OF HERPESVIRION

1.3.1 Morphology

The herpesvirion is generally considered to be composed of four complex concentric substructures, referred to as the core, capsid, tegument, and envelope (fig. 3).

1.3.1.a The core

This is the central component of the virion and is thought to consist of a cylindrical protein plug around which the viral DNA is tightly spooled in the form of a torus (Furlong *et al.*, 1972). Studies on infectious rhinotracheitis virus, MDV, and HCMV suggest that the core is attached to the inner surface of the capsid (Nazerian, 1974; Haguenau and Michelson-Fiske 1975).

1.3.1.b The capsid

This structure has a diameter of approximately 120nm, and it is calculated to be composed of 150 hexameric and 12 pentameric units in the form of an icosahedron (Wildy *et al.*, 1960; Furlong, 1978). Until recently it was thought that HSV had a single icosahedral capsid shell, however, data obtained from computer analysis of low dose



Figure 3

N 2

Cryo-electron micrograph of HSV-1 virion.

•

The virion is suspended in vitreous ice. Visible in the enveloped particle is the nucleocapsid (long arrow), tegument, and envelope with associated glycoprotein spikes (short arrow). The micrograph was kindly provided by Dr. Frazer J. Rixon.

(A second term of the second term of the term of term o

cryo-electron images of ice embedded capsids revealed that capsids structure full are organised into an outer, intermediate and inner structural layers. The outer layer is arranged according to T=16 icosahedral symmetry. This structure has a diameter of approximately 120nm and is composed of 150 hexameric and 12 pentameric units (Wildy etal., 1960). Adajacent capsomeres are connected by a mass density (Schrag et al., 1989), previously referred to as intercapsomeric fibrils (Palmer et al., 1975; Vernon et al., 1974). The intermediate layer lies on а T=4icosahedral lattice (Schrag et al., 1989). The inner most layer contains the genomic DNA, which is connected to the external environment by channels through the outer and intermediate layers which coincide along their icosahedral two-fold axis.

1.3.1.c The tegument

This is defined as an amorphous structure which lies between the capsid and the envelope (Wildy et al., 1960; Morgan et al., 1968; Roizman and Furlong, 1974). The the tegument varies between different thickness of herpesviruses and is genetically determined by the virus (McCombs et al., 1971). According to Vernon et al. (1982), the tegument is attached to the vertices of the capsid and the inner surface of the envelope, and may have a function the virus particle. It has been envelopment of in suggested that the tegument of EHV-1 virions is composed of granular particles of varying size which form a shell surrounding the capsid. This observation implies that the

tegument might possess some form of structural integrity. In addition it has been concluded that this structure probably has a high water content (Vernon *et al.*, 1982).

1.3.1.d The envelope

This is a trilaminar membrane which is thought to be derived from the inner nuclear membrane, acquired during budding of the virus particles through the nuclear membrane (Darlington and Moss, 1968). The envelope tightly adheres to the tegument and contain spikes 8-10nm long spaced 5nm apart over the surface (Wildy et al., 1960). In a recent electron microscopic study of disrupted virus particles, monoclonal antibodies usina to identify individual glycoproteins, it was shown that glycoprotein gB, gC, and gD each form separate spikes that are different in size, morphology and distribution in the envelope (Stannard et al., 1987).

1.4 EARLY STAGES OF HSV INFECTION

The initial stages of the lytic cycle can be divided into three parts: adsorption of the virus particle to the cell, penetration of the capsid into the cytoplasm, and release of viral DNA from the capsid (uncoating).

1.4.1 Adsorption

Attachment of the HSV particle to the cell surface is a rapid process (Hochberg and Becker,1968), and occurs over a wide range of temperatures (Farnam and Newton, 1959). The results of early studies by Hochberg and Becker
(1968) showed that heparin, a negatively charged polysaccharide, prevented the adsorption of the virus to cells and released the virus already attached to the cell surface. On the basis of these experiments it was suggested that the first step in virus adsorption involved an electrostatic interaction. These results were supported and extended by the recent findings of WuDunn and Spear (1989), who demonstrated that virions could bind to heparin in affinity chromatography experiments, and that removal of heparan sulphate from cells reduced the ability of the cell to bind virus. It was concluded that both HSV-1, and HSV-2 normally initiate infection by binding first to heparan sulfate on the cell surface, which serves as a receptor for HSV (WuDunn and Spear, 1989).

The viral proteins responsible for the attachment of the virions to receptors on cell surfaces have not yet identified. but several envelope viral been glycoproteins have been implicated in the process of virus thought that qB, an attachment. It is essential glycoprotein (Sarmiento et al., 1979; Little et al., 1981; Deluca et al., 1982), may play a role in adsorption since virosomes, which are lipid vesicles enriched with HSV-1 glycoproteins, bind to cells more efficiently when gB is present than when it is absent (Johnson et al., 1984). However, the finding that gB deficient virions were able to bind to cells, has clearly shown that gB is not essential for attachment of virus to cells (Cai et al., 1987; 1988a), but is required in a later step in virus entry. Polyclonal antibodies directed against дC and gD monoclonal and

inhibit adsorption of HSV-1 to cells, while hiqh concentration of of IgG and Fc fragment can partially inhibit attachment of the virus to cells, suggesting that gC, gD, and possibly gE, which binds the Fc portion of IgG (Bauke and Spear, 1979), may also play a role in virus adsorption (Para et al., 1982; Fuller and Spear, 1985). Since gC and gE are not essential for virus infectivity in tissue culture, those glycoprotens like qB, are not absolutely required for virus attachment (Ruychan et al., 1979; Holland et al., 1983; 1984; Longnecker and Roizman, 1986). A recent study revealed that gD deficient mutants were able to bind to cells, but unable to initiate synthesis of viral early polypeptides (Ligas and Johnson, 1988). These results suggest that qD is also not essential for virus adsorption. From the the work mentioned above together with the finding that qD, qC, and qB form separate spikes on the envelope (Stannard *et al.*, 1987), it seems that envelope glycoproteins may individually likely for HSV. interact with cell receptors Recent results obtained by Campadelli-Fiume et al. (1988) and Johnson and Spear (1989), showing that HSV adsorbed to gD expressing cell lines but was unable to be internalised by fusion of virion envelope with plasma membrane, has led to the suggestion that gD may recognise a cell receptor, different from cell surface heparan sulphate. Other studies on cell surface receptors have suggested that HSV-1 and HSV-2 recognise different cell surface receptors (Vahlne et al., 1979; Addison et al., 1984).

1.4.2 Penetration

Penetration of nucleocapsids into cell occurs rapidly after the virus particle binds to the receptors on the surface of the cell. Electron microscopic studies indicate that the entry of the virus into the cell occurs either by viropexis (phagocytosis) (Dales and Silverberg, 1969; Hummeler et al., 1969), or by fusion of the viral envelope with cell membrane (Morgan et al., 1968; Abodeely et al., 1970). Evidence presented so far supports the fusion model of virus penetration. In particular, the work by Para et al. (1980; 1982), showing that gE from the infecting virions was incorporated into the surface membrane of infected cells immediately after viral penetration, is indicative of fusion between the virion envelope and cell surface membrane.

Several lines of research have implicated gB in virus penetration. Studies using gB-null mutants or tsmutants of gB have shown that mutants lacking αB or containing abberrant gB bound as well as wt virus to the plasma membrane but were unable to penetrate the cell surface (Sarmiento et al., 1979; Little et al., 1981; Cai et al., 1988). Other work has shown that monoclonal antibodies, which recognise two major antigenic sites domain of gB, neutralized virus within the external adsorbed to cell monolayers (Highlander et al., 1988). These results suggest that gB is important at a stage after virus attachment. Glycoprotein B has alsoishown to affect the rate of entry, since mutants with lesions in gВ penetrated cells more rapidly than wt virus. Furthermore a

syn lesion has been identified within gB (Deluca *et al.*, 1981; 1982; Bond *et al.*, 1982; Bzik *et al.*, 1984; Cai *et al.*, 1988). All of these results indicate that gB is directly involved in virus penetration.

Although gC is non essential, Deluca *et al.* (1982) reported that recombinants of KOSX*ts*B5, which made little or no gC, entered cells at an accelerated rate at the PT in comparison to viruses which contained gC. It has also been demonstrated that virus strains which lacked gC were able to penetrate restrictive cell line XC, whereas strains which had a high gC content failed to do so. This led to the suggestion that gC may influence penetration of virus by negatively modulating the gB-promoted fusion between virion and host cell membranes, or by interacting with other glycoproteins such as gD or gH involved in fusion of membranes (Epstein */et al.*, 1984; Machuca *et al.*, 1987).

Recent work by Fuller and Spear (1987)and Highlander et al, (1987) suggested that gD has a role in virus penetration since qD-specific monoclonal antibodies (mAB) neutralised in the absence of complement HSV-1 virus The subsequent finding that gD deficient bound to cells. virions were able to bind to tissue culture cells as well virion containing gD supports this idea (Ligas as and Johnson, 1988).

The gene product of UL25, which does not appear to be a glycoprotein, is also important for virus penetration, since a mutant of HSV-1, ts1204, which has a lesion in gene UL25, binds to cells at the NPT, but fails to penetrate the cell membrane (Addison *et al.*, 1984).

1.4.3 Uncoating of the viral DNA

The step which follows penetration of herpesvirions into the cell is the release of the viral DNA from the capsids. Studies have indicated that viral DNA is rapidly transported to the sites of replication in the nucleus within 15-20 min post infection (Hummeler et al., 1969; Miyamoto and Morgan, 1971; Wahren et al., 1984). Early work showed that capsids undergo disintegration (Morgan et al., 1968). The transport of viral DNA from the cytoplasm to the nuclei of infected cells was unaffected by RNA and protein synthesis inhibitors, suggesting that the viral DNA is released from the capsid by a pre-existing cellular enzvme or virion protein (Hochberg and Becker, 1968). Analysis of the HSV-1 ts mutant, tsB7 which failed to uncoat at the NPT, has provided further clues about the release of DNA from the capsid (Knipe et al., 1981; the Batterson et al., 1983). The proximity of λ mutant in the cytoplasm to nuclear pores suggested that the viral DNA enters the nucleus by an active cellular mechanism which probably involves host cell microfilaments (Lycke et al., 1984).

1.5 EFFECT OF HSV INFECTION ON CELLULAR MACROMOLECULAR SYNTHESIS

with HSV results in Infection of cells the DNA, RNA and protein synthesis. inhibition of host Inhibition of protein synthesis is probably a multistep process, resulting from the reduction in mRNA levels and Roizman, disaggregation of polyribosomes (Sydiskis and

1967; Wagner and Roizman, 1969; Nishioka and Silverstein, 1977; 1978; Silverstein and Engelhardt, 1979; Bastow et al., 1986: Strom and Frenkel, 1987). Inhibition of cellular protein synthesis during HSV infection has been divided into two stages referred to as "early" and "delayed" shut-off.

Early shut-off of protein synthesis is thought to be mediated by the virion protein UL41 (Fenwick and Walker, 1978; Peirera et al., 1977; Fenwick et al., 1979; Fenwick and McMenamin, 1984; Schek and Bachenheimer, 1985; Kwong et The isolation of viable mutants in tissue *al.*, 1988). culture, defective in virion host shut-off (vhs), has provided evidence that this function is not absolutely essential for virus replication. It is, nevertheless, important for optimal growth since the mutant virus did not replicate as well as wt virus (Read and Frenkel, 1983; Kwong et al., 1988). Recently it has been shown that vhs function decreases the half lives of both host and viral may have a dual role therefore in viral mRNA. and infection, inhibiting host gene expression and enabling the rapid transition of viral gene expression (Strom and Frenkel, 1987; Oroskar and Read, 1989). Evidence obtained by Kwong and Frenkel (1988) suggests that a single virion protein, is responsible for early shut-off of protein synthesis since a population of viruses which had the virion host shut-off (vhs) mutation in UL41 replaced by wt sequences regained levels of shut-off similar to wt virus. finding supports the idea that disaggregation of This polyribosomes which occures in the absence of viral protein

synthesis and mRNA degradation (Nishioka and Silverstein, 1977; 1978; Hill et al., 1983), are carried out by the same The available evidence favours the idea that UL41 protein. gene product (vhs) either activates a preexisting host nuclease or increases susceptibility of mRNAs to nuclease attack (Kwong et al., 1988). The delayed shut-off of host protein synthesis requires the expression of an early or late viral gene and reduces further the level of host protein synthesis (Fenwick and Clarke, 1982; Hill et al., 1983; Read and Frenkel, 1983; Schek and Bachenheimer, 1985). Although it has been suggested that an additional viral function is required for complete host protein inhibition it is possible that the vhs protein is involved in delayed or complete host shut-off, since the findings of Kwong and Frenkel (1987) and Oroskar and Read (1987; 1989) indicate that mutations in UL41 protein cause an increase in the stability of not only IE mRNA, but also early and late RNAs in absence of protein synthesis inhibitors. There is, however, in cells infected with vhs mutants some inhibition of host proteins although it is delayed and incomplete suggesting another protein may be involved in delayed host shut-off (Read and Frankel, 1983). Stenberg and Pizer (1982) have evidence that an IE gene function is responsible for the decrease in cellular RNA synthesis which follows HSV infection, and this result could account for the findings observed by Read and Frenkel (1983).

1.6 HSV TRANSCRIPTION

HSV DNA is transcribed in the infected cell nucleus

(Wagner and Roizman, 1969). The observation that all stages of HSV RNA synthesis are sensitive to α -amanitin inhibition has led to the suggestion that HSV transcription is carried out by RNA polymerase II (Alwine *et al.*, 1974; Ben Zeev *et al.*, 1976; Costanzo *et al.*, 1977). This conclusion is supported by the finding that naked DNA is infectious (Graham *et al.*, 1973). Since, however, only IE mRNA is synthesised in the absence of *de novo* viral protein synthesis (Honess and Roizman, 1973; 1974; Clements *et al.*, 1977; Watson *et al.*, 1979), it is clear that viral proteins are important for transcription of HSV mRNA .

Since HSV utilizes much of the cellular transcription machinery it is therefore not surprising that many of the transcriptional signals are identical to and that transcripts those of eukaryotic genes are processed in the same way as most cellular mRNAs. Α polyadenylation consensus signal "AATAAA" the DNA, in specifying the 3'-termini of transcripts, is essential for the correct processing of viral mRNAs (McKnight, 1980; Cole and Santangelo, 1983), and a consensus "G-T" rich signal "5-YGTGTTYY-3'" is thought to be necessary for efficient formation of the mRNA 3'-terminus. This signal is usually 30bp downstream from the located approximately polyadenylation signal (Taya et al., 1982; McLauchlan et al., 1983; Whitton et al., 1983; McLauchlan et al., 1985; Cole and Stacy, 1985). The "TATA-box" homology, which is accurate initiation for of important thought to be transcription and is located close to the 5'-termini of most eukaryotic genes (Gannon *et al.*, 1979), is also present close to the 5' end of HSV genes (McGeoch *et al.*, 1985; 1986). Like most cellular mRNAs, HSV transcripts are capped at their 5' end. This modification is thought to be necessary both for efficient translation (Shatkin, 1976), and protection of the mRNA from nucleases and phosphatases (Moss *et al.*, 1977). Methylation of HSV transcripts at internal adenine residues has been reported (Bartkoski and Roizman, 1976; Moss *et al.*, 1977).

In comparison to eukaryotic transcripts, spliced mRNAs are not a common feature in HSV. Only five of the 72 open reading frames have spliced mRNAs. IE 68 (U_s1) and IE 12 (U_s12) genes, which share a common 5'-non-coding region in IRs but have unique polypeptide coding sequences within U_s, have an intron within the common 5'-non-coding region (Watson *et al.*, 1981; Murchie and McGeoch, 1982; Rixon and Clements, 1982; Watson and Vaude-Woude, 1982). In contrast to IE 68, and IE 12 genes, IE 110, which is a diploid gene, contains two introns in the coding sequence of the gene (Perry *et al.*, 1986). The only other gene in which introns have been identified is UL15. This gene is thought to encode a late viral protein (Costa *et al.*, 1985; McGeoch *et al.*, 1988).

1.6.1 The regulation of HSV transcription

Viral mRNAs and proteins are temporally regulated and expressed as a sequential cascade which is differentia ted into three broad classes defined as IE or α , early (E or β), and late (L or χ) (Honess and Roizman, 1974; 1975; Swanstrom and Wagner, 1974; Clements *et al.*, 1977). Recent

work on IE gene regulation has provided evidence that the cascade pattern of HSV protein expression is more complex than originally proposed by Honess and Roizman (1974; the 1975), who based their work on kinetic studies and leffect of metabolic inhibitors on viral protein synthesis.

1.6.2 IE genes, their expression and regulation

IE mRNA species are the first class of transcripts to be detected during a normal viral infection. These mRNAs are made even in the presence of a protein synthesis inhibitor, such as cycloheximide or anisomycin, added at the time of infection, and therefore do not require de novo viral protein synthesis for abundant expression (Honess and Roizman, 1974; Clements et al., 1977; 1979; Anderson et al., 1980; Harris-Hamilton and Bachenheimer, 1985). Five IE polypeptides, Vmw175, 110, 68, 63, 12 major are synthesised when the protein synthesis block is removed from viral-infected cells (Clements et al., 1977; Preston, 1979a: 1979b: Watson et al., 1979; 1981; Anderson et al., except Vmw12 (IE5) 1980). A11 IE polypeptides are the phosphorylated, and transported intolnucleus (Marsden *et* Pereira et al., 1977), and with the *al.*, 1976; 1978; exception of IE12, all bind to DNA in vitro (Hay and Hay, 1980).

Analyses of IE gene promoter and regulatory regions have revealed a number of different upstream elements. Important transcriptional elements were identified in IE genes 1 ($V_{MW}110$), 2 ($V_{MW}63$), 3 ($V_{MW}175$), 4 ($V_{MW}68$), 5 ($V_{MW}12$). These included: (I) TATA box homology located

approximately 30 bp upstream from the mRNA start site, (II) A proximal promoter region, located between -37 to -108bp, which is important for transcription initiation since the deletion of this region abolishes transcription of IE genes (Mackem and Roizman, 1982a; 1982b; Cordingley et al., 1983). Within these sequences is a GC-rich region which mav be involved in interactions with the cellular transcription factor Sp1 (Jones and Tjian, 1985). (III) Elements containing regulatory signals resembling enhancerlike These elements can function sequence. in either orientation from the promoter and at a distance up to 1300 bp (Cordingley et al., 1983; Lang et al., 1984; Preston and 1986). Tannahill. 1984; Bzik and Preston, (IV)А consensus sequence TAATGARAT (R is a purine), located far upstream within all IE gene promoters (Mackem and Roizman, Cordingley et al., 1983; Whitton et al., 1982b; 1983; Whiton and Clements, 1984; Gaffney et al., 1985).

1.6.3 IE transactivation

IE transcription is stimulated by UL48 gene product also known as trans-inducing factor VP16, or (Vmw65, as a component of the HSV-1 infecting "TIF"). present virion (Post et al., 1981; Batterson and Roizman, 1983; Campbell et al., 1984; Preston et al., 1984; Pellett et Transactivation of IE transcription by Vmw65 *al.*, 1985). depends on acis-acting regulatory element which contains the consensus TAATGARAT sequence (Kristie and Roizman, 1984; Gaffney et al., 1985; Bzik and Preston *et al.*, 1984;

Preston, 1986; O'Hare and Hayward, 1987). Although Vmw65 itself does not bind to DNA (Marsden et al., 1987), it has been recently shown that Vmw65 associates with cellular including nuclear factor proteins, III octamer-binding protein, to form an IE complex which binds to the regulatory TAATGARAT sequence (McKnight et al., 1987; Kristie and Roizman, 1987; Ace et al., 1988; Gerster and Roeder, 1988; O'Hare and Goding, 1988; Preston et al., 1988). The analysis of deletion and insertion mutants has revealed the existence of at least two functional separable domains in Vmw65. A domain, localised within the aminoterminal 411 amino acids, is sufficient for binding to the cellular transcription factor (Triezenberg et al., 1988a; 1988b), and a carboxy terminal region, unusually rich in acidic amino acids, also known/the "acid tail" is required for stimulation of transcription (Sadow ski et al., 1988). This acid tail is probably analogous to the activating domains of the yeast gene activator protein GAL4, GCN4 (Ptashne, 1986; Sadowski et al., 1988; Triezenberg et al., 1988a). Characterisation of the HSV-1 Vmw65 insertional mutant, in1814, defective in transinduction of IE gene transcription, revealed that transinduction of IE transcription by Vmw65 was not essential for virus growth at high moi, but was important at low moi (Ace et al., mechanism of IΕ precise Although the 1989). transactivation in HSV is still obscure, it has been suggested that the interaction between the yeast activator (GAL4) or the mammalian activator protein (ATF) and the (TFIID) with the adenovirus E4TATA factor mammalian

promoter facilitate promoter recognition by the RNA polymerase II and other initation factors (Horikoshi *et al.*, 1988a; 1988b).

1.6.4 Negative regulation of IE gene expression

It is well known that the synthesis of ΙE polypeptides decreases as the virus infection proceeds. Observations obtained from the analysis of ts and deletion mutants of HSV-1 in Vmw175 suggest that IE synthesis is autoregulated by Vmw175 at the level of transcription (Preston, 1979a; 1979b; Dixon and Schaffer, 1980; Deluca et al., 1985) since the mutants overproduced IE transcripts, and failed to synthesize E and L transcription. This conclusion was supported by results of transient-expression assavs with cloned wt Vmw175 gene. These experiments viral genes transcription was showed that Е and \mathbf{L} stimulated by $V_{MW}175$ whereas the expression of a gene under the control of Vmw175 promoter was repressed (Everett, 1984; Gelman and Silverstein, 1985; Deluca and Schaffer, 1985; O'Hare and Hayward, 1985a; 1985b; 1987; Mavromara-Nazos et al., 1986a). There is good evidence that binding of Vmw175 to the consensus sequence 5' ATCGTCNNNNYCGRC 3' at the capsite of Vmw175 is important for autoregulation of Vmw175 (Beard et al., 1986; Gelman and Silverstein, 1987a; Deluca and Schaffer, 1988; Paterson and Everett, 1988; Smith et al., 1989). This consensus sequence is also present in V_{MW} 110 promoter, but further downstream of the start site (Faber and Wilcox, 1986; Kristie and mRNA Roizman, 1986a; 1986b; Muller, 1987; Michael et al., 1988)

and it is not known whether this sequence is required for repression of $V_{MW}110$ gene expression. Other IE genes do not contain this binding site and thus it is unclear how those IE genes are repressed.

1.6.5 Early gene expression and regulation

Early genes are transcribed after IE genes, and are not dependent on viral synthesis for maximal expression (Honess and Roizman, 1974; 1975). Early proteins include enzymes required for viral DNA synthesis and some structural proteins.

Early genes have been divided into two classes β_1 , and β_2 , on the basis of their synthesis in the presence of different amino acid analogues and the analysis of polypeptides induced by *ts*K at the NPT (Pereira *et al.*, 1977; Preston, 1979). IE proteins are required for the transcription of early mRNA (Wagner *et al.*, 1972; Swanstrom *et al.*, 1975; Clements *et al.*, 1977).

1.6.6 Early gene transactivation

A varity of approaches, including mutant analysis and transient expression assays, have been used to identify the transactivating IE genes. It has been shown that $V_{MW}175$ is essential for the regulation and transcription of E and L genes. The first experiments implicating $V_{MW}175$ in transactivation were based on the characterisation of the HSV-1 mutant tsK with a lesion in $V_{MW}175$ (Stow *et al.*, 1978; Davison *et al.*, 1984). This mutant over produced IE transcripts, and failed to synthesize E gene transcripts at

the NPT. The ts phenotype could be reversed by downshift of tsK infected-cells from the NPT to the PT. When cells were transferred back to the NPT, IΕ transcripts accumulated and the amount of E mRNA declined. These experiments suggested that functional Vmw175 was required throughout infection for the transition from IE to E transcription (Preston, 1979a; 1979b; Watson and Clements, 1980). Similar results were obtained with deletion and other ts mutants in VMw175 (Dixon and Schaffer, 1980; Deluca et al., 1985). Experiments using cells transformed with either IE or E genes confirmed that Vmw175 is important for transactivation of E genes (Kit et al., 1978; Sandri-Goldin et al., 1983; Davidson and Stow, 1985). useful Transient expression systems have been for identifying other IE genes, in particular Vmw110, that affect gene expression (Everett, 1983; 1984a; 1984b; O'Hare and Hayward, 1985a; 1985b; Gelman and Silverstein, 1985; 1986; Quinlan and Knipe, 1985; Mavromara-Nazos et al., 1986b). Using this approach, it was shown that Vmw110 all three classes of viral transactivates genes and interacts synergistically with Vmw175 (Everett, 1984; 1985; 1986; Gelman and Silverstein, 1985; 1986; 1987b; Shapira et al., 1987). Despite the finding that Vmw110 is a strong transactivator, virus mutants lacking a functional Vmw110 are viable (Stow and Stow, 1986; 1989; Sacks and Schaffer, Although these mutants have similar phenotypic 1987). properties to wt virus at high moi, at low moi their growth is impaired and they synthesize reduced amounts of some E and most L proteins (Stow and Stow, 1986; 1989). It is

thought that at low moi where $V_{MW}175$ is present in low amounts, $V_{MW}110$ is important for boosting viral gene expression.

Results from the analysis of ts or deletion mutants and transient expression assays have implicated VMw63 in regulation of HSV gene expression (Sacks et al., 1985; Everett, 1986; Gelman and Silverstein, 1987b). In transient expression assays, Vmw63 either enhanced or repressed expression of genes activated by Vmw110 and Vmw175 (Sekulovich et al., 1988). It has also been reported that $V_{MW}63$ can stimulate expression of a gene containing the gB promoter (Rice and Knipe, 1988).

The two IE polypeptides Vmw68 and Vmw12 did not appear to affect gene expression either alone or in the presence of other IE proteins in transient expression assays (Everett, 1984; DeLuca and Schaffer, 1985), and both genes could be deleted without markedly affecting virus growth in most cells (Post and Roizman, 1981; Mavromara-Nazos *et al.*, 1986a).

1.6.7 Cis-acting and Promoter regulatory sequences of E genes

The control elements responsible for constitutive transcription of early genes have been identified using the viral thymidine kinase (TK) gene, since basal levels of the promoter activity could be detected in cells where λ TK gene has been integrated into their chromosomes (Minson *et al.*, 1978), and functional TK produced when HSV TK gene is microinjected into *Xenopus laevis* oocytes (Cordingley and

Preston, 1981). Analysis of the TK gene promoter region has been investigated by both insertion and deletion of clustered sets of mutations at random locations of the promoter (McKnight and Kingshurv 1982). The results elements identified three promoter regulatory arequired for efficient transcription of the TK gene: (I) A TATA box or a proximal signal (II) An upstream distal signal, dsI (III) A second upstream distal signal, dsII (McKnight, 1980, 1982). The two distal signals exhibited sequence homology to one another and were required for quantitative transcriptional control, each distal signal has a GC-rich region which includes the hexanucleotide sequence GGGCGG (McKnight et al., 1984). These GC rich elements bind the Sp1 cellular transcription factor which can stimulate the rate of gene transcription by 10 to 50 fold. DsI has a weaker affinity to Sp1 than dsII, which is explained on the basis of a single nucleotide change from G to C in the GC-consensus sequence 5'GGGGCGGGGGC 3' (Jones et al., 1985; Jones and Tijan, 1985). The distal signal dsII also contains an CCAAT-box, (Graves 1986). inverted et al., Two transcriptional factors, CTF isolated from НеLа cells (Jones et al., 1985) and CBP isolated from rat liver nuclei (Graves et al., 1986), have been shown to bind to this pentanucleotide. These two proteins appear to be different gene products with a related ability to bind to specific sequences (McKnight and Tjian, 1986). Although several workers have been unable to identify any specific promoter region essential for transactivation of gD and TK in transinducing assays, Coen et al. (1986) showed that sequences

which were sensitive to base substitution upstream of the TK gene were important for recognition by cellular transcription factors, therefore suggesting that E gene trans-activation by IE proteins possibly occurs by an interaction with cellular factors which recognise promoter elements.

1.6.8 Late gene expression and regulation

Genes whose expression is significantly reduced in the presence of viral DNA synthesis inhibitors such as ara-С and PAA are defined as late (L) genes (Honess and Roizman, 1974; 1975; Clements et al., 1977). Late transcripts are divided into two classes leaky late (ξ_1 or β and true-late (δ_2 or δ). Leaky-late transcripts are easily detectable in the absence of virus DNA replication, but only reach maximum abundance after DNA synthesis commences (Clements et al., 1977). True-late mRNA synthesis is also dependent on viral DNA replication for of expression. Unlike leaky-late level mRNAs, high however, true-late transcripts are present in very small amounts early in infection (Powell et al., 1975; Holland et al., 1980; Johnson and Everett, 1986a; Homa et al., 1986). The promoter region of Us11, a true-late gene, has been investigated in detail using a transient expression system to assay the expression of L genes (Johnson and Everett, No detectable elements upstream of the TATA box 1986a). were required for fully regulated expression of Us 11 This result suggested that only the TATA-box promoter. homology and capsite were required for late gene expression

(Johnson and Everett, 1986a). The finding that gD could be converted from an E gene to a L gene by removal of promoter sequence upstream the TATA-box confirmed these results (Johnson and Everett, 1986b). Similar results were obtained for another L gene, UL44 (gC) (Homa *et al.* 1986; Shapria *et al.*, 1987).

It is thought that prior to DNA synthesis, L genes are repressed in their expression by the major DNA binding protein (MDBP, Vmw136), since *ts* mutants with lesions in MDBP overproduced late gene products at the NPT (Godowski and Knipe, 1985).

Both Vmw175 and Vmw110 have been shown to transactivate L genes in transient expression assays (Deluca and Schaffer, 1985; Mavromara-Nazos et al., 1986a). The recent findings obtained from the analysis of Vmw63 deletion mutants, which failed to synthesize Vmw 63 transcripts (McCarthy et al., 1989), suggest that $V_{MW}63$ down-regulates transcription of certain E genes, and stimulates transcription of some L genes, since Vmw63 mutants overexpressed E proteins, and did not make true late proteins.

1.7 Herpesvirus DNA Replication

1.7.1 Viral DNA synthesis

Semi-conservative HSV DNA synthesis takes place in the nuclei of infected cells (Roizman, 1969). Replication can be detected in BHK cells by 3 hpi and reaches a maximum between 9-11 hpi (Wilkie, 1973; Rixon, 1977). The amount of input HSV DNA entering the replicative pool is low,

estimates vary from 5-10% (Jacob and Roizman, 1977). By contrast, more than 60% of input PRV DNA participates in DNA synthesis (Ben-Porat et al., 1976). Electron microscopic analysis of viral DNA present in the nuclei of infected cells revealed that the linear genome circularises early in infection (Jacob and Roizman, 1977; Ben-Porat and Veach, 1980). Restriction endonuclease analysis of noninverting mutants, lacking most of the internal inverted repeat sequences including the a sequence (Poffenberger et al., 1983; Poffenberger and Roizman, 1985), revealed that circularisation is rapid, and does not require de novo protein synthesis. These results suggest that fusion of the termini is mediated by a host or virion protein (Poffenberger and Roizman, 1985). Sequence analysis of the joint and terminal region indicates that circularisation of linear HSV genome probably occurs by direct ligation of the termini (Davison and Wilkie, 1983).

DNA has been extracted from cells replicating virus at early and late times in infection and examined under the electron microscope. Early in infection circular molecules with linear tails larger than unit length viral genome, Yshaped molecules, and a variety of linear DNA molecules differing from mature viral DNA in structural features such as lariats, loops (eye and D loops) have been observed (Ben-Porat et al., 1976; Shlomai et al., 1976; Ben-Porat and Tokazewiski, 1977; Friedmann et al., 1977; Jacob and Roizman, 1977; Jean et al., 1977, Becker et al., 1978). Evidence, particularly from PRV, favours the idea that the may replicate early in infection as а theta aenome

molecule. Late in infection, large tangles of DNA, many of which are greater than unit length viral DNA molecules are present. Sedimentation properties of HSV replicating DNA at late times of infection are consistent with electron microscopic observations that the viral DNA is of high molecular weight. Data obtained from restriction endonuclease analysis revealed that the proportion of terminal fragments relative to the joint spanning fragments was low in replicating virus DNA (Ben-Porat and Rixon, 1979; Jacob et al., 1979), suggesting that replicating HSV DNA is endless. On the basis of electron-microscopic observations of replicative intermediates, sedimentation properties of newly synthesised viral DNA late in results infection. and obtained from restriction endonuclease analysis of replicating viral DNA, Jacob et al. (1979) proposed that HSV replicates via a rolling circle mechanism, whereby head-to-tail concate mers of DNA are formed by the continuous synthesis of one strand and discontinuous synthesis of the other strand. During replication virus DNA contains nicks and gaps which are repaired at later stages (Wilkie, 1973; Wadsworth et al., 1976). Short stretches of ribonucleotides along the viral genome have also been reported (Biswal et al., 1974). The role of these ribonucleotides is not clear. It is possible that these stretches may act as a primer for discontinuous DNA synthesis.

1.7.2 Cis-acting elements involved in DNA replication The first evidence for multiple origins of

replication was obtained from electron microscopic observations on replicating HSV-1 DNA (Shlomai et al.. 1976; Friedman *et al.*, 1977). Similar observations were obtained for PRV (Jean et al., 1977; Ben-Porat and Veach, 1980). Studies HSV on defective viruses, which are generated by serially passaging virus stocks at high moi, identified two classes of defective viruses, both of which consist of tandem reiterations of portions of the virus genome. Class T contain tandem reiterations of Us linked repeat to the entire Skregion, while class II has DNA sequences from U_L fused to a small part of the S repeat (Frenkel *et al.*, 1976; Graham et al., 1978; Kaerner et al., 1979: and Frankel, 1979), Subsequent studies provided Locker direct evidence that the repeat units of class I and II of defective genomes contains origins of HSV replication (Vlazny and Frenkel, 1981; Spaete and Frenkel, 1982; 1985). The experiments showed that monomeric units of both defective classes were amplified to generate tandemly reiterated DNA when cotransfected into cells with wt HSV DNA which provided essential helper functions in trans. Using a plasmid replication assay the oris sequence in the short repeat was located within a 90bp region in the intervening sequences between the 5' transcribed region of and Vmw68 or Vmw12 genes (Mocarski and Vmw175 genes Roizman, 1982; Stow, 1982; Stow and McMonagle, 1983). The oric sequence, which lies within the noncoding sequences at 5' ends of DNA polymerase and the MDBP genes, was difficult to determine because deletions occurred at high frequency in ori, when plasmids carrying the sequence were propagated

in bacterial vectors. Cloning of oril was, however, successfully achieved using a yeast vector which allowed the precise localisation of ori_L in HSV-1 DNA (Weller etal., 1985). The sequence of oric was also determined by directly sequencing oric in HSV-1 strain 17 virion DNA (Quinn and McGeoch, 1985) and in defective DNA of HSV-1 strain angelotti (Gray and Kaerner, 1984). Sequence analysis revealed that both HSV-1 strain 17 syn⁺ oris and contain a palindromic sequence with an A-T rich ori region (Murchie and McGeoch, 1982; central Quinn and McGeoch, 1985).

A question which has been raised is whether oright and both copies of oris are essential for viral DNA synthesis ? Clearly both oris are not essential for DNA synthesis, since a mutant of HSV-1 lacking one copy of oris isolated in tissue culture (Longnecker has been and Roizman, 1986). Furthermore, the isolation of the HSV-1 mutant d161, which is able to replicate despite the deletion in ori_{L} , suggests that a functional ori_{L} is not essential for virus replication in tissue culture (Polvino-Bodnar et al., 1987). On the basis of these results it was thought that one origin of replication was sufficient for virus replication. Recent findings of Smith et al. (1989), however, suggest that the presence of at least one copy of essential for virus replication since viable oris is deletion mutants lacking all copies of oris could not be three origins generated in HSV-2. The reason for of replication in the virus genome is still unclear.

1.7.3 Identification of proteins involved in DNA metabolism

A variety of approaches have been employed to identify viral gene products which are important for DNA replication. In early studies, virus-infected cell extracts were screened for the presence of enzymes with altered properties from uninfected cell enzymes. Usina this approach the TK (Dubbs and Kit, 1964), а DNA exonuclease (Morrison and Keir, 1968), a DNA polymerase (Hay et al., 1971), ribonucleotide reductase (Cohn, 1972), dUTPase (Wohrab and Francke, 1980; Preston and Fisher, 1984), and the DNA repair enzyme uracil-DNA glycosylase (Caradonna and Cheng, 1981; Caradonna et al., 1987) were detected. DNA binding properties of certain proteins have been used to identify gene products which might be important for DNA replication such as the MDBP (Bayliss, et al., 1975; Purifory and Powell, 1976), origin specific DNA binding protein (Elias et al., 1986), and more recently the non-specific ds DNA binding protein (Marsden et al., 1987; Parris et al., 1988). The characterisation of mutants has been another approach used to identify genes involved in **DNA replication.** Analysis of ts and host range (hr) mutants which fail to synthesize DNA under restrictive conditions identified seven genes as candidates involved in DNA replication (Conley et al., 1981; Coen et al., 1984; Weller et al., 1983; Carmichael et al., 1988; Goldstein and Weller, 1988; Marchetti *et al.*, 1988; Carmichael and Weller, 1989).

A new approach has been used by Challberg (1986),

to identify genes required for HSV replication. Cloned restriction fragments of HSV-1 DNA were screened for the ability to supply the functions required for the replication of plasmids containing oris or oril when into tissue culture cells. transfected Using this complementation assay, Wu et al. (1988), identified seven HSV genes that were necessary for transient expression of plasmids containing oris or orit. These were UL30 which encodes DNA polymerase (Gibbs et al., 1985; Quinn and McGeoch, 1985), UL29 which encodes the MDBP (Conley et al., 1981; Quinn and McGeoch, 1985), a 65,000 Mmw non-specific ds DNA-binding protein encoded by UL42 (Marsden et al., al., 1987; Parris et 1988), and four less well characterised genes UL5, UL8, UL9, and UL52. Results obtained by Olivo et al. (1988), suggested that the product of gene UL9 binds to a viral origin of replication. Similar results were obtained by Weir et al. (1989), using a gel retardation assay. An HSV-1 specific DNA helicase activity has been identified in virus-infected Vero cells (Crute *et al.*, 1988), and shown to consist of three Immunochemical analysis suggested that these subunits. three subunits are the products of HSV-1 UL5, UL8, UL52. In addition, it was reported that a DNA primase activity was tightly associated with the three subunits (Crute et is thought that the helicase-primase al., 1989). It complex primes lagging-strand synthesis as the complex unwinds DNA at the replication fork.

1.7.4 Viral DNA maturation and cis-acting signals

Cleavage of high mw concatemeric DNA to unit-length linear genomes is closely associated with encapsidation of viral DNA. The characterisation of ts mutants of PRV and HSV has revealed clear evidence that these two processes are linked together (Ladin et al., 1980; 1982; Preston et al., 1983; Addison, 1986; Sherman and Bachenheimer, 1987; To date, most studies have been directed towards 1988). determinating the cis-acting sequences required for cleavage and packaging. All defective virus genomes contain sequences from the terminus of the S region of HSV genome, suggesting that these sequences encode the signal(s) for cleavage and packaging of DNA (Kaerner et al., 1981; Vlazny and Frenkel, 1981; Spaete and Frenkel, Studies on defective viral genomes generated by 1982). serial passage of HSV-1 virus stocks at high moi have also shown that only full-length defective genomes were present cytoplasmic virions, suggesting that only in capsids containing unit length DNA were enveloped (Vlazny et al., 1982). Subsequent work by Stow et al. (1983), demonstrated that all the signals required for HSV-1 DNA encapsidation located within the a sequence, since only plasmids were contain ing HSV-1 oris and the a sequence were packaged into capsids when transfected into cells with helper virus The a sequence, which is present as a direct repeat DNA. at both the termini, and in an inverted orientation at the L-S junction, is composed of unique elements (Ub, Uc), separated by direct repeated (DR) elements. It has been shown that DR1 elements lie at each end of a single a

sequence, and multiple copies of a sequence are separated by a single DR1 element (Figure 4). Heterogeneity in the size of a sequences of different HSV strains is due to the variation in the copy number of DR elements (Locker and Frenkel, 1979; Davison and Wilkie, 1981; Mocarski and Roizman, 1981; Mocarski et al., 1985). Sequence analysis of HSV DNA has revealed that the a sequence ends at both termini in a partial copy of DR1 (Davison and Wilkie, 1981; Mocarski and Roizman, 1982), such that the ligation of TRs TR_L regenerated the complete DR1 and between two a sequences. It was concluded from this information that the cleavage site is present within the DR1 element (Mocarski and Roizman, 1982). The findings obtained from the analysis HSV-1 strain Justin defective genomes revealed the presence of a complete copy of DR1 at the end of the a sequence adjoining the short repeat sequence but only 4bp of DR1 at the novel $U_s - a$ junction. This finding led to the conclusion that the DR1 sequence does not contain the cleavage-packaging signal (Mocarski et al., 1985). Studies by Varmuza and Smiley (1985) supported this prediction. Various sub-fragments from the a sequence were inserted into the viral TK gene and assayed for the ability to direct cleavage/packaging when introduced into a plasmid containing an HSV-1 origin of replication. The mutant TKinto HSV DNA and the also inserted fragments were recombinants screened for the ability to produce novel termini. A 250 bp subfragment, which lacked DR1 and part of U_b at one end and contained an incomplete copy of DR1 at end, retained cis-acting cleavage-packaging other the



Figure 4

The "a" sequence of HSV-1 strain F, which is present as a direct repeat at both termini and in an inverted orientation at the L-S junction. The region shown is composed of unique elements (U_b and U_c), separated by direct repeated elements (DR). At the each end of a single "a" lies a DR1 element. (taken from Chou and Roizman, 1985).

signals. Furthermore, sequence analysis revealed that the novel termini generated by the TK- recombinant viruses were produced by two distinct cleavage events, one specifying the location of the new S terminus, the other the new L terminus. Both cleavage sites occured in flanking TK DNA sequences at a defined distance from the cleavage signals. On the basis of these results Varmuza and Smiley (1985) proposed that in the standard HSV genome the two cleavage events occurred normally within DR1, but that the cleavage signals mapped elsewhere within the a sequence, probably Eventually, it was within Ub and Uc. shown that two separate signals, one located within U_b and the other in U_c element of the *a* sequence, were essential for cleavage and encapsidation of defective virus (Deiss and Frenkel, 1986; Deiss et al., 1986). Comparison of concatemeric junctions of six different herpesviruses revealed two blocks of conserved sequences (referred to as pac1 and pac2) which were homologous to Ub and Uc. It was suggested on the basis of these findings that there was a uniform mechanism for cleavage and packaging of herpesvirus DNA (Deiss etal., 1986). Using a transient cleavage assay it was demonstrated that a 179bp cloned fragment from the junction sequences, containing the cis-acting two tandem a of signals for cleavage and encapsidation, was cleaved at the appropriate site even though the fragment was unable to HSV-infected cells replicate in (Nasseri and Mocarski This result suggested that cleavage is independent 1988). of replication or concatemerisation. The same fragment, when linked to an HSV origin of replication, was able to be

replicated and packaged into progeny virus as a defective genome in the presence of helper virus.

1.7.5 Viral DNA packaging models

Several models have been proposed to explain the processing of concatameric DNA into packaged unit length models is based on a single DNA. The simplest of all event within DR1 to produce L and S termini. cleavage However, this model (Fig. 5A) requires junctions bearing two or more tandem a sequence for processing (Mocarski and Roizman, 1982). Since 50% of L-S junctions contain only a sequences, there must be а mechanism which one discriminates between a single and multiple a sequences or, alternatively, a system for regenerating a lost a sequence. It is also clear from work on defective genomes that one a sequence is sufficient in the monomer unit for cleavage and These observations led Varmuza packaging. and Smilev (1985) to propose two models for cleavage and packaging. In the first model, known as the staggered nick-repair model, the termini are generated by staggered singlestranded nicks followed by repair synthesis rather than ds cleavages proposed by Mocarski and Roizman (1982). S and L recognition complexes bind to signals in Uь and Uc respectively and each complex makes a single-stranded nick in the adjacent DR1 sequence at the end of the a sequence Repair synthesis occurs across the staggered (Fig. 5B). cleavages to produce two termini, each containing an a Junctions bearing two more tandemly or sequence. reiterated a sequences can also be processed by cooperation



Figure 5

A)

DNA cleavage model of Mocariski and Roizman (1982), A single cleavage event within the DR1 element generates the L and S termini. (I) The single *a* sequence present at the L-S junction is flanked by DR1. (II) Tandemly repeated *a* sequences share a single copy of DR1. (III) A single cleavage event within a copy of DR1 separating two adjacent *a* sequence may give rise to the termini.

B)

The staggered nick-repair model. The L and S termini arise either by staggered single-strand nicks followed by repair synthesis or, alternatively, the junctions bearing two or more reiterated *a* copies are processed by cooperation between L and S recognition complexes in adjacent *a* sequence and produce a double strand break. The circles represent the L and S recognition complexes bound to signals in Ub and Uc respectively. Taken from Varmuza and Smiley (1982). between \mathbf{L} and S recognition complexes in adjacent a sequences. It was suggested that the ds break created by this process generates ends which have a protruding 3' nucleotide (Mocarski and Roizman, 1982). Varmuza and Smiley (1985) also proposed a simple mechanism, the theft model, in which two separate ds cleavages events occur (Fig. 6), one creating an L terminus, the other an S Thus, at any L-S junction containing a single a terminus. sequence, only one cleavage is made creating (for example) an L terminus with an a sequence and an S terminus lacking it. This step is followed by packaging of the genome containing the a sequence at the terminus until the next L-S junction in the same orientation is encountered. А second cleavage event (in an opposite fashion) takes place to generate (for example) an S terminus with an a sequence L terminus lacking one. The theft and an model was subsequently modified by Deiss et al. (1986) to include polarity in cleavage-packaging process. In their model, to referred the directional cleavage model, the as packaging complex binds to the concatameric viral DNA at random and proceeds in a random walk until a junction containing the *a* U_c signal is found (Fig. 7). Cleavage occurs at the first DR1 element producing a terminus with a nucleotide. Packaging begins 3' protruding at the generated L terminus, which contains one or more а sequences, and the DNA is scanned for the next direct repeat junction. A second cleavage occur within the DR1 proximal to the first Uь signal within this element junction to give a terminus with 3' single-base overhang



Figure 6

Figure 6

The Theft model proposed by Varmuza and Smily (1982) for cleavage and packaging of DNA. A ds cleavage at one of two cleavage sites creates an L terminus carrying an a sequence and an S terminus lacking an a sequence. Packaging of the genome carrying the a sequences after the L terminus is initiated and continues until the proper orientated L-S junction is encountered. At this point a cleavage at the S terminal is made generating an S terminus with an а sequence and an L terminis lacking the a sequence. The L and S ends lacking a sequence are thought to be rapidly Triangles represent packaging signals while degraded. circles represent packaging complexes.






Figure 7

Directional cleavage model proposed by Diess et al., (1986) In this model packaging complex binds to concatemeric standard viral DNA and moves randomly until a junction containing a U_c signal is found. Cleavage occurs at the first DR1 element, producing a terminus with 3' single base overhang. The generated L terminus, which contains one or more a sequences, is packaged towards the L-S junction. DNA is scanned for the next direct repeat junction and a second cleavage event occurs proximal to the first Uь signal encountered to give rise to a 3' single base overhang. Termini lacking an a sequence are suggested to The open circle represent the be rapidly degraded. packaging complex.

(Deiss et al., 1986). In this model and the preceding one unpackaged termini, lacking an a sequence, are generated. Since termini lacking a sequences have not been detected it has been suggested that they are rapidly degraded (Varmuza and Smiley, 1985; Deiss *et al.*, 1986). To account for absence of termini devoid of a sequences Deiss et al. (1986) postulate another model based on the double-strand break repair mechanism for and gap qene conversion proposed by Szostak et al. (1983) to explain recombination In this model events resulting in gene conversion. a binds and moves randomly along complex to the DNA. Packaging begins without cleavage at the first Uc sequence encountered and proceeds in an L-S direction until а directly repeated junction is encountered. The first and interact by the ds break-gap junctions repair second mechanism resulting in the reciprocal copying of an а sequence from one junction to the other. The generated double a junctions are cleaved within the DR1 elements flanked by the U_c and U_b and packaged. During this process no termini lacking a sequences are generated, and the a sequence is amplified. Unlike the other models this model accounts for the structure of defective genomes generated from plasmids, containing an a sequence with a deletion in and an origin of replication, cotransfected into cells Uь with helper virus DNA. The possibility that the defective genome progeny acquired the a sequence by high frequency recombination with helper virus, however, cannot be ruled out.

1.8 HSV ENCODED PROTEINS

Early studies using one dimensional SDS PAGE, identified about 50 HSV-induced polypeptides in virusinfected cells (Honess and Roizman, 1973; Powell and Courtney, 1975; Marsden *et al.*, 1976). Recently, however, analysis of the complete DNA sequence of HSV-1 17*syn*⁺ genome has indicated the presence of at least 72 genes specifying 70 distinct proteins (McGeoch *et al.*, 1985; 1986; 1988).

1.8.1 Structural proteins

Over 30 virus polypeptides have been identified in purified virions, suggesting that nearly half of the HSVinduced proteins are structural (Spear and Roizman, 1972; Heine et.al., 1974; Cassai et al., 1975; Marsden et al., 1976). It should be noted, however, that although several minor proteins are present as virion components in some preparations, it is not clear whether they represent contaminating non-structural proteins, or whether they are in fact true components of the virion.

1.8.1.a Capsid proteins

The protein composition of capsids has been largely determined by purification of capsids from the nuclei of infected cells. In HSV-1 two types of intranuclear capsids, designated as A and B capsids, were identified using sucrose gradients (Gibson and Roizman, 1972), In faster A capsids, В capsids had а comparison to sedimentation rate, contained DNA and had an internal core

structure. A capsids lacked DNA and contained mainly coreless capsids. Recently it has been suggested that the heavy band containing B capsids was in fact a mixture of DNA containing capsids and capsids lacking DNA but containing some internal structure (partially-cored capsids) (Rixon *et al.*, 1988). These capsids could also be seen in thin section preparations of virus-infected cells under the electron microscope.

Seven polypeptides with apparent MW ranging from 12,000-155,000, have been recognised in HSV-1 full capsids (Heilman *et al.*, 1979; Zweig *et al.*, 1979; Cohen *et al.*, 1980) (See table 1).

The major capsid protein (also referred to as $V_{MW}155$, ICP5, VP5, NC1) is encoded by gene UL19 (Costa *el al.*, 1984; Davison and Scot, 1986; McGeoch *et al.*, 1988), and has been identified as the capsomere protein which is arranged in a six-fold symmetry within the icosahedron T=16 (Wildy *et al.*, 1960; Palmer *et al.*, 1975; Furlong, 1978; Vernon *et al.*, 1981; Stevens *et al.*, 1986; Weller *et al.*, 1987; Schrag *et al.*, 1989). Recent evidence obtained from cryo-electron microscopy of HSV-1 suggests that pentameric capsomeres may also be composed of VMW155 (Schrag *et al.*, 1989).

Early electron microscopic studies of disrupted capsids indicated that the capsomeres were linked by intercapsomeric fibrils (Vernon *et al.*, 1974; Palmer *et al.*, 1975), and that NC3 or NC4 or both may represent the intercapsomeric fibrils (Vernon *et al.*, 1981). However, the results obtained by Braun *et al.* (1984a) on surface iodination labelling of capsids revealed that Vmw33 (see table 1) and not NC3 or NC4, was located on the outer capsid surface. On the basis of this finding, it was suggested that this protein may function as intercapsomeric connections. The cryo-electron microscopy study by Schrag al. (1989)confirmed et that there are capsomeric connections and calculated that the mass of this protein could be accommodated within the outer surface of the capsid. On the assumption that the protein density at each local three-fold position is a trimer, then the capsid should contain 960 copies of VMw33 which is similar to estimates of the copy number of this protein within the capsid (Heine et al., 1974; Schrag et al., 1989).

The capsid protein Vmw50 (table 1), is a DNA binding protein (Braun et al., 1984a). The exact location of this protein within the capsid is uncertain. However, surface iodination studies suggest that this protein is present in an internal position in the capsid (Braun et al., 1984b). Schrag et al. (1989) speculated that this protein was located within the outer capsid (at a radius between 500 A° and 425 A°), which is consistent with the Zweig et al. (1979) that there are observations of disulfide-linkages between Vmw50 and Vmw155. Recent data obtained from the sequencing of the amino-terminus of capsid proteins (F.J. Rixon, personal communication), suggest that UL38 encodes the capsid protein Vmw50. The ts mutant, HSV-1A44ts2, which fails to assemble HSV-1 capsids at the NPT, has a ts defect within UL38 (Pertuiset et al., 1989). This finding suggests Vmw50 is required for

TABLE 1

predicted molecular	Apparent MW	Proposed nomenclatures					
(if known)	X 10 ³	(A)	(B)	(C)			
149,075	155	NC1	p155	VP5 (1CP5)			
50,260	50	NC 2	p50	VP19C (ICP32)			
62,466	40	NC3/4	p40	VP22/22a(ICP35)			
NA	33	NC4	p32	VP23			
"	26	NC5	p25	VP24			
11	12	NC6	p12	ND			

..

TABLE 1

- Capsid polypeptide nomenclature proposed by different workers and the their approximate mw compared with the predicted mw determined from the nucleotide sequence of HSV (McGeoch *et al.*, 1988). NA-not available since no capsid protein have been assigned to a gene.
- (A) The nomenclature used by Cohen et al.(1980) where NC represents nucleocapsid proteins.
- (B) The nomenclature proposed by Heilman et al. (1979).
- (C) The nomenclature used by Gibson and Roizman (1972) for virion proteins. The virus-infected cell polypeptide nomenclature is given in Brackets (Heine *et al.*, 1974). (ND) not detected.

In this thesis capsid proteins have also been referred to by their approximate mw e.g. Vmw155. the formation of capsids.

A family of related polypeptides, designated as VP22a, VP22, the assembly protein (Gibson and Roizman, 1972; 1974), p40 (Heilman et al., 1979; Zweig et al., 1979; 1980), or ICP35 (Braun et al., 1984b), is encoded by gene UL26 (Preston et al., 1983; McGeoch et al., 1988). This assembly protein was thought to be a major component of full DNA-containing capsids, but not empty capsids lacking any internal structure (Gibson and Roizman, 1972; Braun et al., 1984b). Recent work by Rixon et al. (1988), however, based on immunoelectron microscopy has provided clear evidence that p40 is present in partially-cored capsids which do not contain DNA and is not a major component of full capsids or mature virions. Since the p40 is only transiently associated with capsids it cannot be an integral capsid protein. Further investigations are needed to determine whether the p40 is required for the formation of partially-cored capsids. VP21, which was thought to be an unprocessed form of the ICP35 family, is only present in type B and C capsids (C capsids are prepared by treating virions with detergents which remove the envelope) (Gibson and Roizman, 1972; Braun et al., 1984a). Schrag et al. may be (1989) proposed that VP21 present within the intermediate shell T=4, although the estimated amount of VP21 present in the capsid (Heine et al., 1972) is not sufficient to explain the excess in density found in the cryo-electron microscopic constructions. It is likely that the nucleocapsid contains an additional as yet unidentified component (Schrag et al., 1989).

The location and role of the other two capsid proteins p25, and p12 are not known. It has been suggested that p12, a highly basic protein, may be an internal component of the capsid (Vernon et al., 1981), and involved in the events leading to the packaging of HSV DNA (Cohen *et* al., 1980). Cryo-electron microscopic studies by Schrag et al. (1989) suggested that the mass inside the inner capsid is large enough to accommodate some protein in addition to the genomic DNA and the polyamine spermine detected in earlier studies by Gibson and Roizman (1971), and Roizman and Furlong (1974). It is thought that the function of spermine in the nucleocapsid is to neutralise the phosphate charge on DNA, to allow the DNA to be densely packed into the capsids.

1.8.1.b HSV tegument proteins

The tegument is thought to contain at least 15 or more non-glycosylated proteins. The assignment of structural proteins to the tegument is generally based on their presence in de-enveloped virions, and their absence from capsids purified from infected cell nuclei (Gibson and Roizman, 1980). Roizman, 1972; Lemaster and This non-glycosylated proteins criterion, however, excludes envelope, for example Vmw65, which close to the are 1980; Johnson et solubilised by detergents (Spear, al., In practice, therefore, detergent-soluble non-1984). glycosylated structural polypeptides are normally placed in the tegument.

The tegument polypeptide Vmw65, which is the

product of gene UL48, is responsible for trans-activating IE gene transcription (Batterson and Roizman, 1983; Campbell *et al.*, 1984). The precise structural role of $V_{MW}65$ is not known, although work on the HSV-2 *ts* mutant *ts*2205 (Halliburton and Timbury, 1976) has shown that it is important in stabilizing the capsid (Ramsay, 1987).

A 10,000 MW phosphoprotein encoded by gene US9 has also been identified as a tegument protein. Oligopeptide antiserum, raised against a portion of US9 amino acid sequence, precipitated a family of polypeptides with MW of around 10,000 from NP40 soluble extracts of HSV-1 virions (Frame *et al.*,1986). The 10,000 MW protein is located on the surface of capsids in the nucleus, and it is thought that this protein becomes associated with the nucleocapsids shortly after their formation.

The gene UL36 encodes a huge tegument protein known as $V_{MW}273$ (Batterson *et al.*, 1983; McGeoch *et al.*, 1988). The lesion in the HSV-1 strain HFEM *ts* mutant *ts*B7 was localised within this protein. Capsids from input virions of *ts*B7 accumulated at the nuclear pores at the NPT and failed to release the viral DNA into the nucleus (Batterson *et al.*, 1983), suggesting that this protein is important for uncoating.

A protein kinase activity has been located in the tegument by Lemaster and Roizman, (1980). It was suggested that the protein kinase is possibly a host case in kinase II, since there are similarities between the tegument protein kinase and the host enzyme (Stevely *et al.*, 1985).

1.8.1c Envelope glycoproteins

seven major glycoproteins have At least been recognised on the virion surface (table 2). These glycoproteins have been intensively studied since thev mediate entry of the virus into the infected cell, the spread of virus between cells, and they form targets for antibody-mediated neutralization of virion infectivity and therefore may be potential targets for anti-HSV vaccines 1985; Marsden 1987). (Spear, The genes encoding the glycoproteins aredistributed throughout the genome within both Us. which contains a hiqh concentration of glycoproteins, and U_L (Fig 8). The virion glycoproteins gH, gB, gC, gD, gI, gE all possess N-terminal hydrophobic signal sequences and C-proximal hydrophobic sequences. It should be noted that a minor glycoprotein, which has not been identified as a component of the envelope, is thought to be encoded by gene US5, (McGeoch, 1985; McGeoch et al., 1985; McGeoch et al., 1987; McGeoch *et* al., 1988a). Finally, sequence analysis of UL have identified eight other potential membrane-associated genes, UL1, UL3, UL10, UL20, UL34, UL43, UL45 and UL53 (McGeoch et al., 1988).

1.9 VIRION ASSEMBLY

1.9.1 Capsid assembly

The chain of events leading to nucleocapsid assembly in herpesviruses is still unclear. There is, however, general agreement that structural proteins migrate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus where capsids are assembled (Morgan *et al.*, 1954; 1959; Olshevsky *et al.*,

TABLE 2

The function of HSV glycopreteins

Function	gB	gC	glycc gD	gE	eins gG	gH	gI
Essential genes in tissue culture	yes	no	yes	no	no	уез	no
Adsorption	+?	+?	+?	+?			
Penetration	+	+	÷			+	
Cell fusion (<i>syn</i>)	+	+					
Virus egression	_		-	_		+?	
Neutralisation	+	+	÷	+	+	+	
C3b receptor		gC-1 gC-2					
Fc receptor			÷	+			

(+) (-)

indicates a positive role indicates a negative role either unclear or unknown

(?)

For references refer to the text



.

The diagram represents the map location of HSV-1 (A) glycoproteins and (B) the genes which are thought to be involved in DNA encapsidation (refer to the text for details).

Figure 8

and the contraction of the approximation of the second second second second second second second second second

1967; Spear and Roizman, 1968; Ben-Porat et al., 1969). Analysis of ts mutants of PRV, which failed to assemble capsids but synthesised DNA at the NPT, suggested that capsid assembly is required for the continual movement and accumulation of capsid proteins in the nuclei of infected cells (Ladin et al., 1980; 1982). The nuclear matrix, i.e. residual nuclear skeletal framework obtained the by sequential extraction of purified nuclei with low salt, DNase, and high salt treatment (Berezney and Coffey, 1977), is thought to be the site within the nucleus where herpesviruses capsids are assembled, and viral DNA replication takes place (McCready et al., 1980; Pardoll et al., 1980; Bibor-Hardy et al., 1982a; 1982b; Tsutsui et. 1983; Ben-Porat et al., 1984; Bibor-Hardy et al., al., 1985). As mentioned earlier, Vmw155 is the major component Like Vmw155 mutants, the UL38 ts mutant HSV-1 of T=16. A44ts2 fails to produce capsids at the NPT (Pertuiset et *al.*, 1989). This finding suggests that UL38 gene product is also an essential component of capsids. Analysis of DNA +ve ts mutants of PRV and HSV, together with pulse-chase experiments have shown that empty, coreless capsids are breakdown products of full, DNA-containing capsids (Ladin et al., 1980; 1982). This information suggests that an internal shell must be present for the formation of the outer T=16 capsid shell. It is interesting to note that translucent core-liké structures have been electron observed in the nuclei of cells infected at the NPT with Vmw155 ts mutants. The correct processing of UL26 gene product ICP35 is probably important for capsid assembly,

since the mutant ts1201, which has a defect in p40 (ICP35), produces capsids at the NPT which have a larger internal core structure than capsids produced by packaging mutants containing defects in other genes (Preston et al., 1983; Addison, 1986). In a recent study on capsids of EHV-1 the only difference in the protein composition between coreempty capsids and partially-cored capsids less was the presence of p40 in partially cored capsids (Newcomb et al., 1989). This work supports the results obtained by Rixon et which $(1988)\lambda$ demonstrated the presence of p40 in partiallyal. cored capsids. Either p40, which is present outside the capsids, is required for the maintainance of the internal core structure or а minor unidentified protein is important. То date no scaffolding proteins have been identified, however, it is likely that viral proteins in addition to Vmw155 and Vmw50 will be required for the formation of capsids.

1.9.2 Encapsidation of herpesvirus DNA

The available experimental evidence favours a model in which the virus DNA is packaged into a preformed capsid. model based on this mechanism was first suggested by Α that DNA enters (1976).It was proposed Perdue et al. (partially-cored capsids capsids) which intermediate contain an internal structure and DNA is spooled around a large cylinder core structure. During this process the cylinder is condensed to form a densely staining toroid of the type observed by Furlong et al. (1972) in thin sections of HSV-1 infected cells under the electron microscope. The

insertional model was based on work on EHV-1 (Perdue et al., 1975; 1976). Three distinct species of EHV-1 capsids were identified renografin-76 on density gradients. Analvsis of the capsid species revealed significant differences in their protein composition and DNA content. Capsids were classified into light or empty, medium or partially-cored and heavy or DNA-containing capsids. showed that partially-cored capsids Perdue et al. (1976) were precursors to DNA-containing capsids, since, in "pulse-chase" experiments, during the "chase" the amount of radioactive label in partially-cored capsids decreased and this was accompanied by an increase in label in DNAcontaining capsids. Observations of capsids by Schrag et al. (1989), using cryo-electron microscopy revealed that there are channels located at the six coordinated positions T=4 lattice, which are aligned with the channels of the that penetrate through T=16 shell. Schrag et al. (1989) suggested that the genome might be inserted through these channels. Perdue et a1. (1976)proposed that the intermediate capsids contained four cylinders which fused to form a large cylinder around which the DNA is spooled. In view of the recent finding that HSV has an inner as well as an outer capsid, this scheme should be viewed with some Further evidence favouring the entry of DNA into doubt. partially-cored capsids has been obtained from the studies of DNA positive ts mutants of PRV and HSV-1 which fail to encapsidate DNA at the NPT (Schaffer et al., 1973; 1974; Cabral and Schaffer, 1976; Atkinson et al., 1978; Ben-Porat et al., 1982; Sherman and Bachenheimer, 1987; 1988). Cells

infected with these mutants at the NPT generally contained large amounts of partially-cored capsids in the nuclei. In cases where the effect of the mutation could be reversed upon shiftdown to the PT in the presence of cycloheximide, the number of partially-cored capsids decreased and this accompanied by the appearance of full capsids in the nucleus and virus particles in the cytoplasm (Ladin et al., 1980; Preston et al., 1983). Various photographs have been published from electron microscopic studies on HSV and CMV which claim to show dense filaments, presumed to be viral DNA, extending from the nucleoplasm through the capsids to the cores (Friedmann et al., 1975; Haguenau and Michelson-Fiske, 1975).

An alternative method for the formation of DNA containing capsids was suggested by Pignatti and Cassai (1980). They proposed that newly synthesised DNA is packed and condensed into nucleoprotein complexes (NPC) containing HSV-encoded proteins VP5, VP12, VP15.5, VP19, and VP24. The mature nucleocapsid is formed by the addition of other structural proteins to the NPC. The possibility, however, that NPC detected in virus-infected cells represents degraded nucleocapsids has not been excluded. It should be noted that this model of DNA encapsidation has little support, since the weight of evidence favours insertion of DNA into a preformed capsid.

Results obtained from work on herpesvirus DNA maturation (See section) suggest that replicated viral DNA concatemers are cleaved at specific sites while DNA is packaged into capsids (Vlazny *et al.*, 1982; Varmuza and

Smiley, 1985; Deiss and Frenkel, 1986; Deiss et al., 1986). Ts mutants of PRV and HSV which fail to encapsidate viral DNA at the NPT also fail to cleave endless DNA into unit length DNA. This finding suggests that the concatemeric DNA is cleaved while the DNA is being packaged (Ladin et al., 1983; al., 1980; Preston *et* Addison, 1986). Subsequent work on defective virus genome supports this relationship between cleavage of viral DNA concatemers and encapsidation. since most of the termini of defective genomes were present in DNase-protected structures in the nuclei of virus-infected cells (Deiss and Frenkel, 1986).

1.9.3 Genes involved in DNA encapsidation

Characterisation of HSV *ts* mutants with defects in DNA packaging at the NPT has led to the identification of several genes involved in DNA encapsidation (see fig 8); these include genes UL6, UL25, UL26, UL28 (Preston et al., 1983; Addison et al., 1984; Addison, 1986; Sherman and Bachenheimer, 1987; 1988). Analysis of the HSV-1 *ts* mutant ts1201 with a defect in UL26 revealed that the mutant failed to package virus DNA and to process p40 to its lower MW forms at the restrictive temperature. The effect of the mutation could be reversed upon down-shift of the mutantinfected cells from the NPT to the PT. When virus-infected were transferred to 31° in the presence of cells cycloheximide correct processing of p40 was achieved and concatemeric DNA was cleaved and packaged. The partiallycored capsids, which accumulated in the nucleus at the NPT, decreased after mutant-infected cells were shifted to 31°

and this was accompanied by the appearance in the nucleus of capsids containing DNA. The results suggested that the processing of p40 is important for DNA packaging (Preston et al., 1983). The ts mutant of HSV-1 with a defect in gene UL25 made low numbers of partially-cored capsids in the nucleus at the NPT, and no full capsids were detected. The precise role of gene UL25 in capsid assembly and DNA packaging is u nclear. It may be important for capsid stability since only low numbers of capsids were present in the nuclei at t he NPT (Addison et al., 1984; Addison, 1986). The analysis of HSV-1 ts mutant ts1203 with a lesion in gene UL28 has revealed that partially-cored capsids accumulated in the nucleus at the NPT, and concatemeric DNA was not cleaved and packaged (Matz et al., 1983; Addison, 1986; Rixon et al., 1988).

Other polypeptides have also been implicated in DNA encapsidation. The product of gene UL38, VP19C, has been speculated to play a role in DNA encapsidation, since this protein is present as an internal component of full and empty capsids, and binds to DNA. It was suggested that this protein may function in packaging or anchoring the DNA in the capsid (Braun et al., 1984b). However, no evidence presented to support this been suggestion. The has identification of the gene products of Us11 (McGeoch et 1985; Johnson et al., 1986), Vmw21 and 22, which al., interacted specifically with the a sequence of HSV-1 DNA, (1984) to propose that led Dalziel and Marsden this is involved in packaging and/or genome polypeptide inversion. This gene, however, is unlikely to be important

in virus DNA packaging because it is not essential for growth of virus in tissue culture and because the products of Us11 localise very strongly within the nucleoli of the infected cell (Longnecker and Roizman, 1986; Brown and Harland, 1987; Maclean *et al.*, 1987).

1.10 Envelopment and Egression of HSV

The nucleocapsids are thought to acquire their envelope by budding through the inner nuclear membrane (Darlington and Moss, 1968; Nii et al., 1968; Watson, 1973; Roizman and Furlong, 1974; O'Callaghan and Randall, 1976). The sites of envelopment in the nuclear membrane appear to lack normal complement of cellular proteins, but are enriched with viral glycoproteins (Asher et al., 1969; Spear and Roizman, 1970). Other sites of envelopment have also been reported, such as golgi membranes and cytoplasmic vacuoles (Haguenau and Michelson, 1975). On the basis of electron microscopic studies on HSV a novel process of envelopment, whereby nucleocapsids acquire envelopes by de novo synthesis around DNA containing capsids, was suggested (Atkinson et al., 1978; Dargan and Subak-Sharpe, 1983).

The precise mechanism of envelopment and the viral polypeptides involved in envelopment are not known. It was proposed by Gibson (1981) that exposed hydrophobic regions of tegument proteins present on the nucleocapsid surface promoted capsids envelopment by the interacting with hydrophobic elements, possibly viral glycoproteins located on the nuclear membrane. However, no tegument proteins or glycoproteins have yet been shown to be involved in such an

interaction. It has been suggested that ICP35 may play a role in envelopment, since it was thought that ICP35 coated the surface of full capsids and was absent from empty capsids (Gibson and Roizman, 1972; Braun et al., 1984b). It was proposed that the presence of ICP35 on the capsid surface permitted full capsids to interact with other proteins and to eventually become enveloped. Work, however, by Rixon et al. (1988) has shown that ICP35 is in fact present in partially-cored and not full capsids. It is therefore unlikely that ICP35 is directly involved in envelopment. Subsequent cryo-electron microscopic studies of Schrag et al. (1989) revealed that both empty and full capsids but no partially-cored capsids were present in their purified virion preparations suggesting that the process of envelopment does not distinguish between full or empty capsids. Schrag *et al.* (1989) proposed that the absence rather than the presence of ICP35 could act as the capsid surface marker for envelopment.

Virions spread to other cells either by fusion of virus-infected cell membranes with adjacent cellular membranes, or by release of virus into the extracellular space. The transport of the virion from the nucleus to the cell surface is thought to be relatively fast and takes about 1-2h after virus maturation. Virus particles are thought to move to the cell surface with streaming of the cytoplasm, since in cells treated with cytochalasin B, an inhibitor of cell movement by microfilaments, HSV particles were retained within the nucleus (Marciano-Cabral et al., Two mechanisms have been proposed for the transport 1977).

of virus from the nucleus to the plasma membrane. The first is reverse phagocytosis (Morgan et al., 1959; Nii et al., 1968; al., 1981) whereby the virus Katsumoto et particle enters a cytoplasmic vacuole, and is transported within the vacuole to the plasma membrane. Fusion of the vacuole with the cytoplasmic membrane releases the enveloped virus into the extracellular space. Tn the second mechanism the virus particle buds through the inner nuclear membrane into vesicles and moves along the reticulo-endothelial system to the golgi complex, and from there to the cytoplasmic membrane. The results obtained by Johnson and Spear (1982), favour the latter mechanism. They found that enveloped virions accumulated in membrane vesicles when HSV-infected cells were treated with the ionophore monensin, which is thought to inhibit the transfer of vesic les from the golgi apparatus to the cellular membrane.

Very little is known about proteins involved in envelopment. Results obtained from the analysis of mutants deficient in particular glycoproteins, such as gD (Ligas and Johnson, 1988) or gE (Longnecker and Roizman, 1986; 1987; Neidhardt *et al.*, 1987) have revealed that none of these well characterised viral glycoproteins are essential for virus envelopment. It is possible that gH may have a role in envelopment as it has been shown that a monoclonal antibody directed against gH inhibited plaque formation when added in an overlay after virus adsorption (Buckmaster *et al.*, 1984), and efficiently inhibited cell fusion by syncytial virus strains (Gompels and Minson, 1986). A

mutant, *ts*Q26, which has a point mutation in gH, has been isolated. This mutant fails to form plaques at the NPT (Weller *et al.*, 1983 Desai *et al.*, 1988). Intracellular virus retaining gH is infectious while extracellular virus lacking gH is non-infectious (Desai *et al.*, 1988). However, the possibility that the block in infectivity is at a stage of entry not exit cannot be ruled out and that gH may act in a similar manner to gD.

1.11 LATENCY

17

A common feature of herpesviruses is their ability to establish latent infections (Goodpasture, 1929; Stevens and Cook, 1971). HSV reactivation often leads to recurrent epithelial lesions which can be triggered by UVirradiation, fever, hormonal changes, stress or other stimuli. Studies have shown that the latent virus genome resides in neuronal cells (Cook et al., 1974; McLennan and Darby, 1980). Latent HSV has also been found in sensory and sympathetic ganglia of man (Bastian *et al.*, 1972). HSV-1, HSV-2 wt viruses and ts mutants have been successfully isolated from different regions of latently infected mice by cocultivating the explanted tissue, such as ear skin, foot pad, the dorsal root ganglia as well as the corneas of infected rabbits (Al-Saadi et al., 1983; Cook and Brown, 1987; Cook et al., 1987). Recently it was HSV-2 could also establish latency in reported that foot pad, and that treatment with infected mouse acycloguanosine in vivo or in vitro did not prevent virus recovery (Al-Saadi et al., 1988; Clements and Subak-Sharpe,

1988).

Although most of HSV-1 virion DNA is linear, it is thought that latent virus DNA exists either as a circle or as a large, unintegrated concatemer since genomic termini could not be detected (Rock and Fraser, 1983; 1985; Efstathiou et al., 1986; Mellerick and Fraser, 1987). The latent HSV-1 virus DNA has a nucleosomal structure similar to that of cellular chromatin, and it has been suggested that this structure is important in the control of HSV-1 gene expression during latency (Deshmane and Fraser, 1989).

Little is known about the mechanism involved in the establishment, maintenance and reactivation of HSV-latency. It has been demonstrated recently that viral DNA replication was not required for the establishment of latency in experimental animals (Coen et al., 1989a), and that viral DNA inhibitors did not prevent the establishment of latency in vitro (Wilcox and Johnson, 1988). The role of TK in latency is controversial. The problem with early experiments using TK- viruses was that mutations in ΤK affected not only TK but also adjacent genes. Recently a mutant of HSV-1 strainF containing a deletion in TK has been shown to establish latency in rabbits but not in mice, favouring the possibility that the rabbits were able to latency, which was complement a function important for deleted from the virus (Meignier et al., 1988). This is supported by work on TK deletion mutants by other workers More recent data, however, have (Sears et al., 1985). provided strong evidence that TK is not essential for the establishment of latent infection but may be required in

the reactivation process (Coen *et al.*, 1989a; 1989b; Efstathiou *et al.*, 1989; Tenser *et al.*, 1989). In addition, V_{MW} 110 of HSV-1 has been proposed to play a role in the establishment and reactivation of latency (Leib *et al.*, 1989), along with the host cellular factors such as nerve growth factor (Wilcox and Johnson, 1988).

During acute viral infection most of the genome is actively transcribed (Clements et al., 1977; Wagner, 1985). In latent infections of the peripherial and central nervous humans systems of and experimental animals, however. Dealty transcription is limited to a small region of the genome th et al., 1987; Rock et al., 1987; Spivack and Fraser, 1987; Stevens al., 1987; Steiner et et al., 1989). HSV transcripts present in latently infected cells have been termed latency-associated transcripts (LATs). The two major transcripts, which are not polyadenylated, appeared to share their 5' and 3' ends and to be produced by alternative splicing (Wechsler et al., 1988a; 1989). These complementary to Vmw110 mRNA mRNAs are and partially overlap the 3' end of Vmw110 gene (Rock et al., 1987; Spivack and Fraser, 1987; Stevens et al., 1987). LATs have been shown to be localised in the nucleus of the neuron (Rock et al., 1987; Stevens et al., 1987; Javier et al., 1988b). Ιt is not clear whether 1988; Wechsler *et al.*, transcripts are translated. Results, these however, obtained from S1 nuclease and primer extension mapping an open reading frame may be a proteinsuggest that encoding region (Wagner et al., 1988), and that a small abundant transcript may be translated. amount of the

Although the functions of these transcripts have not yet been elucidated, evidence from the analysis of deletion mutants, which do not make detectable amounts of LAT transcripts, clearly demonstrates that LAT transcripts are not required for establishment and maintenance of latency in mouse neurons (Javier et al., 1988). Work on the HSV-1 1704. variant however, showed that reactivation was significantly delayed in comparison to wt virus, suggesting that these transcripts had a role in reactivation (Steiner et al., 1989). It is also thought that the LAT transcripts may keep Vmw110 region of the DNA in an open conformation such that during reactivation the V_{MW}110 gene can be rapidly transcribed.

1.13 CELL TRANSFORMATION AND ONCOGENESIS BY HSV

The involvment of HSV-2 in the development of cervical carcinoma has long been speculated upon. The higher prevalence HSV-2 antibodies of in with woman cervical neoplasia than in matched controls (Nahmias et al., 1980), and the detection of HSV sequences in certain carcinoma biopsies led to the suggestion that HSV might be a causal agent (McDougall et al., 1980; Eglin et al., 1981; Macnab et al., 1985). However, in a prospective study Vonka et al. (1986) failed to find an association between HSV-2 and cervical neoplasia.

Morphological transformation studies have been used to investigate the oncogenic potential of HSV (Macnab, 1987). Duff and Rapp (1973) were the first to demonstrate that UV-inactivated HSV-2 induces morphological

transformation of mouse 3T3 cells. Subsequent studies identified a region from the HSV-1 genome, referred to as MTRI (Morphological transformation region), which maps in XbaI f fragment between 0.29 to 0.45mu (Camacho and Spear, 1978; Reyes et al., 1979). Two MTRs have been identified in HSV-2 DNA. MTRII maps in the BglII n fragment between 0.58-0.62mu (Reyes et al., 1979; Galloway and McDougall, 1981; Cameron et al., 1985; Jones et al., 1986), and MTRIII maps in BglII c between 0.54 to 0.58mu (Peden et al., 1982; Jariwalla et al., 1983).

A "hit and run" mechanism of cell transformation has been proposed for HSV (Skinner, 1976; Minson *et al.*, 1976), since the viral DNA was not retained within the transformed cells (Minson *et al.*, 1976; Galloway and McDougall, 1983; Galloway *et al.*, 1984; Cameron *et al.*, 1985), and there did not appear to be any HSV-encoded transforming proteins or oncogenes (Cameron *et al.*, 1985; Macnab *et al.*, 1985). Studies have suggested that HSV DNA can stimulate expression of cellular genes and induce specific mutations (Schlehofer and Zur Hausen, 1982), and cause gene amplification in a similar manner to chemical carcinogens (Lavi, 1981) while the viral DNA polymerase may be involved in cellular gene amplification (Matz *et al.*, 1984), and induce chromosomal rearrangments.

1.14 GENETICS STUDIES OF HSV

Perhaps one of the most important approaches which has enabled individual genes to be identified and their functions elucidated is the isolation and analysis of HSV

mutants. The information obtained on the genomic location of the mutations and virus-encoded polypeptides has helped to expand our knowledge of the functional organisation and regulation of HSV genes.

1.14.1 Temperature sensitive mutants

In HSV the majority of conditional lethal mutants isolated are ts. Generally, the temperature sensitivity is produced by a missense substitution of an amino acid in the protein which results in a polypeptide with a temperatureimpaired function. As a consequence, ts mutants of HSV are able to replicate at the PT $(31^\circ - 34^\circ)$ but not at the NPT (38°-39.5°). At the high temperature the affected protein is either unstable or is unable to form a functional conformation. Ts mutants can arise spontaneously in wt virus stocks, however, most ts mutants have been induced by treatment of virions with UV light, nitrous acid, or nitrosoguanidine, by treatment of viral DNA with nitrous acid, hydroxylamine or UV light, or by exposing virusinfected cells to 5-Bromodeoxyuridine (BUdR) or 2aminopurine (Schaffer et al., 1970; Timbury, 1971; Brown et al., 1973; Schaffer et al., 1973; Esparza et al., 1974; Manservigi, 1974, Chu et al., 1979; Machtiger et al., 1980; Jofre *et al.*, 1981). The total number of essential genes encoded by \angle HSV genome is still unclear. More than 30 cistrons in HSV-1 (Schaffer et al., 1978) and 20 cistrons in HSV-2 (Timbury et al., 1976; Schaffer et al., 1978), have been identified by complementation studies, suggesting that there are at least 30 essential genes. Although ts

mutants have been extremely useful in elucidating the functions of essential genes, there are large regions of the genome in which it has not been possible to induce *ts* lesions affecting virus viability. For this reason alternative approaches have been employed to extend the range of genetic material.

1.14.2 Insertion and deletion mutants

Deletion and insertion mutagensis have been used to determine functional domains of both essential and nonessential proteins and to identify non-essential genes. A variety of insertional mutagensis strategies have been adopted, including insertion of TK (Post and Roizman, 1981), mini-Mu-phage-system (Jenkins et al., 1985), transposon Tn5 carrying a kanamycin resistant marker (Weber et al., 1987). Analysis of insertion and deletion mutants showed that, with the exception of gD, all Us genes are dispensable for growth in tissue culture (Longnecker and Roizman, 1986, 1987; Brown and Harland, 1987; Weber et al., 1987).

1.14.3 Drug resistant HSV mutants

Many drugs against HSV are nucleoside analogues which interfere with viral DNA replication, and select mutations which depend in most cases on the HSV-encoded TK for their antiviral effect. The virus-encoded enzyme will o^{f} phsosphorylate a variety/nucleoside analogues, converting them from harmless compounds to an active drug which inhibits viral DNA polymerase activity by binding

irreversibly to the active site, or by causing chain termination when incorporated into DNA. Most mutants resistant to analogues are deficient in TK activity (Kit and Dubbs, 1963; Dubbs and Kit, 1964; Ellion et al., 1977; Stow et al., 1978; Field et al., 1980), and compensate for their deficiency in exponentially growing cells by using cellular dTMP. Although most acycloguanosines-resistant mutants have altered TK, TK⁺ acyclovir resistant mutants have been isolated with lesions in DNA polymerase. The altered polymerase fails to interact with the phosphorylated acyclovir, thus preventing the incorporation of virus the lethal nucleotide analogue into DNA (Crumpacker et al., 1980; Larder and Darby, 1985; Larder et al., 1987). Some drugs act directly on DNA polymerase, for example phosphonoacetic acid (PAA). This drug interacts with the pyrophosphate binding site on the viral DNA polymerase (Hay and Subak-Sharpe, 1976; Leinbach et al., 1976; Purifoy and Powell, 1977). PAA-resistant mutants have been isolated with an altered DNA polymerase.

1.14.4 Immune cytolysis-resistant mutants (icr)

Mutants which are resistant to immune cytolysis have either altered conformation of glycoproteins, or aberrant glycosylation or fail to insert viral glycoproteins into the plasma membrane. Hence, mutantinfected cells becomes resistant to antibody and complement mediated immune cytolysis (Machtiger *et al.*, 1980; Glorioso *et al.*, 1980; Pancake *et al.*, 1983). An *icr* locus has been identified within UL32 (Coen *et al.*, 1984).

1.14.5 Host range mutants (hr)

Transformed cell lines which provide essential gene products in trans to complement defects in viral genes have been developed. HSV mutants, with inactive essential genes, are incapable of growth on normal cells, but can be propagated on cell lines which express the required wt gene. The isolation of hr mutants has been particularly useful in cases where it has not been possible to isolate ts mutations and for detailed functional analysis of essential genes such as $V_m \times 175$ (Davison and Stow, 1985; Deluca *et al.*, 1985), gB (Cai *et al.*, 1987), MDBP (Oberg and Schaffer, 1987), and the UL8 gene product (Carmichael and Weller, 1989).

1.14.6 Syncytial Mutants

Mutants with defects in certain genes of HSV cause extensive fusion of virus-infected cells instead of individual cell rounding. Virus mutants which give rise to syncytial plaque morphology are known as syn mutants. At least five loci are thought to influence syncytial morphology (See table 3), of which only UL1 and UL53 appear to specify membrane-associated proteins (McGeoch et al., 1988).

1.14.7 Genetic interactions

1.14.7.a Complementation

Generally complementation refers to enhancement of yield or plaque formation at the NPT in cells mixedly

TABLE 3

Genes associated with syn loci

(*) Gene	Map coordinates of isolated mutants(m.u.)	Locus no.	Ref. No.
UL1	0.04-0.064	Syn 4	1
UL24	around 0.3	Syn 5	2
UL27	0.345-0.355	Syn 3	3
UL53	0.724-0.74	Syn 1/2	4

References

- 1- Little and Schaffer, 1981.
- 2- Sanders et al., 1982.
- 3- Ruyechan et al., 1979; Deluca et al., 1982.
- 4- Little and Schaffer, 1981; Bond and Person, 1984; Pogue-Geile *et al.*, 1984
- *- McGeoch et al., 1988

infected with two different mutants. Complementation occurs as a result of the interaction between the gene products of two *ts* mutants, one of which is defective in one gene product while the other is defective in another. Normally, each mutant can compensate for the defective gene product in the other virus by supplying the active gene product. However, it is possible sometimes that only one mutant can supply a functional gene product for the other mutant and therefore, only the yield of one of the mutants Two quantitative is enhanced in the mixed infection. assays, the progeny yield test and the infectious centre test have been widely used. However, the progeny test is considered to be more reliable since fewer recombinant viruses are generated. A complementation index greater than at least 2.0 is regarded as positive complementation. (Timbury, 1971; Brown et al., 1973).

1.14.7.b Recombination

Results of recombination frequencies obtained from crosses of *ts* mutants led to the construction of linear linkage maps (Brown *et al.*, 1973; Schaffer *et al.*, 1974; Timbury and Calder, 1976). Subsequent work using *ts* mutations and a variety of selected and unselected markers led Honess *et al.* (1980) to conclude that the genetic linkage map was circular and that recombination normally occured between concatemeric or circular DNA. A circular genetic map was also obtained with PRV *ts* mutants. In addition evidence was obtained suggesting that recombination occured mainly between parental DNA rather

than progeny genomes prior to DNA replication (Ben-Porat et al.,1982). The finding that recombinants were in an arrangement that minimized the number of crossover events supports the idea that parental DNA participates in the generation of recombinants (Umene, 1985). In contrast to it was these observations shown that recombination frequency increased with time, indicating that both and progeny DNA took part parental in recombination (Ritchie et al., 1977; A. Maclean, 1988), and that multiple rounds of recombination occured.

Recombination can occur between HSV-1 and HSV-2 (Timbury and Subak-Sharpe, 1973; Esparza et al., 1976). Restriction endonuclease analysis has been used to map the crossover points in recombinants (Morse et*al.*, 1977; Preston et al., 1978; Wilkie et al., 1979). Intertypic recombinants have been useful for mapping mutations and polypeptides on to the virus genome (Halliburton et al., 1977; Marsden et al., 1978, Morse et al., 1978; Preston et al., 1978), although more precise localisation of markers has been achieved by intratypic marker rescue technique using cloned restriction endonuclease viral fragments (Stow et al., 1978; Stow and Wilkie, 1978; Chartrand et al., 1979; 1981; Preston, 1981).

Studies on intramolecular recombination have suggested that site-specific recombination between inverted copies of the *a* sequence in a single genome is responsible for inversion of unique sequences (Mocarski and Roizman, 1981; Smiley *et al.*, 1981; Chou and Roizman, 1985). The *b* sequence in the long repeat is thought to be less actively
involved than the *a* sequence in inversion of U_L (Longnecker and Roizman, 1986). However, results obtained recently by Weber *et al.* (1988), has provided evidence that the *a* sequence in HSV-1 is not a target sequence for site specific recombination. Instead sequence inversion in HSV-1 appears to be mediated by the same complex of proteins that replicate the viral DNA, and not by an independent recombinase function acting at a specific site. It is clear, however, that viral DNA replication is not absolutely required for recombination, since recombinants can be formed between two DNA negative mutants with lesions in Vmw175 (V. Preston, personal communication).

1.1

.

MATERIALS

VIRUSES

The HSV-1 wt virus used in this study was strain 17*syn* which has a non-syncytial plaque morphology (Brown et al., 1973). Two HSV-1 ts mutants were characterised. The first mutant, ts1201 (Preston et al., 1983), was derived from the multiple mutant 17*ts*JC116 (Coates, 1982). EcoRI f from a syn^{*} derivative of 17tsJC116 was cloned into the plasmid pACYC184 and recombined into 17 syn⁺. Ts1201 this transfection experiment. was isolated from The revertants for growth at the NPT, ts1201 rev2, and ts1201 rev3, were independent isolates from low passage mutant stocks (Preston et al., 1983). The second HSV-1 mutant, ts1233, was isolated from a UV mutagenised wt virus stock by Miss I. McDougall. Two independent revertants for growth at the NPT, *ts*1233 rev1 and *ts*1233 rev2, were isolated from low passage stocks of the mutant during this study. Additional viruses used were HSV-17 tsKsyn⁺ (Crombie, 1975; Preston, 1981), HSV-1 KOStsN20 (Schaffer et al., 1974), HSV-1/HSV-2 recombinant BX1(31-1) (Marsden et al., 1976), and the wt HSV-2 strain HG52 (Timbury, 1971). Seed stocks of viruses were kindly provided by Mrs M.Murphy with the exception of *ts*K and *ts*1233 which were supplied by Dr. V.G. Preston.

TISSUE CULTURE CELLS

BHK21 clone 13 cells, a fibroblastic line established

by Macpherson and Stoker (1962), and low passage HFL cells (Flow 2002) were used throughout this study. Cell lines were obtained from Dr. V.G. Preston.

TISSUE CULTURE MEDIA

BHK cells were grown in 1X Glasgow modified Eagle's medium (Busby et al., 1964) (supplied as a 10X concentrate by Gibco Ltd.), supplemented with 100 units/ml penicillin, 100 ug/ml streptomycin, 10% new born calf serum, and 10% HFL cells were cultured in the same tryptose phosphate. that 10% foetal calf medium except serum and 18 non essential amino acids were used instead of calf serum and tryptose phosphate. The following modified media were also used in this study:-

Eagle's medium containing n% calf serum.____ ECn. """ n% foetal calf serum.____ EFCn. """ n% human serum.____ EHun. Agar overlay. This consisted of Eagle's medium lacking phenol red, 10% calf serum, and 0.6% Noble's agar.

BACTERIA

Escherichia coli strain DH1 (F⁻,recA1, gyrA96, end A1, supE44)(Hanahan, 1983), was used for propagating plasmids.

Escherichia coli strain JM101 was the host bacterium for M13mp18, M13mp19, and recombinant bacteriophage used in DNA sequencing analysis (Messing *et al.*, 1981).

Escherichia coli strain RB791 (=W3110 lac I^{q} , Ls, Brent and Patashue, 1981) was used for the expression of

BACTERIAL CULTURE MEDIA

Bacteria were either grown in L-broth or 2YT medium.

PLASMIDS

The following plasmids were supplied by Dr. V. G. Preston:

PLASMID	INSERT	VECTOR
pGX22 pGX24 pGX56 pGX74 pGX142 pGX198 pGX208	BamHI k of ts ⁺ 17syn ⁺ BamHI a " " " BamHI u " " " EcoRI o " " " KpnI t " " BamHI u of ts1201 BamHI u of ts1201 rev2	pAT153. ". pACYC184 pAT153. ".

Three other plasmids used in this study were kindly provided by Dr. C. Preston.

pKK233-2 : A vector used for high level expression of an intact cloned gene (Amann and Brosius, 1985). This vector contains a unique NcoI site at the 3' end of the trc promoter for cloning either blunt end or NcoI fragments, An expression vector containing a deletion of 15 pCI15 : the the N-terminal portion of amino acids from cI repressor (Amann and Brosius, 1985). bacteriophage p23 : was derived from the plasmid pGX166 and contains IE Vmw175 promoter sequences inserted into HSV-1 TK gene (Details of this plasmid are in chapter 3).

CHEMICALS

Chemicals were obtained from the following suppliers:

BDH chemicals, Poole, England; Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA; Koch-Light Laboratories, Suffolk, England; Pharmacia Fine Chemicals, Uppsāla, Sweden; and Sigma(London) Ltd. Reagents for electron microscopy were obtained from two companies, Agar Aids, Stanstead, Essex, and Taab Laboratories, Emmer Green, Reading. Analytical grade reagents were used wherever possible.

ENZYMES

Restriction endonucleases were supplied by Gibco/Bethesda Research Laboratories (U.K.) Ltd., Paisley, Scotland, Northumbrian Biological Ltd., Cramlington, England, and Boehringer Corporation Ltd., Lewes, England. Other enzymes were obtained from the following suppliers:

ENZYME	SUPPLIER
Calf intestinal phosphatase. Proteinase K Lysozyme DNase	Boehringer Corp. Ltd " Sigma Chemical Ltd.
RNase DNA polymerase holoenzyme Klenow fragment DNA polymerase	" New England Biolabs. Gibco, Bethesda Lab.

OLIGONUCLEOTIDES

Phosphorylated <u>Xho</u>I oligonucleotide linkers were purchased from New England Biolabs, CP laboratories.

RADIOCHEMICALS

All radiochemicals were obtained from Amersham International plc.

ANTIBODIES

Monoclonal antibody 5010B, specific for HSV-1 P40 (UL26 gene product), was prepared by Dr. A. Cross.

OLIGOPEPTIDES

Oligopeptides specific to part of UL33 gene product were purchased from Peptide and Protein Research, Windson Berks, England. Oligopeptides specific to a portion of UL26 gene product were made in the Institute of Virology by Miss Anna Owsianka, using LKB BioLynx 4170 Automated Peptide Synthesiser.

IMMUNOLOGICAL REAGENTS

Protein A-Sepharose was obtained from Sigma (London) Ltd. BSA coupled to CNB activated Sepharose 4B was prepared by Dr. G. Hope. [¹²⁵I]-Protein A was made and generously supplied by Mrs. M. Murphy at the Institute of Virology. Bis-diazotized benzidine (DAB) was prepared and supplied by Dr. H. Marsden. A 10% suspension of formalin fixed *Staphylococcus aureus* was provided by Dr. V. G. Preston.

ANIMALS

New Zealand white rabbits were purchased from Hylyne Rabbits Ltd., England. Polyclonal antibodies were raised in these animals.

MISCELLANEOUS

State of the second

Nitrocellulose membranes were supplied by Schleicher and Schuell, Dassel, West Germany. Noble's agar was obtained from Difco Ltd. Photographic film was supplied by Kodak Ltd., London, England. Plastic petri dishes, and plastic microtiter plates (24-wells and 96-wells) were purchased from Nunclon Ltd. Plastic 850 cm² roller bottles for cell culture were supplied by Becton Dickinson Ltd.

y the second second second second

STANDARD SOLUTIONS

Tissue Culture Reagents and Buffers

- Giemsa stain 1.5% (w/v) Giemsa in glycerol, heated at 56° for 120 min and diluted with an equal volume of methanol.
- Phosphate buffered 170 mM NaCl, 3.4mM KCl. 10mM Na₂ HPO₄
 saline (PBS) and 2mM KH₂ PO₄ pH 7.2 (Dulbecco and
 Vogt, 1954).
- Tris-saline 140mM NaCl, 30mM KCl, 28mM Na₂HPO₄, 1mg/ml glucose, 0.0015%(w/v) phenol red, 100 units/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 25mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4.
 Trypsin 0.25% (w/v) trypsin (Difco) in trissaline.
 Versene 0.6mM EDTA dissolved in PBS containing
- 0.002% (w/v) phenol red.

DNA Gel Electrophoresis Buffers

Dye Ficoll	15% (w/v) ficoll, 0.2% (w/v)
	bromophenol blue, 100mM EDTA.
Electro-elution	50mM sodium acetate, 10mM EDTA,
buffer (10X)	400mM Tris-HCl pH 7.8.
Elution buffer	500mM ammonium acetate, 1mM EDTA and
	0.1% SDS.
TBE buffer (10X)	89mM tris-HCl pH 8.3, 89mM boric
	acid, 2mM EDTA.

Southern Blot Buffers

Denhardt's	0.1% (w/v) Ficoll, 0.1 (w/v)
buffer (5X)	polyvinylpyrollidone, 0.1% (w/v) BSA.
Gel Soak I	200mM NaOH, 600mM NaCl.
Gel Soak II	1000mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 600mM NaCl.
Hybridization	5X Denhardt's buffer, 0.1%(w/v) SDS
buffer	6X SSC, 30µg/ml denatured calf thymus
	DNA.
Nick translation	50mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 5mM MgCl ₂ ,
buffer	50ug/ml BSA, 1mM DTT.
SSC buffer (10X)	3000mM NaCl, 300mM tri-sodium citrate,

pH with 300mM citric acid to pH 7.5.

DNA Sequencing Reagents and Buffers

Chase mix	dATP, dTTP, dCTP, dGTP, each at a
	concentration of 0.5mM in H_2O .
Formyl dye	0.1% (w/v) BPB, 0.1% (w/v) XC, 20mM
	NazEDTA in deionised formamide.
Labelled mix	6µl of [32P] dATP (1mCi/100µl), and
	18µl of 11.8µM dATP.

Sequencing buffer

(10X) .	100mM Tris-HCl pH 8.5, 100mM MgCl ₂ .
TE buffer	10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.1mM EDTA.
Gel top mix	150ml 40% acrylamide:N,N' methylene bis
	acrylamide (20:1), 540g urea dissolved
	in H ₂ O and made up to 1000ml with 50ml
	10X TBE. For 100ml of top mix add
	160µl 25% APS and 160µl TEMED were
	added.

Sequencing solutions:

\µ1	dA-0	dT-0	dC-0	dG-0
5mM 7-deaza dGTP	20	20	20	1
5mM dCTP	20	20	1	20
5mM dTTP	20	1	20	20
TE (10X)	50	50	50	50
H ₂ O	540	370	370	370

Sequencing mixes:

\µ1	dN-0	ddntp	H2 O
T seq C seq G seq A seq	500 " "	500 (600μM ddTTP) 105 (140μM ddCTP) 155 (200μM ddGTP) 125 (140μM ddATP)	0 395 345 375

Protein Gel Electrophoresis Buffers

Destain	5% Methanol, 7% acetic acid.
Gel fixative	50% Methanol, 7% acetic
	acid, 0.2% Commassie brilliant blue.
Resolving gel	
buffer (4X)	1500mM Tris-HCl pH 8.9, 0.4% (w/v) SDS.
Stacking gel	
buffer (4X)	490mM Tris-HCl pH 6.7,0.4% (w/v) SDS.
Tank buffer	53mM Tris, 53mM glycine, 0.1%(w/v) SDS

Western Blot Buffers

Antibody solution 1X NT, 0.005% Tween 20, 1% BSA.

- Blocking buffer 5X TBS, 3% gelatin, mixture left at 37° for 1h to allow gelatin to dissolve.
- Borate buffer 160mM borate, 140mM NaCl pH 9.
- Blotting buffer 25mM Tris, 192mM glycine, 20% (v/v) methanol (pH 8.3).
- Bis-diazotized 0.23g benzidine hydrochloride, 180mM
- benzidine (DAB) HCl, 50mM sodium nitrate.
- KI solution 1X NT, 0.05% Tween 20, 1M KI.
- NT buffer 0.09% NaCl, 1mM Tris (pH 7.4).
- Protein A solution 1X NT, 3% BSA.
- Tris buffered
- saline (TBS) (5X) 20mM Tris, 500mM NaCl (pH 7.5).
- Wash buffer 1X NT, 0.05% Tween 20.

Immunopreciptation Buffers

Disruption buffer 2% (w/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) glycerol,5% (v/v) β-mercaptoethanol, 50mM Tris-HCl pH 6.7, 0.004% (w/v) bromophenol blue.

Glycine elution

buffer	200mM	Glycine	рН	2.5	•		

RIPA buffer 0.1% (w/v) SDS, 1% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate, 1% (v/v) NP40, 1mM EDTA, 150mM NaCl, 10mM Tris-HCl pH pH 7.4.
Washing buffer 600mM LiCl, 100mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 1% (v/v) β-mercaptoethanol. Zweig's buffer 0.1M Tris-HCl pH 8, 10% glycerol,0.5% NP40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.2mM phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride (PMSF).

Bacterial Growth Medium and Cloning Solutions

L-broth	170mM NaCl, 5 g/l yeast extract 10 g/l
	Difco Bactotryptone, supplemented with
	25-50µg/ml of appropriate antibiotic.
Ligation	200mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 100mM MgCl,
buffer (10X)	100mM dithiotheritol (DTT) and 5mM ATP.
STET buffer	8% (w/v) sucrose, 5% (v/v) NP40, 50mM
	EDTA, 50mM Tris-HCl pH 8.
2YT	292mM NaCl, 16 g/l bactotryptone,10 g/l
•	yeast extract.

Miscellaneous

Cell lysis buffer	0.6% SDS, 10mM EDTA, 500ng/ml pronase,
	10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4.
E.M. fixative	2.5% gluteraldehyde in PBS.
HEPES buffered	130mM NaCl, 4.9mM KCl, 1.6mM Na2HPO4,
saline (HEBS)	5.5 mM D-glucose, 21mM HEPES (N-2-
	hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-
	ethanesulphonic acid) pH 7.05.
NTE buffer	10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 100mM NaCl, 1mM
	EDTA.
RSB	10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10mM KCl, 1.5mM
	MgCl ₂ .

METHODS

2.1 CELL CULTURE

BHK cells were grown in rotating 850cm² culture bottles containing 100ml tissue culture medium in an atmosphere of 95% air, 5% CO₂ at 37°. One bottle gave a confluent monolayer of approximately 3X10⁸ cells which was used to seed five further 850cm² bottles. Cells were harvested by washing the monolayers first with 20ml of versene, then with 40ml trypsin:versene (1:1). Cells were shaken off the bottles and resuspended in culture medium. HFL cells were routinely grown in flat flasks. A confluent monolayer from a 175 cm² flask was sufficient to seed two size. To obtain a subconfluent flasks of the same monolayer of BHK or HFL cells after an overnight incubation at 31°, cells were seeded at a density of 2X10⁶ per 50mm petri dish and 1X10⁶ per 30mm dish.

2.2 VIRUS CULTURE

2.2.1 Production of virus stocks

Virus stocks were prepared from confluent BHK cells grown in 850cm² glass roller bottles. Growth medium was removed and the cells were infected with a moi of 0.003 pfu per cell in 60ml EC₅. Virus-infected cells were incubated at 31° for 3-4 days until extensive CPE had developed. Cells were shaken off the roller bottles into the medium and pelleted at 1500 rpm at 4° for 15 min The virus-infected cell pellet was resuspended in a small volume of supernatant medium, and sonicated to release Cell debris cell-associated virus. was removed bv centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 15 min at 4°. The sonication step was repeated if necessary and the cellassociated virus stocks were pooled and stored at -70°. Cell-released virus from the clarified virus-infected cell medium was concentrated by centrifugation at 12,000 rpm at 4° for 2h. The pellet was resuspended in virus-infected medium by sonication, and virus stored at -70°.

2.2.2 Sterility checks

Medium from virus-infected cells was streaked onto blood agar plates and plates incubated at 31° for 3-5 days. Any virus stocks containing bacteria which grew on blood agar were discarded.

2.2.3 Titration of virus stock

Serial ten-fold dilutions of virus stocks were made in PBS containing 5% calf serum. Growth medium was removed from 80% confluent BHK cell monolayers in 50mm plates and 100ul of diluted virus added to each dish. After virus absorption for 1h at either 37° (for plates to be incubated at the PT) or 38.5° (for plates to be incubated at the NPT), cells were overlaid with EHus to prevent formation of secondary plaques. Plates were incubated either for 2 days at a NPT of 38.5° or 39°, depending on the mutant, or for 3 days at the PT of 31°, after which the medium was replaced with Giemsa stain for 15 min at RT. The plates were washed with water to remove excess stain, and virus plaques counted under a dissecting microscope.

2.2.4 Ts mutant infections

Virus infections were carried out at a NPT of 38.5° or 39° depending on the mutant, and a PT of 31°. Cell monolayers were absorbed at the required temperature for a maximium of 1h. The medium for washing and overlaying virus-infected cells grown at the NPT was prewarmed to 42°. All manipulations at NPT were carried out as rapidly as possible to prevent any drop in the NPT.

2.2.5 Isolation of spontaneous ts^{+} revertants of ts1233

Single plaques were isolated from a low passage stock of ts1233 titrated on BHK cells at 31°. BHK cell monolayers from five 50mm petri dishes were infected with the progeny from a single plaque and a small seed stock The seed stocks were titrated at the NPT and prepared. cell monolayers showing CPE after incubation for 2 days were harvested. Progeny virus which formed plaques at the NPT were plaque purified once at the NPT and twice at the All plaques were isolated from cells overlaid with PT. 50mm plates of BHK cells were infected with ts* agar. virus from two independent seed stocks of ts1233, and virus from each plate harvest was used to grow up a high titre virus stock.

2.3 PREPARATION OF VIRION DNA

2.3.1 Large scale preparation of DNA

BHK cells were grown in 5-10 850cm² roller bottles.

These infected with were virus as described for the When extensive CPE had developed, production of stocks. the virus-infected cells were shaken into the medium and pelleted by low speed centrifugation for 15 min at 4°. The infected cell pellet was resuspended in 20ml RSB containing 0.5% NP40. After incubation on ice for 10 min, the sample was centrifuged at 2,500 rpm for 10 min at 4°. The pellet of nuclei and cell debris was resuspended in 20ml RSB-NP40 buffer, and the sample left on ice for 10 min prior to centrifugation. The two cytoplasmic supernatant fractions were pooled with the clarified virus-infected cell medium and the virus concentrated by centrifugation at 12,000 rpm for 2-3h at 4° . The virus pellet was resuspended in 5ml NTE buffer and lysed by the addition of SDS at a final concentration of 2% (w/v). The virus DNA was extracted three times with phenol saturated with TE, followed by a chloroform extraction. The DNA was precipitated by the addition of two volumes of ethanol, concentrated by low speed centrifugation and resuspended in 10ml 10mM Tris-HCl. RNA was removed by incubating the sample with $10\mu q/ml$ RNaseI overnight at RT. The DNA solution was deproteinised with proteinase K at 31° for 2-3h, then extracted once with phenol-chloroform (1:1), once with chloroform, made 200mM with NaCl, and precipitated with two volumes ethanol. The DNA was pelleted by low speed centrifugation, lyophilised and resuspended in 10mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6.

2.3.2 Small scale preparation of virus-infected cell DNA HFL cells (4X10⁶) were infected with a moi of 5 pfu virus per cell and incubated at the appropriate temperature for 18h before extraction of DNA. Total virus-infected cell DNA or DNase-resistant (encapsidated) DNA was prepared from the virus-infected cells as described by Stow *et al.* (1983).

2.3.2.a Total virus-infected cell DNA

Cell-released virus in the arowth medium was pelleted by centrifugation at 18,000 rpm for 1h at 4° in an SS21 rotor. The virus pellet was resuspended in a small volume of lysis buffer containing 500µg/ml pronase and combined with virus-infected cells harvested in 2ml of the same buffer. After incubation for 4h at 37°, NaCl was added to a final concentration of 200mM, and the DNA solution was extracted twice with phenol:chloroform (1:1), once with chloroform and precipitated with ethanol. DNA was pelleted, lyophilised and resuspended in 400µl H₂ O containing 10µg/ml RNase I.

2.3.2.b Encapsidated DNA (DNase-resistant DNA)

Virus-infected cells were harvested into 0.5ml RSB, containing 0.5% (v/v) NP40 and 100μ g/ml DNase I, combined with cell-released virus, and incubated for 2h at 37°. SDS, EDTA, and pronase, at the same concentration present in lysis buffer, were added and incubation continued for a 2h at 37°. The DNA was extracted twice with further phenol:chloroform (1:1), once with chloroform and precipitated in ethanol. DNA was pelleted, lyophilised and resuspended in 200µl H₂O containing 10µg/ml RNase I.

2.4 ANALYSIS OF DNA

2.4.1 Restriction endonuclease digestion of DNA

DNA was digested with restriction endonucleases according to the conditions recommended by the suppliers for each enzyme.

2.4.2 Agarose gel electrophoresis

DNA fragments were separated on horizontal agarose gels containing agarose at a concentration of 0.8-1% (w/v), (depending on the size of DNA fragments to be resolved) in 1X TBE buffer containing 0.5µg/ml ethidium bromide. DNA samples in 10% (v/v) dye ficoll were loaded into wells formed with plastic combs, and the gel was electrophoresed at 2-10 v/cm² in 1X TBE buffer at RT for 8-18h. The separated fragments were visualised under UV light.

2.4.3 Purification of DNA fragments from agarose gels

Separated DNA fragments were eluted from gel slices by electrophoresis at 100v for 3h using electroelution DNA fragments were further purified by extraction buffer. twice with phenol:chloroform (1:1)and once with chloroform. Sodium acetate (pH 5.5) was added to a final concentration of 0.3M and DNA fragments precipitated with an equal volume of isopropanol at RT. DNA fragments were Tris-HCl pelleted, lyophilised and resuspended in 10mM (pH 7.5).

2.4.4 Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE)

PAGE was used for separating small DNA fragments

in size. ranging from 30-900 bp Vertical slab aels consisted of 10% polyacrylamide (prepared from a stock solution of acrylamide/N-N'-methylene bisacrylamide in a ratio of 29:1 w/v) in 0.55X TBE. A final concentration of 0.006% (w/v) APS, and 0.004% (v/v) TEMED were added to the polyacrylamide solution to polymerise the gels. Teflon combs were used to form wells. Electrophoresis was carried out at 3v/cm² for 12-16h in 0.55X TBE. Gels were stained in 0.55X TBE containing 0.5µg/ml EtBr for 30 min, and the DNA bands were visualized under UV light.

2.4.5 Purification of DNA fragments from polyacrylamide gels

The polyacrylamide gel slice containing separated DNA fragment was placed in a small eppendorf tube pierced with holes at the bottom and centrifuged in a large The crushed gel slice was incubated in eppendorf tube. 400ul of DNA elution buffer overnight at 42°. DNA samples were filtered through a GF/C glass fiber disc fitted in a syringe, and precipitated with two volumes of ethanol. The dissolved in 0.3M sodium acetate and DNA pellet was ethanol. DNA fragments reprecipitated with were concentrated by centrifugation, lyophilised and resuspended in H₂O.

2.5 MARKER RESCUE TECHNIQUE

Marker rescue experiments were carried out as described by Stow *et al.* (1978) with the modification of Preston (1981). Calcium chloride was added to a final

concentration of 130mM to a solution containing 0.8µg of intact mutant virion DNA, 10µg/ml calf thymus carrier DNA, HSV-1 DNA fragment (usually between 5-10 fold molar excess relative to virion DNA) in 1X HEBS. The samples were left for 5 min at RT to allow a fine suspension to develop. The suspension was added to 50mm dishes containing BHK cell monolayers from which growth medium had been removed. The cells were incubated at 37° for 45 min, then overlaid with At 4h pi, the cells were washed once with EC₅, and EC₅. treated with 25% (w/v) DMSO in 1X HEBS for 4 min at RT. DMSO was removed from the monolayers by washing the cells twice with EC₅, and cells were incubated in 4ml of EC₁₀ at 31° for 3-4 days until extensive CPE had developed. Cells scraped into the growth medium, disrupted were by sonication, and the virus yield was determined at the PT and NPT.

2.6 COMPLEMENTATION YIELD TEST

Cells were infected at a moi of 10 pfu per cell (5 pfu per cell of each of the ts mutants in the mixed infections). After 1h absorption at the NPT, cells were washed three times with warm ECs to remove unadsorbed virus, and incubated in 2ml of ECs for 24h at the NPT. time cells were scraped into growth medium, After this sonicated and virus titrated at the PT and NPT to determine indices (CI) Complementation were the virus vield. calculated as described by Brown et al., (1973) using the following formula:

$$(X + Y)^{PT} - (X + Y)^{NPT}$$

CI =

$$1/2\{(X^{PT} + Y^{PT}) - (X^{NPT} + Y^{NPT})\}$$

where $(X+Y)^{p\uparrow}$ and $(X+Y)^{Np\uparrow}$ represent the titre of progeny virus from the mixed infection of tsX and tsY at PT and NPT respectively. Usually CI greater than five were considered positive.

2.7 SOUTHERN BLOT ANALYSIS

2.7.1 Transfer of DNA fragments to nitrocellulose

The method used was essentially the same as that described by Southern (1975). The agarose gel, containing separated restriction endonuclease fragments, was shaken gently in 200mM HCl for 30 min at RT to depurinate the DNA. The gel was then washed in distilled water, treated with gel soak I for 1h to denature the DNA, and neutralized with gel soak II for 1h. The gel was then placed on two sheets of Whatman 3mm filter paper, the ends of which were in of 10X SSC buffer. Α contact with а reservoir nitrocellulose sheet, moistened with distilled water, was placed on top of the gel, and any air bubbles were removed. Four sheets of 3mm filter paper, cut slightly smaller than the gel size, were placed over the nitrocellulose sheet, and a weighted stack of paper towels was laid on the Whatman filter paper. The nitrocellulose sheet was removed the next day, rinsed in 2X SSC buffer, air dried and baked in a vacuum oven at 80° for 2h. The blotted gel was soaked TBE containing 0.5µg/ml for 30 min and EtBr with 1X

visualised under shortwave UV light to ensure that efficient transfer of DNA fragments from the gel had occured.

2.7.2 In vitro [32P]-labelling of DNA by nick translation

DNA fragments were labelled with [32P] in vitro as described by Rigby et al. (1977). Plasmid DNA (0.5ug) in 50µl reaction mixture containing, 40µM dATP, 40µM dTTP, 1X nick translation buffer, and 1X10⁻⁶ mg/ml DNase I, was incubated in a 37° water bath for 2-3 min. The mixture was then placed on ice, and 30µCi each of $\alpha - [3^2 P] - dGTP$, $\alpha -$ [³²P]-dCTP together with 1 unit of *E.coli* DNA polymerase I Incubation was carried out at 15° for 2h. were added. The isotope incorporation into DNA was determined by spotting 2µl of the reaction mix on to a filter disc, precipitating the DNA with 5% TCA (w/v), and measuring the amount of radioactivity by Cherenkov counting. The reaction was terminated by the addition of 100mM EDTA, and the samples extracted once with phenol:chloroform (1:1). A Sephadex G50 column (10ml) equilibrated with TE buffer was used to separate unincorporated deoxyribonucleoside triphosphates from [32P]-labelled DNA. The first peak of radioactivity, which contained the nick-translated DNA, was eluted, 0.2N NaOH for 10 min at RT, and then denatured in neutralised with 0.2N HCl. A specific activity of 1X107-1X10⁸ cpm per ug plasmid DNA was usually obtained.

2.7.3 DNA blot hybridisation

High stringency conditions of DNA hybridisation in

aqueous solution were based on those described by Southern, (1975) and Denhardt, (1966). Vacuum-dried nitrocellulose sheets were prehybridised in 20ml solution, containing 6X SSC, 5X Denhardt's buffer, 0.1% (w/v) SDS and $20\mu q/ml$ denatured calf thymus carrier DNA, at 720 in a sealed plastic bag submerged in a shaking water bath. After 2-3h the prehybridisation solution was replaced by hybridisation in solution which contained, addition to the above reagents, 1X107 cpm of denatured [32P]-labelled DNA probe per ml of hybridisation mix. Incubation was continued overnight at 72°. After incubation the nitrocellulose sheets were washed four times in 2X SSC, once in 1X SSC, and once in 0.5X SSC. All washes contained 0.36% SDS and 10mM sodium pyrophosphate. Blots were air-dried and placed with Kodak X-Omat film in contact XS-1 and а Dupont phosphotungstate intensifying screen at -70° for 24h or lo nger.

2.8 RECOMBINANT DNA TECHNIQUES

2.8.1 Construction of chimeric plasmids

Vector DNA was linearised with the appropriate treated with calf intestinal phosphatase at enzyme, а concentration of 5 units per up of plasmid DNA in the presence of 20mM Tris-HCl (pH 8) and 40mM NaCl. The sample after which the DNA was incubated at 37° for 1h, was extracted twice with phenol:chloroform (1:1,v/v), once with chloroform, and precipitated with ethanol. A 4-10X molar purified HSV-1 DNA fragment relative to of the excess phosphatase-treated vector (40ng) was incubated overnight

at 15° in a 20µl ligation reaction containing 1 unit of T4 DNA ligase in ligation buffer.

2.8.2 Preparation of competent bacteria and plasmid DNA transfection

The procedure used for DNA transfection was based on the method described by Cohen et al., (1972). E.coli K12 strain DH1 was grown in 50ml of L-broth to an OD; 90nm of approximately 0.25. Bacteria were pelleted at 3000rpm for 15 min at 4°, resuspended in 25ml of ice-cold sterile 100mM CaCl₂ and incubated on ice for 1h. The cells were pelleted and resuspended in 0.5ml 100mM CaCl₂. At this stage the competence of the bacteria for transfection was tested using uncleaved plasmid. A sample containing 0.1ml of CaCl2-treated cells and 20-40ng of plasmid DNA was incubated on ice for 1h. The cells were heat shocked at 42° for 2 min, and 1.5ml of L-broth was added to the After 1h incubation at 37° bacteria. in a shaker, the bacteria were plated onto L-broth agar containing either 50µg per ml ampicillin or tetracycline depending on the Plates were incubated overnight at 37°. plasmids used. Routinely >1X10⁶ colonies per ug plasmid vector DNA were obtained. Competent bacteria were left at 4° for 16-18h prior to transfection since treatment for this period of time had been shown to increase the competence by 5 fold.

2.8.3 Small scale preparation of plasmid DNA (STET preps) Small amounts of plasmid DNA were prepared using a modified method of Holmes and Quigley (1981) described by

Maniatis et al., (1982). Single colonies from a bacterial plate were grown in 1.5ml L-broth containing 35-50µg/ml ampicillin or tetracycline (depending on the vector used) in an orbital shaker at 37° for 16-18h. The bacteria were pelleted at 10,000 rpm for 40 sec, and resuspended in 75µl STET buffer. After the addition of 6u1 of 10 mg/mllysozyme, the sample was boiled for 1-2 min and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was extracted once with phenol:chloroform (1:1), once with chloroform, and the plasmid DNA precipitated with an equal volume of isopropanol at RT in the presence of 300mM sodium acetate. The DNA was pelleted at 10,000 rpm for 10 min, lyophilised and resuspended in 40µl Tris-HCl (pH 7.4).

2.8.4 Large scale preparation of plasmid DNA

The method used was based on the procedure described by Godson and Vapnek (1973). A flask, containing 500ml L-broth supplemented with 25-50µg/ml ampicillin or inoculated with tetracycline, was 2m1 of an overnight bacterial culture. After incubation at 37° in an orbital final concentration of 25uq/m1shaker for 6-7h, а chloramphenicol was added and incubation continued for a Bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation at further 16h. 4,000 rpm for 15 min at 4°. The pellet was resuspended in 5ml of 25% (w/v) sucrose in 50mM Tris-HCl pH 8. After the addition of 2.5ml of 5mg/ml lysozyme in 50mM Tris-HCl pH 8, the mixture was incubated for 30 min on ice. EDTA (pH 7.9) was added to a final concentration of 50mM, and 5 min later, NaCl and SDS were added to a final concentration of

750mM and 2.5% (w/v) respectively. The sample was left at 4٥ for 2-3h, then centrifuged at 18,000 for 1h at 0° to remove debris and high molecular weight bacterial DNA. The resulting supernatant was extracted twice with phenol:chloroform (1:1), and once with chloroform. Ethanol (2.5 volumes) was added and samples left at -20° for 2h. DNA was pelleted by centrifugation at 2,500 rpm for 15 min. The pellet was resuspended in 2-4ml of 10mM Tris-HCl, 0.1mM EDTA containing 100µg/ml RNase and incubated at 37° for Proteinase k, at a final concentration of 200µg/ml, 2-3h. was added and the sample incubated for 2h at 31°. The DNA was extracted twice with phenol:chloroform (1:1) and once with chloroform and precipitated at RT with 0.5 vol isopropanol in the presence of 300mM sodium acetate. The plasmid DNA was pelleted at 2,500 rpm for 30 min at RT, washed with 70% ethanol, lyophilised, and resuspended in 1ml 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4).

2.8.5 Bacterial stocks

For long term storage, bacteria were concentrated by centrifugation at 4,000 rpm for 10 min and stored in 40% (v/v) glycerol, 1% (w/v) bactopeptone at -70°.

2.8.6 Construction of recombinant bacteriophage DNA

Two bacteriophage vectors M13mp18, and M13mp19 (Norrander *et al.*, 1983) were used. The double stranded RF DNA was linearised with the appropriate restriction endonuclease. A 4-10X molar excess of the purified HSV-1 DNA fragment relative to the linearised vector (50ng) was incubated at 15° for 12-24h in 20µl ligation mix containing 1 unit of T4 DNA ligase in ligation buffer.

2.8.7 Transfection of bacteriophage DNA into E.Coli JM101 The procedure for preparing competent *E.coli* strain JM101 (Messing, 1979) was essentially the same as the one used to make competent DH1 except that the bacteria were grown in 2YT medium instead of L-broth. Cells (200µl) were incubated with 10µl of ligation mix on ice for 1h in glass Cells were heat treated at 42° for 5 min, then tubes. 200µl of fresh bacterial stock was added together with 25µl 2.5% isopropyl-D-thiogalactoside (IPTG), 25µl 2% 5-chloro-4-bromo-3-indolyl- β -D-galactoside (BCIG or X-gal) in dimethylformamide and 3ml of top agar warmed to 42°. The sample was plated on to L-broth agar plates and incubated overnight at 37°.

2.9 Preparation of single stranded DNA for sequencing

Bacteriophage which contained inserts gave white plaques, while uninterrupted vectors gave blue plaques. Bacteriophage from a white plaque were transferred to 1.5ml of 2YT containing 1/100 dilution of an overnight culture of JM101, and the sample incubated in an orbital shaker at 37° for 5-6h. Bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation and the supernatant transferred to a tube containing 200µl of 20% polyethelene glycol in 2500mM NaCl. After at least 30 min at RT, the sample was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 5 min, and the bacteriophage suspended TE. The in 100µl of extracted with 50µ1 of phenol bacteriophage DNA was

saturated with TE. The DNA was precipitated in three volumes of ethanol in the presence of 100mM sodium acetate, concentrated by centrifugation, washed with 70% ethanol and lyophilised. Finally the single stranded (ss) DNA was resuspended in 50µl of 0.2% TE.

2.9.1 Sequencing single stranded DNA

The dideoxy chain termination/M13 vector method of DNA sequencing (Sanger *et al.*, 1977; 1980; Messing and Vieira, 1982) was used during this study, the steps are:

A) Annealing primer to template DNA:

2µl of bacteriophage ssDNA was mixed with 2.5ng of M13 17 base oligonucleotide primer in 10µl reaction mix containing 1X sequencing buffer. The sample was incubated at 37° for 30 min.

B) Sequencing reaction:

Two units of Klenow polymerase were added to 10µl of annealed DNA, and 2µl of the mix were dispensed in each of 4 wells which contained 2µl of either dT, dC, dG, and dA squencing mix in а 96-well microtitre plate. 2u1 of labelled mix was then added to each well. The plate was covered, centrifuged at 1000 rpm briefly and incubated at 31°. After 15 min 2µl of chase mix was added to each well and incubation continued for a further 30 min. Prior to loading on a gel, 2µl of formyl dye was added to each sample, and the microtitre plates boiled for 2 min in a water bath.

C) Sequence fractionation:

The boiled sequencing reaction (2-4µl) was loaded

into a well of gradient sequencing gel and the gel electrophoresed at 70 watts for 4h. The notched glass plate was removed and the bonded gel washed with 10% acetic acid for 30 min, rinsed with tap water, and dried for 2-3h at 75°-80°. The gels were placed in contact with X-Omat XS-1 film, and the film exposed overnight before being developed.

2.9.2 Preparation of gradient sequencing gels

The unnotched glass plate was treated with 10ml solution of ethanol containing 300µl of 10% acetic acid and 50µl of waker silane GF38, and left to dry for 3 min. The washed three times with ethanol and polished plate was The notched glass plate was treated with 2ml of well. repelcote and subsequently washed with ethanol. The glass plates were taped together, and 7ml of bottom gel mix taken up in a syringe with 7ml top mix, after adding APS and TEMED, were poured into the glass plate sandwich. Followed by the remaining top gel mix. Gels were left to polymerize 1h before being used. Wells were formed with for а plastikard comb.

2.10 LABELLING OF VIRUS DNA WITH [32P] ORTHOPHOSPHATE

The method used was based on the procedure described by Lonsdale (1979). BHK cells in phosphate-free Eagle's medium containing 1% calf serum (P.I.C. medium) were seeded at a density of 5X10⁵ cells per linbro well. The following day, cells were infected with a moi of 5-10 pfu per cell, and virus absorbed at 37°. One hour later,

cells were washed twice with P.I.C. medium, overlaid with 450µl of the same medium and incubated at 31°. At 3hpi, 50µCi of [32P]-orthophosphate (carrier free) in 50µl was added to each well. After incubation for 48h at 37°, the cells were lysed by the addition of 0.5ml of 5% SDS (w/v), and the samples left for 10 min at 37°. DNA was extracted once with phenol saturated in TE buffer and precipitated with 2 volumes of ethanol. The DNA was subsequently concentrated by centrifugation at 2,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°, lyophilised and resuspended in 150µl H₂O. Samples were digested with restriction endonuclease, and the fragments separated on an 0.8% agarose gel. After electrophoresis, the gel was dried onto the glass plate at 80°, and placed in contact with X-Omat XS-1 film. The film was exposed for a minmium of 18h.

2.11 ANALYSIS OF VIRUS INDUCED PROTEINS

2.11.1 Preparation of radiolabelled cell extracts

Sub-confluent HFL cells or BHK cells were infected at a moi of 20 pfu per cell. After 1h absorption at the PT or NPT, cells were washed once with growth medium, overlaid with the appropriate medium, and incubated at either PT or Immediately prior to addition of [35S]-methionine, NPT. cells were washed twice with prewarmed PBS, and incubated in prewarmed PBS containing 100µCi/ml [35S]-methionine for The monolayers were washed twice with ice cold 15-30 min. water and harvested. Alternatively, samples were washed and incubation continued for а with prewarmed medium Virussamples were harvested. before the further 5h

infected cell extracts were harvested in 300µl disruption buffer, and were boiled for 5 min before SDS PAGE. All radiolabelled infected-cell polypeptide samples were stored at -20° prior to analysis.

2.11.2 Immunoprecipitation using monoclonal antibodies

Radiolabelled virus-infected cells were lysed by the addition of RIPA buffer, transferred to glass vials and sonicated. Cell debris was removed from the samples by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 15 min. The procedure used for immunoprecipitation was based on the method described by Kessler (1975). 1X10⁶ cpm [35S]-labelled virus-infected cell extracts were incubated with 20ul of diluted ascitic fluid overnight at 4°. Sheep anti-mouse immunoglobulin (10ul) was added and incubation continued at 4°. After 4h, 100µl of 10% (w/v) suspension of formalin-Stapholococcus aureus was added, and incubation fixed continued for 1h at 4°. The bacteria were washed three times by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 20 sec followed each time by resuspension in 600µl of lithium chloride washing buffer. Samples were finally resuspended in 100µl of 200mM glycine (pH2.5 at 4°) to elute the antigen from After incubation on ice for 30min, the the bacteria. bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000rpm for 5 min and the supernatant transfered to a vial containing 50µl 3X disruption buffer.

2.11.3 SDS PAGE

Proteins were separated on two types of slab

polyacrylamide gels either Single concentration qel, containing 10% polyacrylamide gels in which the acrylamide was cross linked with 1 part in 40 (w/w) N,N'-methylene bisacrylamide in resolving gel buffer, or gradient gels, 6-12.5% or 6-15% composed of a linear gradient of polyacrylamide in which the acrylamide was cross linked with 1 part in 20 (w/w) N,N'-methylenebisacrylamide in resolving gel buffer. Gradient gels were formed using a proportioning pump (Technicon Ltd.). APS and TEMED at a final concentration of 0.006% (w/v) and 0.004% (v/v)respectively were added to gel solution just before pouring to polymerise the gel. The gel was overlaid carefully with butan-2-ol to ensure a smooth interface on polymerisation. The butan-2-ol was removed once the gel had polymerised and the interface washed twice with % strength resolving gel buffer. The stacking gel, which contained 5% polyacrylamide (in which the acrylamide was cross linked 1 part in 40 (w/w) N,N'-methylenebisacrylamide in with stacking gel buffer) was poured on top of the resolving Wells were formed with teflon combs. Protein samples gel. were separated by electrophoresis at either 0.45 mA/cm² for 3-4h or 0.09 mA/cm² for 18h in tank buffer.

2.11.4 Autoradiography

after from qlass plates Gels were removed fixative and treated with qel electrophoresis and subsequently soaked in destain solution. Gels were either dried down under vacuum and exposed to X-Omat XS-1 film, or were soaked in En²hance (Dupont, Boston, USA) for 30 min at

RT, rehydrated in several changes of water for 30 min and then dried under vacuum. Dried gels treated with En²hance were placed in contact with flashed Kodak X-Omat XS-1 at -70° and exposed for at least 18h.

2.12 ANTIPEPTIDE ANTIBODIES

2.12.1 Production of polyclonal antibodies to synthetic oligopeptides

Since low mw peptides are poor immunogens, their immunogenicity was enhanced by coupling to a carrier protein. The coupling reaction was performed essentially as described by Bassiri et al. (1979)with а few modifications. Briefly, 40mg of BSA or β -galactosidase we re added to the peptide (5-10mg) in 2-4ml of 1X borate buffer pH9. While the sample was being stirred on ice 1ml of DAB was added dropwise until the solution turned dark After the pH was adjusted to pH 8.7-9.0 with 0.5N brown. NaOH, the sample was left on ice for 2h prior to dialysis. If, however, a precipitate began to form, dialysis was started earlier. The sample was dialysed for 2 days at 4° with five changes of PBS. The dialysed sample was diluted with PBS and 1ml aliquots, containing approximately 150ug of coupled peptide, were stored at -20°. 1ml of either co mplete or incomplete Freund's adjuvant was mixed with 1ml of coupled peptide and the sample emulsified. Six month old New Zealand white female rabbits (two rabbits for each peptide) were immunised intradermally at 5 sites in the scruff of the neck. Pre-immune sera were obtained from all

rabbits before immunisation was started. The first injection contained antigen in complete Freund's adjuvent, followed by a total of four booster injections of antigen incomplete Freund's adjuvent, in each 10 - 20at dav intervals. Prior to each injection, a 20ml blood sample was taken from each rabbit. After 50-60 days the rabbits were killed and the whole blood collected. The clotted blood was centrifuged at 2,000 rpm for 10 min, and the serum removed and stored in aliquots at -20°.

2.12.2 Removal of BSA antibodies from oligopeptides antiserum using K50 column

prepared from rabbits injected with Serum. an oligopeptide coupled to BSA, was passed through a K50 column (Pharmacia Fine Chemicals) containing BSA linked to CNBr activated Sepharose 4B to remove antibodies to BSA. Prior to the addition of serum, the K50 column was washed overnight with 1-2L of PBS. The serum was first pumped through a small column containing 10ml of BSA linked to CNBr activated Sepharose 4B to remove any large particles, and then into a large column. Once the serum had reached the middle section of the second column the pump was switched off, the column clamped off, and the serum left RT. After that time the pump was for at least 1h at switched on, the clamps removed, column washed with PBS while the serum was collected, and stored at -20° .

2.12.3 Fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC)

This technique was used to purify IgG from rabbit

serum. A column was packed with DEAE-Trisacryl[®] M beads (LKB instruments, Ltd.), equilibrated with a low salt solution (0.025M Tris-HCl, 0.035 NaCl pH 8.8), and inserted into an automated FPLC machine (Pharmacia). 10ml serum was dialysed in 2L of the low salt overnight prior to addition to the column. After the 1-2h of incubation, the column was first washed with the low salt solution, which removed the IgG bound to the beads in the column, and then with a high salt solution (100mM Tris-HCl, 1000mM NaCl pH 8.8), which removed other serum proteins bound to the beads. Fractions were collected and stored at -20°.

2.12.4 Radioimmunoassay (RIA)

The method used to detect the presence of antibodies to oligopeptides or BSA was based on a modified method of Green et al. (1982). Each well of a microtitre plate (96-well) was coated with 1µg/well of peptide dissolved in 25µl of PBS, or 25µl/well of 10% (w/v) BSA in The antigens were adsorbed on to the round bottom PBS. plates overnight at 37°. The solutions were shaken off the wells and peptides were fixed to the wells with $200\mu l$ methanol per well. After 5 min incubation at RT the methanol was removed. Non-specific protein binding sites blocked with 200µl 0.5% polyoxyethylene sorbitan were monolaurate (Tween 20) in PBS for 1h. Wells were then washed with PBS, and dried. BSA solution was shaken off the BSA treated wells, wells were washed once with PBS, and dried. 25µl of diluted serum in 0.05% Tween 20 in PBS was added to each well. Plates were sealed and incubated at

37° for 1h. This step was followed by three washes of 200µl of 0.05% Tween 20 in PBS. Protein A conjugated to [¹²³I] was diluted in PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20, and 25µl (20,000 cpm) added to each well. After the plates had been incubated for 30 min at 37°, the wells were washed three times with PBS by flooding the plates. Finally, 200µl of 5M NaOH was added to each well to elute bound protein A, and the plates left for 25 min at RT. Samples were transferred to plastic tubes and the amount of [¹²³I] monitered by a Gamma counter (NE 1600, Nuclear Enterprises Ltd., Edinburgh, Scotland).

2.12.5 Western blotting technique

method based the procedure The used was on described by Towbin et al. (1979). Proteins from infectedextracts, labelled with [³⁵S]-methionine were cell separated by SDS PAGE. After electrophoresis, proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose paper using a Bio Rad Transblot apparatus. A sandwich was prepared in which the gel, equilibrated in blotting buffer, was placed on a sheet of 3mm Whatman's filter paper, soaked in the same buffer. Underneath the filter paper was a fiber pad. Strips of nitrocellulose, also presoaked in buffer, were carefully placed on the gel and covered with a sheet of moistened 3mm Whatman's filter paper. After air bubbles were removed, a fiber pad was placed on top of the filter paper and the sandwich held together in a plastic holder. The holder was placed in a tank filled with blotting buffer. The strips faced the anode while the gel faced the cathode. Proteins
were removed onto the nitrocellulose strips by electrophoresis at 250mA. After 3h, strips were carefully removed to plastic dishes, containing 200ml of preheated blocking buffer, which were placed in a shaking water bath for 1h at 37°. After one change of blocking buffer, the strips were removed, air dried, and stored at -70°.

2.12.6 Detection of Antibodies bound to protein on nitrocellulose strips using [125] protein A

Strips were placed protein side up in shallow slots of a perspex block, and covered with different dilutions of serum in 1X NT buffer containing 0.05% Tween 20 and 1% BSA. The blocks were shaken at 37° for 2-4h or overnight at RT. Strips were then transferred to plastic dishes, washed twice with wash buffer at RT for 10 min, and incubated in protein A solution containing [125] protein A at 37°. After 2h, strips were washed twice with KI solution for 1h, and rinsed several times with wash buffer. Finally, strips were air dried, aligned on a piece of cardboard and placed in contact with three X-Omat XS-1 films. A screen of black paper was inserted between the first and the second sheets of film sheet, and an image intensifying screen placed after This procedure, described by Haarr et the third sheet. [35S]-<u>al</u>.(1985), was used to determine which of the methionine labelled proteins the antibody reacted with

as [125] protein A bound to that antibody. The first film was used to detect [35S]-methionine labelled proteins. The [35S]-methionine does not penetrate the second film, whereas the high energy emission from the [125I] passes through the three films to interact with the intensifying screen and produce photons which affect mainly the third film, and to an extend the second film but are prevented from reacting to the first film by the black paper. The films were exposed for at least 18h before developing.

2.12.7 Immunoprecipitation with polyclonal antibodies

Antibody (50µl) was incubated with 20µl (1X10⁶ cpm) of [³⁵S]-methionine labelled virus-infected cell extracts overnight at 4^o. Protein A sepharose (60µl), which had been swollen and washed with RIPA buffer three times, was added to the antigen-antibody mixture and samples shaken gently for 1h at 4^o. This step was followed by four washes with 600µl washing buffer. Disruption buffer (50µl) was added to the samples, and tubes boiled for 5 min. Samples were then centrifuged, and 40µl of each supernatant was loaded into a well of a protein gel.

2.13 ISOLATION AND PURIFICATION OF HSV VIRIONS AND NUCLEOCAPSIDS

The method of Gibson and Roizman (1972) was used for the isolation and purification of nucleocapsids. BHK cells grown in 850cm² culture bottles were infected with 0.03 pfu of virus per cell. After 7-8hpi incubation at 31° 1uCi of [³⁵S]-methionine was added to each bottle. When extensive CPE had developed cells were shaken off into medium, and pelleted at 2,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°. Virions were purified from the supernatant, and capsids were isolated from the cell pellet.

The supernatant was centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 2h at 4°. The pellet was resuspended in 2ml Eagle's medium without phenol red (E w/o PR) and loaded onto 2X12ml, 5-15% Ficoll gradients in E w/o PR. After 2½h centrifugation at 13,000 in 4°, the tubes were placed under a strong light source and the virion band was removed using a syringe needle pierced through the side wall of the tube. The band was suspended in E w/o PR and pelleted in a TST41 rotor at 21,000 for 2h at 4°. The pellet was resuspended carefully in 500µl PBS.

The cell pellet obtained from one burrler of virusinfected cells was resuspended in 50ml PBS containing 0.5% NP40, incubated for 10 min 4°, at and the nuclei concentrated by centrifugation at 2,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°. The nuclei were resuspended in 3.8ml PBS, and lysed with a final concentration of 1% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate. 50μ l of DNase 1 (10mg/ml) was added, and the sample incubated for 30 min at RT to reduce the viscosity of the solution. Urea, at a final concentration of 500mM was added, and incubation continued for a further 15-20 min. The sample was loaded onto a 10-40% (w/v) sucrose gradient in PBS, and the tubes centrifuged at 40,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°. The tubes were placed under a strong light source and the nucleocapsid bands removed by puncturing the side The nucleocapsids were suspended in PBS, with a syringe. and centrifuged at 40,000 for 30 min at 4°. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet resuspended in 250µl of PBS.

2.14 Bacterial expression assay

A (60µl) sample of bacteria carrying the expression vector was removed from an overnight culture, diluted in 3ml of L-broth containing ampicillin and shaken for 30 min at 37°. The culture was then divided between two vials and 100mM IPTG added to one of the samples to enhance the expression of the foreign gene. Incubation was continued until the bacteria reached an OD_{5901m} of 0.2. The bacteria were then pelleted by centrifugation, resuspended in 1X disruption buffer and boiled for 15min. A sample of the boiled solution was loaded on a 6-15% SDS polyacylamide gradient gel. After electrophoresis the gels were stained in gel fixative solution containing **Coomassie** blue stain and then destained.

2.15 ELECTRON MICROSCOPY

2.15.1 Preparation of samples in Epon-resin

The growth medium was removed from mock- and virusinfected HFL cells in 30mm dishes (at 14 hpi for PT samples, 12 hpi for NPT samples and 16 hpi for samples shifted at 12 hpi from the NPT to the PT in the presence of cycloheximide) and the monolayers washed three times with Cells were scraped into 0.5ml PBS, transferred to PBS. beem capsules and the samples centrifuged at 5000 rpm for The supernatant was removed, 500μ l of 2.5% (v/v) 10 min. each sample, and the added to gluteraldehyde in PBS capsules left at 4°. The next day, the pellets were washed

three times with PBS and post fixed with 1% (w/v) OsO4. After 1h the OsO4 was removed by three washes with PBS. The pellets were subsequently dehydrated through a series of increasing ethanol concentrations (30%, 50%, 70%, 90%, 100% (v/v) in PBS). The pellets were infiltrated with 50% (v/v) epon resin in ethanol, followed by two changes of epon resin alone. Epon resin, added to the samples at the final stage, was polymerised by incubation at 65° for three days.

2.15.2 Thin sectioning

Pelleted cells embedded in polymerised epon resin were cut either with a glass knife or with a diamond knife on a ultra-micotome (Ultracut E, Reichert-Jung), and thin sections were collected on parlodium-coated copper grids. Sections were stained with saturated uranyl acetate in 50% (v/v) ethanol for 1h, rinsed with deionised water and counter-stained with lead citrate for 1h. The stained thin sections were examined at 80KV in a Jeol 100S electron microscope.

2.16 COMPUTING AND ANALYSIS OF SEQUENCE DATA

Sequence handling was carried out in a DEC PDP11/44 DEC RSX11M operating system or а VAX computer under The programmes used in the PDP11/44 computer computer. were either designed or implemented by Dr. P. Taylor. In VAX computer the Genetic Computer Group (GCG) DEC the sequence analysis software package version 5.0 and 6.0 was used (Devereux et al., 1984; Devereux, 1989).

3.1 CHARACTERISATION OF THE HSV-1 MUTANT, TS1233 WITH A DEFECT IN ENCAPSIDATION OF VIRAL DNA AT THE NPT

3.1.1 Introduction

The sequence of events leading to the assembly of HSV capsids is still unclear. At least seven polypeptides have been identified in capsids purified from the nuclei of virus-infected cells and two of these, Vmw155 and Vmw50, are required for the assembly of capsids (section 1.9.1). Several structural proteins have been directly or indirectly implicated in DNA encapsidation. The mechanism by which HSV packages the genome into a preformed capsid is It is clear from the analysis of defective not known. virus genomes and ts mutants that DNA encapsidation is a complex process which requires a variety of functions including both cis-acting sequences and trans-acting elements (see sections 1.7.4 and 1.7.5). Work on ts mutants of HSV-1 and PRV has established that cleavage of high mw concatemeric DNA to unit length genome is linked to DNA encapsidation (Ladin et al., 1980; 1982; Preston et al., 1983; Addison, 1986; Sherman and Bachenheimer, 1987; 1988), and that several gene products are involved in the process of viral DNA packaging. The following chapter deals with the characterisation of a DNA positive ts mutant of HSV-1, ts1233, which fails to package DNA at the NPT, and the identification of the gene in which the lesion lies.

3.1.2 Electron microscopic analysis of *ts*1233-infected cells reveals that the mutant has a defect in DNA encapsidation

Thin section preparations of ts1233 and 17syn⁺ HFL-infected cells examined under were the electron microscope. At the NPT the nuclei of ts1233-infected cells contained large numbers of intermediate capsids which had electron-translucent cores. These capsids were present as aggregates or as single capsids (figure 9A). No densecored capsids or empty capsids lacking an internal core were observed in the mutant-infected cells. By contrast all three capsid forms were present in the nuclei of wt virus-infected cells at both the PT and NPT and in the nuclei of ts1233-infected cells at the PT. Mature virions were also detected in these virus-infected cells (figures 9 b, c,d). These results suggest that ts1233 has a block in assembly of full nucleocapsids. When the mutant virusinfected cells were shifted from the NPT to the PT at 12 cvcloheximide (a h.p.i. in the presence of protein synthesis inhibitor) and incubated for a further 4h before being harvested, no full nucleocapsids were detected in the nuclei and no enveloped virions were present in the cytoplasm or on the surface of infected cells, indicating that the effect of the mutation could not be reversed by transferring the sample to the PT (figures 9 F, G).

3.1.3 Quantitation of different capsid types in virusinfected cells The number of empty, partially-cored, and full



В



Figure 9

Electron microscopic analysis of ts1233- and 17syn⁺- infected cells

Electron micrograph of thin section preparations of HFL cells infected with a moi of 5pfu of ts1233 or wt HSV-1 $17syn^{+}$.

.•

- A) Nucleus of a cell infected with ts1233. Cells were harvested after 12h incubation at the NPT (39°).
- B) Nucleus of a cell infected with wt 17 syn⁺. Cells were harvested after 14h incubation at the PT (31^o).
- C) Nucleus of a cell infected with wt 17 syn⁺. Cells were harvested after 12h incubation at the NPT (39°).
- D) Nucleus of a cell infected with ts1233. Cells were harvested after 14h incubation at the PT (31°).
- E) Nucleus of a mock infected HFL cell. Cells were harvested after 12h incubation at the NPT (39°)
- F) Nucleus of a cell infected with ts1233 at the NPT. Cells were shifted to the PT at 12hpi in the presence of cycloheximide and harvested after a further 4h incubation at the PT.
- G) Nucleus of a cell infected with wt virus at the NPT. Cells were shifted to the PT at 12hpi in the presence of cycloheximide and harvested after a further 4h incubation at the PT.

Full capsids are indicated by The solid arrows. Partially-cored capsids are indicated by closed arrows.Empty capsids are indicated by an open arrow. The bar represents 0.5µm.







capsids present in the nuclei of virus-infected cells was determined by counting capsids seen in thin section preparations under the electron microscope. 50 nuclei from both 17 syn⁺-, and ts1233-infected cells were chosen at random. Results represented in table 4 revealed that mean total number of capsids varied from 33.42 to 100.56 per thin section of nucleus. The predominant capsid type was the partially-cored capsid. This is consistent with the idea that partially-cored capsids are precursors of full No empty capsids were detected in ts1233-infected capsids. cells at at the NPT and this finding supports the proposal that empty capsids are breakdown products of full capsids and are not precursors of DNA containing capsids. At the NPT the total number of capsids/nucleus of ts1233-infected cells was greater than that of wt virus-infected cells (53 This could be due to capsids remaining in cf 62). the nucleus in ts1233-infected cells, whereas in wt virus full capsids are rapidly enveloped. In wt virus-infected cells treated with cycloheximide at 31° or 39° a slight decrease in the proportion of partially-cored capsids was observed, and this was accompanied/by a slight increase in proportion of empty capsids and full capsids. The major reason for the decrease in partially-cored capsids was a decrease in capsids/nucleus thin the absolute number of total of section. This result suggested that in wt virus-infected cells an unstable gene product might be important for the production of partially-cored capsids. In ts1233-infected cells treated with cycloheximide at 39°, on the other hand, an increase in the absolute number of capsids/nucleus was

TABLE 4

Quantitation of different capsid types in virus-infected cells

Temp.	Virus	Е	Р	F	Total no.
31° (1)	17 <i>syn</i> * (%)	3.52 (5.71)	53.64 (87.10)	4.42 (7.17)	61.58 (100.00)
	<i>ts</i> 1233 (%)	5.80 (8.99)	49.38 (76.55)	9.32 (14.44)	64.50 (100.00)
39° (2)	17 <i>syn</i> t (%)	4.10 (7.72)	42.68 (80.40)	6.30 (11.86)	53.08 (100.00)
	<i>ts</i> 1233 (%)	0 0	76.58 (100.0)	0 0	76.58 (100.00)
31° \CH 31° (3)	17 <i>syn</i> * (%)	6.32 (11.40)	42.34 (76.42)	6.74 (12.16)	55.40 (100.00)
	<i>ts</i> 1233 (%)	8.76 (17.46)	33.70 (67.18)	7.70 (15.35)	50.16 (100.00)
39° \CH 31° (3)	17 <i>syn</i> † (%)	1.80 (5.38)	28.40 (84.97)	3.22 (9.63)	33.42 (100.00)
	ts1233 (%)	0 0	100.56 (100.00)	0 0	100.56 (100.00)
39° \CH 39° (3)	17 <i>syn</i> * (%)	3.78 (9.26)	30.76 (75.39)	6.26 (15.34)	40.80 (100.00)
	<i>ts</i> 1233 (%)	0 0	81.44 (100.00)	0 0	81.44 (100.00)

Table 4

The table represent the proportion of dense-cored (F), (E) partially-cored (P) and empty/capsids in the nuclei of infected cells determined from the examination of thin section preparation of cells under the electron microscope (50 cells were screened for each type of capsids at:

Cells infected with wt virus or ts1233 at the PT
(31°) and harvested after 14hpi.

Cells infected with wt virus or ts1233 at the NPT
(39°) and harvested after 12hpi.

3) Cells infected with *wt* virus or *ts*1233 at the NPT (39°) followed by a shift to the PT (31°) at 12hpi in the presence of cycloheximide, and harvested after further 4h.

Top figure represent the average number of each type of capsids per nucleus, brackets represent percentage of capsid type per nucleus. observed which could possibly be due to the stability of a gene product (this is discussed in more details in section 3.4).

3.1.4 Analysis of viral DNA processing

Electron microscopic observation of thin section preparations of ts1233-infected cells suggested that ts1233 did not encapsidate DNA at the NPT. To confirm that the mutant DNA was not packaged into capsids at the NPT, and to determine whether the DNA was cleaved, processing of ts1233 DNA was investigated using the technique of Southern blotting (refer to Section 2.7).

Total and encapsidated viral DNA from ts1233, ts1201, and wt virus-infected HFL cells were prepared as in sections 2.3.2.a; 2.3.2.b. described *Ts*1201 was included as a control in this study since this mutant fails to cleave and package DNA at the NPT. The viral DNAs were digested with BamHI which cleaves not only the unique regions but also the L and S repeats. The terminal fragments q and s, and the joint spanning fragment k were to [32P]-labelled plasmid identified by hybridisation pGX22, which contains BamHI k. [^{3 2} P]-labelled pGX24, containing the HSV-1 UL fragment BamHI a, was included in the hybridisation mix to determine the relative amount of total and encapsidated viral DNA.

The rationale for using BamHI k as a probe is that the presence of terminal fragments q and s gives an indication that cleavage of concatemeric DNA is occurring. Virion DNA, digested with BamHI, contains fragments k, q and s in equimolar amounts since the genome is present in virus particles as a linear DNA molecule. Late in infection, however, in wt virus-infected cells most of the unpackaged DNA is present as high mw concatemers and, as a consequence, the proportion of BamHI k increases relative to terminal fragments q and s. In Southern blot analysis using the probe BamHI k, the intensity of BamHI k should be equal to the intensity of q+s bands in virion DNA.

Figure 10a shows an autoradiograph of a Southern blot of BamHI digested total virus DNA and encapsidated DNA. The terminal s and q fragments were present in 17 syn⁺, ts1233, and ts1201 total virus-infected cell DNA prepared from cells grown at 31°, indicating that endless DNA was cleaved. Analysis of encapsidated DNA samples showed that cleaved DNA was packaged at 31° (figure 10a). Examination of total virus-infected cell samples prepared 390 revealed that the terminal from cells arown at fragments BamHI s and q were detectable in wt virusinfected cells only, suggesting that ts1233 and ts1201 DNA were endless (figure 10b), and were not cleaved to unit The failure to detect packaged DNA in mutant length DNAs. encapsidated DNA samples at 39° confirmed that ts1233 and ts1201 had an encapsidation defect at 39°. When virusinfected cells were transferred from 39° to 31° in the presence of cycloheximide at 12 hpi and incubated for a further 4h before being harvested, the terminal fragments were detected in both wt virus- and ts1201 total virus-The effect of ts1201 lesion infected cell DNA samples. was, however, only partially reversible upon downshift of



DNA analysis at 31C



(B)

(A)

Figure 10

Autoradiograph of the processing of total and encapsidated (DNase-resistant) virus-infected cell DNA

Unlabelled DNA was prepared from HFL cells infected at a moi of 5 pfu/cell with wt virus, ts1233 or ts1201 as described in section 2.3.2.

Virus-infected cells were incubated at 31° (A), and 39° (B) and harvested at 18hpi. 1/10 of the samples from 50mm petri dish was cleaved with BamHI and the resulting fragments were separated by electrophoresis through 0.8% agarose gel. The fragments were transferred to nitocellulose sheets and hybridised to *in vitro* labelled [³² P]-pGX22 (containing BamHI *k*) and pGX24 (containing BamHI *a*). (C)



DNA analysis upon shiftdown

39°C-31°C

1.

Figure 10C

Autoradiograph of the processing of total and encapsidated (DNase-resistant) virus-infected cell DNA

Unlabelled DNA was prepared from HFL cells infected at a moi of 5 pfu/cell with wt virus, ts1233 or ts1201 as described in section 2.3.2.

Virus-infected cells were transferred from the NPT to the PT at 12hpi in the presence of cycloheximide and incubated for a further 4h prior to harvesting.

1/10 of the sample from 50mm petri dish was cleaved with BamHI and the resulting fragments were separated by electrophoresis through 0.8% agarose gel. The fragments were transfered to nitrocellulose sheets and hybridised to in vitro labled [^{32}P]-pGX22 (containing BamHI k) and pGX24 (containing BamHI a).

ts1201-infected cells from the NPT to PT (figure 10c) and only a low proportion of q+s fragments were detected in comparison with the wt virus q+s fragments. In ts1233total infected cell DNA sample treated in the same manner no terminal fragments were detected suggesting that the DNA was not cleaved. This result was confirmed bv the observation that no packaged ts1233 DNA could be detected in mutant-infected cells transferred 31° from 39° to (figure 10c) and supported the electron microscopic observation that the effect of ts1233 lesion could not be reversed by transfer of the sample from the NPT to PT. Hence, ts1233 has a block in the assembly of functional capsids.

3.1.5 Densitometric analysis of Southern blots of total virus-infected cell DNA and encapsidated DNA

The relative amount of viral DNA packaged was determined by analysis of autoradiographs of Southern blots of total virus DNA and encapsidated DNA. The amount of the UL fragment BamHI a hybridised to total virus infected cell DNA was compared to the amount hybridised to encapsidated The intensity of BamHI k, q and s was not determined DNA. because quantitation of these bands probably gives a less reliable estimate of packaging. Plasmids which do not contain the *a* sequence but have oris are able to form concatemers in the presence of helper virus. This result raises the possibility that the ends of the uncleaved viral mutant DNA concatemers in /virus-infected cells are different from cleaved unit length DNA in wt virus-infected cells.

Results of the densitometric analysis revealed that at 31° wt virus packaged DNA very efficiently. More than 50% of the viral DNA synthesized had been encapsidated by 12 hpi. At this temperature *ts*1233 and ts1201 also packaged DNA efficiently (see table 5a). At the NPT of 39°, about 8% of wt virus DNA was encapsidated (table 5b). It is clear from this result that at 39° packaging of wt virus DNA is much less efficient than at 31°, indicating that there is a thermolabile step in this process. This conclusion is supported by the finding that the amount of wt virus DNA packaged increased when the sample was transferred from 390 to 310 in the presence of cycloheximide. Less than 1% of ts1233 and ts1201 was encapsidated at the NPT. This result suggests that these mutants have a packaging defect at this temperature. Results of the analysis of shiftdown experiment showed that the effect of ts1201 mutation was not fully reversible upon downshift from 39° to 31° in the presence of cycloheximide. Only about 4% of ts1201 DNA was encapsidated (table 5c). is lower than the value determined elsewhere This figure (Addison, 1986) possibly because a high NPT of 39° was used in this experiment whereas 38.5° had been used in the previous work on this mutant. Less than 1% of ts1233 DNA was packaged after transfer of mutant-infected cells from 39° to 31°.

3.1.6 Ts1233 defines a new complementation group

To determine whether *ts*1233 belonged to an existing complementation group or not, complementation analysis was

TABLE 5

Densitometric analysis of total and encapsidated virusinfected cell DNA

A

РТ 310	17 <i>syn</i> +	<i>ts</i> 1233	<i>ts</i> 1201
Total DNA	100.00	121.69	189.08
synthesised (%)	100.00	182.00	166.00
Encapsidated	57.50	61.00	32.80
DNA (%)	50.14	22.60	43.96

B

NPT 39°	17 <i>syn</i> †	ts1233	<i>ts</i> 1201
Total DNA	100.00	65.35	50.00
synthesised (%)	100.00	50.90	75.66
Encapsidated	7.65	<1.00	<1.00
DNA (%)	8.59	<1.00	<1.00

С

NPT-PT 39°-31° *	17 <i>syn</i> *	ts1233	<i>ts</i> 1201
Total DNA (%)	100.00	61.69	80.05
Encapsidated (%)	17.95	<1.00	4.12

(*) cycloheximide treated

Table 5

Densitometric analysis of Southern blot of total and encapsidated virus DNA. The amount of DNA synthesised or encapsidated by each virus represented by the amount of [32P] labelled probe hybridising to the BamHI *a* fragment.

Total virus DNA is represented as a percentage of the DNA synthesised by wt $17syn^*$ virus at the PT (A), or NPT (B), or following a shift from the NPT to the PT in the presence of cycloheximide (*). In each case synthesis of $17syn^*$ is taken as 100%.

Encapsidated DNA is presented as a percentage of the total virus-infected cell DNA synthesised at the PT (A), NPT (B) or following a shift from the NPT to the PT in the presence of cycloheximide (*). The figures in A and B represent two sets of experiments.

carried out. Since ts mutants belonging to complementation to / *ts*1233 group 1-13 had defects which mapped close mutation, a member, tsN20, from this group was used in the The complementation yield test. \bigwedge TsN20 lesion maps within a 500bp SalI-EcoRI fragment at the right hand end of EcoRI m (Coen et al., 1984). Another mutant in this cistron tsW44has a mutation within EcoRI o (Pancake et al., 1983). Originally these mutants were placed in two different complementation groups (Pancake et al., 1983), but recently they have been assigned to a single cistron c(1-13)(Schaffer et al., 1987). TsN20 made large numbers of aberrant, partially-cored and empty capsids as well as some dense-cored capsids and enveloped virus particles at 39° (Schaffer et al., 1974). From this electron microscopic analysis, its phenotype appeared to be very similar to that of glycoprotein B mutant tsJ12. *Ts*N20 was chosen for complementation analysis with ts1233 because this mutant was readily available at the Institute. Ts1201, which has a mutation in UL26 and like ts1233 failed to package DNA at the NPT (Preston et al., 1983), was used as a control. The results of two independent experiments (Table 6) revealed that ts1233 complemented both tsN20 and ts1201, suggesting ts1233 belongs to a different complementation group that from that of tsN20 and ts1201.

3.1.7 Analysis of ts1233-infected cell polypeptide

Polypeptides synthesized by *ts*1233 were analysed by SDS PAGE to determine whether the mutant polypeptide profile contained any polypeptide bands which had an

TABLE 6

Complementation test between *ts*1233 and two mutants with packaging defects at the NPT

Mutant	<i>ts</i> N20	<i>ts</i> 1201	<i>ts</i> 1233
<i>ts</i> N20	1	12.06	12.95
	1	35.90	43.20
t -1 001		1	71.85
<i>ts</i> 1201		1	211.00
t c1233			1
191433			1

Complementation yield test was performed between ts1233, ts1201, tsN20. The values in the table represent complementation indices of two separate experiments calculated from the formula used by Brown et al. (1973). Values greater than four were considered positive.

altered mobility, or intensity in comparison with wt virus polypeptide bands. Virus and mock-infected cells were grown at the NPT or PT, labelled with [35S]-methionine for 30 min at 5 hpi and the proteins separated by SDS-PAGE. Autoradiographs of polypeptides revealed that ts1233 had a similar polypeptide pattern to that of wt virus both at the PT and the NPT when the polypeptides were separated on single concentration (data not shown) or gradient polyacrylamide SDS gels (figure 11).

3.1.8 Processing of p40 in ts1233 infected cells

The inability of *ts*1201 to package DNA into capsids at the NPT correlates with the failure of the mutant to process p40 (gene product of UL26) to its lower mw forms. Since it is not known if other proteins are required for modification of p40, processing of p40 in infected cells was examined to determine whether the lesion in ts1233 affected any of the processing steps of p40. Wt virus-, ts1233- and ts1201-infected cells, together with mockinfected cells were pulse-labelled with [35S]-methionine for min 5 hpi and samples 20 at either harvested immediately or incubated for a further 5h in the absence of [35S]-methionine prior to harvesting. P40 in virusinfected cell extracts was immunoprecipitated with a p40 specific monoclonal antibody, 5010B, and the immunoprecipitates analysed by SDS-PAGE. At the PT at least four virus-infected polypeptide bands were detected in wt virus-, ts1201- and ts1233-infected cell samples pulse labelled with [35S]-methionine. After a 5h chase,





Figure 11

Autoradiograph of polypeptides induced at 31° and 39° in HFL cells infected with *wt* HSV-1 or *ts*1233 or in mock infected cells. Virus-infected cells were labelled with [°S]-methionine for 30min at 6hpi and harvested. Protein samples were analysed on a 6-15% gradient SDS PAGE. Numbers represent apparant mw.

two lower mw p40 specific bands appeared, indicating that p40 was processed normally at the PT in all three virusinfected cell samples (figure 12). At the NPT only ts1201 failed to process p40 to the lower mw forms after 5h chase. Both wt and ts1233 processed p40 normally. The results show that the mutation in ts1233 did not affect the processing of p40 at the NPT (figure 13).

3.1.9 Isolation of the *ts* revertants for growth of *ts*1233 Two independent revertants for growth of *ts*1233, *ts*1233 rev1 and rev2, were isolated and high titre virus stocks were prepared. The revertants were titrated both at the PT and the NPT, together with the wt virus and a *ts*⁺ virus isolated by marker rescue of *ts*1233 with cloned wt EcoRI *o* (table 7). The eop NPT/PT of rev1, rev2, the *ts*⁺ marker rescued virus were similar to that of *wt* 17*syn*⁺ virus. This information strongly suggests that *ts*1233 has a single *ts* mutation.

3.1.10 Map location of the ts1233 lesion

Preliminary marker rescue studies localised the ts1233 mutation to the region shared by EcoRI o and BamHI b' (I.McDougall, unpublished results). Separated XbaI restriction endonuclease fragments from cloned wt HSV-1 17*syn*^{*} EcoRI o fragment derived from the plasmid pGX74 were used in marker rescue experiments to map the ts1233 lesion to a smaller region of the genome (table 8). The results showed that the lesion mapped within a 941 bp fragment at the end of XbaI f. To further refine the map



Figure 12

Autoradigraph of immuneprecipitates of p40 separated by SDS PAGE. HFL cells were either mock-infected or infected with wt virus, ts1201 or ts1233 at 31°. At 6 hpi, cells were pulsed-labelled with [³⁵S]-methionine for 30 min and harvested either immeadiately (pulse) or after incubation for further 5h at 31° а in EFC1 0 (chase). Immunoprecipitation was performed as described in section 2.11.2 using a ma5010B, which is specific for p40. As a extract control, wt virus-infected cell/was incubated with nonimmune rabbit serum instead of ma5010B (track 3 and 9). Tracks 1 and 7 represent moc infected cell extracts, tracks 2 and 8 represent wt virus-infected cell extracts, tracks 3, 6, 9, 12, represent immune precipitates from wt virusinfected cells, tracks 4 and 10, immune precipitates from ts1201-infected cells, tracks 5 and 11, immune precipitates from *ts*1233 infected cells. The immune precipitated polypeptides were analysed on an 8% SDS polyacrylamide gel.

Solid arrows represent high mw forms of p40.

Dotted arrows " low " " ".



Figure 13

Autoradigraph of immuneprecipitates of p40 separated by SDS PAGE. HFL cells were either mock-infected or infected with wt virus, ts1201 or ts1233 at 39°. At 6 hpi, cells were pulsed-labelled with [35S]-methionine for 30 min and harvested either immeadiately (pulse) or after incubation for further 5h 390 а at in EFC1 0 (chase). Immunoprecipitation was performed as described in section 2.11.2 using a ma5010B, which is specific for p40. As a extract control, wt virus-infected cell/was incubated with nonimmune rabbit serum instead of ma5010B (track 3 and 9). Tracks 1 and 7 represent mock-infected cell extracts, tracks 2 and 8 represent wt virus-infected cell extracts, tracks 3, 6, 9, 12, represent immune precipitates from wt virusinfected cells, tracks 4 and 10, immune precipitates from ts1201-infected cells, tracks 5 and 11, immune precipitates cells. The immune precipitated from *ts*1233 infected polypeptides were analysed on an 8% SDS polyacrylamide gel.

> Solid arrows represent high mw forms of p40. Dotted arrows " low " " ".

Table 7

Eop(NPT/PT) of ts1233 rev1 and rev2

Virus	EOD(Nbt/bt)
17 <i>syn</i> *	0.98
<i>Ts</i> 1233 rev1	1.00
<i>Ts</i> 1233 rev2	0.84
<i>Ts</i> • virus isolated by marker rescue	1.00
NPT is 39°	

..

PT is 31°

.
TABLE 8

.

•

Summary of marker rescue of ts1233

Fragments obtained from pGX74 (HSV-1 EcoRI o)	Efficiency of plating NPT/PT X10 ³	Rescue
pGX74 digested with EcoRI	2.66	+
pGX74 digested with XbaI		
Unseparated XbaI frags.	1.73	+
Separated XbaI frags.*/ contains part of XbaI f	1.64	+
" " " XbaI c	<0.02	
pGX74 digested with PvuII		
Unseparated PvuII frags.	0.22	· +
<pre>Separated PvuII frags.*/ contains part of PvuII k'</pre>	0.16	+
" " " PvuII o	<0.02	-
" " " PvuII <i>o</i> '	<0.02	-
None	<0.01	-

(*) XbaI digest gives two fragments each containing part of the vector sequences. Similarly with a PvuII digest. location of the mutation, separated PvuII fragments were used in marker rescue experiments. A low level of ts^{+} virus progeny was obtained with a 602 bp PvuII fragment (containing part of the PvuII k' fragment). The lesion of ts1233, therefore, lies within a 152 bp region common to XbaI f and PvuII k' (figure 14) between map coordinate 0.45-0.46 mu.

3.1.11 Cloning EcoRI o of ts1233, ts1233 rev1 and rev2

Marker rescue experiments showed that the ts1233 mutation mapped within a 152bp region common to PvuII k' and XbaI f. The 5' ends of two genes, UL32 and UL33, oriented in opposite directions, lie in this part of the genome (McGeoch et al., 1988). To determine which gene the *ts*1233 lesion in, mapped the sequence alteration responsible for the ts1233 mutation was determined. The first step in this analysis was to clone the fragment containing the ts mutation and the corresponding fragments from ts1233 rev1 and rev2. EcoRI o fragments from an EcoRI digest of ts1233, ts1233 rev1 and rev2 DNA were cloned into the EcoRI site in pUC8 (figure 15). Two independent chimeric plasmids, pGX200 and pGX201, containing EcoRI o fragment of ts1233, and two chimeric plasmids pGX203 and pGX204 containing EcoRI o of ts1233 rev1 and rev2 respectively, were constructed. All the plasmid inserts appeared to have identical EcoRI, BamHI, XbaI and PvuII sites to those present in wt HSV DNA sequence (data not shown). Plasmids were digested with BamHI and XbaI and tested for their ability to rescue the mutation of ts1233



Kbp/ MAP COORDINATES

Map location of the ts1233 mutation.

The EcoRI, BamHI, XbaI and PvuII cleavage sites in the region where ts1233 lesion lies are given. The solid XbaI and PvuII lines represent the fragments which rescued the ts1233 mutation. The 152bp cross hatched box represents the region common to XbaI f and PvuII k'.

 \odot





pGX200	<i>ts</i> 1233
pGX201	<i>ts</i> 1233
pGX203	Rev 1
pGX204	Rev 2

A diagram representing the EcoRI o fragment taken from ts1233, ts1233 rev1,or ts1233 rev2 and cloned into the EcoRI site of pUC8 polylinker. Numbers on top of the fragment represent the size of the four fragments obtained from a BamHI-XbaI double digest. The 392bp fragment was used in sequencing analysis.

•

DNA in a marker rescue experiment (table 9). The two mutant clones, pGX200 and pGX201 failed to rescue *ts*1233 lesion, whereas pGX203 and pGX204 both gave positive values in the marker rescue test. These results confirmed that the correct fragment had been cloned in each case.

3.2 GENE UL33 IS REQUIRED FOR DNA ENCAPSIDATION

The first part of this section deals with the identification of the gene responsible for the defect in ts1233, while the subsequent parts of the section deal with attempts to identify the gene product of this gene.

3.2.1 Ts1233 lesion maps within UL33

The 392bp fragment common to XbaI f and BamHI b' in each of the following plasmids pGX200, pGX203 and pGX204 was ligated into M13mp18 and M13mp19 DNA cleaved with XbaI-These two bacteriophage DNAs have the polylinker BamHI. cloning sequence in opposite orientations to one another. transfected into competent The ligated DNA was JM101 bacteria and bacteriophage forming white plaques were Bacteriophage ssDNA was prepared and sequenced isolated. using the chain termination method of Sanger. The ts1233 nucleotide sequence of the BamHI-XbaI cloned fragment was identical to the sequence in the corresponding cloned fragment from wt virus except for a single bp change at residue 69210 where a transversion from an A to a T had (figure 16 refer to tsl233 A and T tracks). occurred Sequence analysis of the BamHI-XbaI from the two ts revertant clones revealed that these DNAs each had an

120

TABLE 9

Marker rescue of *ts*1233 using pGX74, pGX200, pGX201, pGX203, pGX204

Clones /Fragment used	Efficiency of plating NPT/PT X 103	Rescue
pGX74 digested with BamHI-XbaI Unseparated fragments Separated frag obtained	0.20	+
from a BamHI-XbaI dig. 392bp frag.	0.30	+
517bp "	<0.02	-
1874bp "	<0.02	-
2505bp "	<0.02	-
pGX200 digested with BamHI-XbaI Unseparated fragments	<0.02	-
pGX201 digested with BamHI-XbaI Unseparated fragments	<0.02	-
pGX203 digested with BamHI-XbaI Unseparted fragments Separated frag obtained	0.35	+
392bp frag.	0.20	+
460bp "	<0.02	-
517bp "	<0.02	-
2822bp "	<0.02	_
pGX204 digested with BamHI-XbaI Unseparetd fragments Separated frag obtained	0.20	+
from a BamHI-XbaI dig. 142bp frag.	<0.02	-
392bp "	0.12	+
517bp "	<0.02	-
3140bp "	<0.02	-
None	<0.02	-

Table 9

Marker rescue of *ts*1233 using pGX74, pGX200, pGX201, pGX203, pGX204

Vector

pGX74	contain	HSV-1	17 <i>syn</i> *	EcoRI	<i>o</i> fragm	ent.	pACY	C184
pGX200	"	t <i>s</i> 1233	•	**	**	•	pUC8	
pGX201	"	t <i>s</i> 1233	1	"	••	•	n	
pGX203	"	t <i>s</i> 1233	rev1	11		•	11	
pGX204	••	<i>ts</i> 1233	rev2	"	••	•	**	
The ins	sert in p	GX204	is in	opposit	ce orien	tatic	on.	When
the c	lones a	are di	igeste	d with	n BamHl	-Xba	I,	four
fragmer	nts are	obtai	ined	which	contain	the	ve	ctor
sequenc	ces atta	ched t	o the	450bp	fragmen	nt ai	nd 1	32bp
fragmer	nt. For	the	sizes	of the	e fragme	ent 1	refer	• to
figure	15.							

.•

TCGATCGATCGA



TTT

Ts1233 Rev1 Rev2

A portion of the autoradiograph of a DNA sequencing gel. Sequence products were separated on a 6% denaturing polyacrylamide gel containing 9M urea. The base pair change in *ts*1233 is indicated by TTT (thymine), whereas both the revertants shows the presence of adenine (A track).

identical sequence to that of wt virus DNA (Figure 16 refer to *ts*1233 rev1 and rev2 tracks A and T).

As mentioned previously, within the 152bp region lie the 5' ends of two genes transcribed in opposite directions. One of the genes, UL32, encodes a 65,000 mw polypeptide, and the other, UL33, encodes a 14,000 mw polypeptide. DNA sequence analysis of $17 syn^*$ virus (figure 17) has shown that residue no. 69210 lies 50 bp downstream from the ATG initiation codon of gene UL33 (McGeoch *et al.*, 1988), and therefore *ts*1233 lesion must lie in gene UL33 (figure 18).

3.2.2 Production of polyclonal antibodies against UL33 gene product

DNA sequence and electron microscopy analyses showed that ts1233 contained a ts mutation in UL33 which affected virus assembly at the NPT. The next step was to identify the gene product of UL33 to obtain further information about the function and role of this protein. synthetic oligopeptides, Antisera raised against representing small portions of the amino acid sequence of a protein, have been extremely useful in identifying the product of a gene whose DNA sequence is available (Palfreyman et al., 1984; Frame et al., 1986; McLean et al., 1987; Parris et al., 1988). It was therefore decided to make antisera using two synthetic oligopeptides, one of which was directed towards the amino terminus and the other of which was specific to the carboxy terminus. The two oligopeptides were chosen because of the high success rate

121

Translation	of:	UL33
-------------	-----	-------------

м	A	G	R	E	G	R	T	R	Q	R	Т	L	R	D	T	т *	P	D	19
ATG	GCT	GGG	CGG	GAG	GGG	CGC	ACG	CGC	CAG	CGA	ACT	TTA	CGG	GAC	ACA	ATC	ccc	GAC	69217
с	A	L	R	s	Q	т	r	E	s	L	D	A	R	Y	v	S	R	D	38
TGC	GCG	CTG	CGG	тсс	CAG	ACC	CTG	GAG	AGT	СТА	GAC	GCG	CGC	TAC	GTC	TCG	CGA	GAC	69274
G	A	H	D	A	A	v	W	F	Е	D	м	T	P	A	E	L	E	v	57
GGC	GCG	САТ	GAC	GCG	GCC	GTC	TGG	TTC	GAG	GAT	ATG	ACC	ccc	GCC	GAG	CTG	GAG	GTT	69331
v	F	P	т	т	D	A	к	L	N	Y	L	S	R	T	Q	R	L	A	76
GTC	TTC	CCG	АСТ	ACG	GAC	GCC	AAG	CTG	AAC	TAC	CTG	тсG	CGG	ACG	CAG	CGG	CTG	GCC	69388
s	L	\mathbf{r}	Т	Y	A	G	P	I	к	A	P	D	D	A	A	A	P	Q	95
тсс	CTC	СТG	ACG	TAC	GCC	GGG	ССТ	АТА	ААА	GCG	ccc	GAC	GAC	GCC	GCC	GCC	CCG	CAG	69445
т	P	D	т	A	с	v	н	G	E	г	L	A	A	ĸ	R	Е	R	F	114
ACC	CCG	GAC	ACC	GCG	TGT	GTG	CAC	GGC	GAG	CTG	СТС	GCC	GCC	AAG	CGG	GAA	AGA	TTC	69502
A	A	v	I	N	R	F	L	D	L	н	Q	I	L	R	G	-			130
GCG	GCG	GTC	ATT	AAC	CGG	TTC	CTG	GAC	CTG	CAC	CAG	ATT	CTG	CGG	GGC	TGA			69553

----- AMINO ACID COMPOSITION -----

Glv	6	4.6%	Pro	7	5.4%	CVS	2	1.5%	Met	2	1.54
His	3	2.3%	Phe	4	3.1%	Tyr	3	2.3%	Trp	1	0.84
Asn	·2	1.5%	Gln	5	3.8%	Ser	5	3.8%	Thr	11	8.5%
Lys	3	2.3	Arg	1,4	10.8%	Asp	11	8.5%	Glu	7	5.44

Approximate Molecular Weight = 14436.49

The EcoRI o fragment showing 152bp region were the 5' end of two genes map. HSV-1 $17syn^*$ sequence is compared to ts1233 sequence. Bold letters represent the thymidine nucleotides observed in the sequencing results. The underlined region represents the change in the amino acid sequence from an isoleucine to asparagine. The crossedhatched region is where the ts1233 mutation was located by marker rescue.





- HSV-1 17 syn⁺ seq. 5' TCGGGACACAATCCCCGACTGC 3' AGCCCTGTG**TTA**GGGGCTGACG
 - *TS*1233 seq. 5' TCGGGACACA<u>AAC</u>CCCGACTGC 3' AGCCCTGTG**TTT**GGGGCTGACG

Translation of gene UL33 (McGeoch *et al.*, 1988). The diagram shows the nucleotide and amino acid sequence of this gene and its predicted mw. The (*) at residue 69210 represents the position of the mutation in ts1233. The boxes indicate the amino acid sequence of the two peptides synthesised.

Tyrosin was added to the 3'end and 5'end of the first and second oligopeptide respectively to facilitate coupling to carrier protein. with antisera raised against oligopeptides specific to the ends of the protein. Antisera often contained antibodies which cross reacted with the intact protein and the regions contained amino acid sequence that able were to be synthesised easily on the oligopeptide synthesiser (H. Marsden, personal communication). The first peptide represented the first 11 amino-acids from the aminoterminus of gene UL33, and the other represented the last 11 amino-acids from the carboxy-terminus of gene UL33 (Figure 18). The oligopeptides were coupled to either BSA or β -galactosidase, and injected into rabbits (table 10) (also refer to section 2.12.1).

Antibodies made against BSA were removed by passing the sera through a column containing BSA linked to CNBr activated Sepharose 4B (Section 2.12.2, 2.12.4). A radioimmunoassay was performed prior to and after BSA antibody isolation to check that BSA antibodies had been removed (data not shown).

Figures 19a, and 19b represents results of the radio-immunoassays of serum from animals injected with the carboxy-terminal peptide coupled to β -galactosidase. Antisera from post-immune bleeds reacted to the antigen (peptide) coating the microtitre wells and gave high [125I] counts in comparison to preimmune serum, suggesting that the antisera raised against the peptides were recognising the antigen. Similar results were obtained with both peptides coupled to BSA from which BSA antibodies had been removed (data not shown).

TABLE 10

.

The injection protocol of UL33 peptides coupled to $$\beta$-galactosidase$

Peptide code	Pentide		inje	poptido/ml			
	representing	1	2	3	4	5	beberge/mr
20988	The first 11	*	1				150µg
20900	NH ₂ -terminus	*	*	*	1		11
20994	The last 11	*	*	*	*	*	11
	COOH-terminus	*	*	*	*	*	N

/ : no injections were given due to the death of animals
* : injection





aga na sara

The graphs represent the results obtained from radioimmunoassay experiment using sera from two animals injected with the carboxy terminal peptide coupled to β galactosidase. The pre-immune serum is the first bleed. Post immune bleeds were obtained before booster injection with the peptide.

and a second second

and the second second

3.2.3 Detection of antibodies using western blots

All antisera prepared by coupling peptide to either BSA or β -galactosidase were tested on western blots (as described in section 2.12.5, 2.12.6). None of the antisera reacted specifically with a virus-infected cell protein band (figure 20), suggesting that the oligopeptide antibodies did not recognise UL33 gene product immobilised on nitrocellulose.

3.2.4 Immunoprecipitation of UL33 gene product

Since the oligopeptide antisera did not react with а virus-specific polypeptide on а protein blot. immunoprecipitation experiments were performed to determine whether antibodies specific to UL33 gene product could be detected by this method. Oligopeptide antisera were incubated with extracts of [353]-methionine labelled virusinfected cell polypeptides and the antibody-antigen complexes precipitated by binding to protein A sepharose. The bound protein was eluted and analysed on SDS 6-15% polyacrylamide gradient gels. The antisera raised against oligopeptides coupled to BSA did not appear to contain antibodies which immunoprecipitated a virus-specific polypeptide suggesting that the oligopeptide antibodies did not recognise UL33 gene product. Further experiments were performed using IgG purified from one of the antisera by fast protein liquid chromotography. Although purified IgG reacted with the oligopeptide in a radioimmunoassay, no virus-specific polypeptides were selectively precipitated from virus-infected cell extracts. However, one of the

123



Immunoblot experiment using anti-carboxy terminal peptide serum, carried out as described in section 2.12.5 and 2.12.6. The A track represent the [35S]-methionine of labelled mock-infected (moc i) or wt virus-infected cell polypeptides $(17syn^{+})$ transferred to nitrocellulose. The B track represent the reaction of antiserum bound to [125I]protein A with mock-infected or wt virus infected cell polypeptides. Sera obtained from two rabbits were diluted either 1/10 (A1 and B1) or 1/100 (A2 and B2). Bands seen on the [125I] track represents non-specific reaction between the serum and mock- or virus-infected cells. antisera raised against the carboxy-terminus peptide coupled to β -galactosidase showed a weak reaction with a protein of around 14,000 MW in immunoprecipitation experiments (Figure 21).

3.2.5 Nucleocapsid and virion polypeptide profiles of HSV-1 , HSV-2, and the HSV-1/HSV-2 recombinant BX1(31-1)

A monoclonal antibody to Vmw155 reacted not only with free Vww155 but also with Vww155 present in capsids, providing cell extracts were prepared using а mild solubilising buffer which did not disrupt capsids. Thus in immunoprecipitates five capsid proteins, as well as Vmw155 The genomic region specifying the low mw were detected. capsid protein Vmw12 was determined by analysis of HSV-1/HSV-2 recombinants, taking advantage of the observation that Vmw155 antibody immunoprecipitated capsids. Vmw12 was between 0.44-0.52 shown to map mu (J.W. Palfreyman, communication). This region of the personal genome contained coding sequences of genes UL32 to UL36. Only two of these genes, UL33 and UL35, however, specify low mw The HSV-1/HSV-2 recombinant BX1(31-1) has polypeptides. HSV-2 sequence spanning UL33 gene (figure 22) (Marsden et Since the recombinant induces $V_{MW}28$ with a mw al., 1978). intermediate between HSV-1 and HSV-2 counterparts, it is likely that the crossover site on the right hand side lies within gene UL34 which encodes Vmw28. The crossover site on the left hand side is probably located within UL32. The recombinant BX1(31-1) should therefore specify an HSV-2



Autoradiograph of immunoprecipitates, using UL33 anticarboxy terminus peptide antibody. Mock-infected cells or cells infected with wt virus-, or ts1233 were incubated at 31° or 39° for 9h, labelled with [35S]-methionine for 1hand harvested. Immunoprecipitation was performed as described in section 2.12.7 and the immunoprecipitates were analysed on a 6-15% polyacrylamide gradient SDS gel. The polypeptide recognised by the oligopeptide antisera raised against the carboxy terminus (rabbit 20994) is marked. Track 1 represent mock-infected cell extracts, track 2 represent wt virus-infected extracts, tracks 3 and 12 mockinfected extracts with preimmune sera taken from either rabbit no. 20988 or 20994, track 4, 8, 13, and 17 represent extracts of wt virus-infected cells at 31°, tracks 5, 9, 14 and 18 represent extracts of ts1233-infected cell at 31°, tracks 6, 10, 15, 19 of extracts of wt virus-infected cells at 39°, tracks 7, 11, 16, 20 of extracts of *ts*1233 virusinfected cells at 39° with either sera from rabbit 20988 (tracks 3-11), or sera taken from rabbit no.20994 (tracks 12 - 20).



and the second second

The structure of BX1(31-1).

The regions where a crossover has occurred in BX1(31-1) are denoted by a cross hatched area. The upper line represents HSV-1 sequences and the lower line represents HSV-2 sequences. The HSV-1 EcoRI sites and the position of genes UL32, 33, 34 and 35 are also included.

UL33 gene and an HSV-1 UL35 gene. An experiment was carried out to determine whether UL33 gene product was a capsid protein. Nucleocapsids and virions were purified from cells infected with either wt HSV-1 17 syn* virus, wt HSV-2 HG52 virus or the recombinant virus BX1 (1-31). The method of purification was essentially the same as that described by Gibson and Roizman (1972) (refer to section 2.13). Capsids and virions, labelled with [35S]methionine, were analysed on SDS 6-15% polyacrylamide gradient gels. Figure 23 shows an autoradiograph of virion and capsid profiles of HSV-1, HSV-2 and the recombinant. The recombinant BX1(31-1) appeared to specify a 12,000 mw capsid protein of the same mobility on SDS polyacrylamide gels as HSV-1 wt virus. These results suggest that UL33 does not encode a capsid protein.

3.3 UL33 GENE EXPRESSION

Antisera raised against synthetic oligopeptides representing the carboxy-terminus and amino-terminus of UL33 either failed to give a specific reaction with UL33 gene product or only weakly recognised the protein. Therefore, the main objective for expressing the protein was to use the expressed protein to make antisera specific for UL33 gene product. Two different techniques were used during the course of this study in an attempt to identify the gene product of gene UL33.



Autoradiograph of polypeptide profile obtained from [35S]methionine labelled capsids and virions prepared according to Gibson and Roizman (1972). Polypeptides were separated on a 6-15% polyacrylamide SDS gel.

Lanes 1 and 2 represent mock-infected and wt virus-infected cell extracts respectively.

Lanes 3 and 6 represent $17 syn^+$ capsids and virions respectively.

Lane 4 and 7 represents BX1(31-1) recombinant capsids and virions respectively.

Lane 5 and 8 represents HG52 capsids and virions respectively.

•

3.3.1 Cloning and expression of intact UL33 in bacterial expression vector

Initially, intact UL33 gene was inserted into bacterial expression vector. Two vectors, pKK240-11 which contains the tac promoter, and pKK233-2 which contains the trc promoter (trp-lac fusion promoter with a 17bp consensus spacing between the trp -35 region and the lacuv 5-10 region) followed by *lac*Z ribosome binding site -10 region, an ATG initiation codon and a transcription terminator PKK233-2 has been shown to express high levels were used. of HSV-1 qD (Amann and Brosius, 1985). The ATG codon in the vectors is located within a unique NcoI site which, when digested with NcoI, exposes a 4bp overhang containing the ATG codon. Since sequencing data of HSV-1 genome has shown that the ATG initiation codon of UL33 (McGeoch et al., 1988) coincides with an NcoI site, the 472bp NcoI fragment containing the coding sequence of gene UL33, was cloned into the NcoI site of pKK233-2 and pKK240-11 and transfected into E. coli strain W3110 lacP. Recombinant clones were screened with various restriction endonucleases to check that the correct sequence had been cloned and to Cultures determine the orientation of the insert. of bacteria containing the clones with the insert in the correct orientation were prepared and expression in duced from tac or trc promoter by the addition of IPTG. The plasmid pcI15, containing the N-terminal deletion mutant of the bacteriophage λ cI repressor inserted into pKK233-2, was used as a control. This truncated repressor protein is stable in E. coli and expressed at high levels (Amann and

Brosius, 1985). Polypeptides from the bacteria were analysed by SDS PAGE. The protein profiles of the bacteria containing the recombinant plasmids were similar to these of bacteria containing the expression vector. No novel protein of the size around the predicted mw for UL33 polypeptide was detected when the recombinant bacteria were treated with IPTG. Bacteria carrying pcI15, however. expressed high levels of a 26,000 mw, mutated cI repressor when culture were treated with IPTG, confirming that the expression assay was working (Figure 24).

3.3.2 Expression of gene UL33 under IE-Vmw175 control

Since the attempt to express gene UL33 in a prokaryotic expression system did not reveal anv novel protein it was decided to express UL33 in a eucaryotic expression system. Enhanced expression of a gene can be obtained by placing the gene of interest under IE gene regulation in the HSV-1 virus tsK. This mutant has а al., defect in Vmw175 (Davison et 1984). and as а consequence overproduces IE proteins, and fails to induce other classes of viral proteins at the NPT (Preston, 1979a; 1979b).

3.3.2.a Cloning and insertion of UL33 into the IE

expression vector p23 The IE expression vector p23 consists of $\langle V_{MW} 175$ the promoter and regulatory region inserted into \langle cloned HSV-1 TK gene. A brief description of the construction of this plasmid is given here. The plasmid pGX153 contains the



Comassie brilliant blue stain of a protein gel. Gene UL33 was cloned into pKK233-2 and pKK240-10. Bacterial cultures containing the clones were assayed as described in section 2.14. Polypeptides were separated on a 12.5% polyacrylamide SDS gel.

(-) without IPTG added

(+) with IPTG added

Tracks 1, 2, 11 and 12 represent bacteria carrying the plasmid pcI.

tracks 3, 4 , 13 and 14 represent bacteria carrying pKK233-2 and pKK240-10 without any insert.

Tracks 5, 6, 7, 8 represent bacteria carrying pKK233-2 containing UL33 inserted in the correct orientation required for expression.

Track 9 and 10 represent bacteria containing UL33 inserted in the opposite orientation.

Tracks 15, 16, 17, 18 represent bacteria carrying pKK240-10 containing UL33 in the correct orientation.

Tracks 19, 20 represents bacteria carrying pKK240-10 containing UL33 in the opposite orientation. Expressed pcI is marked.

HSV-1 BamHI p fragment inserted into the BamHI site of XhoI pAT153. An site was created within the coding sequences of ΤK in BamHI p by insertion of an XhoI oligonucleotide linker the at SstI site (Fisher and Preston, 1986). The mutated plasmid was referred to as pGX166. A 360bp BamHI-HindIII fragment, containing the the promoter and upstream regulatory sequences of Vww175 gene, was derived from the plasmid A494#23 constructed by Dr. C. M. Preston (see figure 25). This fragment was treated with Klenow in the presence of all four dNTPs to create a blunt ended fragment and inserted into pGX166, cleaved with XhoI and treated with Klenow in the presence of dNTPs. The XhoI site was recreated by the ligation of the filled in BamHI site from the 360bp fragment with the filled in XhoI site Similarly, the HindIII site was created at from pGX166. the other end of the inserted fragment. The plasmid containing the 360bp BamHI-HindIII fragment was referred to as p23 and generously supplied by Dr. C. M. Preston.

Since the EcoRI o fragment did not contain any suitable restriction endonuclease sites for cloning the UL33 gene into the XhoI site in p23, the 555bp EcoRI-SmaI fragment, containing UL33, was subcloned from pGX74 (this plasmid contains the EcoRI o of HSV-1 17 syn⁺) into EcoRI-SmaI cleaved pUC8 (figure 26). Two clones, referred to as pGX215 and pGX216, were isolated and digested with various check that the correct restriction endonucleases to PGX215 was linearised with fragments had been inserted. filled in with Т4 DNA EcoRI site was EcoRI, and the polymerase in the presence of 200µM dGTP, dCTP (1 unit per


Diagram showing the construction of p23 vector into which the UL33 gene was inserted. An XhoI linker was inserted into an SstI site and the IE $V_{MW}175$ promoter and regulatory sequences cloned into the XhoI site to give p23 (for details of the construction method refer to the text).



A diagram showing the construction of pIE-UL33 used for inserting UL33 into TK gene of *ts*K virus. The EcoRI-SmaI fragment containing UL33 gene was sub-cloned from pGX74 (contains the *wt* virus EcoRI *o*) into pUC8. The SalI-XhoI fragment was subcloned from pGX224 into XhoI cleaved phosphatased p23. The resulting clone was pIE-UL33 (for further details on the construct refer to section 3.3.2a.

 $\phi_{i}(x) = (1 + i) \phi_{i}(x) + (1 + i) \phi_{i}(x) +$

and the second of the second second

plasmid DNA) in final μg a concentration of 1 X T4 polymerase buffer. The linearised plasmid was then treated with 10 units of calf intestinal phosphatase. The phosphophatased treated plasmid DNA was ligated to XhoI oligonucleotide linker d(pCCGCTCGACGG) phosphorylate and transfected into competent DH1 bacteria. Two clones containing the XhoI linker, pGX223 and pGX224. were isolated and the presence of restriction endonuclease sites The XhoI-Sall fragment (Sall site is present in checked. the polylinker cloning site of pUC8 vector) from pGX224 was ligated into XhoI cleaved, phosphatased p23 plasmid. Isolated clones (referred to as pIE-UL33) were digested with various restriction endonucleases to confirm the correct fragment had been cloned and to determine the orientation of the insert.

3.3.2.b Selection and isolation of a TK⁻ recombinant virus containing gene UL33 under IE-V_{MW}175 gene regulation

HSV, lacking a functional TK gene, will grow in the presence of 5-bromo-2'-deoxycytidine (referred to as In cells infected with wt virus, however, the TK BCdR). phosphorylates this compound converting it into a toxic drug which interferes with viral DNA replication. BCdR was therefore used to select TK- recombinants containing UL33 gene under IE gene regulation. BHK cells were cotransfected with tsK and pIE-UL33 DNA as in marker rescue experiments. When extensive CPE had developed, cells were harvested, and progeny virus titrated on duplicate sets of BHK cell

monolayers in 30mm dishes. After incubation for 45min at first set was overlaid with 31°, the Eagle's medium containing new born calf serum, and BCdR. The second set was overlaid with Eagle's medium containing both new born calf serum, and human serum. Plates were incubated for 3 days at 31°. Thereafter cells of the first set were harvested into medium while the second set was stained with Giemsa stain and plaques counted. Virus progeny from the first set of plates were titrated on BHK cells and well isolated virus plaques picked and virus titrated. Virus was plaque purified three times, and large scale virus stocks prepared. Virus DNAs labelled with [32P] were prepared using the Lonsdale technique as described in section (2.10) and the viral DNAs analysed with BamHI, XhoI and KpnI. Figure 27 represents an autoradiograph of separated restriction endonuclease fragments of tsK and two isolated recombinant viruses VIE-(UL33-1) and VIE-(UL33-2) following digestion with either BamHI or XhoI enzymes. The recombinant virus DNAs lacked BamHI p fragment and contained instead two smaller BamHI fragments. This was expected since the XhoI-SalI fragment inserted into the XhoI site of p23 contained a BamHI site from the polylinker (compare track 2,3 to track 1). of pUC8 The XhoI f fragment in tsK (track 1) was not present in the two recombinants. Instead two smaller fragments appeared, consistent with the presence of an XhoI site within XhoI f (track 2 and 3). Thus, these results suggested that the gene UL33 linked to IE-3 promoter had been recombined successfully into TK gene of tsK.



en en ser ser de la la companya de l

Autoradiograph showing restriction endonuclease digests of viral DNA labelled *in vivo* with [${}^{32}P$]. BamHI (lane 1-3) and XhoI (lanes 4-6) digestion of *ts*K (lane 1, 4) and two separate recombinant viruses (lane 2, 3, 5, 6). The location of the BamHI *p* and XhoI *f* in *ts*K is indicated by the left hand arrows (lane and 4). The novel fragments in the two recombinants indicated by right hand arrows.

3.3.2.c UL33 expression by the recombinant virus

BHK cells were infected with recombinant virus or tsK at the PT and the NPT. Virus-infected cells were labelled with [35S]-methionine, and the proteins separated SDS 6 - 15%polyacrylamide gradient aels. on Results obtained from the autoradiographs revealed that the two recombinant viruses each fail to induce TK (about 39,000 mw protein) at the PT. In addition, more than one band was detected under IE conditions at the NPT, one with a mw slightly higher than the predicted MW of UL33 and the other band was about 35,000-30,000 (figure 28). However. subsequent experiments using a recombinant virus containing the (Vww175 promoter and upstream regulatory sequences inserted the into / TK gene of tsK is showed that this virus induced a similar sized band of about 16,000 mw. Therefore, it was concluded that UL33 was probably not expressed under these conditions.





Autoradiograph of polypeptides induced at 31° and 38.5° in BHK cells infected with *ts*K or VIE-(UL33-1) or VIE-(UL33-2) or in mock infected cells. Virus-infected cells were [35S]-methionine labelled with for 1h 4 hpi at and harvested. Protein samples were analysed on 6 - 15%а gradient SDS PAGE. Numbers represents apparant mw of IE polypeptides. Track 1 represents wt virus-infected cell extracts, tracks 2 and 6 represent mock-infected cell extracts, tracks 3 and 7 tsK infected cell extracts at 31° and 39° respectively, tracks 4 and 8 of VIE(UL33-1) virusinfected cells at 31° and 38.5° respectively and tracks 5 and 9 represent VIE(UL33-2) virus-infected cells at 31° and 38.5° respectively. TK band in *ts*K (track3) is marked. The two bands mentioned in the text are marked. Below is a longer exposure of the same area where the induced 16,000mw protein is marked.

3.4 DISCUSSION

In the previous sections a DNA positive mutant of HSV-1 ts1233 has been characterised. The lesion of ts1233 was shown to lie in gene UL33. When work on ts1233 was initiated no mutations had been assigned to UL33 and no information was available about the function of the gene. The analysis of this mutant suggests that gene UL33 is required for the assembly of nucleocapsids and may be important for cleavage and encapsidation of HSV DNA since ts1233 failed to package DNA into capsids at the NPT.

3.4.1 DNA processing in *wt* virus, *ts*1233 and *ts*1201 infected cells

Electron microscopic analysis of virus-infected cells and Southern blot analysis of total viral and cell extracts encapsidated DNA present in ts1233-infected/at the NPT and PT revealed that ts1233 failed to package DNA at the NPT. More than 99% of the DNA synthesised by *ts*1233 was endless at the NPT. This finding is consistent with the information obtained from the analysis of ts mutants of PRV and HSV which have encapsidation defects and suggests that viral DNA is cleaved as it is inserted into the capsid (Ben-Porat and Veach, 1980; Ladin et al., 1980; Preston et al., 1983; Addison, 1986; Sherman and Bachenheimer, 1987).

*Ts*1233 did not cleave DNA when mutant-infected the PT in the cells were downshifted from the NPT to presence of cycloheximide and therefore, the effect of ts1233 mutation could not be reversed upon shift down of virus-infected cells to 31°. Some cleavage of *ts*1201

concatemeric DNA, however, occurred following transfer of the mutant infected cells from 39° to 31° in the presence cycloheximide, although of not as much as reported previously (Addison, 1986). One explanation for this result is that some of the ts1201 mutant protein remains non-functional after transfer to 31° or the conformation of the mutant protein has been altered in such a way at 39° that it does not work as efficiently as the wt virus protein at 31°. Another explanation is that at the NPT all the ts1201 DNA was present in an endless state and of therefore, unless DNA cleavage was very efficient, there should not be as much viral DNA cleaved in ts1201-infected cell sample as in the wt virus-infected cell samples.

Although mutant and *wt* viruses packaged DNA efficiently at 31°, only about 8% of the DNA synthesised by the *wt* virus was cleaved and packaged at 39°. This observation is consistent with other work showing that *wt* 17*syn*⁺ virus packaged DNA less efficiently at a NPT of 38.5° than at the 31° (Addison, 1986). This result suggests that there may be more thermolabile proteins involved in encapsidation.

DNA +ve mutants from five different complementation groups (tsF18, ts1208, ts1201, ts1203, tsN20) fail to encapsidate viral DNA at the NPT (Schaffer *et al.*, 1987). One of the mutants, belonging to complementation group 1-13, has not been characterised in detail. The mutations in viruses belonging to the other complementation groups, however, have been assigned to specific genes. Mutants with defects in UL6, UL26, UL28, UL32, and UL33, all

produced large numbers of partially-cored capsids at the NPT, whereas the mutant ts1208, with a defect in UL25, produced only low numbers of capsids at 39°. It is therefore, likely that UL25 is not directly involved in DNA encapsidation. With the exception of ts1201 defect, which could be reversed when mutant virus-infected cells were shifted to the PT in the presence of cycloheximide, the effect of mutation in all the other packaging deficient mutants was irreversible. The internal structure of the Øf partially-cored ts1201 capsids seemd to differ/those/other mutants, although no information on the internal sructure of tsN20 and tsF18 is available. In contrast to ts1201 partially-cored capsids, ts1233 produced capsids at the NPT which had a small core structure similar to those seen in ts1203-infected cells at the NPT.

Effect of UV light-induced mutation in ts1233

As indicated previously, ts1233 was isolated from a UV-mutagenised wt virus stock. This section deals with UV-induction of the mutation in ts1233 DNA and the effect the lesion exerts on the protein. UV-induced mutagenesis has been intensively studied in other organisms such as coli and, therefore, these lambda Escherichia phage, systems have been used as general models for explaining the nature of mutation in this study, although it should be analysis of larger numbers of emphasised that the in HSV is vital for increasing our UV-induced mutations UV mutagenesis and knowledge regarding the concepts of mechanism repair nature of the understanding the

The mechanism of UV-induced lesion

UV light is known to induce a number of different classes of mutations ranging from base substitutions (including single, tandem double-base substitution).to frameshifts deletions, and insertions (Wood and Hutchinson, 1984; Wood et al., 1984; Miller, 1985; Schaaper et al., 1987). However, the identity of the major cause of the premutational DNA lesions after UV irradiation is uncertain, and is thought to be one of two photoproducts. Cyclobutane dipyrimidine dimer is the product which has been widely implicated in UV mutagensis, and around twothirds or more of the mutations in lambda phage are thought to be caused by this product (Hutchinson et al., 1988). The second less frequent candidate is pyrimidine-pyrimidone [6-4] photoproducts (referred to as [6-4]) and these are defined as a series of products derived from unstable fourmembered rings formed after the photo-induced addition of a carbonyl or imino group from one pyrimidine in a DNA strand to the 6 position in the 5,6 double bond of an adjacent pyrimidine. This product has been implicated as a cause of premutational DNA in bacteriophage lambda (Wood et al., the 1984) and in *KE.Coli lacI* gene (Gilkman *et al.*, 1986; Schaaper et al., 1987) .

The damaged DNA is excised and mutations result from errors in repair synthesis. Among the base substitutions, transitions predominate over transversions and form the largest class of mutations. 85% of base substitutions are

found at sequences of two or more adjacent pyrimidines, leading to the conclusion that UV-mutagenesis is a targeted event at sites of dipyrimidine damage, either of cyclobutane or the [6-4] type in E.Coli lacI gene (Schaaper 1987). et al. Results obtained from previous studies showed that transversion normally occurred at pyr-pyr*, than pur-pyr*-pyr rather at (* represent the mutated pyrimidine) sites in $\frac{1}{2}$ lambda phage *cI* gene (Wood *et al.*) and / lacI 1984). gene of E. coli (Miller, 1985). In comparison with the data of site specificity of UV-induced base substitution in E. Coli lacI gene and lambda phage, it is concluded that the mutation in ts1233 has occured as a result of а targeted event at a pur-pyr*-pyr and is consistent with the nature of induction of the mutation by UV-light in other systems. However, since transversions are much less frequent than other base substitutions а wider statistical analysis on the occurance of such mutations in HSV is required to support this conclusion.

UL33 protein conformation

As mentioned earlier the lesion in ts1233 is caused by a base pair transversion of A.T to T.A which results in the substitution of isoleucine with asparagine at amino acid position 17 in the proposed UL33 gene product. Since this change affects the ability of the virus to produce DNA containing capsids at the NPT, it is reasonable to assume that the lesion affects an important functional domain in UL33 protein. To assess the impact of the mutation on the the UL33 protein structure, the predicted secondary structure of

UL33 gene product was determined using the Chou-Fasman computer programme Chou and Fasman (1978). This programme calculates the probability of a residue type adopting one of the structural states, α -helices (characterised by intra-molecular hydrogen bonding between peptides on the polypeptide chain), **B-sheet** structures same (intermolecular hydrogen bonding), and reverse or β -turns (also known as coil regions which cause the polypeptide to fold on itself by approximately 180°). The most striking difference observed between the predicted wt virus UL33 protein structure and that of ts1233 is the formation of a new β -turn at the position of the lesion near an α -helix pole (figure 29 and 30). Since ts1233 grows well at 31°, it is possible that this change does not affect the conformation of the protein at the PT, but higher temperatures (39°) cause an alteration in the secondary structure of the protein and as a consequence the protein is that \bigwedge altered becomes non-functional. It possible protein is more stable than it was in its possible original This idea provides an explanation for configuration the observation that the effect of the ts1233 lesion was unable to be reversed when mutant- infected cells were transferred from the NPT to РТ in the presence of cycloheximide.

The position of the lesion in ts1233 is located at the α -helix pole, and it is interesting to note that the thermostability of the T4 lysozyme has been increased by amino-acid substitutions at the dipoles (Nicholson *et al.*, 1988). Since the the accuracy of prediction of the Chou



Predicted secondary structure of UL33 protein.

The structure is based on Chou and Fasman computer programme which predicts helices, sheets and turns according to Chou and Fasman (1978).



Predicted secondary structure of ts1233 UL33 protein. The structure is based on Chou and Fasman computer programme which predicts helices, sheets and turns according to Chou and Fasman (1978). (see figure 29) The position of the mutation within the secondary structure is indicated by an arrow.

Helices are shown with a sine wave (\mathcal{M}) , beta sheets with a sharp saw-tooth wave $(\mathcal{M}W-)$. turns with 180 degree turns, and coils with a dull saw-tooth wave. hydrophilicity ($\hat{0}$) and hydrophobicity ($\hat{0}$) are superimposed over the wave.

. •

and Fasman programme is about 50-60% other explanations for the the observation that the effect of $\langle ts | 233 \rangle$ lesion at the NPT is irreversible may exist, for example the protein could be unstable and degraded at the NPT, or alternatively the mutant protein at NPT might form a different structure to the wt protein upon transfer to the PT. Crystallographic analyses of UL33 protein would be of great help in determining the effect of the lesion on the protein conformation.

Polyclonal antibodies

Anti-peptide antibodies have been extremely useful for isolating and characterising gene products. Factors such as the length of the peptide, hydrophilicity, amino acids present in the oligopeptide, their location in the native molecule, and even the secondary and tertiary configuration of the peptide are thought to be protein-reactive important factors in generating antipeptide antibodies.

Two peptides were used in this study, one representing the carboxy-terminus (11 amino acids) and the other the amino-terminus (11 amino acids) of UL33. These for several reasons. First, the peptides were chosen amino terminal regions of many carboxy-terminal and proteins are relatively free to rotate and might be more with antibodies than other free to react exposed and peptides Second, these are molecule. regions of the thought that antigenic It reasonably hydrophilic. was regions are primarily hydrophilic regions on the surface of

the protein molecule, and often contain charged and polar residues. Not all hydrophilic regions, however, are antigenic and not all antigenic regions are hydrophilic. Nevertheless, many investigators have been able to raise short peptides that recognise antisera against native proteins and the majority of such short epitopes were shown to correspond to regions in the protein that possess a high segmental mobility (Tainer et al., 1984). Another reason for choosing a resonable hydrophilic peptide is that the peptide is more likely to be soluble and therefore, more easily coupled to a carrier protein. One possibility for not obtaining a specific antibody could be that the length of the peptides chosen was not long enough to give an antiprotein immune response since this depends entirely on the that free peptide would probability the adopt the conformation that the identical sequence would assume in the native protein. Several studies have reported that not all antisera raised against peptides generated antibodies specific to the native protein (Tanaka et al., 1985). The optimum length for an immunogenic oligopeptide likely to produce a positive antiserum has been estimated to be (Palfreyman *et* 1984). 10-15 amino acids al., between Alternatively, it is possible that the weak response of the carboxy-terminus antipeptide antisera to putative UL33 gene product was due to other factors, for example, very small quantities of the gene product may be present in virusinfected cells and since the protein is low in methionine, UL33 gene product may not be easily detected even with a potent antiserum if the virus infected cell polypeptides

were labelled with [35S]-methionine.

UL33 Gene expression

The bacterial plasmid vector pKK233-2 has been useful for the expression of high levels of foreign proteins from both prokaryotes and eukaryotes (Amann and Brosius, 1985). The reason for the failure to detect the with putative UL33 gene product/this expression system is not known. The protein could be unstable toxic. or Alternatively, a mutation which affected gene expression could have been induced during the cloning of this gene The possibility that gene UL33 contains into pKK233-2. more than one intron can not be dismissed, especially since no transcripts have been characterised in the region where UL33 gene is located. It is, however, unlikely because RNA splicing is rare in HSV and, with one exception restricted to IE transcripts. Furthermore, a homologue of UL33 has been identified in VZV.

was also placed under the The **UL33** ΙE gene gene regulation and inserted into λ TK gene of tsK. The results of this experiment were difficult to interprete because more than one novel protein band could be detected by SDSrecombinant virus grown under IE PAGE when the was One explanation for the presence of the high conditions. mw protein band is that the protein was modified or the promoter was altering the expression working on an adjacent open reading frame. It should be mentioned that in certain the. cases inversion can occur between sequences inserted indTK gene provided the sequences endogenous and the gene

inserted into the TK gene are in opposite orientation to the original sequence. In view of difficulty in interpreting the results of expression of UL33 in *ts*K alternative methods of expressing UL33 gene product are required.

The functional role of UL33 gene product

Although lambda ts1233 mutant failed to package DNA at the NPT, the effect of the mutation of was irreversible, and therefore, it is not possible to conclude that (UL33 gene product is directly involved in DNA packaging. *Ts*1233 may produce abberrant capsids at the NPT which are unable to encapsidate DNA or the DNA may have been modified.

Several polypeptides have been implicated in the capsids. Vmw155 is clearly assembly of an important component of capsids since the hexameric capsomeres and probably the pentamer capsomeres are composed of this protein (refer to section 1.8.1, on capsid proteins), and ts mutants with lesions in Vww155 have a capsid-negative phenotype at the NPT (Bone and Courtney, 1974; Schaffer et al., 1974; Weller et al., 1987). Like Vmw155 ts mutants, the UL38 *ts* mutant HSV-1 A44*ts*2 fails to produce **cap**sids at the NPT (Pertuiset *et al.*, 1989). This finding suggests that UL38 gene product is also an essential component of capsids, and recent results have shown that the capsid protein VMw50 (VP19C) is encoded by UL38 (F.J. Rixon, personal communication). Clearly, Vmw155 and Vmw50 are integral capsid proteins.

The correct processing of UL26 gene product is

probably important for assembly of partially-cored capsids since the mutant *ts*1201, which has a defect in UL26, produces capsids at the NPT that have a larger internal structure than the capsids produced at the NPT by packaging mutants with defects in other genes (Preston *et al.*, 1983; Sherman and Bachenheimer, 1988).

Nucleocapsid purification experiments suggested that UL33 protein is probably not the 12,000 mw capsid protein. The possibility that UL33 gene product is a virion non-capsid protein, possibly a tegument protein, which interacts with other structural proteins during assembly of capsids could not be ruled out, and in ts1233infected cells at NPT such a protein was unable to interact with capsid proteins. Evidence obtained from electron microscopy favours the pathway of capsid assembly in which DNA is packaged into preformed nucleocapsids. No empty capsids were found in ts1233 infected cells at the NPT. therefore, demonstrating that empty capsids are probably derived from full or partially-cored capsids. This finding is consistent with the results obtained from the analysis of DNA +ve ts mutants of PRV and HSV, together with pulsechase experiments showing that empty, coreless capsids are breakdown products of full, DNA-containing capsids (Ladin et al., 1980; 1982; Addison, 1986; Rixon et al., 1988; Sherman and Bachenheimer, 1988).

The use of oligopeptides in preparing antisera directed against UL33 gene has not been fruitful to the extent of identifying the UL33 gene product, and since it was shown that the mutation in ts1233 was irreversible, the

functional role of the gene product could only be based on speculations in this situation. Work by Ladin et al. (1982)on PRV ts capsid⁻ mutants suggested that the accumulation of the 35,000 mw polypeptide (equivalent to p40) was probably controlled by more than one viral gene product. Since the mutant ts1233 processed UL26 gene product normally at the NPT, the processing of UL26 gene product is not determined by UL33. Subsequent work has shown that the processing of this gene product does not depend on the presence of capsids since ts mutants that fail to make capsids at the NPT process p40 normally (V. Preston. personal communication). It is possible that the product of gene UL33 is required at a step leading to DNA encapsidation such as the anchoring of DNA into capsids (Poffenberger and Roizman, 1985), or it is a scaffolding protein required for the maintainance of the capsid. Alternatively, since it is thought that cleavage and packaging are linked together, UL33 protein could possibly be part of the postulated DNA complex mentioned by Diess et al. (1986) which binds and moves randomly along the DNA (See section 1.7.5). Recently it was shown that nuclear extracts of HSV-1 infected cells contain factors which formed two virus specific protein complexes with the a sequence (Chou and Roizman, 1989). The first complex, was composed of two proteins, one of which was thought to be the product of gene UL36 (MW 336,000), which is known to be important for the release of DNA from the capsids into the cytoplasm (Batterson et *al.*,1983), and the other, an unidentified protein with an approximate MW of 140,000.

The second complex contained a polypeptide which, on the basis of apparent mw of the protein, its enzymatic activity and reaction to a monoclonal antibody appeared to be the viral-encoded DNase. Since the binding of this DNase to viral DNA does not appear to be sequence specific, it was suggested that the DNase interacted with another protein that bound in a sequence specific manner to the a sequence and enabled the DNase to selectively cleave at the a sequence (Chou and Roizman, 1989). Although there is no evidence that the complexes are involved in DNA encapsidation, it is possible that other proteins such as UL33 gene product might be a component of this protein complex and interact with the DNase and the lesion in ts1233 could possibly affect a binding domain between UL33 gene product and the other protein.

3.5 FUTURE PROSPECTS

objective of characterising HSV-1 The main ts mutants is to identify the gene product in which the ts lesions are localised and determine the functions of the gene of interest. In this study the HSV-1 ts1233 mutant was shown to have a lesion in gene UL33. However, attempts to identify the gene product have been hampered by the production of weak antibodies to UL33 gene product and failure to express the gene in procaryotic expression Oligopeptide antisera raised against synthetic systems. oligopeptides specific for a small portion of the amino acid sequence of a protein have been used extensively to identify gene products. This technology, however, is still

at an early stage, and it would be interesting to use new developments in this field for preparing antibodies, such as longer peptides chosen from different regions or the use have shown that of branched peptides since preliminary studies/a stronger immune response is obtained with branched peptides than with ordinary peptides (H.S.Marsden, personal communication). An alternative approach to the use of synthetic oligopeptides for raising antisera is a modified gene-fusion system developed by Löwenadler et al. (1987). of oligodeoxynucleotides, representing Synthesis short stretches of coding sequences of the protein of interest, are inserted into a prokaryotic expression vector to yield fusion protein containing the а peptide linked to а modified protein A carrier. Using а coupled excretion/expression vector system, the fusion protein is execreted in large amounts into the medium and is easily purified. This technique has several advantages over the traditional immunisation with а synthetic peptide chemically conjugated to a carrier protein. In particular, oligonucleotides encoding upto 50 amino acids can be A synthetic peptide of this size would be synthesised. In addition peptide sequences which difficult to produce. are difficult to synthesise should be able to be expressed Other gene fusion systems in this system. have been raising antisera. The developed for the purpose of advantage of these systems is that larger portions of the protein of interest can be expressed and therefore there is a great chance that the antiserum specific to the fusion protein will react with the intact protein. An alternative

approach would be to use a eucaryotic expression system, for example, the insect baculovirus vector or vaccinia virus for expression of larger amounts of the protein. Once an antiserum has been obtained to this protein further experiments could be designed to study the role of this protein, for example to determine whether it is a DNAbinding protein, whether it is a virion protein and if so, its location in the virus particle using immunoelectron microscopy on purified virions and capsids. It would also be interesting to see whether this protein interacts with other proteins to form complexes.

이 이 이 지난 이 것 같은 것이 있는 것 같아요. 승규님은 승규는 이 이

and the second second

4.1 FURTHER CHARACTERISATION OF THE UL26 GENE PRODUCT AND THE HSV-1 MUTANT, TS1201, WHICH FAILS TO PROCESS UL26 GENE PRODUCT AT THE NPT

4.1.1 Introduction

Genetic analysis of HSV-1 ts mutants have led to the identification of several genes involved in DNA encapsidation and capsid assembly (See section 1.9.3). However, the precise role of each of these gene products is still obscure. Ts1201, a DNA positive mutant of HSV-1 17 synt, has been widely characterised, and its mutation localised in UL26. This mutant fails to package DNA and process p40 the product of UL26, to its lower mw forms at the NPT. The correct processing of the protein could be achieved, however, when mutant-infected cells were shifted from the NPT to the PT (Preston et al., 1983; Addison, 1986). Recent studies have shown that p40 is transiently associated with partially-cored capsids and is not a major component of full capsids or mature virions (Rixon et al., 1988). The aim of the work presented in this section was to extend the characterisation of the mutant ts1201 and to investigate the processing of p40 to the lower mw species.

4.1.2 Marker rescue of the lesion in *ts*1201 with a 673 bp fragment obtained from BamHI *u*

Previous marker rescue experiments showed that the ts1201 lesion lies within a 673bp region BamHI-SalI fragment at the right hand end of BamHI u (Preston *et al.*,

The 3' end of gene UL25 and the 5' end of gene UL26 1983). are located within this part of the genome (McGeoch et al., 1988). The failure of ts1201 to process p40 to its lower mw forms at the NPT together with the finding that two mutants, ts1204 and ts1208, which contain lesions within UL25 complement ts1201 suggested that the ts1201 lesion mapped within UL26. The 673 bp BamHI-Sall fragment from pGX56 (this plasmid contains 17 syn⁺ BamHI u), pGX198 (BamHI u of ts1201), and pGX208 (BamHI u of ts1201 rev2) (figure 31) were tested for their ability to rescue the mutation in ts1201 before being sub-cloned into M13mp18 and M13mp19 DNA. The results (Table 11) revealed that only the wt virus fragment rescued the lesion in ts1201. These data confirmed that the ts1201 mutation mapped in BamHI u. In addition, the results suggested that the mutation responsible for the ts^{+} phenotype of ts1201 rev2 did not lie in BamHI u.

4.1.3 The lesion in *ts*1201 lies 89 bp downstream from the amino-terminus of gene UL26

The 673bp BamHI-Sall fragments from pGX198 and pGX208 were ligated to M13mp18 and M13mp19 DNA, cleaved and transfected into JM101 competent with BamHI-XbaI bacteria. White plaques, containing the insert, were isolated and ssDNA prepared and sequenced using the chain 2.9). (see section The nucleotide termination method sequence of the BamHI-SalI fragment from the mutant and the revertant was compared to that of 17 syn* wt virus. The sequence in both the mutant and revertant was identical to

Kbp/ MAP COORDINATES



Diagram showing the position of the ts1201 mutation within HSV genome as defined by marker rescue. The cross hatched box (673bp) BamHI-SalI (small) fragment containing the 5' end of two genes UL25 and UL26. This fragment was taken from ts1201 and ts1201 rev2, sub-cloned into M13mp18 and M13mp19 and used for sequencing analysis.

TABLE 11

.

Summary of marker rescue of ts1201

•

Marker rescue using clones digested with BamHI-SalI(*)	Efficiency of plating NPT/PT X10 ³	Rescue
pGX56 (17 <i>syn</i> * BamHI <i>u</i>) Unseparated fragments	0.818	+
Separated BamHI-Sall frag Small fragment	0.615	÷
Large "	<0.02	-
pGX198 (<i>ts</i> 1201 BamHI <i>u</i>) Unseparated fragments	<0.02	_
Separated BamHI-Sall frag Small fragment	<0.02	-
Large fragment	<0.02	-
pGX208 (<i>ts</i> 1201 rev2 BamHI <i>u</i>) Unseparated fragments	<0.02	-
Separated BamHI-Sall frag Small fragment	<0.02	-
Large fragment	<0.02	-
None	<0.02	-

(*) The small fragment is the 673bp fragment obtained from a BamHI-Sall digest of BamHI u.

that of wt virus except for a single bp change observed in the nucleotide sequence of the mutant and the revertant residue 50897 corresponding to of the HSV-1 $17 \, svn^{+}$ nucleotide sequence (figure 32, refer to the A track of *ts*1201 and rev2). Sequencing results obtained were consistent with the results of the marker rescue experiment showing that ts1201 rev2 BamHI-Sall fragment failed to rescue the lesion in the mutant and confirmed that the reversion event was located outside the 673bp BamhI-SalI Since residue 50897 was shown to be located 89 fragment. bp from the 5' end of UL26, it was concluded that ts1201 lesion lies in UL26 (figure 33).

4.1.4 Cloning gene UL26 (kpnI t) of ts1201 rev2 and rev3

results of The marker rescue experiments and sequence analysis of ts1201 DNA and *ts*1201 rev2 DNA revealed that the ts' revertant for growth retained the bp change of the mutant. However, ts1201 rev2 and a number of other revertants were originally isolated at 38.5°. The wt virus, ts1201 rev2, and another ts revertant ts1201 rev3 were therefore titrated at different temperatures to check whether the revertant viruses were ts at temperatures higher than 38.5°. Results of the titration revealed that ts1201 rev2 was slightly ts at 39° but at 39.5° had an $eop^{NPT/PT}$ of <0.0002. Ts1201 rev3, however, was only slightly *ts* at 39° and 39.5° (table 12). The KpnI tfragments, containing the whole nucleotide sequence of gene UL26 and part of the sequences of gene UL25, were isolated from KpnI digested ts1201 rev2 and rev3 virus DNAs and


Ts1201

(B)

TCGA

AAAACOGGGGCCAAACH

*Ts*1201 rev2

(A)

Portion of autoradiographs of DNA sequencing gels. Sequence products were separated on a 6% denaturing polyacrylamide gels containing 9M urea.

A) Shows the base pair alteration in *ts*1201 (arrow) in the adenine track.

B) Shows the same base pair retained in ts1201 rev2 (arrow).

Translation of : HSV-1 Gene UL26

	GCCCCCCGACCGTTGCGCCCTTTTTTTTTTTTTCGTCCACCANAGTCTCTGTGGGTGCGCGCC ATG GCA GCC	3 50817
	D A P G D R M E E P L P D R A V P I GAT GCC CCG GGA GAC CGG ATG GAG GAG CCC CTG CCC GAC AGG GCC GTG CCC ATT	21 50871
BamHI	$\mathbf{U}'_{\mathbf{Y}}$ V A G F L A L $\stackrel{\mathbf{Y}}{\mathbf{Y}}$ D S G D S G E L A TAC GTG GCT GGG TTT TTG GCC CTG TAT GAC AGC GGG GAC TCG GGC GAG TTG GCA	39 50925
	L D P D T V R A A L P P D N P L P I TT <u>g gat cc</u> g gat acg gtg gcg gcc gtg cct ccg gat aac cca ctc ccg att	57 50979
	N V D H R À G C E V G R V L À V V D AAC GTG GAC CAC CGC GCT GGC TGC GAG GTG GGG GGG GTG GTG GCC GTG GTC GAC	75 51033
	D P R G P F F V G L I A C V Q L E R GAC CCC CGC GGG CCG TTT TTT GTG GGG CTG ATC GCC TGC GTG CAG CTG GAG CGC	93 51087
	V L E T A A S A A I F E R R G P P L GTC CTC GAG ACG GCC GCC AGC GCT GCG ATT TTC GAG CGC CGC GGG CCG CCG CTC	111 51141
	S R E E R L L Y L I T N Y L P S V S TCC CGG GAG GAG CGC CTG TTG TAC CTG ATC ACC AAC TAC CTG CCC TCG GTC TCC	129 51195
	L A T K R L G G E A H P D R T L F A CTG GCC ACA AAA CGC CTG GGG GGC GAG GCG CAC CCC GAT CGC ACG CTG TTC GCG	147 51249
	H V A L C A I G R R L G T I V T Y D CAC GTC GCG CTG TGC GCG ATC GGG CGG CGC CTC GGC ACT ATC GTC ACC TAC GAC	165 51303
	T G L D A A I A P F R H L S P A S R ACC GGT CTC GAC GCC GCC ATC GCG CCC TTT CGC CAC CTG TCG CCG GCG TCT CGC	183 51357
BamHI	\mathbf{d}'_{E} G A R R L A A E A E L A L S G R T GAG GGG GCG CGG CGA CTG GCC GCC GAG GCC GAG CTC GCG CTG TCC GGG CGC ACC	201 51411
	W A P G V E A L T H T L L S T A V N TGG GCG CCC GGC GTG GAG GCG CTG ACC CAC ACG CTG CTT TCC ACC GCC GTT AAC	219 51465
	N M M L R D R W S L V A E R R R Q A AAC ATG ATG CTG CGG GAC CGC TGG AGC CTG GTG GCC GAG CGG CGG CGG CAG GCC	237 51519
	G I A G H T Y L Q A S E K F K M W G GGG ATC GCC GGA CAC ACC TAC CTC CAG GCG AGC GAA AAA TTC AAA ATG TGG GGG	255 51573
	A E P V S A P A R G Y K N G A P E S GCG GAG CCT GTT TCC GCG CCG GCG CGC GGG TAT AAG AAC GGG GCC CCG GAG TCC	273 51627
	T D I P P G S I A A A P Q G D R C P ACG GAC ATA CCG CCC GGC TCG ATC GCT GCC GCG CCG CAG GGT GAC CGG TGC CCA	291 51681
	I V R Q R G V A L S P V L P P M N P ATC GTC CGT CAG CGC GGG GTC GCC TTG TCC CCG GTA CTG CCC CCC ATG AAC CCC	309 51735
	V P T S G T P A P A P P G D G S Y L GTT CCG ACA TCG GGC ACC CCG GCC CCC GCG CCC GGC GAC GGG AGC TAC CTG	327 51789
	W I P A S H Y N Q L V A G H A A P Q T <u>GG ATC C</u> CG GCC TCC CAT TAC AAC CAG CTC GTC GCC GGC CAT GCC GCG CCC CAA	345 51843
	P Q P H S A F G F P A A A G S V A Y CCC CAG CCG CAT TCC GCG TTT GGT TTC CCG GCT GCG GCG GGG TCC GTG GCC TAT	363 51897
	G P H G A G L S Q H Y P P H V A H Q GGG CCT CAC GGT GCG GGT CTT TCC CAG CAT TAC CCT CCC CAC GTC GCC CAT CAG	381 51951
	Y P G V L F S G P S P L E A Q I A A TAT CCC GGG GTG CTG TTC TCG GGA CCC AGC CCA CTC GAG GCG CAG ATA GCC GCG	399 52005
	L V G A I A A D R Q A G G Q P A A G TTG GTG GGG GCC ATA GCC GCG GAC CGC CAG GCG GGC GGT CAG CCG GCC GCG GGA	417 52059
	D P G V R G S G K R R R Y E A G P S GAC CCT GGG GTC CGG GGG TCG GGA AAG CGT CGC CGG TAC GAG GCG GGG CCG TCG	435 52113
	E S Y C D Q D E P D A D Y P Y Y P G GAG TCC TAC TGC GAC CAG GAC GAA CCG GAC GCG GAC TAC CCG TAC TAC CCC GGG	453 52167
	E A R G A P R G V D S R R A A R H S GAG GCT CGA GGC GCG CCG CGC GGG GGC GGC GCC CGC CAT TCT	471 52221
D	P G T N E T I T A L M G A V T S L Q CCC GGG ACC AAC GAG ACC ATC ACG GCG CTG ATG GGG GCG GTG ACG TCT CTG CAG	489 52275
BamHI	e 'Q e l a h m r a r t s a p y g m y t CAG GAA CTG GCG CAC ATG CGG GCT CGG ACC AGC GCC CCC TAT GGA ATG TAC ACG	507 52329
	P V A H Y R P Q V G E P E P T T T H CCG GTG GCG CAC TAT CGC CCT CAG GTG GGG GAG CCG GAA CCA ACG ACC CAC	525 52383
	P A L C P P E A V Y R P P P H S A P CCG GCC CTT TGT CCC CCG GAG GCC GTG TAT CGC CCC CCA CCA CAC AGC GCC CCC	543 52437
	Y G P P Q G P A S H A P T P P Y A P TAC GGT CCT CCC CAG GGT CCG GCG TCC CAT GCC CCC ACT CCC CCG TAT GCC CCA	561 52491
	A A C P P G P P P P C P S T Q T R GCT GCC TGC CCG CCG GCC CCG CCG CCC CCA TGT CCT TCC ACC CAG ACG CGC	579 52545
	A E L P T E P A F P P A A T G S Q P GCC CCT CTA CCG ACG GAG CCC GCG TTC CCC CCC GCC GCC ACC <u>GGA TCC</u> CAA CCG	597 52599
BamHI	$\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{k}}$ $\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{y}}$ $\mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{y}}$ \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf	615 52653
	GTG GAC GTT GAC ACG GCC CGC GCC GCC GAT TTG TTC GTC TCT CAG ATG ATG GGG	633 52707
	GCC CGC TGA TTCGCCCCGGTCTTTGGTACCATG	52761

Translation of gene UL26 (McGeoch etal., 1988). The (*) at residue 50897 denotes the position of the base pair alteration in ts1201. The (boxes) represent the amino acid sequence of the peptide synthesised and used for preparing antipeptides antibody, Below is a comparison between wt and ts1201 sequence and the change in the amino acid sequence (bold). The amino acid composition of UL26 is also given.

HSV-1	17 <i>syn</i> '	seq.	5 '	GCCCTG TAT GACAGC	3′
				CGGGAGATACTGTCG	

*Ts*1201 seq.

5' GCCCTG**TTT**GACAGC 3' CGGGACAAAGTGTCG

Change in amino acid sequence:

ᆂ

Tyrosine ——— Phenylalanine

----- UL26 AMINO ACID COMPOSITION ------

Ala	102	16.1%	Val	37	5.8%	Leu	47	7.4%	Ile	16	2.5%
Glv	57	9.0%	Pro	86	13.5%	Cvs	8	1.3%	Met	11	1.7%
His	20	3.1%	Phe	12	1.9%	Tyr	23	3.6%	Trp	4	0.6%
Asn	11	1.7%	Gln	21	3.3%	Ser	39	6.1%	Thr	31	4.98
Lys	5	0.8%	Arq	46	7.28	Asp	28	4.4%	Glu	31	4.98

Approximate Molecular Weight = 66466.92

TABLE 12

Efficiency of plating (EOP^{MPT/PT}) of HSV-1 $17 syn^{+}$, ts1201 rev2 and ts1201 rev3 at various NPT temperatures

еор ^{мрт/рт}	NDT- 38 50	NDT- 300	NDT- 30 50	
Virus	Nr1- 30.5	NF1- 59	NEI- 33.5	
HSV-1 17 <i>syn</i> +	0.64	0.33	0.31	
<i>ts</i> 1201 rev.2	0.61	0.01	<0.0002	
<i>ts</i> 1201 rev.3	0.73	0.09	0.06	

a. De la constante de la constante

Ξ,

cloned into the KpnI site of pUC18 (figure 34). Two chimeric plasmids, one containing KpnI t of ts1201 rev2 the (referred to as pGX209) and (other containing ts1201 rev3 (referred to as pGX210), were isolated. These clones were checked for the presence of various restriction endonuclease sites to confirm that the correct fragment had been cloned.

4.1.5 Marker rescue of the lesion of ts1201 with cloned KpnI t

Separated restriction endonuclease fragments were used in marker rescue experiments to determine the location of the reversion to wt virus temperature-sensitivity in ts1201 rev2 and rev3. Initially, plasmids pGX142 (contains wt virus KpnI t), pGX209 (contains ts1201 rev2 KpnI t) and pGX210 (contains ts1201 rev3 KpnI t) were digested with KpnI or BamHI and tested for their ability to marker rescue the lesion of ts1201. A high level of rescue was obtained with all three plasmids digested with KpnI. No significant level of rescue, however, was obtained with the KpnI t of *ts*1201 rev2 clone, digested with BamHI (table 13). Separated fragments obtained from BamHI digests of cloned KpnI t from pGX142, pGX209, and pGX210 were used in marker rescue experiments. The results revealed that the wt virus BamHI u fragment from pGX142 was able to rescue the lesion in ts1201 as expected but, interestingly, wt virus BamHI d' also rescued the ts mutation albeit at a lower efficiency. Ts1201 rev2 BamHI u from pGX209 failed to rescue the lesion, which is consistent with previous findings showing



pGX209 <u>ts</u>1201 Rev.2 pGX210 <u>ts</u>1201 Rev.3

.

A diagram representing the Kpn t fragment containing the whole UL26 gene and part of UL25 of ts1201 rev2 and ts1201 rev3 cloned into KpnI site of pUC18. Four BamHI fragments are obtained with a BamHI digest. The BamHI fragments were used in marker rescue experiments.

TABLE 13

Summary of marker rescue of ts1201 with different KpnI and BamHI fragments from cloned KpnI t of wt, ts1201 rev2, and rev3 viruses

fragments obtained from HSV-1 cloned KpnI t ^(*)	Efficiency of plating NPT/PT X103	Rescue
pGX142 (contains 17 <i>syn</i> * KpnI <i>t</i>) digested with KpnI	30.00	+
BamHI <i>u</i> fragment	8.66	+
" d' "	0.49	+
" e "	<0.02	-
"g"	<0.02	-
pGX209 (contains <i>ts</i> 1201 revertant 2 KpnI <i>t</i>) digested with KpnI	40.00	+
digested with BamHI	0.63	+
BamHI u fragment	<0.02	-
" d' "	<0.02	-
" e' "	<0.02	-
"g"	<0.02	_
pGX210 (contains <i>ts</i> 1201		······································
revertant 3 KpnI <i>t</i>) digested with KpnI	70.00	+
BamHI u fragment	<0.02	
" d' "	3.76	+
" e' "	<0.02	_
"g"	<u><</u> 0.02	
None	<0.02	-

(*) When clones are digested with BamHI, four fragments are obtained. The sequences of the vector are attached to BamHI u and BamHI g.

that the ts1201 lesion within BamHI u was retained in ts1201 rev2 DNA (Sections 4.1.2; 4.2.3). It was also clear from marker rescue data that ts1201 rev3 DNA also retained ts1201 mutation in BamHI u. The BamHI d' fragment from pGX210 rescued ts1201, suggesting that the reversion event in ts1201 rev3 mapped within BamHI d' (table 13). None of BamHI fragments from KpnI of ts1201 rev2 rescued the mutation and, therefore, it is likely that the second site reversion lies close to a BamHI site in ts1201 rev2.

4.2 PROCESSING OF UL26 GENE PRODUCT

4.2.1 Isolation and detection of antibodies against UL26 gene products

immunoblotting experiments, six In UL26gene product have been identified in HSV-1 infected cell extracts, using a monoclonal antibody specific to UL26 gene product (Braun et al., 1984b). When HSV-1 infected cell mRNA was translated in vitro, two specific gene products were detected in immunoprecipitation experiments using a monoclonal antibody to UL26 gene product. This result are two primary *in* suggests that either there vitro translational products of UL26 gene or there is some processing occurring in the in vitro translational assay. Analysis of the predicted sequence of UL26 gene has shown that there is a second potential AUG codon 27 residues from the first methionine amino acid and therefore, it is likely primary translational products that there are two communication). wt virus (V. Preston, personal When infected cells were pulse-labelled with [35S]-methionine,

several gene products of higher apparant mw than in vitro translated products were made, suggesting that there is a rapid modification of the UL26 gene product. If the [35S]methionine was removed from the medium and incubation of virus-infected cells continued for a further 4-5h, lower mw products were formed (Preston et al., 1983). It has been proposed that those low mw forms result from proteolytic cleavage (Gibson and Roizman, 1972; Braun et al., 1984b). In addition evidence from the work by Braun et al. (1984b) suggests that some of UL26 products gene are It phosphorylated. is clear that there is multiple processing of UL26 gene product (s). To confirm that there are two translation products and to investigate the processing of UL26 gene product, three synthetic the oligopeptides, specific to different regions of (UL26 gene, were synthesised for the purpose of raising antibodies against these peptides. An oligopeptide representing the first 9 amino-acids, an oligopeptide representing the following 12 amino-acids from the amino-terminus and an oligopeptide representing 14 amino-acid from the carboxyterminus were prepared (figure 33). A tyrosine was added to the ends of the carboxy terminal peptide and to the end the oligopeptides specific to the amino terminus to of facilitate coupling to β -galactosidase. Interestingly, the two peptides which were made against the amino terminus dissolved easily in borate buffer in comparison to the carboxy terminus peptide which left traces of what appeared undissolved impurities, and since the amount of to be this peptide was 66% as measured by the HPLC purity of

Ania Owsianka, personal communication), it (Miss was decided to use twice the amount of the carboxy terminus peptide. A11 three peptides were coupled B-to galactosidase, emulsified in adjuvent, and injected into rabbits (table 14) as described in section 2.12.1. Sera were collected before each injection and after the final injection. Antibodies specific to the injected peptides were detected by radioimmunoassay. Figure 35 shows [125] counts obtained from radioimmune assay using sera from 6 rabbits injected with one of the three peptides. Preimmune sera gave background counts when compared to sera isolated from rabbits injected with peptides. Thus, it is clear that all the sera contained antibodies which recognised the antigen against which they were raised.

4.2.2 Detection of UL26 gene product by western blotting

Virus-infected cell extracts, labelled with [35S]methionine, were separated by SDS PAGE, and transferred to nitrocellulose strips (refer to section, 2.12.5). The strips were incubated in different dilutions of serum, washed, dried and autoradiographs prepared as described in section (2.12.6). Analysis of autoradiographs revealed the Sera from rabbits injected with the two following: oligopeptides specific to the amino terminal end of UL26 gene product gave too weak a reaction to be of any use, while sera from the two rabbits injected with carboxyterminus oligopeptide reacted strongly with an HSV-1 17 syn* specific polypeptide band (figure 36). No polypeptide of this mw was detected in radiolabelled mock-infected cell

153

TABLE 14

The injection protocol of UL26 peptide coupled to β -galactosidase

.

Peptide code	Peptide representing	no. of injection	purity%	peptide/ml
147	9 A.A from the First AUG methionine at NH2-terminus	5	86%	150µg
148	12 A.A from the second AUG methionine at NH2-terminus	"	89%	150µg
149	14 A.A from the COOH-terminus	"	66%	300µg

••







.,

The graphs shows the results obtained from radioimmunoassay experiment using sera from animals injected with either the first amino terminus (A and B) or second amino terminus (C and D) or the carboxy terminus (E and F) peptides coupled to β -galactosidase. The pre-immune serum was the first bleed. Post immune bleeds were obtained prior to booster injection with the peptide.



Immunoblots of HSV-infected cell polypeptides labelled with [35S]-methionine at 9hpi and harvested at 20hpi. Polypeptides were separated on 12.5% polyacrylamide SDS gel nitrocellulose and transferred to strips. Different dilutions were used (1: 1/10 and 2: 1/100) for each taken from six rabbits were antisera. Sera tested as 2.12.5 [125] sections and 2.12.6. described in autoradiographs aligned with [35S]-methionine were autoradiographs.

Rabbits, 20995 and 20996, were injected with peptide 147 representing the first 9 amino acids at the amino terminus. Rabbits, 20997 and 20998, were injected with peptide 148 representing 12 amino acids from the amino terminus following peptide 147.

Rabbits, 20999 and 21000, were injected with peptide 149 representing the carboxy terminus. The strong bands in the [125] track represent a specific reaction with a protein of 40,000mw.

extracts (figure 37). Sera taken from one rabbit at different time intervals after injection with the carboxyterminus peptide were compared to the monoclonal antibody 5010B, specific to p40. The results showed (figure 38) that antibodies in preimmune serum gave no specific reaction whereas all sera obtained after the first injection contained antibodies which recognised a specific polypeptide band with a mw of approximately 40,000, similar that detected by the monoclonal antibody. to These findings are also supported by the results obtained from radioimmune assay for the detection of antibodies after each injection (fig 35, E and F). Thus, the polyclonal antibody against the carboxy-terminus of UL26 gene product appeared to be recognising UL26 gene products.

4.2.3 Evidence that the antibody is specific to UL26 gene product (P40)

To confirm that the polyclonal antibodies, raised against the carboxy terminus of the predicted primary UL26 gene product were reacting specifically with UL26 gene product, high concentrations of the carboxy terminus peptide were included in the immune precipitation reaction. If the antipeptide antibody was recognising UL26 gene products then the peptide should competitively inhibit immunoprecipitation of UL26 gene products. When [³⁵S]methionine labelled virus-infected cell extracts were incubated with the antibody, a band of a around 40,000 mw was immuno-precipitated. The addition of 10µg of peptide to 50µl (10⁶ cpm) of virus-infected cell extract caused a



Immunoblots of mock-infected cells treated as described in the legend to figure 36.

..



Immunoblot experiment using antisera, taken at different time intervals after the initial injection with the carboxy terminal peptide 149, specific to p40. Mock-infected (MI) and $17 \, syn^*$ -infected (17) cell polypeptides labelled with [3°S]-methionine, were separated on a 12.5% polyacrylamide SDS gel, transferred to nitocellulose strips and incubated either with a monoclonal antibody 5010B, specific to p40 or with anticarboxy terminus antisera. Tracks indicated by the arrows represent reaction of antisera, bound to [12°I] protein A, to p40. The remaining tracks show either mockinfected (MI), or $17 \, syn^*$ -infected cell polypeptide labelled with [3°S]-methionine.

reduction in the intensity of the immunoprecipitated polypeptide band detected on SDS polyacrylamide gel (figure 38), while the addition of 100µg of peptide completely inhibited immunoprecipitation of 40,000 mw polypeptide by the antipeptide antibody (figure 39). Therefore, it was concluded that the antibodies raised against the carboxy-terminus were specific for UL26 gene product.

4.2.4 UL26 gene product is processed at the carboxy terminus

To investigate whether the UL26 gene product is processed at the carboxy-terminus, wt virus- and ts1201 virus-infected cells, grown at the NPT or PT, were labelled with [35S]-methionine for 15 min at 5hpi and either harvested or incubated for a further 5h in culture medium lacking [35S]-methionine prior to harvesting. Cell extracts were prepared and incubated either with monoclonal antibody (ma) specific for p40 (5010B) or with polyclonal antibody directed against the carboxy-terminus of p40. Antibody-antigen complexes bound to protein A were by SDS PAGE. sepharose, washed, eluted and analysed and 41 Autoradiographs of immune precipitates (figure 40) revealed that in the 31° and 39° pulse-labelled virus-infected cell extracts, the polyclonal antibody recognised similar high to those species of UL26 gene product immunomw precipitated by ma5010B. In the 31° virus-infected cell samples, which had been incubated for 5h after being labelled with [35S]-methionine, the polyclonal antibody



Immunoprecipitation with an antipeptide antisera. Proteins labelled with [35S]-methionine were precipitated from MI (lane 1) and HSV-1 infected cell extracts with either preimmune (lane 2) or post-immune sera (lane 3-5). Anti carboxy terminus serum was incubated in the presence of 0, 10ug and 100ug of peptide 149 (lane 3-5). Arrows represent p40. Dotted arrow indicates break down products of p40.



Autoradiograph of immuneprecipitates of p40 from BHK infected at the 31° with wt virus (track 4, 7, 8, 10, 13 and 14), or ts1201 (track 5, 6, 11, 12). Virus-infected or mock- infected cells were pulse-labelled at 6hpi with [35S]-methionine and either harvested immediately (pulse) or after incubation for a further 5h in EFC10 (chase). Immunoprecipitation was performed as described insection 2.11.2 using a ma5010B, specific to p40 (tracks 6, 8, 12, 14) or with an antipeptide antibody against the carboxy 5, 7, 11, 13). Mock-infected cell (tracks terminus extracts (tracks 3 and 9) and wt-infected cell extracts (tracks 4 and 10) were incubated with control non-immune rabbit serum instead of the antisera. Tracks 1 and 2 represents whole cell extracts of mock-infected cells and 17 syn*-infected cells, respectively. The polypeptides were analysed on a 8% polyacrylamide SDS gel. Solid arrows represent high mw forms of p40. dotted arrows " low

failed to recognise the low mw processed forms of UL26 gene (fig 40) (fig 41) product detected by ma5010B/. 39° / ts1201 is unable to At UL26 gene product to its process the lower mw forms (Preston et al., 1983) and therefore, only the high mw species of UL26 gene product were detected by ma5010B in the 39° ts1201-infected cell sample incubated for 5h at 39° after removal of [35S]-methionine. The same high mw forms were detected by the polyclonal anti-oligopeptide antibody in this extract and in wt virus infected cells treated in the same manner, whereas both high and low mw species in wt-virus infected cell sample were recognised by ma5010B (figure 41). Information from this experiment suggests that UL26 gene product is processed at the carboxy-terminus and that this step results in the formation of lower mw forms. Ts1201 clearly has a block in processing at the carboxy terminus of UL26 gene product.

156



Autoradiograph of immuneprecipitates of p40 from BHK infected at the 39° with wt virus (track 4, 7, 8, 10, 13 and 14), or ts1201 (track 5, 6, 11, 12). Virus-infected or mock- infected cells were pulse-labelled at 6hpi with [35S]-methionine and either harvested immediately (pulse) or after incubation for a further 5h in EFC10 (chase). Immunoprecipitation was performed as described insection 2.11.2 using a ma5010B, specific to p40 (tracks 6, 8, 12, 14) or with an antipeptide antibody against the carboxy terminus (tracks 5, 7, 11, 13). Mock-infected cell extracts (tracks 3 and 9) and wt-infected cell extracts (tracks 4 and 10) were incubated with control non-immune ,rabbit serum instead of the antisera. Tracks 1 and 2 represents whole cell extracts of mock-infected cells and 17 syn*-infected cells, respectively. The polypeptides were analysed on a 8% polyacrylamide SDS gel. Solid arrows represent high mw forms of p40. dotted arrows " low **

4.3 DISCUSSION

In this study the UL26 gene has been further characterised together with the HSV-1 mutant ts1201.Sequence analysis of the lesion of ts1201 confirmed that the mutation mapped in gene UL26. Interestingly, both ts⁺ revertants analysed retained the ts1201 mutation, although they had an eop^{NPT/PT} similar to that of wt virus at/NPT of 38.5°. At 39° or 39.5°, however, these revertants showed some imprairment of growth. Experiments with antioligopeptide antibodies, specific to UL26 carboxy-terminus, showed that the UL26 gene product undergoes processing at the carboxy terminus.

Map location of *ts*1201 lesion

Previous work located the *ts*1201 lesion to within a 673bp BamHI-Sall fragment at the right hand end of BamHI u(Preston *et al.*, 1983). This result has been confirmed during this study by sequencing the corresponding fragment from ts1201. The mutation was located 89bp downstream from the first AUG initiation codon at residue 50897. The the nucleotide change in sequence results in the substitution of a tyrosine by phenylalanine at position 30 from the first methionine amino acid in gene UL26. The nucleotide sequence of ts1201 rev2 was identical to that of in this region. Marker rescue data showed *ts*1201 that ts1201 rev3 also retained the ts1201 mutation. It was clear both from the temperature-sensitivity of ts1201 rev2 and ts1201 rev3 at 39° and 39.5°, and from the results of marker rescue experiments that these viruses had second

site reversions in different places within (UL26 gene. Interestingly, a low level of rescue of ts1201 lesion was obtained when wt virus BamHI d' fragment was used in marker rescue experiments. This result suggested that ts1201 may also have a mutation within BamHI d'. Since this work was done, cloned BamHI u and two independent BamHI d' clones from wt virus were screened for the ability to rescue the ts1201 lesion. Cells transfected with ts1201 and BamHI uyielded progeny virus with a high proportion of ts virus, whereas cells transfected with the mutant and either of the BamHI d' clones gave progeny virus with a relatively low proportion of ts virus. The resulting ts progeny were analysed for temperature-sensitivity at 38.5° and 39.5°. Surprisingly, all the ts virus formed plaques at 39.5° as efficiently as wt virus (V. Preston, personal communication). This result indicates that *ts*1201 probably has a single *ts* mutation but it will be necessary to sequence the entire UL26 gene of the mutant to confirm this.

The nature of ts1201 mutation

The mutant, *ts*1201 (Preston *et al.*, 1983), was derived from the multiple mutant 17*ts*JC116 (Coates, 1982) which was isolated from a UV-mutagenised *wt* HSV-1 17*syn*. As indicated in this study the transversion occurred at a single pyrimidine (thymine on the complementary strand) (figure. 33). Studies on the mechanism of UV-induced mutations in *E.coli lacI* gene has shown that one third of the mutations occured at single pyrimidines, and their

158

origin cannot be explained by a targeted event at a cyclobutane dimer or a [6-4] dipyrimidine photoproduct. These mutations therefore could have resulted from other, less frequent, photodamages (Schaaper *et al.*, 1987). The *ts*1201 mutation could also havearisen as a consequence of a similar untargeted event, and in this respect, differs from the *ts*1233 mutation (chapter 3) which can be explained on the basis of a targeted photodamage event occuring at a purine-pyrimidine-pyrimidine. It is possible that *ts*1201 mutation could have arisen in 17*ts*JC116 virus as a consequence of errors during excision-repair.

The effect of ts1201 mutation on protein conformation

The Chou and Fasman computer program (Chou and Fasman, 1978) was used to determine whether the mutation in ts1201 affected the secondary structure of gene UL26. Interestingly, the the mutation in UL26 is located in a region predicted to form a β -sheet (figure 42, 43). The mutation induces a turn in the protein. Such an effect on the protein struc ture might result in a thermolabile protein.

Use of polyclonal antibodies specific to UL26 gene product

As mentioned earlier in section (4.2.1), three peptides were selected from different regions of UL26 to raise oligopeptide antibodies. Although the antisera isolated from rabbits all contained antipeptide antibodies. Only the oligopeptide antibodies specific to the carboxy terminus gave a strong specific reaction with p40. One

159



Predicted secondary structure of UL26 protein.

The structure is based on Chou and Fasman computer programme which predicts helices, sheets and turns according to Chou and Fasman (1978). (see figure 29)


Figure 43

and the first of the second second

Predicted secondary structure of *ts*1201 UL26 protein. The structure is based on Chou and Fasman computer programme which predicts helices, sheets and turns according to Chou and Fasman (1978). (see figure 29). The position of the mutation within the secondary structure

is indicated by an arrow.

reason both peptides directed against the amino terminus did not show a strong specific reaction to p40 is that the length of the two peptides (9 and 12 amino acids) was not long enough to induce antibodies that react with UL26 gene product.

Processing of UL26 gene product

Previous work by al. Braun et (1984b) has demonstrated that the UL26 gene product (ICP35 or p40) consists of a family of polypeptides with a mw ranging between 39,000 to 55,000. Cell fractionation experiments suggested that higher mw forms are cytoplasmic precursors of the nuclear forms of the protein. Work on *ts*1201, however, has shown that in fact all forms of UL26 gene product are present in the nucleus (Rixon et al., 1988). In immunoprecipitation experiments using a polyclonal antibody raised against the carboxy terminus of UL26 gene product, the antisera only recognized the high mw forms of UL26 gene product in virus-infected cells in contrast to the monoclonal antibody 5010B, which recognised all forms This result demonstrates that the of UL26 gene product. low mw forms are produced by a processing step at the Recently it has been shown that carboxy terminus. the mature lower mw forms of the homologous protein, known as the assembly protein, in CMV are produced by proteolytic cleavage at the carboxy terminal end of the protein. The precursor contained a single cysteine residue, 32 amino acid residues from the carboxy terminus of the assembly protein, while the mature form did not contain the cysteine

(Robson and Gibson, 1989). This suggests that 32 or more amino acids are removed from the carboxy terminus. It is likely on the basis of work on CMV, that the processing at the carboxy terminus of UL26 gene protein is proteolytic cleavage. It is not known whether а separate endoproteinase is required for cleavage of UL26 gene product as is the case for cleavage of structural proteins in adenovirus (G.Kemp, p.c., in press), or whether the UL26 gene product itself is responsible for this step. It is interesting to note that the lesion in tsl201 is located within the amino terminal end of the protein yet clearly has an effect on processing at the carboxy terminus. Certain glycoproteins in HSV including gD and gG have been undergo proteolytic cleavage at to the amino shown Removal of the signal peptide is important for terminus. transfer of the glycoprotein through the membrane (Eisenberg et al., 1984; Balachandran and Hutt-Fletcher, 1985). To date, there is no evidence that any structural protein other than UL26 gene product is cleaved.

Comparison of UL26 gene product with homologues of EBV, VZV and CMV

161

TABLE 15

Comparison between UL26 gene and the counterpart genes in other viruses based on bestfit computer program

Virus	HSV-1	EBV	VZV	CMV
gene	UL26	Bvrf2.EBV	33.VZV	APcDNA-1
no. of A.A.	635	605	605	310
%Similarity				
HSV-1	1	39.69	52.79	32.48
EBV		1	35.38	33.98
VZV			/	33.22
СМУ				/

A.A. : amino acid APcDNA-1 : assembly protein (Robson and Gibson, 1989) counterpart protein. One striking difference between HSV, EBV, VZV and CMV proteins is that the CMV protein is almost half the size of the HSV, EBV and VZV proteins and the best matched sequences of CMV assembly protein are predominantly in the carboxy-terminal portion of the protein (data at the end of the thesis $\overline{(A_{-})}$. It is interesting to note that the cysteine at position 134 in the UL26 amino acid is conserved between HSV-1, EBV, and VZV. Whether this amino acid is of any functional significance, remains to be determined.

Functional role of UL26 gene products

The processing of UL26 gene product has been linked to DNA encapsidation (Preston et al., 1983). However, it is not known exactly how this protein is involved in this results Contradictory have process. been obtained regarding the association of the gene products with the depending on the techniques capsids used. From the analysis of purified capsids, it was suggested that UL26 gene products were associated with full capsids but not empty (Gibson and Roizman, 1972; 1974), and results of surface iodination experiments suggested that the presence of the processed form of ICP35 on the surface of full capsids prevented the iodination of the major capsid protein (Braun *et* al., 1984b). However, recent studies using immuno-electron microscopy clearly showed that UL26 gene products are transiently associated with partially cored capsids but not full capsids (Rixon et al., 1988; Bachenheimer, 1988). Sherman and In support of these results are findings obtained by Newcomb et al. (1989)

162

using scanning transmission electron microscopy to measure the masses of light and intermediate capsids of equine herpes virus 1. Their results suggested that a 46,000 mw protein was present in intermediate capsids and not empty capsids. Recently, a new technique known as the Ar⁺ plasma etching technique has been used to locate UL26 gene product Intact capsids are exposed to low energy within capsids. which degrades the outermost polypeptide before the internal ones (Newcomb and Brown, 1989). The results suggested that UL26 gene product was localised inside the capsid cavity in partially-cored HSV-1 capsids and not on the outside. It would be interesting to expose capsids produced at the NPT by the mutant ts1201 to low energy to determine the exact location of unprocessed forms of UL26 gene products.

4.4 Future prospects

The UL26 gene product of ts1201 and ts1201 rev2 and cloned. would rev3 have been It be interesting to determine the second site reversions in the revertant viruses UL26 genes and to investigate by sequence analysis whether ts1201 has any mutations in the region of UL26 gene encoded within BamHI d'. Since ts1201 rev2 is ts at 39.5°, it would also be interesting to determine whether the virus processes UL26 gene products normally at 39.5° and whether it has an encapsidation defect like ts1201.

It is unclear from the literature whether UL26 gene products are DNA binding. It would be interesting to find out whether the products of UL26 have the ability to bind DNA or interact with other structural proteins.

Evidence that there are two primary translational products has been obtained from the analysis of *in vitro* transltional products. Further studies are required to show that these primary translational products exist and to determine whether they are both functional.

Although work in this thesis has clearly shown that the UL26 gene product undergoes processing at the carboxy terminus, it remains to be determined that this modification is proteolytic cleavage.

and an an an and an and have structure and areas and

and the second second

- ABODEELY, R.A., LAWSON, L.A., and RANDALL, C.C. (1970). Morphology and entry of Enveloped and Deenveloped Equine Abortion (Herpes) virus. J. Virol., 5,513-523
- ACE,C.I., DALRYMPLE,M.A., RAMSAY, F.H., PRESTON, V.G., And PRESTON, C.M. (1988). Mutational Analysis of the herpes simplex virus type 1 trans-inducing factor Vmw65. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 2597-2605.
- ACE, C.I., MCKEE, T.A., RYAN, J.M., CAMERON, J.M., AND PRESTON, C.M. (1989). Construction and characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant unable to transinduce immediate-early gene expression. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 2260-2269.
- ACKERMANN, M., CHOU, J., SARMIENTO, M., LERNER, R.A., and ROIZMAN, B. (1986). Identification by antibody to a synthetic peptide of a protein specified by a diploid gene located in the terminal repeats of the L component of herpes simplex virus genome. J. Virol., <u>58</u>, 843-850.
- ADDISON, C. (1986). Characterisation of herpes simplex virus type1 *ts* mutants which have structural defects. PHD Thesis, University of Glasgow.
- ADDISON,C., RIXON., F.J., PALFEREYMAN, W., O'HARA., M., PRESTON., V.G. (1984). Characterisation of a herpes simplex virus type1 mutant which has a temperaturesensitive defect in penetration of cells and assembly of capsids. Virology, <u>138</u>, 246-259.
- ALFORD, C.A., AND BRITT, W.J. (1985). Cytomegalovirus in "Virology", Edited by B.N. Fields, Raven Press, New York.
- AL-SAADI, S.A., CLEMENTS, G.B., AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1983). Viral genes modify herpes simplex virus latency both in mouse footpad and sensory ganglia. J. Gen. Virol., <u>64</u>, 1175-1179.

A

- ABODEELY, R.A., LAWSON, L.A., and RANDALL, C.C. (1970). Morphology and entry of Enveloped and Deenveloped Equine Abortion (Herpes) virus. J. Virol., <u>5</u>,513-523
- ACE,C.I., DALRYMPLE,M.A., RAMSAY, F.H., PRESTON, V.G., And PRESTON, C.M. (1988). Mutational Analysis of the herpes simplex virus type 1 trans-inducing factor Vmw65. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 2597-2605.
- ACE, C.I., MCKEE, T.A., RYAN, J.M., CAMERON, J.M., AND PRESTON, C.M. (1989). Construction and characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant unable to transinduce immediate-early gene expression. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 2260-2269.
- ACKERMANN, M., CHOU, J., SARMIENTO, M., LERNER, R.A., and ROIZMAN, B. (1986). Identification by antibody to a synthetic peptide of a protein specified by a diploid gene located in the terminal repeats of the L component of herpes simplex virus genome. J. Virol., <u>58</u>, 843-850.
- ADDISON, C. (1986). Characterisation of herpes simplex virus type1 *ts* mutants which have structural defects. PhD. Thesis, University of Glasgow.
- ADDISON,C., RIXON., F.J., PALFEREYMAN, W., O'HARA., M., PRESTON., V.G. (1984). Characterisation of a herpes simplex virus type1 mutant which has a temperaturesensitive defect in penetration of cells and assembly of capsids. Virology, <u>138</u>, 246-259.
- ALFORD, C.A., AND BRITT, W.J. (1985). Cytomegalovirus in "Virology", Edited by B.N. Fields, Raven Press, New York.
- AL-SAADI, S.A., CLEMENTS, G.B., AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1983). Viral genes modify herpes simplex virus latency both in mouse footpad and sensory ganglia. J. Gen. Virol., <u>64</u>, 1175-1179.

Α

- AL-SAADI, S.A., GROSS, P., AND WILDY, P. (1988). Herpes simplex virus type 2 latency in the footpad of mice: Effect of acycloguanosine on the recovery of virus. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 433-438.
- ALWINE, J.C., STEINHART, W.L., AND HILL, C.W. (1974). Transcription of herpes simplex type 1 DNA in nuclei isolated from infected HEp-2 and KB cells. Virology, <u>60</u>, 302-307.
- AMANN, E., AND BROSIUS, J. (1985). 'ATG vectors' for regulated high-level expression of cloned genes in Escherichia coli. Gene., <u>40</u>, 183-190.
- ANDERSON, K.P., COSTA, R.H., HOLLAND, L.E., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1980). Characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 RNA present in the absence of De Novo protein synthesis. J. Virol., <u>34</u>, 9-27.
- ANDERSON, K.P., FRINK, R.J., DEVI, B., GAYLORD, H., COSTA, R.H., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1981). Detailed characterization of the mRNA mapping in the HINDIII FRAGMENT K region of the herpes simplex virus type1 genome. J. Virol., <u>37</u>, 1011-1027.
- ASHER, Y., HELLER, M., AND BECKER, Y. (1969). Incorporation of lipids into herpes simplex virus particles. J. Gen. Virol., <u>4</u>, 65-76.
- ATKINSON, M.A., BARR, S., AND TIMBURY, M.C. (1978). The fine structure of cells infected with temperaturesensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 2. J. Gen. Virol., <u>40</u>, 103-11
- BALACHANRAN, N., AND HUTT-FLETCHER, L.M. (1985). Synthesis and processing of glycoprotein gG of herpes simplex virus type 2. J. Virol., <u>54</u>, 825-832.

B

BARTKOSKI, M. AND ROIZMAN, B. (1976). RNA synthesis in cells infected with herpes simplex virus. XIII. Differences in the methylation patterns of viral DNA during the reproductive cycle. J. Virol., <u>20</u>, 538-588.

- BASSIRI, R.M., DVORAK, J., AND UTIGER, R.D. (1979). Thyrotropin-releasing hormone, p. 45-56. JAFFEE, B.M. and BEHRMAN, H.R. (ed), Methods of hormone radioimmunoassay. Academic Press, Inc., New York.
- BASTIAN, F.O., RABSON, A.S., YEE, C.L., AND TRALKA, T.S. (1972). Herpesvirus hominis: Isolation from human trigeminal ganglion. Science, 178, 306-307.
- BASTOW, K.F., BOUCHARD, J., REN, XING-JIAN, AND CHENG, YUNG-CHI. (1986). Synthesis of dihydrofolate reductase and metabolism of related RNA in a methotrexate resistant human cell line infected with herpes simplex virus type 2. Virology, <u>149</u>, 199-207.
- BATTERSON, W., DEIRDRE, F., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1983). molecular genetics of herpes simplex virus. VIII. Further characterization of a temperature-sensitive mutant defective in release of viral DNA and in other stages of the viral repoductive cycle. J. Virol., <u>45</u>, 397-407.
- BATTERSON, W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1983). Characterization of the herpes simplex virion-associated factor responsible for the induction of α genes. J. Virol., <u>46</u>, 371-377.
- BAUCKE, R.B., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1979). membrane proteins specified by herpes simplex viruses. V Identifcation of an Fc-binding glycoprotein. J. Virol., <u>32</u>, 779-789.
- BAYLISS, G.J., MARSDEN, H.M., AND HAY J. (1975). Herpes simplex virus proteins: DNA-Binding proteins in infected cells and in the virus structure. Virology, <u>68</u>,124-134.

BEARD, P., FABER, S., WILCOX, K.W., AND PIZER, L.I.

(1986). Herpes simplex virus immediate early infected-cell polypeptide 4 binds to DNA promotes transcription. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>83</u>, 4016-4020.

- BECKER, Y. DYM, H., AND SAROV, I. (1968). Herpes simplex virus DNA. Virology, <u>36</u>, 184-192.
- BECKER, Y., ASHER, Y., FRIEDMANN, A., KESSLER, E. (1978). Circular, circular-linear and branched herpes simplex virus DNA molecules from arginine deprived cells. J. Gen. Virol., 41, 629-633.
- BEN-HUR, T., ASHER, Y., TABOR, E., DARAI, G., AND BECKER, Y. (1987). HSV-1 virulence for mice by the intracerebral route is encoded by the BamHI-L DNA fragment containing the cell fusion gene. Arch. Virol., <u>96</u>, 117-122.
- BEN-PORAT, T., HOFFMANN, P., BROWN, L., FELDMAN, L., BLANKENSHIP, M.L. (1982). Partial characterization of temperature-sensitive mutants of pseudorabies virus. Virology, <u>122</u>, 251-267.
- BEN-PORAT, T., AND RIXON, F.J. (1979). Replication of herpesvirus DNA. IV: Analysis of concatemers. Virology, <u>94</u>, 61-70.
- BEN-PORAT, T., SHIMONO, H., AND KAPLAN, A.S. (1969). Synthesis of proteins in cells infected with herpesvirus. Virology, <u>37</u>, 56-61.
- BEN-PORAT, T., STEHN, B., AND KAPLAN, A.S. (1976). Fate of parental herpesvirus DNA. Virology, <u>71</u>, 412-422.
- BEN-PORAT, T., AND TOKAZEWSKI, S.A. (1977). Replication of herpesvirus DNA. II. Sedimentation characteristics of newly synthesized DNA. Virology, <u>79</u>, 292-301.

BEN-PORAT, T., AND VEACH, R.N. (1980). Origin of

replication of the DNA of a herpesvirus (pseudorabies). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>77</u>, 172-175.

- BEN-PORAT, T., VEACH, R.A., BLANKESHIP, M.L., AND KAPIAN, A.S. (1984). Differential association with cellular substructures of pseudorabies virus DNA during early and late phases of replication. Virology, <u>139</u>, 205-222.
- BEN-ZEEVf, A., ASHER, Y., AND BECKER, Y. (1976). Synthesis of herpes simplex virus-specified RNA by an RNA polymerase II in isolated nuclei in vitro. Virology, <u>71</u>, 302-311.
- BEREZNEY, R., AND COFFEY, D.S. (1977). Nuclear matrix. Isolation and characterisation of a framework structure from rat liver nuclei. J. Cell. Biol., <u>73</u>, 616-637.
- BIBOR-HARDY, V., POUCHELET, M., ST-PIERRE, E., HERZBERG, M., AND SIMARD, R. (1982a). The nuclear matrix is involved in herpes simplex virogenesis. Virology, 121, 296-309.
- BIBOR-HARDY, V., SUH, M., POUCHELET, M., AND SIMARD, R. (1982b). Modifications of the nuclear envelope of BHK cells after infection with herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Gen. Virol., <u>63</u>, 81-94.
- BISWAL, N., MURRAY, B.K., AND BENYESH-MELNICK, M. (1974). Ribonucleotides in newly synthesised DNA of herpes simplex virus. Virology, <u>61</u>, 87-99.
- BZIK, D.J., AND PRESTON, C.M. (1986). Analysis of DNA sequences which regulate the transcription of herpes simplex virus immediate early gene 3: DNA sequences required for enhancer-like activity and response to trans-activation by a virion polypeptide. Nucleic Acids Res., <u>14</u>, 929-943.

- BONE, D.R., AND COURTNEY, R.J. (1974). A temperaturesensitive mutant of herpes simplex virus type1 defective in the synthesis of the major capsid polypeptide. J. Gen. Virol., 24, 17-27.
- BOND, V.C., AND PERSON, S. (1984). Fine structure physical map locations of alterations that affect cell fusion in herpes simplex virus type1. Virology. <u>132</u>, 368-376.
- BOND, V.C., PERSON, S., AND WARNER,S.C. (1982). The isolation and characterisation of mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 that induce cell fusion. J. Gen. Virol., <u>61</u>, 245-254.
- BRAUN, D.K., ROIZMAN, B., AND PEREIRA, L. (1984b). Characterization of post-translational products of herpes simplex virus gene 35 proteins binding to the surface of full capsids but not empty capsids. J. Virol. 49, 142-153.
- BRAUN, D.K., PEREIRA, L., NORRILD, AND ROIZMAN, B. (1983). Application of denatured, electrophoretically separted, and immobilized lysates of herpes simplex virus infected cells for detection of monoclonal antibodies and for studies of the properties of viral proteins. J. Virol. <u>46</u>, 103-112.
- BRAUN, D.K., BATTERSON, W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1984a). Identification and genetic mapping of a herpes simplex virus capsid protein that binds DNA. J. Virol., <u>50</u>, 645-648.
- BRENT, R. AND PTASHNE, M. (1981). Mechanism of action of the LexA gene product. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 78, 4204-4208.
- BROWN, S.M., RITCHIE, D.A., AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1973). Genetic studies with herpes simplex virus type1. The isolation of temperature-sensitive mutants their arrangment into complementation groups and

recombination analysis leading to a linkage map. J. Gen. Virol., <u>18</u>,329-346.

- BROWN, S. M., and HERLAND,J. (1987). Three mutants of herpes simplex virus type2: One lacking the genes US10, US11, and US12 and two in which R_s has been extended by 6 Kb to 0.91 map units with loss of U_s sequence between 0.94 and U_s/TR_s junction. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 1-18.
- BUCKMASTER, E.A., GOMPELS U., AND MINSON, A. (1984). Characterisation and physical mapping of an HSV-1 glycoprotein of approximatelly 115X10³ molecular weight. Virology, <u>139</u>, 408-413.
- Busby, D.W.G., HOUSE, W., AND MACDONALD, J.R. (1964). <u>In</u>: "Virological Techniques", published by Churchill, London.
- BZIK, D.J., FOX, B.A., DELUCA, N.A., AND PERSON, S. (1984). Nucleotide sequence specifying the glycoprotein gene, gB, of herpes simplex virus type1. Virology, <u>133</u>, 301-314.
- BZIK, D.J., AND PRESTON, C.M. (1986). Analysis of DNA sequences which regulate the transcription of herpes simplex virus immediate early gene 3: DNA sequences required for enhancer-like activity and response to trans-activation by a virion polypeptide. Nucleic Acids Res., <u>14</u>, 929-943.
- CABRAL, G.A., AND SCHAFFE, P.A. (1976). Electron microscope studies of temperature-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type2. J. Virol., <u>18</u>, 727-737.

С

- CAI, W., GU, B., AND PERSON, S. (1988). Role of glycoprotein B of herpes simplex virus type 1 in viral entry and cell fusion. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 2596-2604.
- CAI, W., PERSON, S., DEBROY, C., AND GU, B. (1988). Functional regions and structural features of the gB

glycoprotein of herpes simplex virus type 1 . J. Mol. Biol., <u>201</u>, 575-588.

- CAI, W., PERSON, S., WARNER, S.C., ZHOU, J., AND DELUCA, N. (1987). Linker-insertion nonsense and restrictionsite deletion mutations of the gB glycoprotein gene of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 714-721.
- CAMACHO, A., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1978). Transformation of hamster embryo fibroblasts by a specific fragment of the herpes simplex virus genome. Cell, 15, 993-1002.
- CAMERON, I.R., PARK, M., DUTIA, B.M., ORR, A., AND MACNAB, J.C.M. (1985). Herpes simplex virus sequences involved in the initiation of oncogenic morphological of **transformation** rat cells are required for maintenance of the transformed state. J. Gen. Virol., 66, 517-527.
- CAMPBELL, M.E.M., PALFREYMAN, J.W., AND PRESTON, C.M. (1984). Identification of herpes simplex virus DNA sequences which encodes a trans-acting polypeptide responsible for stimulation of immeadiate early transcription. J. Mol. Biol., <u>180</u>, 1-19.
- CAMPADELLI-FIUME, G., ARSENAKIS, M., FARABEGOL, F., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1988). Entry of herpes simplex virus 1 in BJ cells that constitutively express viral glycoprotein D is by endocytosis and results in degradation of the virus. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 159-167.
- CARADONNA, S., WORRAD,D., and LIRETTE,R. (1987). Isolation of a herpes simplex virus cDNA encoding the DNA repair engyme uracil-DNA glycosylase. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 3040-3047.
- CARMICHAEL, E.P., KOSOVSKY, M.J. AND WELLER, S.K. (1988). Isolation and characterization of herpes simplex virus typel host range mutants defective inviral DNA synthesis. J. Virol., 62, 91-99.

- CARMICHAEL, E.P., AND WELLER, S.K. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type1 DNA synthesis requires the product of the UL8 gene: Isolation and characterization of an ICP::lacz insertion mutation. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 591-599.
- CASSI, E.N., SAMIENTO, M., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1975). Comarison of the virion proteins specified by herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2. J. Virol., <u>16</u>, 1327-1331.
- CHALLBERG, M.D. (1986). A method for identifying the viral genes required for herpesvirus DNA replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>83</u>, 9094-9098.
- CHARTRAND, P., STOW, N.D., TIMBURY, M.C., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1979). Physical mapping of paa mutantions of herpes simplex virus type 1 and type 2 by intertypic marker recue. J. Virol., <u>31</u>, 265-276.
- CHARTRAND, P., WILKIE, N.M., AND TIMBURY, M.C. (1981). Physical mapping of temperature-sensitive mutations of herpes simplex virus type 2 by marker rescue. J. Gen. Virol., <u>52</u>, 121-133.
- CHOU, J., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1985). Isomerization of herpes simplex virus-1 genome: Identification of the cisacting and recombination sites within the domain of the a sequence. Cell, <u>41</u>, 803-811.
- CHOU, J., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1986). The terminal a sequence of the herpes simplex genome contains the promoter of a gene located in the repeat sequences of the L component. J. Virol., <u>57</u>, 629-637.
- CHOU, J., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1989). Characterization of DNA sequence-common and sequence-specific proteins binding to cis-Acting sites for cleavage of the terminal a sequence of the herpes simplex virus 1 genome. J. virol., 63, 1059-1068.

- CHOU, P.Y. AND FASMAN G.D. (1978). Prediction of the secondary structure of proteins for their amino acid sequence. Advances in Enzymology, <u>47</u>, 45-147.
- CLEMENTS, J.B., CORTINI, R., AND WILKIE, N.W. (1976). Analysis of herpesvirus DNA substructure by means of restriction endonucleases. J. Gen. Virol., <u>30</u>, 243-256.
- CLEMENTS, G.B., AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1988). Herpes simplex virus type 2 establishes latency in the mouse footpad. J. Gen. Virol., 69, 375-383.
- CLEMENTS, J.B., WATSON, R.J., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1977). Temporal regulation of herpes simplex virus type 1 transcription: Location of transcripts on the viral genome. Cell, <u>12</u>, 275-285.
- COATES, J.A.V. (1982). Genetic and biochemical studies with temperature-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex type 1. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Glasgow.
- COEN, D.M., ASHMAN, D.P., GELEP, P.T., RETONDO, M.J., WELLER, S.K., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1984). Fine mapping and molecular cloning of mutations in the herpes simplex virus DNA polymerase locus. J. Virol., <u>49</u>, 236-247.
- COEN, D.M., IRMIERE, A.F., JACOBSON, J.G., AND KERNS, K.M. (1989b). Low levels of herpes simplex virus thymidine-thmidylate kinase are not limiting for sensitivity to certain antiviral drugs or for latency in a mouse model. Virology., <u>168</u>, 221-231.
- COEN, D.M., KOSZ-VNENCHAK, M., JACOBSON, J.G., LEIB, D.A., BOGARD, C.L., SCHAFFER, P.A., TYLER, K.L., AND KNIPE, D.M. (1989a). Thymidine kinase-negative herpes simplex virus mutants establish latency in mouse trigeminal ganglia but do not reactivate. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 86, 4736-4740.

- COEN, D.M., WEINHEIMER, S.P., AND MCKNIGHT, S.L. (1986). A genetic approach to promoter recognition during trans induction of viral gene expression. Science, <u>234</u>, 53-59.
- COHEN, G.H. (1972). Ribonucleotide reductase activity of synchronized KB cells infected with herpes simplex virus. J. Virol., 9, 408-418.
- COHEN, S.N., CHUNG, A.C.Y., AND HSU, L. (1972). Nonchromosomal antibiotic resistance in bacteria: Genetic transformation by R factor DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, <u>69</u>, 2110-2114.

N

- COHEN, G.H. DELEON, M.P., DIGGELMANN, H., LAWRENCE, W.C., VERNON, S.K., AND EISENBERG, R.J. (1980). Structural analysis of the capsid polypeptides of herpes simplex type1 and 2. J. Virol., <u>34</u>, 521-531.
- COLE, C.N., AND SANTANGELO, G.M. (1983). Analysis in Cos-1 cells of processing and polyadenylation signals by using derivatives of the herpes simplex virus type 1 thymidine kinase gene. Mol. Cell. Biol., 3, 267279.
- COLE, C.N., AND STACY, T.P. (1985). Identification of sequences in the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene required for efficient processing and polyadenylation. Molecular and Cellular Biology, <u>5</u>, 2104-2113.
- CONLEY, A.J., KNIPE, D.M., JONES, P.C., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1981). Molecular genetics of herpes simplex virus. VII. Characterization of a temperature-sensitive mutant produced by *in vitro* mutagenesis and defective in DNA synthesis and accumulation of (α) polypeptides. J. Virol., <u>37</u>, 191-206.
- COOK, M.L., BASTONE, V.B., AND STEVENS, J.G. (1974). Evidence that neurons harbour latent herpes simplex virus. Infection and Immunity, <u>9</u>, 946-951.

- COOK, S.D., AND BROWN, S.M. (1987). Herpes simplex virus type 1 latency in rabbit corneal cells in vitro: Reactivation and recombination following intratypic superinfection of long term cultures. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 813-824.
- COOK, S.D., BATRA, S.K., AND BROWN, S.M. (1987). Recovery of herpes simplex virus from the corneas of experimentally infected rabbits. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 2013-2017.
- CORDINGLEY, M.G., CAMPBELL, M.E.M., AND PRESTON, C.M. (1983). Functional analysis of a herpes simplex virus type 1 promoter: identification of far-upstream regulatory sequences. Nucleic. Acids. Research, <u>11</u>, 2347-2365.
- COSTA, R.H., COHEN,G., EISENBERG, R., LONG, D., AND WAGNER,
 E. (1984). Direct demonstration that the abundant
 6-kilobase herpes simplex virus type1 mRNA mapping
 between 0.23 and 0.27 mapunits encodes the major
 capsid protein VP5. J. Virol., <u>49</u>, 287-292.
- COSTA, R.H., DRAPER, K.G., KELLY, T.J., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1985). An unusual spliced herpes simplex virus type 1 transcript with sequence homology to epstein-barr virus DNA. J. Virol., <u>54</u>, 317-328.
- COSTANZO, F., CAMPADELLI-FIUME, G., FOA-TOMASI, L., AND CASSAI, E. (1977). Evidence that herpes simplex virus DNA is transcribed by cellular RNA polymerase B. J. Virol., <u>21</u>, 996-1001.
- COURTNEY, R.J., SCHAFFER, P.A., AND POWELL, K.L. (1976). synthesis of virus-specific polypeptides by temperature-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type1. Virology, <u>75</u>, 306-318.
- **CROMBIE, I.K. (1975).** Genetic and Biochemical studies with herpes simplex virus type 1. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Glasgow.

- CRUMPACKER, C.S., CHARTRAND, P., SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1980). Resistance of herpes simplex virus to acycloguanosine. Genetic and physical analysis. Virology, 105, 171-184.
- CRUTE, J.J., MOCARSKI, E.S., AND LEHMAN, I.R. (1988). A DNA helicase induced by herpes simplex virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Research, <u>16</u>, 6585-6596.
- CRUTE, J.J., TSURUMI, T., ZHU, L., WELLER, S.K., OLIVO, P.D., CHALLBERG, M.D., MOCARSKI, E.S., AND LEHMAN, I.R. (1989). Herpes simplex virus 1 helicaseprimase: A complex of three herpes-encoded gene products. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>86</u>, 2186-2189.
- DALES, S. AND SILVERBERG, H. (1969). Viropexis of herpes simplex virus by hela cells. Virology, <u>37</u>, 475-480.

D

- DARBY, G., FIELD, H.J., AND SALISBURY, S.A. (1981). Altered substarte specificity of herpes simplex thymidine kinase confers acyclovir resistance. Nature (London), <u>289</u>, 81-83.
- DARGAN, D., AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1983). Ultrastructural characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 (strain 17) temperature-sensitive mutants. J. Gen. Virol., <u>64</u>, 1311-1326.
- DARLINGTON, R.W., AND MOSS, L.H. (1968). Herpesvirus envelopment. J. Virol., 2, 48-55.
- DAVISON, A.J., PRESTON, V.G., AND MCGEOCH, D.J. (1984). Determination of the sequence alteration in the DNA of the herpes simplex virus type 1 temperature-sensitive mutant tsK. J. Gen. Virol., <u>65</u>, 859-863.
- DAVISON, A.J., AND SCOTT, J.E. (1986). DNA sequence of the major capsid protein gene of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Gen. Virol., <u>67</u>, 2279-2286.

- DAVIDSON, I., AND STOW, N.D. (1985). Expression of an immediate-early polypeptide and activation of a viral origin of DNA replication in cells containing a fragment of herpes simplex virus DNA. Virology, <u>141</u>, 77-88.
- DAVISON, A.J., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1981). Nucleotide sequences of the joint between the L and S segments of herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2. J. Gen. Virol., <u>55</u>., 315-331.
- DAVISON, A.J., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1983). Inversion of the two segments of the herpes simplex virus genome in intertypic recombinants. J. Gen. Virol., <u>64</u>, 1-18.
- DALZIEL, R.G., AND MARSDEN, H.S. (1984). Identification of two herpes simplex virus type 1-induced proteins (21K and 22K) which interact specifically with the a sequence of herpes simplex virus DNA. J. Gen. Virol., 65, 1467_1475.
- DEATLY, A.M., SPIVAK, J.G., LAVI, E., AND FRASER, N.W. (1987). RNA from an immediate early region of the type 1 herpes simplex virus genome is present in the trigeminal ganglia of latently infected mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>84</u>, 3204-3208.
- DEBROY, C., PEDERSON, N. AND PERSON, S. (1985). Nucleotide sequence of a Herpes simplex virus type 1 gene that causes cell fusion. Virology, <u>145</u>, 36-48.
- DEISS, P.L., AND FRANKEL, N. (1986). Herpes simplex virus amplicon: Cleavage of concatemeric DNA is linked to packaging and involves aimplification of the terminally reiterated a sequence. J. Virol., <u>57</u>, 933-941.
- DEISS, P.L., CHOUE J. AND ,FRANKEL, N., (1986). Functional domains with in the cleavge-packaging of herpes simplex virus DNA. J. Virol., <u>59</u>, 605-618.
- DELIUS, H. AND CLEMENTS, J.B. (1976). A partial denaturation map of herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA: Evidence for inversions of the unique DNA regions. J. Gen. Virol., <u>33</u>, 125-133.

- DELUCE, N., BZIK, D., PERSON, S., AND SNIPES, W. (1981). Early events in herpes simplex virus type 1 infection: Photosensitivity of fluorescein isothiocyanate-treated virions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, <u>78</u>, 912-916.
- DELUCA, N., BZIK, D.J., BOND, V.C., PERSON, S., AND SNIPES, W. (1982). Nucleotide sequences of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) affecting virus entry, cell vusion, and production of glycoprotein gB (VP7). Virology, <u>122</u>, 411-423.
- DELUCA, N.A., MCCARTHY, A.M., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1985). Isolation and characterisation of deletion mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 in the gene encoding the immediate-early regulatory protein ICP4. J. Virol., <u>56</u>, 558-570.
- DELUCA, N.A., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1985). Activation of immediate-early, early and late promoters by temperature-sensitive and wild-type forms of herpes simplex virus type 1 protein, ICP4. Mol. Cell. Biol., <u>5</u>, 1997-2008.
- DENHARDT, D.T. (1966). A membrane-filter technique for the detection of complementary DNA. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 23, 544-551.
- DESAI, P.J., SCHAFFER, P.A., AND MINSON, A.C. (1988). Excretion of non-infectious virus particles lacking glycoprotein H by a temperature-sensitive mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1: Evidence that gH is essential for virion infectivity. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 1147-1156.
- DESHMANE S.L. AND FRASER, N.W. (1989). During latency, herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA is associated with nuclcosomes in a chromatin structure. J. Vriol., <u>63</u>, 943-947.
- DEVEREUX, J. (1989). The GCG sequence analysis software package, version 6.0, Genetics Computer Group,

University of Wisconsin Biotechnology Center, 1710 1710 University Avenue, Madison, Wisconsin, USA, 53705.

- DEVEREUX, J., HAEBERLI, P., AND SMITHIES, O. (1984). Acomprehensive set of sequence analysis programs for the vax. Nuecleic acids research, 10, 387-395.
- DIXON, R.A.F., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1980). Fine-structure mapping and functional analysis of temperaturesensitive mutants in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early protein VP175. J. Virol., <u>36</u>, 189-203.
- DUBBS, D.R., AND KIT, S. (1964). Mutant strains of herpes simplex deficitent in thymidine kinase-inducing activity. Virology, <u>22</u>, 453-502.
- DUFF, R., AND RAPP, F. (1973). Oncogenic transformation of hamster embryo cells after exposure to inactivated herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>12</u>, 209-217.
- DULBECCO, R., AND VOGT, M. (1954). Plaque formation and isolation of pure lines with poliomyelitis. J. Exp. Medicine, <u>99</u>, 167-182.

Е

- EFSTATHIOU, S., KEMP, S., DARBY, G., AND MINSON, A.C. (1989). The role of herpes simplex virus type 1 thymidine kinase in pathogenesis. J. Gen. Virol., 70, 869-879.
- EFSTATHIOU, S., MINSON, A.C., FIELD, H.J., ANDERSON, J.R., AND WILDY, P. (1986). Detection of herpes simplex virus-specific DNA sequences in latently infected mice and in humans. J. Virol., <u>57</u>, 446-456.
- EGLIN, R.P., SHARP, F., MACLEAN, A.B., MACNAB, J,C.M., CLEMENTS, J.B., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1981). Detection of RNA complementary to herpes simplex virus DNA in human cervical squamous cell neoplasms. Cancer Research, <u>41</u>, 3597-3604.

- EISNBERG, R.J. LONG, D., HOGUE-ANGELETTI, R., AND COHEN, G.H. (1984). Amino-terminal sequence of glycoprotein D of herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2. J. Virol., <u>49</u>, 265-268.
- ELIAS, P., O'DONNELL, M.E., MOCARSKI, E.S., AND LEHMAN, I.R., (1986). A DNA binding protein specific for an origin of replication of herpes simplex virus type 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, 83, 6322-6326.
- ELION, G.B., FURMAN, P.A., FYFE, J.A., MIRANDA, P.DE., BEAUCHAMP, L., AND SCAFFER, H.J. (1977). Selectivity of action of an antiherpetic agent, 9-(2hydroxyethoxymethyl) guanine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>74</u>, 5716-5720.
- EPSTEIN, A.L., JACQUEMONT, B., AND MACHUCA, I. (1984). Infection of a restrictive cell line (XC cells) by intra-typic recombinants of HSV-1: Relationship between penetration of the virus and relative amounts of glycoprotein C. Virology. <u>132</u>, 315-324.
- ESPARZA, J., BENYESH-MELNICK, M., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1976). Intertypic complementation and recombination between temperature seneitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2. Virology, <u>70</u>, 372-384.
- ESPARZA, J., PURIFOY, D.J.M., SCHAFFER, P.A., AND BENYESH-MELNICK, M. (1974). Isolation, complementation and preliminary phenotypic characterization of temperature-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 2. Virology, <u>57</u>, 554-565.
- EVERETT, R.D. (1983). DNA sequence elements required for regulated expression of the HSV-1 glycoprotein D gene lie within 83bp of the RNA cap sites. Nucleic Acids Res., <u>11</u>, 6647-6666.
- EVERETT, R.D., (1984a). Trans activation of transcription by herpes virus products: requirement for two HSV-1 immeadiate-early polypeptides for maximum activity.

EMBO. J., <u>3</u>, 3135-3141.

F

- EVERETT, R.D. (1984b). A detailed analysis of an HSV-1 early promoter: Sequences involved in trans-activation by viral immediate-early gene products are not early gene specific. Nucleic Acids Res., 12, 3037-3056.
- EVERETT, R.D. (1985). Activation of cellular promoters during herpes virus infection of biochemically transformed cells.EMBO J., 4, 1973-1980.
- EVERETT, R.D. (1986). The products of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) immediate early genes 1, 2 and 3 can activate HSV-1 gene expression in trans. J. Gen. Virol., <u>67</u>, 2507-2513.
- FARNAM, A.E., NEWTON, A.A. (1959). The effect of some environmental factors on herpes virus grown in HeLa cells. Virology, <u>1</u>, 449-461.
- FABER, S.W., WILCOX, K.W. (1986). Association of the herpes simplex virus regulatory protein ICP4 with specific nucleotide sequences in DNA. Nucleic Acids Res., <u>14</u>, 6067-6083.
- FENWICK, M., MORSE, L.S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1979). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. XI. Apparent clustering of functions effecting rapid inhibition of host DNA and protein synthesis. J.Virol., <u>29</u>, 825-827.
- FENWICK, M.L., AND CLARK, J. (1982). Early and delayed shut-off of host protein synthesis in cells infected with herpes simplex virus. J. Gen. Virol., <u>61</u>, 121-125.
- FENWICK, M.L., AND WALKER, M.J. (1978). Suppression of the synthesis of cellular macromolecules by herpes simplex virus. J. Gen. Virol., <u>41</u>, 37-51.
- FENWICK, M.L., AND MCMENAMIN, M.M. (1984). Early virion-associated suppression of cellular protein

synthesis by herpes simplex virus is accompanied by inactivation of mRNA. J. Gen. Virol., <u>65</u>, 1225-1228.

- FIELD, H.J., DARBY, G., AND WILDY, P. (1980). Isolation and characterisation of acyclovir-resistant mutants of herpes simplex virus. J. Gen. Virol., 49, 115-124.
- FIELD, H.J., AND WILDY, P. (1978). The pathogenicity of thymidine kinase deficient mutants of herpes simplex virus in mice. J. Hyg., 81, 267-277.
- FRAME, M.C., MCGEOCH, D.J., RIXON, F.J., ORR, A.C., AND MARSDEN. H.S. (1986). The 10K virion phosphoprotein encoded by gene US9 from herpes simplex virus type 1 . Virology, <u>150</u>, 321-332.
- FRIEDMANN, A., COWARD, J.E., ROSENKRANZ, H.S. AND MORGAN. C. (1975). Electron microscopic studies on assembly of herpes simplex virus upon removal of hydroxyurea block. J. Gen. Virol., <u>26</u>, 171-181.
- FRIEDMANN, A., SHLOMAI, J., AND BECKER, Y. (1977). Electron microscopy of herpes simplex virus DNA molecules isolated from infected cells by centrifugation in CsCl density gradients. J. Gen. Virol., <u>34</u>, 507-522.
- FRENKEL, N., LOCKER, H., BATTERSON, W., HAYWARD, G.S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1976). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. VI. Defective DNA originates from the S component. J. Virol., <u>20</u>, 527-531.
- FULLER, A.O., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1985). Specificities of monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies that inhibit adsorption of herpes simplex virus to cells and lack of inhibition by potent neutralizing antibodies. J. Virol., <u>55</u>, 475-482.
- FURLONG, D. (1978). Direct evidence for 6-fold symmetry of the herpes virus hexon capsomers. Proc. Natl.

Acad. Sci. USA, 75, 2764-2766.

G

- FURLENG, D., SWIFT, H., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1972). Arrangement of herpes virus deoxyribonucleic acid in the core. J. Virol., 10, 1071-1074.
- GAFFINEY, D.F., MCLAUCHLAN, J., WHITTON, J.L., AND CLEMENTS, J.B. (1985). A modular system for the assay of transcription regulatory signals: The sequence TAATGARAT is required for herpes simplex virus immediate early gene activation. Nucleic. Acids. Research, <u>13</u>, 7847-7858.
- GALLOWAY, D.A., AND MCDOUGALL, J.K. (1981). Transformation of rodent cells by a closed DNA fragment of herpes simplex virus type 2. J. Virol., 38, 749-760.
- GALLOWAY, D.A., AND MCDOUGALL, J.K. (1983). The oncogenic potential of herpes simplex viruses: Evidence for a 'hit and run' mechanism. Nature, <u>302</u>, 21-24.
- GALLOWAY, D.A., NELSON, J.A., AND MCDOUGALL, J.K. (1984). Small fragments of herpesvirus DNA with transforming ability contain insertion sequence-like structures. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 81, 4736-4740.
- GANNON, F., O'HARE, K., PERRIN, F., LEPENNEC, J.P., BENOIST, C., COCHET, M., BREATHNACH, R., ROYAL, A., GARAPIN, A., CAMI, B., AND CHAMBON, P. (1979). Organisation and sequences at the 5' end of a cloned complete ovalbumin gene. Nature, <u>278</u>, 428-434.
- GELMAN, I.H., AND SILVERSTEIN, S. (1985). Identification
 of immediate early genes from herpes simplex virus
 that transactivate the virus thymidine kinase gene.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>82</u>, 5265-5269.
- **GELMAN, I.H., AND SILVERSTEIN, S. (1986).** Co-ordinate regulation of herpes simplex virus gene expression is mediated by the functional interaction of two

immediate early gene products. J. Mol. Biol., <u>119</u>, 395-409.

- GELMAN, I.H., AND SILVERSTEIN, S. (1987). Herpes simplex virus immediate-early promoters are responsive to virus and cell trans-acting factors. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 2286-2296.
- GELMAN, I.H., AND SILVERSTEIN, S. (1987). Dissection of immediate-early gene promoters from herpes simplex virus: Sequences that respond to the virus transcriptional activators. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 3167-3172.
- GERSTER, T., AND ROEDER, R.G. (1988). A herpesvirus trans-activating protein interacts with transcription factor OTF-1 and other cellular proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>85</u>, 6347-6351.
- GIBBS, J.S., CHIOU, H.C., HALL, J.D., MOUNT, D.W., RETONDO, M.J., WELLER, S.K., AND COEN, D.M. (1985). Sequence and mapping analyses of the herpes simplex virus DNA polymerase gene predict a C-terminal substrate binding domain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>82</u>, 7969-7973.
- GIBSON, W. (1981). Structural and nonstructural proteins of strain colburn cytomegalovirus. Virology, <u>111</u>, 516-537.
- GIBSON, W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1971). Compartmentalisation of spermine and spermidine in herpes simplex virions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>68</u>, 2818-2821.
- GIBSON, W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1972). Proteins specific by herpes simplex virus. VIII Characterization and composition of multiple capsid forms of subtype 1 and 2. J. Virol., <u>10</u>, 1044-1052.
- GIBSON, W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1974). Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. X. Staining and radiolabeling

properties of B capsid and virion proteins in polyacrylamide gels. J. Virol., <u>13</u>, 155-165.

- GLICKMAN, B.W., SCHAAPER, R.M., HASELTINE, W.A., DUNN, R.L., AND BRASH, D.E. (1986). The C-C (6-4) UV photoproduct is mutagenic in *Escherichia coli*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 83, 6945-6949.
- GLORIOSO, J.C., LEVINE, M., HOLLAND, T.C., AND SZCZESIUL, M.S. (1980). Mutant analysis of herpes simplex virus-induced cell surface antigens: Resistance to complement-mediated immune cytolysis. J. Virol., <u>35</u>, 672-681.
- GODOWSKI, P.J., AND KNIPE, D.M. (1985). Identification of a herpes simplex virus function that represses late gene expression from parental genomes. J. Virol., <u>55</u>, 357-365.
- GOLDSTEIN, D.J., AND WELLER S.K. (1988). Herpes simplex virus type 1-induced ribonucleotide reductase activity is dispensable for virus growth and DNA synthesis: Isolation and characterization of an ICP6 lac Z insertion mutant. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 196-205.
- GOMPLES U. AND MINSON, A. (1986). The properties and sequence of glycoprotein H of herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology, <u>153</u>, 230-247.
- GOODPASTURE, E.W. (1929). Herpetic infections with SPECIAL reference to involvement of the nervous system. Medicine (baltimore), <u>8</u>, 223-243.
- GRAFSTORM, R.H., ALWINE, J.C., STEINHART, W.L., AND HILL, C.W. (1974). terminal repetitions in herpes simplex type 1 DNA. Cold Spring Harbour Symp. Quant. Biol., 39, 679-681.
- GRAFSTROM, R.H., ALWINE, J.C., STEINHART, W.L., HILL, C.W., AND HYMAN R.W. (1975). The terminal repetition of herpes simplex virus DNA. Virology, <u>67</u>, 144-157.

- GRAHAM, B.J., BENGALI, Z., AND VANDE WOUDE, G.F. (1978). Physical map of the origin of defective DNA in herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA. J. Virol., 25, 878-887.
- GRAHAM, B.J., LUDWIG, H., BRONSON, D.L., BENYESH-MELNICK, M., AND BISWAL, N. (1972). Physiochemical properties of the DNA of herpes viruses. Biochim. et. biophys. acta., 259, 13-23.
- GRAHAM, F.L., VELDHEISEN, G., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1973). Infectious herpesvirus DNA. Nature New Biology, <u>245</u>, 265-266.
- GRAVES, B.J., JOHNSON, P.F., AND MCNIGHT, S.L. (1986). Homologous recognition of a promoter domain common to the MSV LTR and the HSV TK gene. Cell, <u>44</u>, 565-576.
- GRAY, C.P., AND KAERNER, H.C. (1984). Sequence of the putative origin of replication in the U_L region of herpes simplex virus type 1 ANG DNA. J. Gen. Virol., <u>65</u>, 2109-2119.
- GREEN, N., ALEXANDER, H., OLSON, A., ALEXANDER, S., SHINNICK, T.M., SUTCLIFFE, J.G., AND LERNER, R.A. (1982). Immunogenic structure of the influenza virus haemagglutinin. Cell, <u>28</u>, 477-487.

H

- HAARR, L., MARSDEN, H.S., PERSTON, C.M., SMILEY, J.R., SUMMERS, W.C., AND SUMMERS, W.P. (1985). Utilization of AUG codons for initiation of protein synthesis directed by the messenger RNA for herpes simplex virus-specificed thymidine kinase. J. Virol., <u>56</u>, 512-519.
- HAGUENAU, F., AND MICHELSON-FISKE, S. (1975). Cytomegalovirus: Nucleocapsid assembly and core structure. Intervirology, <u>5</u>: 293-299.
- HALLIBURTON, I.W., RANDALL, R.E., KILLINGTON, R.A., AND WATSON, D.H. (1977). Some properties of recombinants between type 1 and type 2 herpes simplex viruses. J.

Gen. Virol., <u>36</u>, 471-484.

- HALLIBURTON, I.W., AND TIMBURY, M.C. (1976). Temperaturesensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 2: Description of three new complementation groups and studies on the inhibition of host all DNA synthesis. J. Gen. Virol., <u>30</u>, 207-221.
- HANAHAN, D. (1983). Studies on transformation of <u>E.Coli</u> with plasmids. J. Mol. Biol., <u>166</u>, 557-580.
- HARRIS-HAMILTON, E., AND BACHENHEIMER, S.L. (1985). Accumulation of herpes simplex virus type 1 RNAs of different kinetic classes in the cytoplasm of infected cells. J. Virol., <u>53</u>, 144-151.
- HAY, R.T., AND HAY, J. (1980). Properties of herpesvirusinduced "immediate early" polypeptides. Virology, <u>104</u>, 230-234.
- HAY, J., MOSS, H., AND HALLIBURTON, I.W. (1971). Induction of deoxyribonucleic acid polymerase and deoxyribonuclease activities in cells infected with herpes simplex virus type 2. Biochem. J., <u>124</u>, 64-71.
- HAY, J., AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1976). Mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2 that are resistant to phosphonoacetic acid induce altered DNA polymerase activities in infected cells. J. Gen. Virol., <u>31</u>, 145-148.
- HAYWARD, G.S., JACOB, R.J., WADSWORTN, S.C., AND ROIZMAN,
 B. (1975). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA: Evidence for four populations of molecules that differ in the relative orientations of their long and short components. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, <u>72</u>, 4243-4247.
- HEILMAN, JR., C.J., ZWEIG, M., STEPHENSON, J. R., AND HAMPAR, B. (1979). Isolation of a nucleocapsid polypeptide of herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2

possessing immunologically type-specific and crossreactive determinants. J. Virol., <u>29</u>, 34-42.

- HEINE, J.E., HONESS, R.W., CASSAI, E., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1974). Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus . XII. The virion polypeptides of type-1 strains. J. Virol., <u>14</u>, 640-651.
- HEINE, J.W., SPEAR, P.G., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1972). Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. VI. Viral proteins in the plasma membrane. J. Virol., <u>9</u>, 431-439
- HIGHLANDER, S.L., SUTHERLAND, S.L., GAGE, P.J., JOHNSON, D.C., LAVINE, M., AND GLORIOSO, J.C. (1987). Neutralizing monoclonal antibodies specific for herpes simplex virus glycoprotein D inhibit virus penetration. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 3356-3364.
- HIGHLANDER, S.L., CAI, W., PERSON, S., LEVINE, M., AND GLORIOSO, J.C. (1988). Monoclonal antibodies define a domain on herpes simplex virus glycoprotein B involved in virus penetration. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 1881-1888.
- HILL, T.M., SINDEN, R.R., SADLER, J.R. (1983). Herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 induce shutoff of host protein synthesis by different mechanisms in friend erythroleukemia cells. J. Virol., <u>45</u>, 241-250.
- HOCHBERG, E., AND BECKER, Y. (1968). Adsorption, penetration and uncoating of herpes simplex virus. J. GEN. VIROL., <u>2</u>, 231-241.
- HOLLAND, L.E., ANDERSON, K.P., SHIPMAN, C., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1980). Viral DNA synthesis is required for the efficient expression of specific herpes simplex virus type 1 mRNA species. Virology, <u>101</u>, 10-24.
- HOLLAND, T.C., HOMA, F.L., MARLIN, S.D., LEVINE, M., AND GLORIOSO, J. (1984). Herpes simplex virus type 1

glycoprotein C-Negative mutants exhibit multiple phenotypes, including secretion of truncated glycoproteins. J. Virol., <u>52</u>, 566-574.

- HOLLAND, T.C., MARLIN, S.D., LEVINE, M., AND GLORIOSO, J. (1983). Antigenic variants of herpes simplex virus selected with glycoprotein-specific monoclonal antibodies. J. Virol., 45, 672-682.
- HOLMES, D.S., AND QUIGLEY, M. (1981). A rapid boiling method for the preparation of bacterial plasmids. Anal. Biochem., 114, 193-197.
- HONESS, R.W., BUCHAN, A., HALLIBURTON, I.W., AND WATSON, D.H. (1980). Recombination and linkage between structural and regulatory genes of herpes simplex virus type 1; study of the functional organisation of the genome. J. Virol., 34, 716-742.
- HONESS, R.,W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1973). Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. XI identification and relative molar rates of synthesis of structural and non structural herpes virus polypeptides in the infected cell. J. Virol., <u>12</u>, 1347-1365.
- HONESS, R.W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1974). Regulation of herpes virus macromolecular synthesis. I. Cascade regulation of the synthesis of three groups of viral proteins. J. Virol., <u>14</u>, 8-19.
- HONESS, R.W., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1975). Regulation of herpes virus macromolecular synthesis: Sequential transition of polypeptide synthesis require functional viral polypeptides. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, <u>72</u>, 1276-1280.
- HOMA, F.L., OTAL, T.M., GLORIOSO, J.C., AND LEVINE, M. (1986). Transcriptional control signals of a herpes simplex virus type 1 late (δ_2) gene lie within bases -34 to +124 relative to the 5' terminus of the mRNA. Molecular and cellular biology, <u>6</u>, 3652-3666.

- HORIKOSHI, M., CAREY, M.F., KAKIDANI, H., AND ROEDER, R.G. (1988a) Mechanism of action of a yeast activator: Direct effect of GAL4 derivatives on mammalian TFIIDpromoter interactions. Cell, 54, 665-669.
- HORIKOSHI, M., HAI, T., LIN, Y-S., GREEN, M.R., AND ROEDER, R.G. (1988b). Transcription factor ATF interacts with the TATA factor to facilitate establishment of a preintiation complex. Cell, <u>54</u>, 1033-1042.
- HUBENTHAL-VOSS, J., HOUGHTEN, R.A., PEREIRA, L., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1988). Mapping of functional and antigenic domains of the (α)4 protein of herpes simplex virus 1. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 454-462.

HUBENTHAL-VOSS, J., STARR, L., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1987). The herpes simplex virus origins of DNA synthesis in the S component are each contained in a transcribed open reading frame. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 3349-3355.

- HUMMELER, K., TOMASSINI, N., AND ZAJAC, B., (1969). Early events in herpes simplex virus infection: A radioautographic study. J. Virol., <u>4</u>, 67-74.
- HUTCHINSON, F., YAMAMOTO, K., STEIN, J. (1988). Effect of photoreactivation on mutagensis of lambda phage by ultraviolet light. J. Mol. Biol., <u>202</u>, 593-601.

Ι

J

- IRMIERE, A., AND GIBSON, W. (1985). Isolation of human cytomegalovirus intranuclear capsids, characterization of their protein constituents, and demonstration that the B-capsid assembly protein is also abundant in noninfectious enveloped particles. J. Virol., <u>56</u>, 277-283.
- JACOB, R.J., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1977). Anatonmy of herpes simplex virus DNA. VIII. Properties of the replicating DNA. J. Virol., <u>23</u>, 394-411.
- JACOB, R.J., MORSE, L.S., AND ROIZMAN. B. (1979). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. XII. Accummulation of

head to tail concatemers in nuclei of infected cells and their role in the generation of the four isomeric arrangements of viral DNA. J. Virol., <u>29</u>, 448-457.

- JARIWALLA, R.J., AURELIAN, L., AND TS'O, P.O.P. (1983). Immortalisation and neoplastic transformation of normal diploid cells by defined cloned DNA fragments of herpes simplex virus type 2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 80, 5902-5906.
- JAVIER, R.T., IZUMI, K.M., AND STEVENS, J.G. (1988a). Localization of a herpes simplex virus neurovirulence gene dissociated from high-titer virus replication in the brain. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 1381-1387.
- JAVIER, R.T., SEDARATI, F., AND STEVENS. J.G. (1986). Two a virulent herpes simplex viruses generate lethal recombinants in vivo. Science, <u>234</u>, 746-748.
- JAVIER, R.T., STEVENS, J.G., DISSETTE, V.B., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1988b). A herpes simplex virus transcript abundant in latently infected neurons is dispensable for establishment of the latent state. Virology, <u>166</u>, 254-257.
- JEAN, J-H., BLANKENSHIP, M.L., AND BEN-PORAT, T. (1977). Replication of herpesvirus DNA. I. Electron microscopic analysis of replicative structures. Virology, <u>79</u>, 281-291.
- JENKINS, F.J., CASABABAN, M.J. AND ROIZMAN, B. (1985). Application of the mini-mu-phage for target sequencespecific insertional mutagensis of the herpes simplex virus genome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>82</u>, 4773-4777.
- JOFRE, J.T., COURTNENEY, R.J., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1981). A dominant lethal temperature-sensitive mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology, <u>111</u>, 173-190.

JOHNSON, D.C., WITTELS, M., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1984).
Binding to cells of virosomes containing herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoproteins and evidence for fusion. J. Virol., <u>52</u>, 238-247.

- JOHNSON, P.A., AND EVERETT, R.D. (1986a). DNA replication is required for abundant expression of a plasmid-borne late Us11 gene of herpes simplex virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Res., <u>14</u>, 3609-3625.
- JOHNSON, P.A., AND EVERETT, R.D. (1986b). The control of HSV type 1 late gene transcription: A 'TATAbox'/capsite region is sufficient for fully efficient regulated activity. Nucleic Aicd Research, <u>14</u>, 8247-8264.
- JOHNSON, D.C., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1982). Monensin inhibits the processing of herpes simplex virus glycoproteins, their transport to the cell surface, and the egress of virions from infected cells. J. Virol., <u>43</u>, 1102-1112.
- JOHNSON, R.M., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1989). Herpes simplex virus glycoprotein D mediates interference with herpes simplex virus infection. J. Virol., 63, 819-827.
- JONES, C., ORTIZ, J., AND JARIWALLA, R.J. (1986). Localisation and comparative nucleotide sequence analysis of the transforming domain in herpes simplex virus DNA containing repetitive gentic elements. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>83</u>, 7855-7895.
- JONES, K.A., AND TIJAN, R. (1985). SP1 binds to promoter sequences and activates herpes simplex virus 'immediate-early' gene transcription in vitro. Nature, <u>317</u>, 179-182.
- JONES, K.A., YAMAMOTO, K.R., AND TJIAN, R. (1985). Two distinct transcription factors bind to the HSV thymidine kinase promoter in vitro. Cell, <u>42</u>, 559-572.

- KAERNER, H.C., MAICHLE, I.B., OTT, A., AND SCHRÖDER, C.H. (1979). Origin of two different classes of defective HSV-1 Angelotti DNA. Nucleic Acids Research, <u>6</u>, 1467-1478.
- KAERNER, H.C., OTT-HARTMAN, A., SCHATTER, R., SCHRODER, C., AND GRAY, C. (1981). Amplification of a short nucleotide sequence in the repest units of deective herpes simplex virus type 1 angelotti DNA. J. Virol., <u>39</u>, 75-81.
- KATSUMOTO, T., HIRANO, A. KURIMURA, T., AND TAKAGI, A. (1981). In situ electron microscopical observation of cells infected with herpes simplex virus. J. Gen. Virol., <u>52</u>, 267-278.
- KESSLER, S.W. (1975). Rapid isolation of antigens from cells with a staphylococcal protein A-antibody: parameters of the interaction of antibody-antigen complexes with protein A. J. Immunol., <u>115</u>, 1617-1624.
- KIEFF, E.D., BACHENHEIMER, S.L., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1971). Size, composition, and structure of the deoxyribonucleic acid of herpes simplex virus subtypes 1 and 2. J. Virol., <u>8</u>, 125-132.
- KIT, S., AND DUBBS, D.R. (1963). Acquisition of thymidine kinase activity by herpes simplex infected mouse fibroblast cells. Biophys. Res. Comm., <u>11</u>, 55-59.
- KIT, S., DUBBS, D.R., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1978). Thymidine kinase activity in biochemically transformed mouse cells after superinfection by thymidine-kinasenegative temperature-sensitive herpes simplex virus mutants. Virology, <u>85</u>, 456-463.
- KNIPE, D.M., BATTERSON, W., NOSAL, C., ROIZMAN, B., AND BUCHAN. A. (1981). Molecular genetics of herpes simplex virus VI. Characterization of a temperaturesensitive mutant defective in the expression of all

early viral gene products. J. Virol., 38, 539-547.

- KRISTIE, T.M., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1987). Host cell proteins bind to the cis-acting site required for virionmediated induction of herpes simplex virus 1 α genenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, <u>84</u>, 71-75.
- KRISTIE, T.M., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1984). Separation of sequences defining basal expression from those conferring alpha gene recognition within the regulatory domains of herpes simplex virus 1 alpha genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 81, 4065-4069.
- **KRISTIE, T.M., AND ROIZMAN, B.** (1986a). ICP4, the major regulatory protein of herpes simplex virus type 1, is stably and specifically associated with promoterregulatory domains of (α) genes and of selected other viral genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>83</u>, 3218-3222.
- KRISTIE, T.M., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1986b). DNA-binding site of major regulatory protein ICP4 specifically associated with promoter-regulatory domains of (α) genes of herpes simplex virus type 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>83</u>, 4700-4704.
- KWONG, A.D., KRUPER, J.A. AND FRANKEL, N. (1988). Herpes simplex virus virion host shut off function. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 912-921.
- KWONG, A.D., AND FRENKEL, N. (1987). Herpes simplex virus-infected cells contain function (s) which destabilize both host and viral mRNAs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>84</u>, 1926-1930.

L

LADIN, B. F., BLANKENSHIP, M.L., AND BEN-PORAT, T. (1980). Replication of herpesvirus DNA. <u>V</u> Maturation of concatemeric DNA of pseudorabies virus to genome length is related to capsid formation. J. Virol., <u>33</u>, 1151-1164.

- LADIN, B.F., IHARA,S., HAMPL, H. AND BEN-PORAT, T. (1982). Pathway of assembly of herpes virus capsids: An analysis using DNA⁺ temperature sensitive mutants of pseudorabies virus. Virology, 116, 544-561.
- LANG, J.C., SPANDIDES, D.A., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1984). Transcriptional regulation of a herpes simplex virus immediate early gene is mediated through an enhancertype sequence. EMBO J., 3, 389-395.
- LARDER, B.A., AND DARBY, G. (1985). Selection and characterisation of acyclovir-resistant herpes simplex virus type 1 mutants inducing altered DNA polymerase activities. Virology, <u>146</u>, 262-271.
- LARDER, B.A., KEMP, S.D., AND DARBY, G., (1987). Related functional domains in virus DNA polymerases. EMBO, <u>6</u>, 169-175.
- LAVI, S. (1981). Carcinogen mediated amplification of viral DNA sequences in simian virus 40 transformed chinese hamster embryo cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>78</u>, 6144-6148.
- LEIB, D.A., COEN, D.M., BOGARD, C.L., HICKS, K.A., YAGER, D.R., KNIPE, D.M., TYLER, K.L., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1989). Immediate-early regulatory gene mutants define different stages in the establishment and reactivation of herpes simplex virus latency. J. Virol., 63, 759-768.
- LEINBACH, S.S., RENO, J.M., LEE, L.-F., ISBELL, A.F., AND BOEZI, J. (1976). Mechanism of phosphonoacetate inhibition of herpes virus-induced DNA polymerase. Biochemistry, <u>15</u>, 426-430.
- LEMASTER, S., AND ROIZMAN. B. (1980). Herpes simplex virus phosphoproteins. II. Characterization of the virion protein kinase and of the polypeptides phosphorylated in the virion. J. Virol., <u>35</u>, 798-811.

- LIGAS, M.W., AND JOHNSON, D.C. (1988). A herpes simplex virus mutant in which glycoprotein D sequences are replaced by β -galactosidase sequences binds to but is unable to penetrate into cells. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 1486-1494.
- LITTLE, S.P., JOFRE, J.T., COURTNEY, R.J., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1981). A virion-associated glycoprotein essential for infectivity of herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology, <u>115</u>, 149-160.
- LITLLE, S.P. AND SHAFFER, P.A. (1981). Expression of the syncytial (*syn*) phenotype in HSV-1, strain KOS: genetic and phenotype studies of mutants in two *syn* loci. Virology, 112, 686-702.
- LOCKER, H., AND FRENKEL, N. (1979). Structure and origin of defective genomes contained in serially passaged herpes simplex virus type 1 (justin). J. Virol., <u>29</u>, 1065-1077.
- LONGNECKER, R., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1986). Generation of an inverting herpes simplex virus 1 mutant lacking the L-S Junction a sequences, an origin of DNA synthesis, and several genes including those specifying glycoprotein E and the $\alpha 47$ gene. J. Virol., <u>58</u>, 583-591.
- LONGNECKER, R., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1987). Clustering of genes dispensable for growth in culture in the S component of the HSV-1 genome. Science, <u>236</u>, 573-576.
- LONGNECKER, R., CHATTERJEE, S., WHITLEY, R.J., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1987). Identification of a herpes simplex virus 1 glycoprotein gene within a gene cluster dispensable for growth in cell culture. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>84</u>, 4303-4307.
- LONSDALE, D.M. (1979). A rapid technique for distinguishing herpes simplex virus type 1 from type 2 by restriction enzyme technology. Lancet, April 21, 849-852.
- LOWENADLER, B., JANSSON, B., PALEUS, S., HOLMGREN, E., NILSSON, B., MOKS, T., PALM, G., JOSEPHSON, S., PHILIPSON, L., AND UHLEN, M. (1987). A gene fusion system for generating antibodies against short

peptides. Gene, <u>58</u>, 87-97.

Μ

- LYCKE, E., KRISTENSSON, K., SVENNERHOLM, B., VAHLNE, A., AND ZIEGLER, R. (1984). Uptake and transport of herpes simplex virus in neurites of rat dorsal root ganglia cells in culture. J. Gen. Virol., <u>65</u>, 55-64.
- MACPHERSON, T STOKER, M. AND (1962). Polvoma transformation of hamster cell clones: An investigation of genetic factors affecting cell competence. Virology, 16, 147-151.
- MACHTIGER, N.A., B.A., PANCAKE, B.A., EBERLE, COUNTNEY, R.J., TEVETHIA, S.S., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1980). Herpes simplex virus glycoproteins; Isolation of mutants resistant to immunecytolysis. J. Virol., <u>34</u>, 336-346.
- MARCHETTI, M.E., SMITH, C.A., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1988). A temperature-sensitive mutation in a herpes simplex virus type-1 gene required for viral DNA synthesis maps to coordinates 0.609 through 0.614 in UL. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 715-721.
- MACHUCA, I., EPSTEIN, A.L., MICHAL, X., AND JACQUEMONT, B. (1987). Genetic and environmental determination of herpes simplex virus type 1 penetration into nonpermissive rat XC cells. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 2455-2459.
- MACKEM, S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1980). Regulation of herpesvirus macromolecular synthesis: Transciptioninitiation sites and domains of α genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>77</u>, 7122-7126.
- MACKEM, S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1982a). Regulation of a alpha genes of herpes simplex virus: The alpha 27 gene promoter-thymidine kinase chimaera is postively regulated in converted in L cells. J. Virol., <u>43</u>, 1015-1023.

- MACKEM, S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1982b). Differentiation between alpha promoter and regulator regions of herpes simplex virus 1: The functional domains and sequence of a moveable alpha regulator. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 79, 4917-4921.
- MACLEAN, A.R. (1988). XbaI site lose mutants and deletion/duplication variants of HSV-1 isolation and characterisation and recombination studies. PhD. Thesis, University of Glasgow.
- MACLEAN, A.R. AND BROWN, M.S. (1987). Generation of a herpes simplex virus type 1 variant devoid of XbaI sites. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 1165-1171.
- MACLEAN, C.A., RIXON, F.J., ANA MARSDEN, H.S. (1987). The products of gene Us11 of herpes simplex virus type 1 are DNA-binding and localize to the nucleoli of infected cells. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 1921-1937.
- MACNAB, J.C.M. (1987). Herpes simplex virus and human cytomegalovirus: Their role in morphological transformation and genital cancers. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 2525-2550.
- MACNAB, J.C..M., ORR, A., AND LATHANGUE, N.B. (1985). Cellular proteins expressed in herpes simplex virus transformed cell also accumulate on herpes simplex virus infection. EMBO J., <u>4</u>, 3223-3228.
- MANIATIS, T., FRITSCH, E.F., AND SAMBROOK, J. (1982). Molecular cloning: A laboratory manual, Cold Spring Harbour laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- MANSERVIGI, R. (1974). Method for isolation and selection of temperature-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus. Applied Microbiology, <u>27</u>, 1034-1040.
- MARCIANO-CABRAL, F., DIX, R.D., CABRAL, G.A., AND COURTNEY, R.J. (1977). Effects of cytochalasin B on the maturation of herpes simplex virus type 1: An

- MARSDEN, H.S. (1987). Herpes simplex virus glycoproteins and pathogenesis. In: Molecular basis of virus diseases, Eds. by W.J. Russel and G. Almond. pp.259-288. Cambridge University press, Cambridge.
- MARSDEN, H.S., CROMBIE, I.K., AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1976). Contorl of protein synthesis in herpesvirusinfected cells: Analysis of the polypeptides induced by wild type and sixteen temperature-sensitive mutants of HSV stain 17. J. Gen. Virol., 31, 347-372.
- MARSDEN, H.S., STOW, N.D., PRESTON, V.G., TIMBURY, M.C., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1978). Physical mapping of herpes simplex virus-induced polypeptides. J. Virol., <u>28</u>, 624-642.
- MARSDEN, H.S., CAMPBELL, M.E.M., HAARR, L., FRAME, M.C., PARRIS, D.S., MURPHY, M., HOPE,R.G., MULLER, M.T., AND PRESTON, C.M. (1987). The 65,000-Mr DNA-binding and virion trans-inducing proteins of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 2428-2437.
- MATTHEWS, R.E.F. (1982). Classification and nomenclature of viruses. Fourth report of the international committe on taxonomy of viruses. Intervirology, <u>17</u>, 1-199.
- MATZ, B., SCHLEHOFER, J.R., AND ZUR HAUSEN, H. (1984). Identification of a gene function of herpes simplex virus type 1 essential for amplification of simian virus 40 DNA sequences in transformed hamster cells. Virology, <u>134</u>, 328-337.
- MATZ, B., SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H., AND PRESTON, V.G. (1983). Physical mapping of temperature-sensitive mutations of herpes simplex virus type 1 using cloned restriction endonuclease fragments. J. Gen. Virol., <u>64</u>, 2261-2270.

- MARROMARA-NAZOS, P., ACKERMANN, M., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1986a). Construction and properties of a viable herpes simplex virus 1 recombinant lacking coding sequences of the α47 gene. J. Virol., <u>60</u>, 807-812.
- MAVROMARA-NAZOS, P., SILVER, S., HUBENTHAL-VOSS, J., McKNIGHT, J.L.C., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1986b). Regulation of herpes simplex virus 1 genes: α gene sequence requirements for transient induction of indicator genes regulated by β or late (δ_2) promoters. Virology, <u>149</u>, 152-164.
- MCCARTHY, A.M., McMAHAN, L., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP27 deletion mutants exhibit altered patterns of transcription and are DNA deficient. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 18-27.
- MCCOMBS, R.M., BRUNSCH WIG, J.P., MIRKOVIC, R., BENYESH-MELNICK M. (1971). Electron microscopic characterization of a herpes like virus isolated from tree shrews. Virology., <u>45</u>, 816-820
- MCCREADY, S.J., GODWIN, J., MASON, D.W., BRAZELL, I.A., AND COOK, P.R. (1980). DNA is replicated at the nuclear cage. J. Cell. Science, 46, 365-386.
- MCDOUGALL, J.K., GALLOWAY, D.A., AND FENOGLIO, C.M. (1980). Cervical carcinoma: Detection of herpes simplex virus RNA in cells undergoing neoplastic change. International Jounrnal of Cancer, <u>25</u>, 1-9.
- MCGEOCH, D.J. (1985). On the predictive recognition of signal peptide sequences. Virus Research., <u>31</u>, 271-286.
- MCGEOCH, D.J., DOLAN, A., DONALD, S., AND RIXON, F.J. (1985). Sequence determination and genetic content of the short unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Mol. Biol., <u>181</u>, 1-13.

MCGEOCH, D.J. DOLAN, A., DONALD. S., AND BRAUER, D.H.K.

(1986). Complete DNA sequence of the short repeat region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Reseach., $\underline{4}$, 1727-1744.

- MCGEOCH, D.J. AND DAVISON, A.J. (1986). Alphaherpesviruses possess a gene homologous to the protein kinase gene family of eukaryotes and retroviruses. Nucleic Acids Research., 14, 1765-1776.
- MCGEOCH, D.J., DOLAN, A., AND FRAME, M.C. (1986). DNA sequence of the region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1 containing the exonuclease gene and neighbouring genes. Nucleic Acids Research., <u>14</u>, 3435-3448.
- MCGEOCH, D.J. AND DAVISON, A.J. (1986). DNA sequence of the herpes simplex virus type 1 gene encoding glycoprotein gH, and identification of homologues in the genomes of varicella-zoster virus and epstein-barr virus. Nucleic Acids Research., <u>14</u>, 4281-4292.
- MCGEOCH, D.J., MOSS, H.W.M., MCNAB, D., AND FRAME, M.C. (1987). DNA sequence and genetic content of the Hind III 1 region in the short unique component of the herpes simplex virus type 2 geneome: Identification of the gene encoding glycoprotein G, and evolutionary comparisons. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 19-38.
- MCGEOCH, D.J., DALRYMPLE, M.A., DAVISON, A.J., DOLAN, A., FRAME, M.C., MCNAB, D., PERRY, L.J., SCOTT, J.E., AND TAYLOR, P. (1988). The complete DNA sequence of the long unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 1531-1574.
- MCKNIGHT, S.L. (1980). The nucleotide sequence and transcript map of the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene. Nucleic Acids Research, <u>8</u>, 5949-5964.
- MCKNIGHT, S.L., AND KINGSBURY, R. (1982). Transcriptional control signals of a eukaryotic protein-coding gene. Science, <u>217</u>, 316-324.

- MCKNIGHT, S.L., KINGSBURY, R., SPENCE, A., AND SMITH, M. (1984). The distal transcriptional signals of the herpes virus TK gene share a common hexonucleotide control sequence. Cell, 37, 253-262.
- MCKNIGHT, S.L., AND TJIAN, R. (1986). Transcriptional selectivity of viral genes in mammalian cells. Cell, 46, 795-805.
- MCKNIGHT, J.L.C., KRISTIE, T.M., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1987). Binding of the virion protein mediating α gene induction in herpes simplex virus 1-infected cells to its cis site requires cellular proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>84</u>, 7061-7065.
- MCLAUCHLAN, J., AND CLEMENTS, B. (1983). DNA sequence homology between two co-linear loci on the HSV genome which have different transforming abilities. EMBO. J., <u>2</u>, 1953-1961.
- MCLAUCHLAN, J., GAFFNEY, D., WHITTON, J.L., AND CLEMENTS, J.B. (1985). The consensus sequence YGTGTTYY located downstream from the AATAAA signal is required for efficient formation of mRNA 3' termini. Nucleic Acids Research, <u>13</u>, 1347-1368.
- MCLENNAN, J.L., AND DARBY, G. (1980). Herpes simplex virus latency: The cellular location of virus in dorsal root ganglia and the fate of the infected cell following virus activation. J. Gen. Virol., <u>51</u>, 233-243.
- MEIGNIER, B., LONGNECKER, R., MAVROMARA-NAZOS, P., SEARS, A.E., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1988). Virulence of and establishment of latency by genetically engineered deletion mutants of herpes simplex virus 1. Virology, <u>162</u>, 251-254.
- MELLERICK, D.M., AND FRASER, N.W. (1987). Physical state of the latent herpes simplex virus genome in a mouse model system: Evidence suggesting an episomal state.

Virology, <u>158</u>, 265-275.

- MESSING, J. (1979). A multipurpose cloning system based on the single stranded DNA bacteriophage M13. Recombinant DNA technical Bulletin, NIH publication No. 79-99, 2, 43-48.
- MESSING, J., AND VIERA, J. (1982). A new pair of M13 vectors for selecting either strand of double-digest restriction fragments. Gene, 19, 269-276.
- MICHAEL, N., SPECTOR, D., MAVROMARA-NAZOS P., KRISTIE, T.M., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1988). The DNA-Binding properties of the major regulatory protein α4 of herpes simplex viruses. Science, <u>239</u>, 1531-1534.
- MILLER, J.H. (1985). Mutagenic specificity of ultraviolet light. J. Mol. Biol., <u>182</u>, 45-68.
- MINSON, A.C., THOULESS, M.E., EGLIN, R.P., AND DARBY, G. (1976). The detection of virus DNA sequences in HSV-2 transformed hamster cell line (333-8-9). Int. J. Cancer, <u>17</u>, 493-500.
- MIYAMOTO, K. (1971). Mechanism of intranuclear crystal formation of herpes simplex virus as revealed by the negative staining of thin sections. J. Virol., <u>8</u>, 534-550.
- MIYAMOTO, K., AND MORGAN, C. (1971). Structure and development of viruses as observed in the electron microscope. XI. Entry and uncoating of herpes simplex virus. J. Virol., <u>8</u>, 910-918.
- MOCARSKI, E.S., DEISS, L.P., AND FRENKEL, N. (1985). Nucleotide sequence and structural features of a novel U_s -a junction present in a defective herpes simplex virus genome. J. Virol., <u>55</u>, 140-146.
- MOCARSKI, E.S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1981). Site-specific inversion sequence of the herpes simplex virus genome:

Domain and structural features. Proc. Natl. Acid. Sci., USA, <u>78</u>, 7047-7051.

- MOCARSKI, E.S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1982). Herpesviursdependent amplification and inversion of cellassociated viral thymidine kinase gene flanked by viral a sequences and linked to an origin of viral DNA replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>79</u>, 5626-5630.
- MORGAN, C., ELLISON, S.A., ROSE, H.M. AND MOORE, D.H. (1954). Structure and development of viruses as observed in the electron microscope. J. Exp. Med., <u>100</u>, 195-202.
- MORGAN, C., ROSE, H.M., HOLDEN, M., AND JONES, E.P. (1959). Electron microscopic observations on the development of herpes simplex virus. J. Exp. Med., <u>110</u>, 643-656.
- MORGAN, C., ROSE, H.M., AND MEDNIS, B. (1968). Electron microscopy of herpes simplex virus I. Entry. J. Virol., 2, 507-516.
- MORSE, L.S., BUCHMAN, T.G., ROIZMAN, B., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1977). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. (*) Apparent exclusion of some parental DNA arrangements in the generation of intertypic (HSV-1 x HSV-2) recombinants. J. Virol., <u>24</u>, 231-248.
- MORES, L.S., PEREIRA, L., ROIZMAN, B., SCHAFFER, P.A. (1978). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus (HSV) DNA. X Mapping of viral genes by analysis of polypeptides and functions specified by HSV-1XHSV-2 recombinants. J. Virol., <u>26</u>, 389-410.
- MORRISON, J.M., AND KEIR, H.M. (1968). A new DNAexonuclease in cells infected with herpes virus: Partial purification and properties of the enzyme. J. Gen. Virol., <u>3</u>, 337-347.

- MOSS, B., GERSHOWITZ, A., STRINGER, J.R., HOLLAND, L.E., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1977). 5'-Terminal and internal methylated nucleosides in herpes simplex virus type 1 mRNA. J. Virol, 23, 234-239.
- MULLER, M.T. (1987). Binding of the herpes simplex virus immediate-early gene product ICP4 to its own transcription start site. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 858-865.
- MURCHIE, M.J., AND MCGECOH D.J. (1982). DNA sequence analysis of an immediate-early gene region of the herpes simplex virus type 1 genome (Map coordinates 0.950 to 0.978). J. Gen. Virol., <u>62</u>, 1-15.

Ν

- NAHMIAS, A.J., JOSEY, W.E., NAIB, Z.M., LUCE, C.F., AND GUEST, B. (1980). Antibodies to herpesvirus hominis type 1 and 2 in human. II. Women with cervical cancer. Amer. J. Epidem., <u>91</u>, 547-552.
- NASSERI, M., AND MOCARSKI, E.S. (1988). The cleavage recognition signal is contained within sequences surrounding an a-a junction in herpes simplex virus DNA. Virology, <u>167</u>, 25-30.
- NAZERIAN K. (1974). DNA configuration in the core of marek's disease virus. J. Virol., <u>13</u>, 1148-1150.
- NEIDHARDT, H., SCHRÖD, C.H., AND KAERNER, H.C. (1987). Herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoprotein E is not indispensable for viral infectivity. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 600-603.
- NEWCOMB, W.W., AND BROWN, J.C. (1989). Use of Ar+ plasma etching to localize structural proteins in the capsid of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 4697-4702.
- NEWCOMB, W.W., BROWN, J.C., BOOY, F.P., AND STEVEN, A.C. (1989). Nucleocapsid mass and capsomer protein stoichiometry in equine herpesvirus 1: Scanning transmission electron microscopic study. J. Virol.,

<u>63</u>, 3777-3783.

0

- NICHOLSON, H., BECKTEL, W.J., AND MATTHEWS, B.W. (1988). Enhanced protein thermostability from designed mutations that interact with α -helix dipoles. Nature, <u>336</u>, 651-656.
- NII, S., MORGAN, C., AND ROSE, H.M. (1968). Electron microscopy of herpes simplex virus II. Sequence of development. J. Virol., 2, 517-536.
- NISHIOKA, Y., AND SILVERSTEIN, S. (1977). Degradation of cellular mRNA during infection by herpes simplex virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>74</u>, 2370-2374.
- NISHIOKA, Y., AND SILVERSTEIN, S. (1978). Requirment of protein synthesis for the degradation of host mRNA in friend erythroleukemia cells infected with herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>27</u>, 619-627.
- NORRANDER, J., KEMPE, T., AND MESSING, J. (1983). Construction of improved M13 vectors using oligodeoxynucleotide-directed mutagenesis. Gene, <u>26</u>, 101-106.
- O'CALAGHAN, D.J. AND RANDALL. C.C. (1976). Molecular anatomy of herpes viruses: Recent studies. Prog. Med. Virol., <u>22</u>, 152-210.
- O'HARE, P., AND GODING, C.R. (1988). Herpes simplex virus regulatory elements and the immunoglobulin octamer domain bind a common factor and are both targets for virion transactivation. Cell, <u>52</u>, 435-445.
- O'HARE, P., AND HAYWARD, G.S. (1984). Expression of recombinant genes containing herpes simplex virus delayed-early and immediate-early regulatory regions and trans activation by herpesvirus infection. J. Virol., <u>52</u>, 522-531.

O'HARE, P., AND HAYWARD, G. (1985a). Evidence for a

direct role for both the 175,000- and 110,000molecular weight immediate-early proteins of herpes simplex virus in the transactivation of delayed-early promoters. J. Virol., <u>53</u>, 751-760.

- O'HARE, P., AND HAYWARD, G. (1985b). Three trans-acting regulatory proteins of herpes simplex virus modulate immediate early gene expression in a pathway involving positive and negative feedback regulation. J. Virol., <u>56</u>, 723-733.
- O'HARE,P., AND HAYWARD, G.S. (1987). Comparison of upstream sequence requirements for positive and negative regulation of a herpes simplex immediateearly gene by three virus-encoded tranacting factors. J. Virol. <u>61</u>, 190-199.
- OLIVO, P.D., NELSON, N.J., AND CHALLERG, M.D. (1988). Herpes simplex virus DNA replication: The UL9 gene encodes an origin of binding protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>85</u>, 5414-5418.
- OLIVO, P.D., NELSON, N.J., AND CHALLBERG, M.D. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 gene products required for DNA replication: Identification and overexpression. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 196-204.
- OLSHEVSKY, U., LEVITT, J., AND BECKER, Y. (1967). Studies on the synthesis of herpes simplex virions. Virology, <u>33</u>, 323-334.
- ORBERG, P.K. AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1987). Expression of simplex virus type 1 major DNA-Binding protein, ICP8, in transformed cell line: Complementation of deletion mutants and inhibition of wild Type virus. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 1136-1146.
- OROSKAR, A.A., AND READ, G.S. (1987). A mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1 exhibits increased stability of immediate-early (alpha) mRNAS. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 604-606.

OROSKAR, A.A., AND READ, G.S. (1989). Control of mRNA stability by the virion host shutoff function of herpes simplex virus. J. Virol., 63, 1897-1906.

Ρ

- PALFREYMAN, J.W., AITCHESON, T.C., AND TAYLOR, P. (1984). Guidelines for the production of polypeptide specific antisera using small synthetic oligopeptides as immunogens. J. Immunological Methods, 75, 383-393.
- PALMER, E.L., MARTIN, M.L., AND GARY, GT.W.(JR.). (1975). The ultrastructure of disrupted herpesvirus nucleocapsids. Virology, <u>65</u>, 260-265.
- PANCAKE, B.A., ASCHMAN, D.P., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1983). Genetic and phenotypic analysis of herpes simplex virus type-1 mutants conditionally resistant to immunocytolysis. J. Virol., 47, 568-585.
- PARA, M.F., BAUCKE, R.B., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1980). Immunoglobulin G (Fc)-Binding receptors on virions of herpes simplex virus type 1 and transfer of these receptors to the cell surface by infection. J. Virol., <u>34</u>, 512-520.
- PARA, M.F., BAUCKE, R.B., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1982). Glycoprotein gE of herpes simplex virus type 1: Effects of anti-gE on virion infectivity and on virusinduced Fc-Binding receptors. J. Virol., <u>41</u>,129-136.
- PARA, M.F., PARISH, M.L., NOBLE, A.G., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1985). Potent neutralizing activity associated with anti-glycoprotein D specificity among monoclonal antibodies selected for binding to herpes simplex virion. J. Virol., <u>55</u>,483-488.
- PARDOLL, D.M., VOGELSTEIN, B., AND COFFEY, D.S. (1980). A fixed state of DNA replication in eukaryotic cells. Cell, <u>19</u>, 527-536.
- PARRIS, D.S., CROSS, A., HAARR, L., ORR, A., FRAME, M.C., MURPHY, M., MCGEOCH, D.J., AND MARSDEN, H.S. (1988).

Identification of the gene encoding the 65-kilodalton DNA-Binding protein of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 818-825.

- PATERSON, T., AND EVERETT, R.D. (1988). Mutational dissection of the HSV-1 immediate-early protein Vmw175 involved in transcriptional transactivation and repression. Virology, 166, 186-196.
- PEDEN KEITH, MOUNTS, P., AND HAYWARD, G.S. (1982). Homology between mammalian cell DNA sequences and human herpes virus genomes detected by a hybridization procedure with high-complexity probe. Cell, 31, 7180.
- PELLET, P.E., MCKNIGHT, J.L.C., JENKINS, F.J., AND ROIZMAN,
 B. (1985). Nucleotide sequence and predicted amino acid sequence of a protein encoded in a small herpes simplex virus DNA fragment capable of <u>trans</u>-inducing gene. Proc. Natl. Uni. Sci. USA., <u>82</u>, 5870-5874.
- PERDUE, M.L., COHN, J.C., KEMP, M.C., RANDALL, C.C., AND O'CALLAGHAN, D.J. (1975). Characterization of three species of nucleocapsids of equine herpes virus type-1 (EHV-1). Virology, <u>64</u>, 187-204.
- PERDUE, M.L., COHEN, J.C., RANDALL, C.C., AND O'CALLAGHAN, D.J. (1976). Biochemical studies of the maturation of herpesvirus nucleocapsid species. Virology, <u>74</u>, 194-208.
- PEREIRA, L., WOLFF, M.H., FENWICK, M., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1977). Regulation of herpesvirus macromolecular synthesis. V. Properties of α polypeptides made in HSV-1 and HSV-2 infected cells. Virology, <u>77</u>, 733749.
- PERRY, L.J., RIXON, F.J., EVERETT, R.D., FRAME, M.C., AND MCGEOCH, D.J. (1986). Characterization of the IE 110 gene of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Gen. Virol., <u>67</u>, 2365-2380.

PERRY, L.J., AND MCGEOCH, D.J. (1988). The DNA sequences

of the long repeat region and adjoining parts of the long unique region in the genomes of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 2831-2846.

- PERTUISET, B., BOCCARA, M., CEBRIAN, J., BERTHELOT, N., CHOUSTERMAN, S., PUVION-DUTILLEUL, F., SISMAN, J., AND SHELDRICK, P. (1989). Physical mapping and nucleotide sequence of a herpes simplex virus type 1 gene required for capsid assembly. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 2169-2179.
- PIGNATTI, PIER F., AND CUSSAI, E. (1980). Analysis of herpes simplex virus nucleoprotein complexes extracted from infected cells. J. Virol., <u>36</u>, 816-828.
- POFFENBERGER, K.L., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1985). A noninverting genome of a viable herpes simplex virus 1: Presence of head-to-tail linkages in packaged genomes and requirements for circularization after infection. J. Virol., <u>53</u>, 587-595.
- POFFENBRGER, K.L., TABARES, E., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1983). Characterization of a viable, noninverting herpes simplex virus 1 genome derived by insertion and deletion of sequences at the junction of components L and S. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>80</u>, 2690-2694.
- POGUE-GEILE, K.L., LEE, G.T.Y., SHAPIRA, S.K., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1984). Fine mapping of mutations in the fusion-inducing MP strain of herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology, <u>136</u>, 100-109.
- POLVINO-BODNAR, M., ORBERG, P.K., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1987). Herpes simplex virus type 1 oril is not required for virus replication or for the establishment and reactivation of latent infection in mice. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 3528-3535.
- POST, L.E., MACKEM, S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1981). Regulation of α genes of herpes simplex virus: Expression of chimeric genes produced by fusion of

thymidine kinase with α gene promoters. Cell, <u>24</u>, 555-565.

- POWELL, K.L., AND COURTNEY, R.J. (1975). Polypeptides synthesised in herpes simplex virus type 2 infected HEp-2 cells. Virology, <u>66</u>, 217-228.
- POWELL, K., AND PURIFOY, D.J.M. (1976). DNA-binding proteins of cells infected by herpes simplex virus type 1 and type 2. Intervirology, <u>7</u>, 225-239.
- POWELL, K.L., PURIFOY, D.J.M., AND COURTNEY, R.J. (1975). The synthesis of herpes simplex virus proteins in the absence of virus DNA synthesis. Biochem. Biphys. Res. Commun., <u>66</u>, 262-271.
- PRESTON, C.M. (1979a). Control of herpes simplex virus type 1 mRNA synthesis in cell infected with wild-type virus or the temperature sensitive mutant tsK. J. Virol., 29, 257-284.
- PRESTON, C.M. (1979b). Abnormal properties of an immediate early polypeptide in cell infected with the herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant tsK. J. Virol., <u>32</u>, 357-369.
- PRESTON, C.M., CORDINGLEY, M.G., AND STOW, N.D. (1984). Analysis of DNA sequences which regulate the transcription of a herpes simplex virus immediate early gene. J. Virol., <u>50</u>, 708-716.
- PRESTON, C.M., FRAME, M.C., AND CAMPBELL, M.E.M. (1988). A complex formed between cell components and an HSV structural polypeptide binds to a viral immediate early gene regulatory DNA sequence. Cell, <u>52</u>, 425-434.
- PRESTON, C.M., AND TANNAHILL, D. (1984). Effects of orientation on the activity of a herpes simplex virus immediate-early gene far-upstream region. Virology, <u>137</u>, 439-444.

- PRESTON, V.G., DAVISON, A.J., MARSDEN, H.S., TIMBURY, M.C., SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1978). Recombinants between herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2: Analysis of genome structure and expression of immediate early polypeptides. J. Virol., 28, 449517.
- PRESTON, V.G. (1981). Fine structure mapping of herpes simplex virus type 1 temperature-sensitive mutations within the short repeat region of the genome. J. Virol., 39, 150-161.
- PRESTON, V.G., COATES, J.A.V., AND RIXON, F.J. (1983). Identification and characterization of a herpes simplex virus gene product required for encapsidation of virus DNA. J. Virol., <u>45</u>, 1056-1064.
- PRESTON, V.G., AND FISHER, F.B. (1984). Identification of the herpes simplex virus type 1 gene encoding the dUTPase. Virology, <u>138</u>, 58-68.
- PRESTON, V.G., PALFREYMAN, J.W., AND DUTIA, B.M. (1984). Identification of a herpes simplex virus type 1 polypeptide which is a component of the virus-induced ribonucleotide reductase. J. Gen. Virol., <u>65</u>, 1456-1466.
- PRESTON, V.G., DARLING, A.J., AND MCDOUGALL, I.M. (1988). The herpes simplex virus type 1 temperature-sensitive mutant <u>ts</u>1222 has a single base pair deletion in the small subunit of ribonucleotide reductase. Virology, <u>167</u>, 458-467.
- PTASHNE, M. (1986). Gene regulation by proteins acting nearby and at a distance. Nature, <u>332</u>, 697-701.
- PURIFOY, D.J.M., AND POWELL, K.L. (1976). DNA binding proteins induced by herpes simplex virus type 2 in HEp-2 cells. J. Virol., <u>19</u>, 717-731.
- PURIFOY, D.J.M., AND POWELL, K.L. (1977). Herpes simplex virus DNA polymerase as the site of phosphonoacetate

sensitivity: Temperature-sensitive mutants. J. Virol., 24, 470-477.

- QUINLAN, M.P., AND KNIPE, D.M. (1985). Stimulation of expression of a herpes simplex virus DNA-Binding protein by two viral functions. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 5, 957-963.
- QUINN, J.P., AND MCGEOCH, D.J. (1985). DNA sequence of the region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1 containing the genes for DNA polymerase and the major DNA binding protein. Nucleic Acids Research, 13, 8143-8163.
- RAMSAY, F.H. (1987). Functional analysis of the herpes simplex virus polypeptide Vmw65. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Glasgow.
- READ, G.S., AND FRENKEL, N. (1983). Herpes simplex virus mutants defective in virion-associated shut off of host polypeptide synthesis and exhibiting abnormal synthesis of X (immediate early) viral polypeptides. J. Virol., <u>46</u>, 498-512.
- REYES, G.R., LAFEMINA, R., HAYWARD, S.D., AND HAYWARD, G.S. (1979). Morphological transformation by DNA fragments of human herpesviruses: Evidence for two transforming regions and lack of correlation with biochemical transfer of the thymidine kinase gene. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol., <u>44</u>, 629-641.
- RICE, S.A., AND KNIPE, D.M. (1988). Gene-specific transactivation by herpes simplex virus type 1 alpha protein ICP27. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 3814-3823.
- RIGBY, P.W.J., DICKMAN, M., RHODES, C., AND BERG, P. (1977). Labelling deoxyribonucleic acid in high specific activity by nick translation with DNA polymerase. J. Mol. Biol., <u>113</u>, 237-251.

RITCHIE, D.A., BROWN, S.M., SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H., AND

R

JAMIESON, A.T. (1977). Heterozygosis and genetic recombination in herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology, <u>82</u>, 323-333.

- RIXON, F.J. (1977). Studies on herpes simplex virus DNA synthesis. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Glasgow.
- RIXON, F.J., AND CLEMENTS, J.B. (1982). Detailed structural analysis of two spliced immediate-early mRNAs. Nucleic Acids Res., 10, 2241-2256.
- RIXON, F.J, CROSS, A.M., ADDISON, C.AND PRESTON, V.G. (1988). The products of herpes simplex virus type 1 gene UL26 which are strongly associated with empty but not with full capsids. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 2879-2891.
- RIXON, F.J., AND MCGEOCH, D.J. (1984). A 3' co-terminal family of mRNAs from the herpes simplex virus type 1 short region: Two overlapping reading frames encode unrelated polypeplides one of which has a highly reiterated amino acid sequence. Nucleic Acids Research, <u>12</u>, 2473-2487.
- RIXON, F.J., AND MCGEOCH, D.J. (1985). Detailed analysis of the mRNAs mapping in the short unique region of herpes simplex virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Research, <u>13</u>, 953-973.
- ROBSON L., AND GIBSON, W. (1989). Primate cytomegalovirus assembly protein: Genome location and nucleotide sequence. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 669-676.
- ROCK, D.L., AND FRASER, N.W. (1983). Delection of HSV-1 genome in cultural nervous system of latently infected mice. Nature (London), <u>302</u>, 523-525.
- ROCK, D.L., AND FRASER, N.W. (1985). Latent herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA contains two copies of the virion joint region. J. Virol., <u>55</u>, 849-852.

- ROCK, D.L., NESBURN, A.B., GHIASI, H., ONG, J., LEWIS, T.L., LOKENSGARD, J.R., AND WECHSLER. (1987). Delection of latency-related viral RNAs in trigeminal ganglia of rabbits latently infected with herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 3820-3826.
- ROIZMAN, B., AND FURLONG, D. (1974). The replication of herpesviruses. In: "Comprehensive Virology", Vol.3, Eds. H. Frenkel-Conrat and R.R. Wagner pp 229-403. Plenum Press, New York and London.
- ROIZMAN, B. (1969). The herpesviruses A biochemical definition of the group. "Current topics in Microbiology and Immunology" vol. 49 pp. 1-79. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg.
- ROIZMAN, B. (1982). The family herpesviridae: General description, taxonomy, and classification. In: "The Herpesvirus". Vol.49, pp 1-79. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg.
- ROIZMAN, B., CARMICHAEL, L.E., DEINHARDT, F., DE-THE, G., NAHMIAS, A.J., PLOWRIGHT, W., RAPP., F., SHELDRICK, P., TAKAHASHI, M., WOLF, K. (1981). Herpesviridae: Definition, provisional nomenclature, and taxonomy. Intervirology, <u>16</u>, 201-217.
- RUYCHAN, T.W., MORSE, L.S., KNIPE, D.M. AND ROIZMAN, B. (1979). Molecular genetics of herpes simplex virus. II. Mapping of the major viral glycoproteins and of the genetic loci specifying the social behaviour of infected cells. J. Virol., <u>29</u>, 677-697.
- SACKS, W.R., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1987). Deletion mutants in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICPO exhibit impaired growth in cell culture. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 829-839.

S

SACKS, W.R., GREENE, C.C., ASCHMAN, D.P., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1985). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP27 is an essential regulatory protein. J. Virol., <u>55</u>, 796805.

- SADOWSKI, I., MA, J., TRIEZENBERG, S., AND PTASHNE, M. (1988). GAL4-VP16 is an unusually potent transciptional activator. Nature, <u>335</u>, 563-564.
- SANDERS, P.G., WILKIE, N.M., AND DAVISON, A.J. (1982). Thumidine Kinase deletion mutants of HSV-1. J. Gen. Virol., <u>63</u>, 277-295.
- SANDRI-GOLDIN, R.M., GOLDIN, A.L., HOLLAND, L.E., GLORIOSO, J.C., AND LEVINE, M. (1983). Expression of herpes simplex virus beta and gamma genes integrated in mammalian cells and their induction by an alpha gene product. Mol. Cell. Biol., <u>3</u>, 2028-2044.
- SANGER, F., NICKLEN, S., AND COULSON, A.R. (1977). DNA sequencing with chain terminating inhibitos. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>74</u>, 5463-5467.
- SANGER, F., COULSON, A.R., BARREL, B.G., SMITH, A.J.H. AND ROE, B.E. (1980). Cloning in single-stranded bacteriophage as an aid to rapid DNA sequencing. J. Mol. Biol., <u>143</u>, 161-178.
- SARMIENTO, M., HAFFEY, M., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1979). Membrane proteins specified by herpes simplex viruses. III. Role of glycoprotein VP7(B2) in virion infectivity. J. Virol., <u>29</u>, 1149-1158.
- SCHAAPER, R.M., DUNN, R.L., AND GLICKMAN, B.W. (1987). Mechanisms of ultra violet-induced mutation. (mutational sepectra in the E.Coli lac I gene for a wild-type and an excision-repair-deficient strain. J. Mol. Biol., <u>198</u>, 187-202.
- SCHAFFER, P.A., ARON, G.M., BISWAL, N., AND BENYESH-MELNICK, M. (1973). Temperative-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1: Isolation, complementation and partial characterisation. Virology, <u>52</u>, 57-71.
- SCHAFFER, P.A., BRUNSCHWIG, J.P., MCCOMBS, R.M., AND BENYESH-MELNICK, M. (1974). Electron microscopic studies of temperature sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology., <u>62</u>, 444-457.

- SCHAFFER, P.A., CARTER,V.C., AND TIMBURY, M.C. (1978). Collaborative complementation study of temperature sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2. J. Virol., 27, 490-504.
- SCHAFFER, P.A., VONKA, V., LEWIS, R., AND BENYESH-MELNICK, M. (1970). Temperature-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus. Virology, <u>42</u>, 1144-1146.
- SHAFFER, P.A., WAGNER, E.K., DEUL-RAO, G.B. AND PRESTON, V.G. (1987). Herpes simplex virus pp93-98 in "Genetic Maps 1987". Edited by S.J. O'Brien. Cold Spring Harbour laboratory 1987.
- SCHEK, N., AND BACHENHIMER, S.L. (1985). Degradation of cellular mRNAs induced by a virion-associated factor during herpes simplex virus infection of vero cells. J. Virol., <u>55</u>, 601-610.
- SCHLEHOFER, J.R., AND ZUR HAUSEN, H. (1982). Induction of mutations within the host cell genome by partially inactivated herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology, <u>122</u>, 471-475.
- SCHRAG, J.D., VENKATARAM PRASAD, B.V., RIXON, F.J., AND CHIU, W. (1989). Three-dimensional structure of the HVS1 nucleocapsid. Cell, <u>56</u>, 651-660.
- SEARS, A.E., HALLIBURTON, I.W., MEIGNLER, B., SILVER, S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1985). Herpes simplex virus 1 mutant deleted in the gene: Growth and gene expression in permissive and restrictive cells and establishment of latency in mice. J. Virol., <u>55</u>, 338-346.
- SEKULOVICH, R.E., LEARY, K., AND SANDRI-GOLDIN, R.M. (1988). The herpes simplex virus type 1 (α) protein ICP27 can act as a trans-repressor or a transactivator in combination with ICP4 and ICP0. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 4510-4522.

SHAPIRA, M., HOMA, F.L., GLORIOSO, J.C., AND LEVINE, M.

(1987). Regulation of the herpes simplex virus type 1 late (δ_2) glycoprotein C gene: Sequences between base pairs -34 to +29 control transient expression responsiveness to transactivation by the products of immediate early (α) 4 and 0 genes. Nucleic. Acids. Research, <u>15</u>, 3097-3111.

- SHATKIN, A.J. (1976). Capping of eucaryotic mRNAs. Cell, 9, 645-653.
- SHELDRICK, P. AND BERTHELOT, N. (1974). Inverted repetitions in the chromosome of herpes simplex virus. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol., <u>39</u>, 667-678.
- SHERMAN, G. AND BACHENHEIMER, S.L. (1987). DNA processing in temperature-sensitive morphogenic mutants of HSV-1. Virology., <u>158</u>, 427-430.
- SHERMAN, G. AND BACHENHEIMER, S.L. (1988). Characterization of intranuclear capsids made by ts morphogenic mutants of HSV-1. Virology., <u>163</u>, 471-480.
- SHLOMAI, J., FRIEDMANN, A., AND BECKER, Y. (1976). Replicative intermediates of herpes simplex virus DNA. Virology, <u>69</u>, 647-659.
- SILVERSTEIN, S., AND ENGELHARDT, D. (1979). Alteration in the protein synthetic apparatus of cells infected with herpes simplex virus. Virology, <u>95</u>, 334-342.
- SHOEMAKER, K.R., KIM, P.S., YORK, E.J., STEWART, J.M., AND BALDWIN, R.L. (1987). Tests of the helix dipole model for stabilization of α-helices. Nature, <u>326</u>, 563-567.
- SKINNER, G.B.R. (1976). Transformation of primary hamster embryo fibroblasts by type 2 herpes simplex virus: Evidence for a hit and run mechanism. British Journal of Experimental pathology, <u>57</u>, 361-376.

- SMID, B., VALICEK, L., AND . NECAS, O. (1977). Freeze-etching observations on infectious Bovine Rhinotracheitis virus in the nucleus of bovine kidney cells. Archives of Virology., 53, 167-170.
- SMILEY , J.R., FONG, B.S., AND LEUNG, W-C. (1981). Construction of a double-jointed herpes simplex viral DNA molecule: Inverted repeats are required for segment inversion, and direct repeats promote deletions. Virology, <u>113</u>, 345-362.
- SMITH, C.A., MARCHETTI, M.E., EDMONSON, P., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 2 mutants with deletions in the intergenic region between ICP4 and ICP22/47: Identification of nonessential cis-Acting elements in the context of the viral genome. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 2036-2047.
- SOUTHERN, E.M. (1975). Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by electrophoresis. J. Mol. Biol., <u>98</u>, 503-518.
- SPAETE, R.R., AND FRENKEL, N. (1982). The herpes simplex virus amplicon: A new eucaryotic defective-virus cloning-amplifying vector. Cell, <u>30</u>, 295-304.
- SPAETE, R.R., AND FRENKEL, N. (1985). The herpes simplex virus amplicon: Analyses of cis-acting replication functions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., <u>82</u>, 694-698.
- SPEAR, P.G. (1980). Composition and organisation of herpesvirus virions and properties of some of the structural proteins, in, "Oncogenic herpesviruses". Vol.I. F.Rapp (ed), CRC press.
- SPEAR, P.G., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1968). The proteins specified by herpes simplex virus . I. Time of synthesis, transfer into nuclei, and properties of proteins made in p roductively infected cells. Virology, <u>36</u>, 545-555.

- SPEAR, P.G., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1970). The proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. The site of glycosylation and accumulation of viral membrane proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 66, 730737.
- SPEAR, P.G., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1972). Proteins specified by herpes simplex viruse. V. Purification and structural proteins of herpes virion. J. Virol., <u>9</u>, 143-159.
- SPEAR, P.G. (1985). Glycoproteins specified by herpes simplex virus. In The Herpeviruses, vol. <u>3</u>, pp. 315-356. Edited by B. Roizman. New York: Plenum Press.
- SPIVACK, J.G., AND FRASER, N.W. (1987). Delection of herpes simplex virus type 1 transcripts during latent infection in mice. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 3841-3847.
- STANNARD, L.M., FULLER, A.O., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1987). Herpes simplex virus glycoproteins associated with different morphological entities projecting from the virion envelope. J. Gen. Virol., <u>68</u>, 715-725.
- STENBERG, R.M., AND PIZER, L.I. (1982). Herpes simplex virus-induced changes in cellular and adenovirus RNA metabolism in an adenovirus type 5 -transformed human cell line. J. Virol., <u>42</u>, 474-487.
- STEINER, I., SPIVACK, J.G., LIRETTE, R.P., BROWN, S.M., MACLEAN, A.R., SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H., AND FRASER, N.W. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 latencyassociated transcripts are evidently not essential for latent infection. The EMBO j., <u>8</u>, 505-511.
- STEVELY, W.S., KATAN, M., STIRLING, V., SMITH,G., AND LEADER, D.P. (1985). Protein kinase activities associated with the virions of pseudorabies and herpes simplex virus. J. Gen. Virol., <u>66</u>, 661-673.
- STEVEN, A.C., ROBERTS, C.R., HAY, J., BISHER, M.E., PUN, T., AND TRUS, B.L. (1986). Hexavalent capsomers of

herpes simplex virus type 2: Symmetry, shape, dimensions, and oligomeric status. J. Virol., <u>57</u>, 578-584.

- STEVENS, J.G. AND COOK, M.L. (1971). Latent herpes simplex virus in spinal ganglia of mice. Science, <u>173</u>, 843-845.
- STEVENS, J.G. AND COOK, M.L. (1973). Latent herpes simplex virus in sensory ganglia. In: Prespectivesin Virology, Vol.VIII. pp.171-188, Ed. M. Pollard, Academic Press, NY.
- STEVENS, J.G., WAGUER, E.K., DEVI-RAO, G.B., AND COOK, M.L. (1987). RNA complementary to herpes virus α gene mRNA is prominent in latently infected neurons. Science., 235, 1056-1059.
- STOW, N.D. (1982). Localization of an origin of DNA replication within the TR_s/IR_s repeated region of the herpes simplex virus type 1 genome. The EMBO J., <u>1</u>, 863-867.
- STOW, N.D., AND MCMONAGLE, E.C. (1983). Characterization
 of the TRs/IRs origin of DNA replication of herpes
 simplex virus type 1 . Virology., 130, 427-438.
- STOW, N.D., MCMONAGLE, E.C., AND DAVISON, A.J. (1983). Fragments from both termini of the herpes simplex virus type 1 genome contain signals required for the encapsidation of viral DNA. Nucleic Acids Research., <u>11</u>, 8205-8220.
- STOW, N.D. AND STOW, E.C. (1986). Isolation and characterization of a herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant containing a deletion within the gene encoding the immediate early polypeptide V_{mw} 110. J. Gen. Virol., <u>67</u>, 2571-2585.
- STOW, E. AND STOW, N.D. (1989). Complementation of a herpes simplex type 1 V_{mw} 110 deletion mutant by human

cytomegalovirus. J. Gen. Virol., 70, 695-704.

- STOW, N.D., SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1978).
 Physical mapping of herpes simplex virus type 1
 mutation by marker rescue. J. Virol., 28, 182-192.
- STOW, N.D., AND WILKIE, N.M. (1978). Physical mapping of temperature-sensitive mutations of herpes simplex virus type 1 by intertypic marker rescue. Virology, <u>90</u>, 1-11.
- STROM, T., AND FRANKEL, N. (1987). Effects of herpes simplex virus on mRNA stability. J. Virol., <u>61</u>, 2198-2207.
- SWANSTROM, R.I., PIVO, K., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1975). Restricted transcription of the herpes simplex virus genome occurring early after infection and in the presence of metabolic inhibitors. Virology, <u>66</u>, 140-150.
- SWANSTROM, R.I., AND WAGNER, E.K. (1974). Regulation of synthesis of herpes simplex type 1 virus mRNA during productive infection. Virology, <u>60</u>, 522-533.
- SYDISKIS, R.J. AND ROIZMAN, B. (1967). The disaggregation of host polyribosomes in productive and abortive infection with herpes simplex virus. Virology., <u>32</u>, 678-686.
- SZOSTAK, J.W., ORR-WEAVER, T.L., ROTHSTEIN, R.J., AND STAHI, F.W. (1983). The double-strand-break repair model for recombination. Cell, <u>33</u>, 25-35.

Т

- TAINER, J.A., GETZOFF, E.D., ALEXANDER, H., HOUGHTEN, R.A., OLSON, A.J., LERNER, R.A. (1984). The reactivity of anti-peptide antibodies is a function of the atomic mobility of sites in a protein. Nature, <u>312</u>, 127-134.
- TANAKA, T., SLAMON, D.J., AND CLINE, M.J. (1985). Efficient generation of antibodies to oncoproteins by

using synthetic peptide antigens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>82</u>, 3400-3404.

- TAYA, Y., DEVOS, R., TAVERNIER, J., CHEROUTRE, H., ENGLER, G., AND FIERS, W. (1982). Cloning and structure of the human immune interferon chromosomal gene. EMBO. J. <u>1</u>, 953-958.
- TENSER, R.B., HAY, K.A., AND EDRIS, W.A. (1989). Latencyassociated transcript but not reactivatable virus is present in sensory ganglion neurons after inoculation of thymidine kinase-negative mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 2861-2865.
- TIMBURY, M.C. (1971). Temperature-sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 2. J. Gen. Virol. <u>13</u>, 373-376.
- TIMBURY, M.C., AND CALDER, L. (1976). Temperature sensitive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 2: A provisional linkage map based on recombination analysis. J. Gen. Virol., <u>30</u>, 179-186.
- TIMBURY, M.C., HENDRICKS, M.L., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1976). Collaborative study of temperature-senstive mutants of herpes simplex virus type 2. J. Virol., <u>18</u>, 1139-1142.
- TIMBURY, M.C. AND SUBAK-SHARPE, J.H. (1973). Genetic interactions between temperature-sensitive mutants of type 1 and 2 herpes simplex viruses. J. Gen. Virol., <u>18</u>, 347-357.
- TOWBIN, STAEKHELIN, T., AND GORDEN, J. (1979). Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitocellulose sheets: Procedure and some applications. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>76</u>, 4350-4354.
- TRIEZENBERG, S.J., KINGSBURY, R.C., AND MCKNIGHT, S.L. (1988a). Functional dissection of VP16, the trans-

activator of herpes simplex virus immediate early gene expression. Genes and Development, 2, 718-729.

- TRIEZENBERG, S.J., LAMARCO, K.L., AND MCKNIGTH, S.L. (1988b). Evidence of DNA: Protein interactions that mediate HSV-1 immediate early gene activation by VP16. Genes and Development, 2, 730-742.
- TSUTSUI, Y., NISHIYAMA, Y., YOSHIDA, S., MAENO, K., AND HOSHINO, M. (1983). Role of the nuclear matrix in the growth of herpes simplex virus type 2. Archives of Virology, <u>77</u>, 27-38.
- UMENE, K. (1985). Intermolecular recombination of the herpes simplex virus type 1 genome analysed using two strains differing in restriction enzyme cleavage sites. J. Gen. Virol., <u>66</u>, 2659-2670.
- VAHLNE, A., NYSTRÖM, B., SANDBERG, M., HAMBERGER, A., AND LYCKE, E. (1978). Attachment of herpes simplex virus to neurons and glial cells. J. Gen. Virol., <u>40</u>, 359-371.
- VAHLNE, A., SVENNERHOLM, BO., AND LYCKE, E. (1979). Evidence for herpes simplex virus type-selective receptors on cellular plasma membranes. J. Gen. Virol., <u>44</u>, 217-225.
- VARMUZA, S.L. AND SMILEY, J.R. (1985). Signals for site specific cleavage of HSV DNA: Maturation involves two separate cleavage events at site distal to the recognition sequences. Cell, <u>41</u>, 793-802.
- VERNON, S.K., LAWRENCE, W.C., AND COHEN, G.H. (1974). Morphological components of herpesvirus. I. Intercapsomeric fibrils and the geometry of the capsid. Intervirology., <u>4</u>, 237-248.
- VERNON, S.K., LAWRENCE, W.C., COHEN, G.H., DURSO, M., AND RUBIN, B.A. (1976). Morphological components of herpesvirus. II. Preservation of virus during

negative staining procedures. J. Gen. Virol., <u>31</u>, 183-191.

- VERNON S.K., DE LEON, M.P., COHEN, G.H., EISENBERG, R.J., AND RUBIN, B.A. (1981). Morphological components of herpesvirus. III. Localization of herpes simplex virus type 1 nucleo-capsid polypeptides by immune electron microscopy. J. Gen. Virol., 54, 39-46.
- VLAZNY, D.A., KWONG, A., AND FRANKEL, N. (1982). Site-specific cleavage/packaging of herpes simplex virus DNA and the selective maturation of nucleocapsids containing full length viral DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, 79, 1423-1427.
- VLAZNY, D.A., AND FRENKEL, N. (1981). Replication of herpes simplex virus DNA: Localization of replication recognition signals within defective virus genomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>78</u>, 742-746.
- VONKA, V., KANKA, J., HIRSCH, I., ZAVADOVA, H., KREMAR, M., SUCHANKOVA, A., REZACOVA, D., BROUCEK, J., PRESS, M., DOMORAZKOVA, E., SVOBODA, B., HAVRANKOVA, A., AND Prospective J. (1984). JELINEK. study on the relationship between cervical neoplasis and herpes simplex virus type2. II. Herpes simplex type 2 antibody presence in sera taken at enrolment. International Journal of Cancer, 33, 61-66.
- WADSWORTH, S., HAYWARD, G.S., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1976). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. V. Terminally repetitive sequences. J. Virol., <u>17</u>, 503-512.
- WADSWORTH, S., JACOB, R.J., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1975). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. II. Size,composition, and arrangment of inverted terminal repetitions. J. Virol., <u>15</u>, 1487-1497.
- WAGNER, E.K. (1972). Evidence for transcriptional control of the herpes simplex viurs genome in infected human cells. Virology, <u>47</u>, 502-506.

- WAGNERM, E.K. (1985). Individual HSV transcripts (characterization of specific genes), In the Herpesviruses, vol.,<u>3</u>,edited by Bernard Roizman, plenum press. New York. 45-104.
- WAGNER, E.K., DEVI-RAO, G., FELDMAN, L.T., DOBSON, A.T., ZHANG, YI-FAN, FLANAGAN, W.M., AND STEVENS, J.G. (1988). Physical characterization of the herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcripts in neurons. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 1194-1202.
- WAGNER, E.K., AND ROIZMAN, B. (1969). Ribonucleic acid synthesis in cells infected with herpes simplex virus. J. Virol., 4, 36-46.
- WAGNER, E.K., SWANSTROM, R.I., AND STAFFORD, M.G. (1972). Transcription of the herpes simplex virus genome in human cells. J. Virol., <u>10</u>, 675-682.
- WAGNER, M.J., AND SUMMERS, W.C. (1978). Structure of the joint region and the termini of the DNA of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol., <u>27</u>, 374-387.
- WAHLRAB, F., AND FRANCKE, B. (1980). Deoxyribopyrimidine triphosphatase activity specific for cells infected with herpes simplex virus type 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, <u>80</u>, 100-104.
- WAHREN, B., EINHORN, L., AND GADLER, H. (1984). Early interactions between human cytomegalovirus and cells. Acrhives of Virology, <u>79</u>, 55-65.
- WATSON, D.H. (1973). Morphplogy. <u>In</u>: Kaplan: The herpesviruses, pp.27-43. Academic Press, New York.
- WATSON, R.J., AND CLEMENTS, J.B. (1980). Identication of a herpes simplex virus type 1 function continuously required for synthesis of early and late virus RNAs. Nature, <u>285</u>, 329-330.

WATSON, K., STEVENS, J.G., COOK, M.L., AND SUBAK-SHARPE,

J.H. (1980). Latency competence of thriteen HSV-1 <u>ts</u> mutants. J. Gen. Virol., <u>49</u>, 149-159.

- WATSON, R.J., PRESTON, C.M., AND CLEMENTS, J.B. (1979). Separation and characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early mRNA's. J. Virol., 31,42-52.
- WATSON, R.J., SULLIVAN, M., AND VANDE-WODE, G.F. (1981). Structures of two splied HVS-1 immediate-early mRNAs which map at the junctions of the unique and reiterated regions of the virus DNA S component. J. Virol., <u>37</u>, 431-444.
- WATSON, R.J., AND VANDE-WODE, G.F. (1982). DNA sequence of an immediate-early gene (IE mRNA 5) of herpes simplex virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Res., <u>10</u>, 979-991.
- WEBER, P.C., CHALLBERG, M.D., NELSON, N,J., LEVINE, M., AND GLORIOSO, J.C. (1988). Inversion events in the HSV-1 genome are directly mediated by the viral DNA replication machinery and lack sequence specificity. Cell, <u>54</u>, 369-381.
- WEBER, P.C., LEVINE, M., AND GLORIOSO, J.C. (1987). Rapid identification of non essential genes of herpes simplex type 1 by Tn5 mutagensis. Science, <u>236</u>, 576-579.
- WECHSLER, S.L., NESBURN, A.B., WATSON, R., SLANINA, S., AND GHIASI, H. (1988a). Fine mapping of the major latency-related RNA of herpes simplex virus type 1 in human. J. Gen. Virol., <u>69</u>, 3101-3106.
- WECHSLER, S.L., NESBURN, A.B., WATSON, R., SLANINA, S.M., AND GHIASI, H. (1988b). Fine mapping of the latencyrelated gene of herpes simplex virus type 1: Alternative splicing produces distinct latency-related RNAs containing open reading frames. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 4051-4058.
- WECHSLER, S.L., NESBURN, A.B., ZWAAGSTRA, J., AND GHIAS, H. (1989). Sequence of the latency-related gene of herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology, <u>168</u>, 168-172.
- WEIR, H.M., CALDER, J.M., AND STOW, N.D. (1989). Binding of the herpes simplex virus type 1 UL9 gene product to an origin of viral DNA replication. Nucleic Acids Research, 17, 1409-1425.
- WELLER, S.K., ASCHMAN, D.P., SACKS, W.R., COEN, D., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1983). Genetic analysis of temperature-sensitive mutants of HSV-1: The combined use of complementation and physical mapping for cistron assignment. Virology, <u>130</u>, 290-305.
- WELLER, S.K., SPADARO, A.A., SCHAFFER, J.E., MURRAY, A.W., MAXAM, A.M., AND SCHAFFER, P.A. (1985). Cloning, sequencing, and functional analysis of Ori_L, a herpes simplex virus type 1 origin of DNA synthesis. Mol. Cell. Biol., <u>5</u>, 930-942.
- WELLER, S.K., CARMICHAEL, E.P., ASCHMAN, D.P., GOLDSTEIN, D.J., AND SCHAFFER, P.S. (1987). Genetic and phenotypic characterization of mutants in four essential genes that map to left half of HSV-1 UL DNA. Virology, <u>161</u>, 198-210.
- WESTHOF, E., ALTSCHUH, D., MORAS, D., BLOOMER, A.C., MONDRAGON, A., KLUG, A., AND VAN REGENMORTEL, M.H.V. (1984). Correlation between segmental mobility and the location of antigenic determinants in proteins. Nature, <u>311</u>, 123-126.
- WHITTON, J.L., RIXON, F.J., EASTON, A.J., AND CLEMENTS, J.B. (1983). Immediate-early mRNA-2 of herpes simplex viruses type 1 and 2 is unspliced: Conserved sequences around the 5' and 3' termini correspond to transcription regulatory signals. Nucleic. Acids. Research, <u>11</u>, 6271-6287.

WIGLER, M., SILVERSTEIN, S., LEE, L.S., PELLICEER, A.,

CHENG, Y.C. AND AXEL, R. (1977). Transfer of purified herpes virus thymidine kinase gene to cultured mouse cells. Cell, <u>11</u>, 223-232.

- WILCOX, C.L., AND JOHNSON J.R., E.M., (1988). Characterization of nerve growth factor-dependent herpes simplex virus latency in neurons in vitro. J. Virol., 62, 393-399.
- WILDY, P., RUSSELL, W.C., AND HORNE, R.W. (1960). The morphology of herpes virus. Virology, <u>12</u>, 204-222.
- WILKIE, N.M. (1973). The synthesis and substructure of herpesvirus DNA: The distribution of alkali-labile single strand interruptions in HSV-1 DNA. J. Gen. Virol., <u>21</u>, 453-467.
- WILKIE, N.M., DAVISON, A., CHARTRAND, P., STOW, N.D., PRESTON, V.G. AND TIMBURY, M.C. (1979). Recombination in herpes simplex virus: Mapping mutations and analysis of intertypic recombinants. Cold Spring Harbor, <u>XLIII</u>, 827-840.
- WOOD, R.D., AND HUTCHINSON, F. (1984). Non-trageted mutagenesis of unirradiated lambda phage in *Escherichia coli* host cells irradiated with ultraviolet light. J. Mol. Biol., <u>173</u>, 293-305.
- WOOD, R.D., SKOPEK, T.R., AND HUTCHINSON, F. (1984). Changes in DNA base sequence induced by trageted mutagenesis of lambda phage by ultraviolet light. J. Mol. Biol., <u>173</u>, 273-291.
- WU, C.A., NELSON, N.J., MCGEOCH, D.J. AND CHALLBERG, M.D. (1988). Identification of herpes simplex virus type 1 genes required for origin-dependent DNA synthesis. J. Virol., <u>62</u>, 435-443.
- WU, M., HYMAN, R.W., AND DAVIDSON, N. (1979). Electron microscopic mapping of proteins bound to herpes simplex virus DNA. Nucleic Acids Research, <u>6</u>,

3427-3437.

- WUDUNN, D., AND SPEAR, P.G. (1989). Initial interaction of herpes simplex virus with cells is binding to heparan sulfate. J. Virol., <u>63</u>, 52-58.
- ZWEIG, M., HEILMAN, C.J.JR., AND HAMPAR, B. (1979). Identification of disulfide-linked protein complexes in the nucleocapsids of herpes simplex virus type 2. Virology, 94, 442-450.
- ZWEIG, M., HEILMAN,C.J.JR., RABIN, H., HOPKINS III, R.F., NEUBAUER, R.H., AND HAMPAR, B. (1979). Production of monoclonal antibodies against nucleocapsid proteins of herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2 . J. Virol., <u>32</u>, 676-678.
- ZWEIG, M., HEILMAN, C.J.JR., RABIN, H., AND HAMPAR, B. (1980). Shared antigenic determinants between two distinct classes of protein in cells infected with herpes simplex virus. J. Virol., <u>35</u>, 644-652.

Bestfit^(*) computer programme was used to compare amino acid sequence homology between different herpesvirus UL26 homologues

- 「「「」」」 - 「」」 - 「」」 - 「」」 - 「」」 - 「「」」 - 「「」」 - 「」

(*) Bestfit is a programme that makes an optimal alignment of the best segment of similarity between two sequences. Optimal alignments are found by inserting gaps to maximize the number of matches. A gap weight of 5 and a length weight of 0.3 were used.



BESTFIT of: UL26 X Bvrf2.EBV

	Gap Weight: 5.000 Length Weight: 0.300 Percent Similarity: 39.696	
17	RAVPIYVAGFLALYDSGDSGE.LALDPDTVRAALPPDNPLPINVDHRAGC	65 50
3	QAPSVYVCGFVERPDAPPKDACLHLDPLTVKSQLPLKKPLPLTVEHLPDA	52
66 53	EVGRVLAVVDDPRGPFFVGLIACVQLERVLETAASAAIFERRGPPLSREE PVGSVFGLYQSRAGLFSAASITSGDFLSLLDSIYHDCDIAQSQRLPLPRE	115 102
116	RLLYLITNYLPSVSLATKRLGGEAHPDRTLFAHVALCAIGRRLGTI	161
103		152
162	VTYDTGLDAAIAPFRHLSPASREGARRLAAEAELALSGRTWAPGVEALTH	211
153	AVYGTDLAWVLKHFSDLEPSIAAQIENDANAAKRESGCPEDHPLPLT	199
212	TLLSTAVNNMMLRDRWSLVAERRRQAGIAGHTYLQASEKFKMWGAEPVSA	261
200	II III III III III KLIAKAIDAGFLRNRVETLRQDRGVANIPAESYLKASDAPDLQKPDKALQ	249
262	PARGYKNGAPESTDIPPGSIAAAPQGDRCPIVRQRGVALSPVLPPM	307
250	SPPPASTDPATMLSGNAGEGATACGGSAAAGQDLISVPRNTFMTLLQTNL	299
308	NPVPTSGTPAPAPPGDGSYLWIPASHYNQLVAGHAAPQPQPHSAFGFPAA	357
300	I I II I I I I DNKPPRQTPLPYAAPLPPFSHQAIATAPSYGPGAGAVAPAGGYFTSPGGY	349
358	AGSVAYGPHGAGLSQHYPPHVAHQYPGVLFSGPSPLEAQIAALVGAIAAD	407
350	YAGPAGGDPGAFLAMDAHTYHPHPHPPPAYFGLPGLFG	387
408	RQAGGQPAAGDPGVRGSGKRRRYEAGPSESYCDQDEPDADYPYYPGEARG	457
388	PPPPVPYYGSHLRADYVPAPSRSNKRKRDPEEDEEGGG	426
458	APRGVDSRRAARHSPGTNETITALMGAVTSLQQELAHMRARTSAPYGMYT	507
427	LFPGEDATLYRKDIAGLSKSVNELQHTLQALRRETLSYGHTGVGYCPQQG	476
508	PVAHYRPQVGEPEPTTTHPALCPPEAVYRPPPHSAPYGPPQGPASHAPTP	557
477	PCYTHSGPYGFQPHQSYEVPRYVPHPPPPPTSHQAAQAQPPPPGTQAPEA	526
558	PYAPAACPPGPPPPPCPSTQTRAPLPTEPAFPPAATGSQPEASNAEAGAL	607
527	HCVAESTIPEAGAAG.NSGPREDTNPQQPTTEGHHRGKKLVQASASGVAQ	575
608	VNASSAAHVDVDTARAADLFVSOMMGAR 635	
576	SKEPTTPKAKSVSAHLKSIFCEELLNKR 603	

gap Weight: 5.000 Length Weight: 0.300 Percent Similarity: 52.797

9	RMEEPLPDRAVPIYVAGFLALYDSGDSGELALDPDTVRAALPPDNPLPIN	58
1	MAAEADEENCEALYVAGYLALY.SKDEGELNITPEIVRSALPPTSKIPIN	49
59	VDHRAGCEVGRVLAVVDDPRGPFFVGLIACVQLERVLETAASAAIFERRG	108
50	IDHRKDCVVGEVIAIIEDIRGPFFLGIVRCPQLHAVLFEAAHSNFFGNRD	99
109	PPLSREERLLYLITNYLPSVSLATKRLGGEAHPDRTLFAHVALCAIGRRL	158
100	SVLSPLERALYLVTNYLPSVSLSSKRLSPNEIPDGNFFTHVALCVVGRRV	149
159	GTIVTYDTGLDAAIAPFRHLSPASREGARRLAAEAELALSGRTWAPGVEA	208
150	GTVVNYDCTPESSIEPFRVLSMESKARLLSLVKDYAGLNKVWKVSEDK	197
209	LTHTLLSTAVNNMMLRDRWSLVAERRROAGIAGHTYLOASEKFKMWGAEP	258
198	LAKVLLSTAVNNMLLRDRWDVVAKRREAGIMGHVYLQASTGYGLARITN	247
259	VSAPARGYKNGAPESTDIPPGSIAAAPQGDRCPIVRQRGVAL	300
248	VNGVESKLPNAGVINATFHPGGPIYDLALGVGESNEDCEKTVPHLKVTQL	297
301	SPVLPPMNPVPTSGTPAPAPPGDGSYLWIPASHYNQLVAGHAAPQ	345
298	CRNDSDMASVAGNASNISPQPPSGVPTGGEFVLIPTAYYSQLLTGQTKNP	347
346	PQPHSAFGFPAAAGSVAYGPHGAGLSQHYPPHVAHQYPGVLFSG	389
348	QVSIGAPNNGQYIVGPYGSPHPPAFPPNTGGYGCPPGHFGGPYGFPGYPP	397
390	PSPLEAQIAALVGAIAADRQAGGQPAAGDPGVRGSGKRRRYEAGPS	435
398	PNRLEMQMSAFMNALAAERGIDLQTPCVNFPDKTDVRRPGKRDFKSMDQR	447
436	ESYCDODEPDADYPYYPGEARGAPRGVDSRRAARHSPGTNE	476
448	ELDSFYSGESQMDGEFPSNIYFPGEPTYITHRRRRVSPSYWQRRHRVSNG	497
477	TITALMGAVTSLOQELAHMRARTSAPYGMYTPVAHYRPQVGEPEPTTTHP	526
498	QHEELAGVVAKLQQEVTELKSQNGTQMPL	526
527	ALCPPEAVYRPPPHSAPYGPPQGPASHAPTPPYAPAACPPGPPPPCPST	576
527	SHHTNIPEGTRDPRISILL	545
577	QTRAPLPTEPAFPPAATGSQPEASNAEAGALVNASSAAHVDVDTARAADL	626
546	KQLQSVSGLCSSQNTTSTPHTDTVGQDVNAVEASSKAPLIQGSTADDADM	595
627	FVSQMMGAR 635	
596	FANQMMVGR 604	

Gap Weight: 5.000 Length Weight: 0.300 Percent Similarity: 35.385

9	NCEALYVAGYLALYSKDEGELNITPEIVRSALPPTSKIPINIDHRKDC	56
3	QAPSVÝVCĠFVERPDAPPKDACLHLDPLTVKSQLPLKKPLPLTVEHLPDA	52
57	VVGEVIAIIEDIRGPFFLGIVRCPQLHAVLFEAAHSNFFGNRDSVLSPLE	106
53	PVGSVFGLYQSRAGLFSAASITSGDFLSLLDSIYHDCDIAQSQRLPLPRE	102
107	RALYLVTNYLPSVSLSSKRLSPNEIPDGNFFTHVALCVVGRRVGTV	152
103	PKVEALHAWLPSLSLASLHPDIPQTTADGGKLSFFDHVSICALGRRRGTT	152
153	VNYDCTPESSIEPFRVLSMESKARLLSLVKDYAGLNKVWKVSEDKLAKVL	202
153	AVYGTDLAWVLKHFSDLEPSIAAQIENDANAAKRESGCPEDHPLPLTK.L	201
203	LSTAVNNMLLRDRWDVVAKRREAGIMGHVYLQASTGYGLARITNV	248
202	IAKAIDAGFLRNRVETLRQDRGVANIPAESYLKASDAPDLQKPDKALQSP	251
249	NGVESKLPNAGVINATFHPGGPIYDLALGVGESNEDCEKTVPHLKV	294
252	PPASTDPATMLSGNAGEGATACGGSAAAGQDLISVPRNTFMTLLQTNLDN	301
295	TQLCRNDSDMASVAGNASNISPQPPSGVPTGGEFVLIPTAYYSQLLT	341
302	KPPRQTPLPYAAPLPPFSHQAIATAPSYGPGAGAVAPAGGYFTSPGGYYA	351
342	GQTKNPQVSIGAPNNGQYIVGPYGSPHPPAFPPNTGGYGCPPGHFGGPYG	391
352	GPAGGDPGAFLAMDAHTYHPHPHPPPAYFGLPGLFGPPPPVPPYYGSHLR	401
392	FPGYPPPNRLEMQMSAFMNALAAERGIDLQTPCVNFPDKTDVRRPGKRDF	441
402	ADYVPAPSRSNKRKRDPEEDEEGGGLFPGEDATLYRKDIAGLSKSVNELQ	451
442	KSMDQRELDSFYSGESQMDGEFPSNIYFPGEPTYITHRRRRVSPSYWQRR	491
452	HTLQALRRETLSYGHTGVGYCPQQGPCYTHSGPYGFQPH	490
492	HRVSNGQHEELAGVVAKLOOEVTELKSQNGTOMPLSHHTNIPEGTRDPRI	541
491	QSYEVPRYVPHPPPPPTSHQAAQAQPPPPGTQAPEAHCVAESTIPEAGAA	540
542	SILLKQLQSVSGLCSSQNTTSTPHTDTVGQDVNAVEASSKAPLIQGSTAD	591
541	GNSGPREDTNPQQPTTEGHHRGKKLVQASASGVAQSKEPTTPKAKSVSAH	590
592	DADMFANOMVGRC 605	
591	LKSIFCEELLNKRV 604	

Gap Weight: 5.000 Length Weight: 0.300 Percent Similarity: 32.468

316	PAPAPPGDGSYLWIPASHYNQLVAGHAAPQPQPHSAFGFPAAAGSVAYGP	365
2	SHPMSAVATPAASTVAP SQAP LALAHDGVYLPKDAFF SLIGASRP LAEAA	51
366	HGAGLSQHYPPHVAHQYPGVLFSGPSPLEAQIAALVGAIAADRQAGGQPA	415
52	GARAAYPAVPPPPAYPVMNYEDPSSRHFDYSAWLRRPAYDAVPPLPPP	99
416	AGDPGVRGSGKRRRYEAGPSESYCDQDEPDADYPYYPGEARGAPRGVDSR	465
100	PVMP.MPYRRRDPMMEEAERAAWERGYAPSAYDHYVNNGSWSRSRSGALK	148
466	RAARHSPGTNETITALMGAVTSLQQELAHMRARTSAPYGMYTPVAHYRPQ	515
149	RREEDASSDEEEDMSFPGEADHGKARKRLKAHHGRDNNNSGSDAKGDRY	198
516	VGEPEPTTTHPALCPPEAVYRPPPHSAPYGPPQGPASHAPTPPYAPAACP	565
199	DDIREALQELKREMLAVRQIAPRALLAPAQLATPVASPTTTTSHQAEASE	248
566	PGPPPPPCPSTQTRAPLPTEPAFPPAATGSQPEASNAEAGALVNASSAAH	615
249	PQASTAAAASPSTASSHGSKSAERGVVNASCRVAPPLEAVNPPKDMVDLN	298
616	VDVDTARAADL 626	
299	RRLFVAALNKM 309	

BESTFIT of:CMV (APcDNA-1) X Bvrf2.EBV

Gap Weight: 5.000 Length Weight: 0.300 Percent Similarity: 33.981

	-	
1	MSHPMSAVATPAASTVAPSOAPLALAHDGVYLPKDAFFSL	40
262	LSGNAGEGATACGGSAAAGQDLISVPRNTFMTLLQTNLDNKPPRQTPLPY	311
41	IGASRPLAEAAGARAAYPAVPPPPAYPVMNYEDPSSRHFDYSAWLRRPAY	90
312	AAPLPPFSHQAIATAPSYGPGAGAVAPAGGYFTSPGGYYAGPAGGDPGAF	361
91	DAVPPLPPPVMPMPYRRRDPMMEEAERAAWERGYAPSAYDHYVNNGSWS	140
362	LAMDAHTYHPHPHPPPAYFGLPGLFGPPPPVPPYYGSHLRADYVPAPSRS	411
141	RSRSGALKRRERDASSDEEEDMSFPGE.ADHGKARKRLK	179
412	NKRKRDPEEDEEGGGLFPGEDATLYRKDIAGLSKSVNELQHTLQALRRET	461
180	AHHGRDNNNSGSDAKGDRYDDIREALQELKREMLAVRQIAPRALLAP	226
462	LSYGHTGVGYCPQQGPCYTHSGPYGFQPHQSYEVPRYVPHPPPPPTSHQA	511
227	AQLATPVASPTTTTSHQAEASEPQASTAAAASPSTASSHGSKSAERGVVN	276
512	AQAQPPPPGTQAPEAHCVAESTIPEAGAAGNSGPREDTNPQQPTTEGHHR	561
277	ASCRVAPPLEAVNPPKDMVDLNRRLFVAALNKM 309	
562	GKKLVQASASGVAQSKEPTTPKAKSVSAHLKSI 594	

BESTFIT of: 33.Vzv X CMV (APcDNA-1)

Gap Weight: 5.000 Length Weight: 0.300 Percent Similarity: 33.221

299	RNDSDMASVAGNASNISPQPPSGVPTGGEFVLIPTAYYSQLLTGQTKNPQ	348
1	MSHPMSAVATPAASTVAPSQAPLALAHDGVYLPKDAFFSLIGASRPLA	48
349	VSIGAPNNGQYIVGPYGSPHPPAFPPNTGGYGCPPGHFGGPY.GFPGYPP	397
49	EAAGARAAYPAVPPPPAYPVMNYEDPSSRHFDYSAWLRRPAYDAVPPLPP	98
398	PNRLEMOMSAFMNALAAERGIDLQTPCVNFPDKTDVRRPGKRDFKSMDQR	447
99	PPVMPMPYRRRDPMMEEAERAAWERGYAPSAYDHYVNNGSWSRSRSGALK	148
448	ELDSFYSGESOMDGEFPSNIYFPGEPTYITHRRRRVSPSYWORRHRVSNG	497
149	RRRERDASSDEEEDMSFPGEADHGKARKRLKAHHGRDNNNSGSDA	193
498	QHEELAGVVAKLQQEVTELKSQNGTQMPLSHHTNIPEGTRDPRIS	542
194	KGDRYDDIREALQELKREMLAVRQIAPRALLAPAQLATPVASPTTTTSHQ	243
543	ILLKOLOSVSGLCSSONTTSTPHTDTVGODVNAVEASSKAPLIQGSTADD	592
244	AEASEPQASTAAAASPSTASSHGSKSAERGVVNASCRVAPPLEAVNPPKD	293
5 93	ADMFANQMMVG 603	
294	MVDLNRRLFVA 304	

